Public Document iack

Tendring

District Council

IAN DAVIDSON, CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON ON SEA, ESSEX CO15 1SE. TELEPHONE (01255) 686868

CABINET

DATE:

TIME:

VENUE:

Friday, 17 March 2023
10.30 am

Committee Room - Town Hall,
Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea,
CO15 1SE

MEMBERSHIP:

Councillor N Stock OBE

- Leader of the Council

Councillor C Guglielmi

- Deputy Leader of the Council; Portfolio Holder
for Corporate Finance & Governance

Councillor J Bray

- Portfolio Holder for Planning

Councillor P Honeywood

- Portfolio Holder for Housing

Councillor L McWilliams

- Portfolio Holder for Partnerships

Councillor M Newton

- Portfolio Holder for Business & Economic
Growth

Councillor A Porter

- Portfolio Holder for Leisure & Tourism

Councillor M Talbot

- Portfolio Holder for Environment & Public
Space

Chief Executive
lan Davidson

www.tendringdc.gov.uk
Minicom: 01255 475566

VANIOV


http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/

Most Council meetings are open to the public and press. The space for the
public and press will be made available on a first come first served basis.
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date
and the Council aims to publish Minutes within five working days of the
meeting. Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in
Braille, or on disc, tape, or in other languages.

This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent
broadcast on the Council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be
filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items, and the
footage will be on the website for up to 24 months (the Council retains one
full year of recordings and the relevant proportion of the current Municipal
Year). The Council will seek to avoid/minimise footage of members of the
public in attendance at, or participating in, the meeting. In addition, the
Council is obliged by law to allow members of the public to take
photographs, film, audio record and report on the proceedings at public
meetings. The Council will only seek to prevent this should it be
undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner.

If you have any queries regarding webcasting or the recording of meetings
by the public, please contact lan Ford Email: iford@tendringdc.gov.uk or
Telephone on 01255 686584.

DATE OF PUBLICATION: THURSDAY, © MARCH 2023




10

AGENDA

Apologies for Absence

The Cabinet is asked to note any apologies for absence received from Members.

Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 1 - 22)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the last meeting of the Cabinet held on Friday 17
February 2023.

Declarations of Interest

Councillors are invited to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Personal
Interest, and the nature of i, in relation to any item on the agenda.

Announcements by the Leader of the Council

The Cabinet is asked to note any announcements made by the Leader of the Council.

Announcements by Cabinet Members

The Cabinet is asked to note any announcements made by Members of the Cabinet.

Matters Referred to the Cabinet by the Council

There are no items referred to the Cabinet by the Council on this occasion.

Matters Referred to the Cabinet by a Committee

There are no items referred to the Cabinet by a Committee on this occasion.

Leader of the Council's Items

There are no items submitted by the Leader of the Council on this occasion.

Cabinet Members' Iltems - Report of the Planning Portfolio Holder - A.1- Ardleigh

Neighbourhood Plan — Proposal for Public Consultation (Pages 23 - 300)

To seek the Cabinet’'s agreement for Officers to carry out a six-week public consultation
on Ardleigh Parish Council’'s new Neighbourhood Plan, as part of the statutory plan-
making process.

Cabinet Members' Items - Report of the Corporate Finance and Governance

Portfolio Holder - A.2 - The Shared Procurement Partnership (Pages 301 - 328)

To update Cabinet on the successes of the joint working arrangements with Tendring
District Council and Essex County Council for the delivery of procurement functions and
to seek approval to explore a wider procurement partnership at a strategic level, to
maximise existing opportunities through closer partnership working other Councils.



11

12

Cabinet Members' Items - Report of the Corporate Finance and Governance
Portfolio Holder - A.3 - Financial Performance Report - In Year Performance against
the Budget at the end of Quarter 3 2022/23 and Long Term Financial Forecast
Update (Pages 329 - 370)

To provide an overview of the Council’s financial position against the budget, as at the
end of December 2022, and to update the long term forecast.

Cabinet Members' Items - Report of the Corporate Finance and Governance

Portfolio Holder - A.4 - Timetable of Meetings: 2023/2024 Municipal Year (Pages 371

- 380)

To enable Cabinet to consider the timetable of meetings for the 2023/2024 Municipal
Year.



Date of the Next Scheduled Meeting

The next scheduled meeting of the Cabinet is provisionally due to be held on Friday 23
June 2023.

Information for Visitors

COMMITTEE ROOM
FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE

There is no alarm test scheduled for this meeting. In the event of an alarm sounding,
please calmly make your way out of any of the fire exits in the room and follow the exit
signs out of the building.

Please heed the instructions given by any member of staff and they will assist you in
leaving the building.

Please do not re-enter the building until you are advised it is safe to do so by the relevant
member of staff.

The assembly point for the Town Hall is in the car park to the left of the building as you
are facing it.

Your calmness and assistance is greatly appreciated.




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

Cabinet 17 February 2023

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET,
HELD ON FRIDAY, 17TH FEBRUARY, 2023 AT 10.30 AM
COMMITTEE ROOM, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, CO15
1SE

Present: Councillors Neil Stock OBE (Leader of the Council)(Chairman),
Carlo Guglielmi (Deputy Leader; Portfolio Holder for Corporate
Finance & Governance), Jeff Bray (Portfolio Holder for Planning),
Paul Honeywood (Portfolio Holder for Housing), Lynda McWilliams
(Portfolio Holder for Partnerships), Mary Newton (Portfolio Holder for
Business & Economic Growth), Alex Porter (Portfolio Holder for
Leisure & Tourism) and Michael Talbot (Portfolio Holder for
Environment & Public Space)

Group Leaders Present by Invitation:

Councillors Terry Allen (Leader of the Tendring First Group), Jayne
Chapman BEM (Leader of the Independent Group), Gary Scott
(Leader of the Liberal Democrats Group) and Mark Stephenson
(Leader of the Tendring Independents Group)

Also Present: Councillors Andy Baker, Mike Bush, Paul Clifton and Gina Placey

In Attendance: lan Davidson (Chief Executive), Lisa Hastings (Deputy Chief
Executive & Monitoring Officer), Gary Guiver (Director (Planning)),
Michael Carran (Assistant Director (Economic Growth & Leisure)),
Tim Clarke (Assistant Director (Housing and Environment)), Keith
Simmons (Head of Democratic Services and Elections), lan Ford
(Committee Services Manager), Sam Wright (Systems Support
Manager)(except items 123 - 127) and Hattie Dawson-Dragisic
(Performance and Business Support Officer)

111. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors | J Henderson (Leader of
the Labour Group) and C P Winfield (Leader of the Holland-on-Sea Group).

112. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet, held on Friday 27
January 2023, be approved as a correct record and be signed by the Chairman.

113. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Baker declared a Personal Interest in relation to Agenda Item 6 (Green
Space Development Petition) insofar as he knew the petitioner.

Later on in the meeting, as mentioned under Minutes 118 and 119 below, and in relation
to Agenda ltems 10 and 16 (both related to the Council's emerging Beach Hut
Strategy):-

Councillor Allen declared a Personal Interest in that he was the Mayor of Frinton and

Walton Town Council and that the Town Council owned two beach huts that it rented
out exclusively to residents residing within the Parish.

Page 1



Cabinet 17 February 2023

114.

115.

116.

Councillor Chapman BEM declared a Personal Interest insofar as her family held a
licence for a beach hut in Brightlingsea.

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

There were no announcements by the Leader of the Council on this occasion.

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY CABINET MEMBERS

There were no announcements by Cabinet Members on this occasion.

MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET BY THE COUNCIL - A.1 - PETITION:
GREEN SPACE DEVELOPMENT

Earlier on in the meeting, as reported under Minute 113 above, Councillor Baker had
declared a Personal Interest in relation to this matter insofar as he knew the petitioner.

Members were reminded that an e-petition had been submitted by Caroline Saye, as
lead petitioner, on 15 November 2022. That petition had been signed by 432 persons
and stated:-

“We the undersigned petition the council to take no further action in respect of exploring
the potential for development /disposal for each of the 69 proposed areas of land
reported to Cabinet on 15 July 2022 until such time as a public meeting or meetings
have been held to provide all residents with the ability to express their views.”

Asset management was an executive function and therefore the Cabinet was the
appropriate body to consider this matter.

In accordance with the Council’s adopted Scheme for Dealing with Petitions the receipt
of this Petition had been reported, for Members’ information, to the meeting of the Full
Council held on 24 January 2023. This matter had now been investigated and a report
prepared and presented to the Cabinet on the basis that the Petition contained between
30 and 500 signatures.

Having discussed the petition it would be for Cabinet to decide what action, if any, would
be taken.

Cabinet was made aware of the Assistant Director (Building and Public Realm)’s
assessment and advice as follows:-

“Following a motion put to the full Council in November 2020 by Councillor Placey the
Cabinet requested a review of Council owned assets that could be used for the
construction of new Council homes or used or released in return for capital receipts in
order to support Council priorities.

As part of that exercise a total of 69 sites were identified, with three already pending
action after earlier decisions.

A report for Cabinet consideration was prepared identifying the sites and inviting
determination of in respect of which of them to commence the property dealing

Page 2



Cabinet 17 February 2023

procedure. Three previously identified sites were identified for priority disposal action,
two of the then identified sites were identified for action.

On 15 July 2022 Cabinet agreed the identified priority actions and decided to progress
with the property dealing procedure in relation to all of the identified sites.

Officers have begun to progress the identified priority actions, as resources permit, but
no detailed assessment of any of the other sites has yet been undertaken.

On 4 November 2022 Cabinet considered a report outlining the Council’s financial
outlook including a number of housing and property investment requirements that could
not be funded.

It is likely that looking forward it will be increasingly necessary to practice asset
management in order to deliver property and other obligations and aspirations.

Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that any proposal for disposal
of open space must be advertised in the local press and representations taken into
account. Any planning application will necessitate statutory and neighbour consultation
and due consideration to any responses. Both of these would happen at a later stage in
the property dealing process. Cabinet may wish to note the petition, thank the petitioner
and request that these views and others are taken into account as the property dealing
procedure unfolds, subject to available resources.”

Cabinet also had before it the following comment submitted by the Portfolio Holder for
Corporate Finance and Governance:-

“These 69 sites have been identified as part of a process to review potential
development or other options throughout the District. They should not be considered in
isolation or outside of that process. No decision has been taken to build on or dispose of
any land. This process was begun following questions raised at the full Council and has
consumed considerable time and effort to get to this stage. Given the Council’s financial
position and aspirations for housing and public space improvement the Authority must
look towards careful use and rationalisation of its properties in order to reduce costs,
avoid clinging to unproductive space and facilitate investment in services and facilities.

I recommend that Cabinet notes the petition, thanks the petitioner and requests that
these views and others are taken into account as and when the property dealing
procedure unfolds, subject to available resources.”

The lead petitioner, Caroline Saye, had been invited to attend the meeting to present
the petition to Cabinet on behalf of the petitioners. However, she had informed Officers
that she was unable to attend the meeting as she was out of the country on holiday.
Having duly considered the Petition together with the information provided in the report:-
It was moved by Councillor G V Guglielmi, seconded by Councillor Bray and:-
RESOLVED that Cabinet notes the petition, thanks the petitioner and requests that

these views and others are taken into account as and when the property dealing
procedure unfolds, subject to available resources.

Page 3



Cabinet 17 February 2023

117.

MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET BY THE COUNCIL - A.2 - PETITION: RE-
INSTATEMENT OF TOILETS ON MIDDLE PROMENADE, BELOW CONNAUGHT
GARDENS EAST, CLACTON-ON-SEA

Cabinet was reminded that an e-petition had been submitted by Colin Underwood, as
lead petitioner, on 18 November 2022. That petition had been signed by 41 persons and
stated:-

“We the undersigned petition the council to re-instate public toilets in the vicinity of the
demolished toilets on the middle promenade below Connaught Gardens East”.

Asset management (including the provision of public conveniences) was an executive
function and therefore the Cabinet was the appropriate body to consider this matter.

In accordance with the Council’s adopted Scheme for Dealing with Petitions the receipt
of this Petition had been reported, for Members’ information, to the meeting of the Full
Council held on 24 January 2023. This matter had now been investigated and a report
prepared and presented to the Cabinet on the basis that the Petition contained between
30 and 500 signatures.

Having discussed the petition it would be for Cabinet to decide what action, if any, would
be taken.

Cabinet was made aware of the Assistant Director (Building and Public Realm)’s
assessment and advice as follows:-

“The former public conveniences at this location were closed and demolished around
twenty years ago in the light of structural issues and low usage. The East Clacton and
Holland-on-Sea seafront remains served by five public conveniences. Around 700m to
the West of the proposed location Public Conveniences opposite St Albans Road and
around 500m to the East of the location Public Conveniences at Lyndhurst Road remain
operational.

The success of the Holland-on-Sea beach recharging has led to increased visitor
numbers in the area. And there is a case for increased provision of facilities to match
that.

On 4 November 2022 Cabinet considered a report outlining the Council’s financial
outlook including a number of housing and property investment requirements that could
not be funded. It is likely that looking forward it will be increasingly necessary to practice
asset management in order to deliver property and other obligations and aspirations.

The construction of a significant new public convenience on a shoreline site is likely to
be substantially costly and may be hard to prioritise against other investment needs in
the prevailing financial landscape.

The Council’s Public Conveniences Strategy was adopted in 2017 with a direction of
reducing the number of conveniences in order to focus resources on the most
necessary locations. The strategy does not envisage the creation of new public
conveniences in Holland on Sea It would be most appropriate to consider any proposals
for increased or reprioritised facilities within the context of a review of that strategy.”

Page 4



Cabinet 17 February 2023

118.

Cabinet also had before it the following comment submitted by the Portfolio Holder:-

“Although | note, and welcome, the increased visitor usage of the excellent new
beaches at Holland on Sea. The Council is in an increasingly worrying financial position
and a desire to increase facilities and services, as desirable as that is, cannot sit
comfortably among the tough choices that lie ahead.

Reconsidering lavatory provision throughout the towns and coast of the District can only
fairly be achieved within the context of an overall review of the strategy. Such a strategy
review can take account of the developing financial issues that we face and should
follow consideration and resolution of those issues.

I would like to thank the petitioners for their views and consideration, and | acknowledge
the increased visitor numbers in the area but believe that we cannot, at present, commit
the organisation to the construction of new facilities. | believe that a review of this and
other strategies should be carried out at a future juncture once the approach to the
Council’s financial position can be brought into clear focus.”

The lead petitioner, Colin Underwood, attended the meeting and presented the petition
to Cabinet on behalf of the petitioners.

Having duly considered the Petition together with the information provided in the report:-
It was moved by Councillor Talbot, seconded by Councillor Porter and:-

RESOLVED that Cabinet notes the petition, thanks the petitioner but that no action be
taken at this present time to comply with the request as it is not possible to commit the
Council to the construction of new public toilet facilities. However, Cabinet supports the
suggestion that a review of this request could be carried out at a future juncture once
the approach to the Council’s financial position can be brought into a clearer focus.

MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET BY A COMMITTEE - REFERENCE FROM

THE RESOURCES AND SERVICES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - A.5 -

SCRUTINY OF THE COUNCIL'S PROPOSALS TO REVIEW THE BEACH HUT

STRATEGY

Councillor Allen declared a Personal Interest in that he was the Mayor of Frinton and
Walton Town Council and that the Town Council owned two beach huts that it rented
out exclusively to residents residing within the Parish.

Councillor Chapman BEM declared a Personal Interest insofar as her family held a
licence for a beach hut in Brightlingsea.

Cabinet considered the recommendations submitted to it by the Resources and
Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee following that Committee’s scrutiny of the
Beach Huts Task & Finish Working Group’s report on its review of the Council’s
proposals to renew the beach hut strategy at its meeting held on 1 February 2023.

That Committee had recommended -

“That Cabinet takes into account, prior to its consideration of the draft Beach Hut
Strategy, that -

Page 5



Cabinet 17 February 2023

a) the Committee recommends that future charges for lease agreements are set at a
fair and reasonable level. This is relevant for both commercial and mainstream
leases. This should also be appropriate for any new Beach Huts made available for
purchase or lease in the future;

b) it is recommended that terms and conditions included in lease agreements are fair
and equitable and in consultation with Beach Hut owners;

c) the Committee recommends that appropriate resources are put in place for
administration involved in implementing the strategy. That consideration be given to
the subsequent cost to the Council of processing leases and that subsequent costs
are reported back to the Committee;

d) the Committee recommends that bright colours and vibrant designs be included in
the revised design specification for Beach Huts, when this is produced following
adoption;

e) the Committee recommends that there is acknowledgement of the differences in
seafront locations along the Tendring District and their respective unique features,
such as cliff slopes and how they impact Beach Hut design for the emerging
specification review;

f) noting the point above, it is recommended that certain limited Beach Hut adaptations
in parts of the District be included in the future specification for reasons of access,
e.g. appropriate access steps on cliff slopes. This should be considered on a
location-by-location basis;

g) it is recommended that a map be attached to the emerging strategy to clearly define
which land is owned by Tendring District Council;

h) it is recommended that no Beach Hut designs should be permitted that are contrary
to current or future legislation;

i) to ensure high standards are maintained on Beach Huts and their use, it is
recommended that adequate resources should be in place for appropriate
enforcement action;

j) the Committee recommends that a reasonable timescale for adaptations to be
removed which fall outside of the revised specification, is agreed. The timescale
recommended is a period up to two years;

k) the Committee recommends that the Council continues to support those without
access or ability to use digital platforms so that they are still able to deal with a
member of staff. As such, sufficient resources should remain in place; and

/) the new Beach Hut Strategy returns to the Resources and Services Overview and
Scrutiny Committee for review in 12 months’ time.”

Having duly considered the recommendations submitted to Cabinet by the Resources &
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee:-

It was moved by Councillor Porter, seconded by Councillor Stock OBE and:-

Page 6



Cabinet 17 February 2023

119.

RESOLVED that the recommendations made by the Resources and Services Overview
& Scrutiny Committee be noted and that it be further noted that the response of the
Leisure and Tourism Portfolio Holder thereto will be considered as part of the Cabinet’s
deliberations on the related report of the Leisure and Tourism Portfolio Holder (A.10),
which will be considered later on in the meeting.

CABINET MEMBERS' ITEMS - REPORT OF THE LEISURE & TOURISM PORTFOLIO
HOLDER - A.10 - TENDRING BEACH HUT STRATEGY REVISITED - FOLLOWING
CONSULTATION

Councillor Allen declared a Personal Interest in that he was the Mayor of Frinton and
Walton Town Council and that the Town Council owned two beach huts that it rented
out exclusively to residents residing within the Parish.

Councillor Chapman BEM declared a Personal Interest insofar as her family held a
licence for a beach hut in Brightlingsea.

Cabinet considered a report of the Leisure and Tourism Portfolio Holder (A.10), which
sought its approval for the adoption of the Beach Hut Strategy following stakeholder
consultation and for the implementation of the subsequent work strands.

Members recalled that the Council had adopted the current Beach Hut Strategy in 2013.
This revision of the existing strategy aimed to update a number of issues relating to
beach huts, to ensure beach hut conditions were adhered to, and appropriate resources
were considered to monitor the service.

Following a ‘pre consultation’ process which had engaged 2,673 stakeholders, Cabinet
had considered a draft revised Beach Hut Strategy in November 2022 and had then
instructed Officers to carry out a further consultation exercise, to allow stakeholder
comments on the proposals.

It was reported that the proposals set out in the draft strategy were aimed at improving
the beach hut service going forward, in terms of improvements to seafront aesthetics,
ensuring a regulated service for rentals and improved governance. The key strands
which had been the subject of the public consultation were as follows:-

Implementing Commercial Agreements for those wishing to rent
Limiting Beach Hut Agreements to one per household

A review of the Beach Hut design specification

Addressing Beach Hut Adaptations

Resourcing additional enforcement

A move towards a digitalised service

Building new beach huts

A move from licence agreements to leases

Cabinet was informed that the consultation had been completed by 1507 stakeholders
and that their views and comments had been taken into consideration in the production
of this final draft. Key points for Cabinet’'s consideration arising from the consultation
were as follows:

Page 7



Cabinet 17 February 2023

o The majority of consultees either strongly disagreed or disagreed with the proposal to
implement commercial agreements for those wishing to rent. Following an evaluation
of the comments received, those responses could be divided into two sections:-

i. Those who were concerned about the number of users renting huts were excessive
and led to disturbance; and
ii. Those who felt they should be able to rent under the existing agreements.

o The maijority of consultees either strongly disagreed or disagreed with the proposal to
limit beach hut agreements to one per household. It was noted however, that of
Tendring residents completing the consultation, a majority were actually in favour of
this action.

e The majority of consultees either strongly disagreed or disagreed with the proposal to
move from licences to leases. After evaluating the comments received, it was clear
that a large proportion of the consultees and their respective Beach Hut Associations,
felt they could not agree to this proposal, without knowledge of the price increase and
what the proposed agreements would entail. The Cabinet report accompanying the
draft strategy in November 2022, had been clear that the fees would increase, but
that this would be determined by an independent evaluation if Cabinet agreed to the
principal of that proposal.

o With regards to the other proposals, the majority of stakeholders either strongly
agreed or agreed with the Council’s position.

Having taken into account the outcome of the second round of consultation responses,
Cabinet noted there were proposed changes to the Strategy as detailed within the
Portfolio Holder’s report.

Cabinet was aware that a Task and Finish Group under the Resources and Services
Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been initiated in relation to the Council’s
Emerging Beach Hut Strategy Review, which had met with Officers, Beach Hut
Associations and the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Tourism. They had also met with
a group of Beach Hut licence holders who had been renting their huts out to visitors. A
separate report had been produced (see Report A.5 considered above) on behalf of the
Task and Finish Group, for the Resources and Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee
(“the Committee”).

The Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Tourism recorded his thanks to the Task & Finish
Group and the Committee for their work on this strategy review and had considered their
recommendations. His responses were:-

a) The Committee recommends that future charges for lease agreements are set at a
fair and reasonable level. This is relevant for both commercial and mainstream
leases. This should also be appropriate for any new Beach Huts made available for
purchase or lease in the future.

Portfolio Holder Response:
An independent valuation of prospective lease charges was commissioned, to ensure

Cabinet could fully consider the recommendation for the change in Beach Hut
agreements. Although this is only an indicative cost at this stage (the valuation will be

Page 8



Cabinet 17 February 2023

considered closer to implementation), it is hoped this provides reassurance that future
charges would be set at a fair and reasonable level. Furthermore, the Committee
should be reassured that agreement of a future non-commercial lease and related
charges would be agreed by the Portfolio Holder through an Executive Decision. This
will be subject to the Council’s Call in Procedure rules. The setting of charges and
respective heads of terms for a Commercial Lease are being agreed through this report.
Research from other Local Authorities demonstrates that the doubling of appropriate
charges for commercial agreements is fair and appropriate.

b) It is recommended that terms and conditions included in lease agreements are fair
and equitable and in consultation with Beach Hut owners.

Portfolio Holder Response:
The Committee are directed to the response provided for the recommendation above.

c) The Committee recommends that appropriate resources are put in place for
administration involved in implementing the strategy. They asked for consideration
be given to the subsequent cost to the Council of processing leases and that
subsequent costs are reported back to this Committee.

Portfolio Holder Response:

The Committee should note that there are no financial commitments to the Council, as a
result of this report. Any future additional resources will be subject to a separate report
and decision. As such, they will be subject to due process, which can be reported back
to the Resources and Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

d) The Committee recommends that bright colours and vibrant designs be included in
the revised design specification for Beach Huts, when this is produced following
adoption.

Portfolio Holder Response:

The Committee should note that one of the key strands of the strategy, is to revise the
current specification. It should also be noted that bright colours are referred to in the
draft strategy, as below:

‘The proposed revised and improved specification will provide the framework for
improved aesthetics of Beach Huts. This will also ensure huts are more vibrant and
visually impactful, through a move towards brighter and starker colours.’

As such, the Portfolio Holder is in agreement with this positive move to improve seafront
aesthetics.

e) The Committee recommends that there is acknowledgement of the differences in
seafront locations along the Tendring District and their respective unique features,
such as cliff slopes and how they impact Beach Hut design for the emerging
specification review.

Portfolio Holder Response:

Page 9



Cabinet 17 February 2023

The points raised by the Committee are noted and will be considered in producing the
revised design specification.

f)  Noting the point above, it is recommended that certain limited Beach Hut
adaptations in parts of the District were included in the future specification for
reasons of access, e.g. appropriate access steps on cliff slopes. This should be
considered on a location-by-location basis.

Portfolio Holder Response:

The points raised by the Committee are noted and will be considered in producing the
revised design specification.

g) It is recommended that a map was attached to the emerging strategy to clearly
define which land was owned by Tendring District Council.

Portfolio Holder Response:

The points raised by the Committee are noted and if approved by Cabinet, a map
defining the land owned by the Council will be produced for publishing on the website.

h) It is recommended that no Beach Hut designs should be permitted that are contrary
to current or legislation.

Portfolio Holder Response:

The points raised by the Committee are noted and any statutory requirements will be
addressed in production of the Beach Hut agreements.

i) To ensure high standards were maintained on Beach Huts and their use, it is
recommended that adequate resources should be in place for appropriate
enforcement action.

Portfolio Holder Response:

As referred to in a previous response, there are no additional financial commitments to
this strategy and as such, no additional resources are funded through this report. The
Committee’s point is noted and as referred to in this report, any future proposed
resources would be funded through a standalone business case under a separate
decision.

j)  The Committee recommends that a reasonable timescale for adaptations to be
removed which fall outside of the revised specification, is agreed. The timescale
recommended is a period up to two years.

Portfolio Holder Response:
Once the revised design specification is complete, the Council will work with Beach Hut
owners to ensure timely removal of any unauthorised adaptations. The timescales

involved will be proportionate to the type of adaptation involved, the degree of
complexity and any appropriate additional circumstances. The period of ‘up to two

Page 10



Cabinet 17 February 2023

years’ recommended by the Committee is noted, but each situation will be based on a
case by case basis.

k) The Committee recommends that the Council continues to support those without
access or ability to use digital platforms are still able to deal with a member of staff.
As such, sufficient resources should remain in place.

Portfolio Holder Response:

The points raised by the Committee are noted and appropriate resources will remain in
place to support those customers without access to digital platforms.

Finally, the Committee’s comment that the ‘New Beach Hut Strategy returns to the
Resources and Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee for review in 12 months’
time’ are noted.

In order to allow the Beach Hut Strategy to be adopted and Officers to implement the
actions and principles included within:-

It was moved by Councillor Porter, seconded by Councillor P B Honeywood and:-

RESOLVED that Cabinet —
(a) notes the outcome of the public consultation undertaken on the draft Beach Hut
Strategy, as set out in the Portfolio Holder’s report;

(b) notes the outcome of the Task and Finish Review Working Group undertaken on
behalf of the Resources and Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee and their
recommendations received as considered earlier in the meeting;

(c) in relation to (a) and (b) above, notes the changes made to the draft strategy as a
result of the consultation exercise, including the process for issuing commercial
beach hut leases (following the first round of consultation) and the consideration of
a ‘buffer period’ in restricting future agreements to one per household;

(d) notes the proposed changes to the revised draft Beach Hut Strategy, and approves
the same for adoption;

(e) delegates the approval of a revised Beach Hut design specification to the Assistant
Director (Building & Public Realm), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for
Leisure and Tourism;

(f) agrees the Heads of Terms for a new commercial lease (Appendix C) and
delegates authorisation for the final lease agreement to the Corporate Director
(Operations & Delivery), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and
Tourism and the Head of Legal Services;

(g) delegates agreement of an approved criteria, upon which applications for
commercial licences can be made, to the Assistant Director (Building & Public
Realm), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Tourism;

(h) agrees to set fees and charges for commercial leases at twice the value (double) of
the comparative standard annual charge;

Page 11



Cabinet 17 February 2023

120.

(i) agrees to the overall principle of changing from licence agreements to leases from 1
April 2024, for a term of less than 7 years and based on the market valuation for the
relevant location, recognising the increased administration and costs to all parties
on leases for longer than 7 years with the respective fees and charges and detailed
lease terms to be agreed by the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Tourism; and

(i) agrees that operational implementation of (i) above will be authorised by the
Corporate Director (Operations and Delivery), in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Leisure and Tourism and the Head of Legal Services, reflecting the
resources required.

MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET BY A COMMITTEE - REFERENCE FROM
THE PLANNING POLICY & LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE - A.3 - CONSERVATION
AREA CHARACTER APPRAISAL AND MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR
BRIGHTLINGSEA HALL & ALL SAINTS CHURCH

Cabinet was informed that the Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee (“the
Committee”), at its meeting held on 23 January 2023 (Minute 32 referred), had
considered a comprehensive report (and appendix) of the Director (Planning) which had
reported to it the Brightlingsea Hall and All Saints Church Conservation Area Appraisal
and Management Plan that had been prepared for the Council by Essex Place Services.
That report had also sought the Committee’s recommendation to Cabinet that they be
approved for public consultation purposes.

The Committee’s decision at its meeting held on 23 January 2023 had been as follows:-
“RESOLVED that the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee:

a) endorses the new Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan for
Brightlingsea Hall and All Saints Church (Appendix 1 to item A.4 of the Report of
the Director (Planning));

b) recommends to Cabinet that the above document be published for consultation with
the public and other interested parties; and

¢) notes that Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plans for the District’s
remaining Conservation Areas will be brought before the Committee in due course
and before the new financial year.”

Cabinet had before it the following comment submitted by the Portfolio Holder for
Planning:-

“l thank the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee for its consideration of this latest
Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Management Plan and | sincerely welcome,
once again, its recommendation to Cabinet that this be published for public consultation.
Reviewing all of the District’s Conservation Areas is one of the key actions in the
Council’s Heritage Strategy and the progress so far has been very good. Ensuring we
have an up-to-date appraisal for each and every Conservation Area will enable
residents, developers, planners and our Planning Committee to understand the key
characteristics that make each area special and which need to be preserved and
enhanced when making planning applications and determining them. They will also

Page 12



Cabinet 17 February 2023

121.

enable us to reconsider the boundaries of each area and determine whether any Atrticle
4 Directions are needed to provide an extra level of protection and control.”

Having duly considered the recommendation submitted to it by the Planning Policy &
Local Plan Committee:-

It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor McWilliams and:-
RESOLVED that the new Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan for
Brightlingsea Hall & All Saints Church, Brightlingsea be approved for consultation with

the public and other interested parties.

MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET BY A COMMITTEE - REFERENCE FROM

THE PLANNING POLICY & LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE - A.4 - JAYWICK SANDS
DESIGN GUIDE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT

Cabinet was informed that the Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee (“the
Committee”), at its meeting held on 23 January 2023 (Minute 31 referred), had
considered a comprehensive report (and appendices) of the Director (Planning) which
had reported to it the Jaywick Sands Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD). That report had also sought the Committee’s recommendation to Cabinet that
the SPD be formally adopted.

The Committee’s decision at its meeting held on 23 January 2023 had been as follows:-
“RESOLVED that the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee —

a) endorses the Jaywick Sands Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) with the Officers’ recommended alterations; and

b) recommends to Cabinet that the SPD (forming Appendix 1 to item A.3 of the Report
of the Director (Planning)) be adopted, subject to the fourth bullet point of guidance
“2A: Landscape character and visual impact” being amended to read as follows:-

“Visual separation between Tudor Estate and Village/Brooklands & Gardens sheuld
must be maintained.”

c) further recommends to Cabinet that the Director (Planning) be authorised to make
any necessary minor, or consequential, amendments to the SPD before the final
adopted version is published.”

Cabinet had before it the following comment submitted by the Portfolio Holder for
Planning:-

“l thank the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee for its consideration and
constructive comments on the Jaywick Sands Design Guide which has progressed
through the mandatory planning process of public consultation and can now be formally
adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document. For many years property owners,
developers and our Planning Officers have needed to grapple with the dilemma of trying
to work out what form of development might help to regenerate the area and improve
the lives of residents whilst addressing flood risk and safety concerns and achieving an
appropriate form of development that avoids overlooking and other design problems.

Page 13



Cabinet 17 February 2023

122.

This guidance will supplement our Local Plan and provide a helpful and practical
template for how to redevelop existing properties and vacant plots, either on a one-for-
on-basis or across a number of plots.”

Having duly considered the recommendations submitted to it by the Planning Policy &
Local Plan Committee:-

It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor McWilliams and:-

RESOLVED that —

(a) the Jaywick Sands Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
(Appendix 1) be formally adopted, subject to the fourth bullet point of guidance “2A:

Landscape character and visual impact” being amended to read as follows:-

“Visual separation between Tudor Estate and Village/Brooklands & Gardens must
be maintained.”

(b) the Director (Planning) be authorised to make any necessary minor, or
consequential, amendments to the SPD before the final adopted version is
published.

MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET BY A COMMITTEE - REFERENCE FROM

THE RESOURCES AND SERVICES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - A.6 -
SCRUTINY OF CYBER SECURITY FOR THE COUNCIL

Cabinet considered the recommendations submitted to it by the Resources and
Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee following that Committee’s scrutiny of the
Cyber Security Task and Finish Working Group’s report on its review of the cyber
security risks, defences and mitigations the Council had in place, at its meeting held on
1 February 2023.

That Committee had recommended —
“That Cabinet —

a) requests, that as soon as is possible, the Human Resources and Council Tax
Committee with appropriate officers looks at the salaries being offered for the
advertised and unfilled senior IT posts, including cyber security senior technical
positions;

b) endorses that by 31 March 2023 a Portfolio Holder Cyber Security Working Group
be established to periodically review the Council’s cyber security performance
against the Cyber Assessment Framework (CAF) and/or emerging mandatory
security improvements and requirements;

c) requests that by 31 July 2023 the Council’s Information Retention Policy be
reviewed/ revised with due regard to UK Data Protection Act 2018 data
‘minimisation’ ‘accuracy’ and ‘storage limitation’ and applied throughout the
organisation;

Page 14



Cabinet 17 February 2023

d) requests that by 31 May 2023 individual (non-generic) account access technologies
be costed for accessing TDC terminals in locations such as leisure centres where
numerous users sharing a terminal due to a retail environment operational need;

e) requests that, commencing no later than May 2023 following the election of the new
Council, Cyber Security and Information Governance training for all Members after
every election and for staff in their inductions be introduced with periodic refresher
training for both which will be made mandatory;

f)  requests the Council’s Monitoring Officer to review existing Member guidance and
explore Member training opportunities as to what constitutes party political activities
in the context of using a TDC email account;

g) endorses that as soon as possible the new Cyber Incident Response Plan (CIRP)
be adopted.

That Cabinet recommends to Full Council that —

h) post-May 2023 local elections under the newly elected Council that Members’
practice of auto-forwarding of emails be ceased;

() subject to the associated funding of £8,000 being identified, that the preferred
Option 2 i.e. the provision of a standard council-managed mobile Smartphone in
addition to a council-managed laptop be provided to those Members that want one
to access emails and to be contactable when mobile; or

j) as an alternative to i above, that should it not prove possible to fund the
Smartphone costs centrally, then each Member requesting a standard council-
managed mobile Smartphone be asked to fund the cost from their Allowances (circa
two hundred pounds per annum).”

Cabinet had before it the following comments submitted by the Portfolio Holder for
Corporate Finance & Governance:-

“I would like to thank the Committee for the work it has undertaken in setting up the task
and finish group chaired by Councillor Clifton, who looked at the various aspects and
complexities of cyber security in a relatively short period of time.

In respect of the recommendations a) to g), they reflect a pragmatic and reasonable
approach to supporting the Council’s cyber security arrangements, so | am therefore
supportive of taking the various activities forward in 2023/24.

Recommendations h) to j) of the Resources and Services Overview and Scrutiny
Committee will be presented for consideration at Full Council on 2 March 2023.

In respect of recommendation h), this reflects the position | have mentioned on a
number of occasions over recent months. | appreciate the frustration that many
Members have previously expressed, but | believe that the risk of continuing with the
forwarding of emails to personal emails account is too great for various reasons, not
least because of UK Data Protection legislation compliance, but also recognising
freedom of information issues that have been highlighted by the ICO. Not only that, but
the world of cyber security will keep evolving and there will be adverse consequences if

Page 15



Cabinet 17 February 2023

we continued with current practices. We therefore need to remain alert to both current
and future risks.

Furthermore, if a breach was to take place the Council would be potentially liable to
hefty fines by the ICO.

I note that the following 4 options relating to how Members can access their Tendring
District Council emails that were considered by the task and finish group:

Use of council managed laptops only

All members be provided with a Council managed smart phone
Introduce a ‘Bring Your Own Device’ Service Framework

A Member web ‘portal’ app

AN~

Whilst acknowledging the Committee’s practical recommendation of the provision of
Council managed smartphones, in striking a pragmatic balance along with recognising
how Members are increasingly reliant upon flexible access to their emails to effectively
undertake their role as a Councillor, | would be supportive of exploring Option 4 above
in more detail as a possible alternative. Although the provision of a mobile phone would
provide a practical solution, | understand the frustration of some members where they
are juggling more than one email account to reflect their ‘political’ roles with that of a
being a ward Councillor along with trying to undertaking that role efficiently. The
responsibilities of Portfolio Holders giving direction and making decisions within their
individual areas has also been taken into account.

In recognition of the above, | am therefore proposing that Officers also explore in more
detail the option of a Members’ ‘portal’ as a flexible way for Members’ to continue to use
their own devices to access their Tendring District email account.

Following the Council’s consideration of the associated report at their meeting on 22
November 2022, the following resolution was agreed:

‘the implementation of any and all changes required be planned for no later than 1st
April 2023 in readiness for the commencement of the new Council, following the
elections in 2023 and that the new Councillors be given the training’.

My proposed approach will have an impact on the above, which is addressed in my
recommendations.”

Having duly considered the recommendations submitted to Cabinet by the Resources &
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, together with the response of the Portfolio
Holder thereto:-

It was moved by Councillor G V Guglielmi, seconded by Councillor Stock OBE and:-
RESOLVED that —

a) the Resources and Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee be thanked for the

work they have undertaken and specifically the Members who participated in the
associated task and finish group, chaired by Councillor Clifton;

Page 16



Cabinet 17 February 2023

123.

124.

b) the Committee’s recommendations a) to g) are agreed and Officers be requested to
undertake the associated activities as soon as practicable in 2023/24 in consultation
with the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Finance and Governance;

c) in respect of the Committee’s recommendations h) to i), it is recommended to Full
Council that:

i) although it is recognised that the provision of mobile phones would provide a
practical solution to enable Members to access their Tendring email accounts,
Officers be requested to also explore the alternative option of a Members
‘portal’ before a final decision can be considered;

ii) subject to ci) above, a further report be presented to Cabinet as early as
practicable in 2023/24 that sets out the outcome from the proposed review of
the Members’ portal’ option and recommendations are presented back to a
future meeting of Full Council;

iii) subject to ci) and cii) above, Full Council continues to acknowledge that the
ongoing risk to the Council, in acting as Data Controller, could potentially be in
breach of the Data Protection Act 2018 remains, whilst the auto-forwarding of
Councillor emails practice continues; and

(iv) whilst the work in ci) and cii) is ongoing, all Members elected in May 2023 are
advised of this and the Council’s Information Governance requirements through
their induction programme.

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL'S ITEMS

There were no items submitted by the Leader of the Council on this occasion.

CABINET MEMBERS' ITEMS - REPORT OF THE BUSINESS & ECONOMIC
GROWTH PORTFOLIO HOLDER - A.7 - OPERATIONAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR
THE SUNSPOT (JAYWICK SANDS COVERED MARKET AND MANAGED

WORKSPACE)

Cabinet considered a report of the Business & Economic Growth Portfolio Holder (A.7)
which:-

(i) sought its agreement that the operational management of the Sunspot was no
longer outsourced longer term to a third party but delivered by the Council in-house;

(i) advises it that the project’s external partners would provide on a short term, interim
advice and support to the Council for a fee; and

(iii) updated it on progress with the construction phase (Jaywick Sands Covered Market
and Managed Workspace).

Cabinet recalled that, their meeting held in May 2021, it had approved the development
of a Covered Market and Managed Workspace facility at Jaywick Sands. Cabinet had
subsequently determined in October 2021 to outsource management of the building,
with a direct award to the Colchester Business Enterprise Agency (Colbea) by means of
a service contract and licence with a value of £90,000 in year one. However, after a

Page 17



Cabinet 17 February 2023

change of management at Colbea, the organisation had subsequently informed the
Council that they were no longer in a position to take on the licence agreement, which
might have been driven by the financial risk associated with the building. Those risks
would therefore remain with this Council. Colbea did however remain content to enter
into a service contract for a period of 7 months. In order to increase their capacity to
deliver at pace however, Colbea would partner with HAT projects for additional support.
Colbea had also offered a further service once the 7 months activation period had
ended, which would consist of drawing on their specialist expertise in this area to
manage staff within the building, until such a time as Council staff were fully trained and
self-sufficient.

Members were advised that, as a result of this change in position, it was recommended
by the Portfolio Holder to bring the operation of the building in house, to be run by staff
directly employed by the Council. Colbea currently held the contract to provide the
Council’'s Business Support Service and were committed to provide the support needed
to any future tenants in the Sunspot.

It was reported that the activities associated with this in-house approach would be
undertaken within the General Fund, with the costs charged to the HRA via existing
internal processes. Direct property related transactions such as maintenance and rental
income would be accounted for within the Council’s HRA. Based on this approach, the
financial risks associated with bringing the operation of the building in-house would fall
to the HRA. The shorter to medium term impact was set out within the Portfolio Holder’s
report and in the longer term the operation and management of the units would be
considered as part of the HRA Business Plan.

It was considered that there were three key options available to refocus Colbea’s
service contract:-

a. In-house only: Council staff activate and run the building: £80,000 net

b. Outsource activation of the centre from February 2023: Colbea contracted to
develop policies, procedures, training and market the building ahead of opening in
the summer; £150,000 or

c. (Recommended) Outsource activation and offer short term ongoing
management support for the operation of the centre for 7 months, with the option
to continue with a reduced support service after the 7 months had expired, to
ensure the council had the required expertise to deliver. £170,000 net.

The Portfolio Holder's recommendation was that Cabinet allocated an additional
£80,000 to the year one operational budget, and in year 2 an additional £40,000 out of
the reserve set aside to support the project.

Members were informed that the above approach would therefore require an associated
reduction in the revenue contribution to the HRA Capital Programme. This inherently
increased the construction cost risk but based on the project update set out elsewhere
in the Portfolio Holder’'s report and the additional funding recently secured, this was
expected to be successfully managed during the on-going delivery phase of the capital
works.

Cabinet was made aware that the construction costs of the building, which was

scheduled to complete in the summer of 2023 had risen and the project had been
delayed due to significant ground contamination. Additional funding towards the

Page 18



Cabinet 17 February 2023

125.

development had been secured externally from SELEP in December 2022 and ECC in
January 2023 and allocated internally.

In order to:-

(1) allow the building to open in a timely and efficient manner, giving businesses and
the community confidence in the Sunspot and builds a strong reputation with the
wider District;

(2) ensure the Council retained control on this important project and contributed
positively towards the ongoing regeneration of Jaywick Sands; and

(3) commission Colbea and HAT Projects for a short-term period to provide interim
management and operational support and establish a process for continued
success of the building embedded in the operational culture and as such,
contributing towards long term sustainability.

It was moved by Councillor Newton, seconded by Councillor P B Honeywood and:-
RESOLVED that Cabinet:

a) approves that the operational management of the Sunspot (Jaywick Workspace) is
now not outsourced, longer term to a third party but delivered by the Council in-
house;

b) approves reliance on the previous exemption to the Council’'s Procurement
Procedure Rules to proceed with a contract with Colbea together with HAT projects
to provide interim management and operational support to the Council for a period
of 7 months;

c) delegates authority to the Corporate Director (Place & Economy), in consultation
with the Portfolio Holders for Housing and Business and Economic Growth, to agree
the final terms of the contract;

d) approves an allocation of an additional £80,000 to the year one operational budget
and in year 2 an additional £40,000 that is to be met from a corresponding reduction
in the current revenue contribution to the HRA Capital Programme in 2022/23.

e) agrees that the operation of the in-house management of the Sunspot be accounted
for in the General Fund, with corresponding recharges made to the HRA, as
appropriate and all related property transactions including management,
maintenance and rental payments being accounted for in the HRA; and

(f) authorises the Council’'s Section 151 Officer to undertake the necessary changes to
the budget to reflect the approach set out in (e) above within the financial
parameters set out within the Portfolio Holder’s report and its appendices.

CABINET MEMBERS' ITEMS - REPORT OF THE CORPORATE FINANCE AND
GOVERNANCE PORTFOLIO HOLDER - A.8 - PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES)

Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Finance & Governance Portfolio Holder
(A.8), which requested it to approve the recommended changes to the Constitution

Page 19



Cabinet 17 February 2023

(Council Procedure Rules) for referral onto Full Council following a further review
undertaken by the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Finance and Governance through a
Working Party constituted for that purpose.

It was reported that the proposals covered a number of amendments to the Council
Procedure Rules 11, 12 and 14, in order to ensure the Council’s Constitution remains
effective, efficient and consistent at an operational level. The key changes to each of
those Rules were highlighted within the body of the Portfolio Holder’s report.

Cabinet recalled that, at its meeting held on 16 December 2022 (Minute 83 referred), it
had considered the outcome of the annual review of the Council’s Constitution that had
been undertaken by the Review of the Constitution Portfolio Holder Working Party. At
that meeting Cabinet had deferred consideration of the proposed changes to Council
Procedure Rules (CPR) 12 and 14 pending their re-consideration by the Review of the
Constitution Portfolio Holder Working Party (CRWP).

Accordingly, the CRWP had met on 23 January 2023 to further discuss those proposed
changes to CPRs 12 and 14. In addition, the CRWP had considered, at the request of
Councillor Baker, a matter pertaining to CPR11.2 as well as the outcome of the recent
consultation exercise with Members on the procedure for the Planning Committee’s site
visits.

With the permission of the Leader of the Council, Councillor Baker addressed the
Cabinet in relation to the issue of Planning Committee Site Visits.

Having considered the outcome of the further review of the Constitution carried out by
the Review of the Constitution Portfolio Holder Working Party and the Portfolio Holder’s
recommendations arising therefrom, and in order to enable those recommendations to
be submitted to the Full Council for approval and adoption:-

It was moved by Councillor G V Guglielmi, seconded by Councillor Stock OBE and:-
RESOLVED that Cabinet —

(@) RECOMMENDS TO COUNCIL that the Council’'s Constitution be amended to
reflect the proposed changes as set out in the Appendix attached hereto this report;

(b) further RECOMMENDS TO COUNCIL that the implementation of the new Council
Procedure Rule 12 be reviewed after six months’ operation;

(c) supports the proposal that the Planning Committee continues its current practice of
undertaking a site visit in respect of all planning applications that are submitted to it
for its consideration and requests Full Council to do likewise;

(d) requests the Monitoring Officer to amend the Council’s procedure for Planning
Committee Site Visits, as set out in the Members’ Planning Code and Protocol (in
Part 6 of the Constitution) to appropriately reflect the matters raised by the Review
of the Constitution Portfolio Holder Working Party; and

(e) further requests the Monitoring Officer to submit the Site Visit Procedure, as
amended, to Full Council for its approval and adoption, following consultation, as

Page 20



Cabinet 17 February 2023

126.

appropriate and necessary, with the Planning Committee and the Standards
Committee.

CABINET MEMBERS' ITEMS - REPORT OF THE CORPORATE FINANCE AND
GOVERNANCE PORTFOLIO HOLDER - A.9 - ANNUAL CAPITAL AND TREASURY
STRATEGY FOR 2023/24 (INCLUDING PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY

INDICATORS)

Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Finance & Governance Portfolio Holder
(A.9), which sought its approval of the Annual Capital and Treasury Strategy for 2023/24
(including Prudential And Treasury Indicators) for submission to Council on 2 March
2023.

Members were reminded that the Local Government Act 2003 and supporting
regulations required the Council to set out its treasury strategy for borrowing, and to
prepare an Annual Investment Strategy (as required by Investment Guidance
subsequent to the Act) that set out the Council’s policies for managing its investments
and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments, “having regard”
to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code
and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice. Revised editions of both
documents had been issued in December 2021, which would come into force in
2023/24.

It was reported that the Capital Strategy continued to be combined with the Treasury
Strategy into one document, which was required to be updated / approved annually. The
proposed Annual Capital and Treasury Strategy for 2023/24 was set out in Appendix A
to the Portfolio Holder’s report and it reflected the various changes set out in the latest
Codes mentioned above.

Cabinet was made aware that the Capital Strategy element of the combined document
covered the various elements surrounding capital investment decisions and the key
criteria that investment decisions should be considered against.

Members were also informed that the Treasury Strategy element of the combined
document covered the various elements that satisfied the requirements of the various
codes that governed the borrowing and investment activities of the Council and had
been prepared in the light of advice received from the Council’s Treasury advisors and it
reflected the latest codes and guidance.

Cabinet noted that the Prudential and Treasury indicators were included as an Annexe
to the combined strategy and were therefore included within the aforementioned
Appendix A.

Members were advised that, under the Prudential Code, the Council had freedom over
capital expenditure as long as it was prudent, affordable and sustainable. The
Prudential Indicators either measured the expected activity or introduced limits upon the
activity and reflected the underlying capital appraisal systems and enabled the Council
to demonstrate that it was complying with the requirements of the Prudential Code. The
Council’'s investments would be undertaken in accordance with its Treasury
Management Practices. Those had been expanded to include use of non-specified
investment in property to yield both rental income and capital gains from 2016/17. The
new Codes required clear separation of commercial investments from treasury

Page 21



Cabinet 17 February 2023

127.

investments. As the Council only had one such investment, which would be clearly
identified within the Strategy and the TMPs, a separate suite of Investment Management
Practices was not proposed to be produced.

As was always the case, other ‘quality’ investment opportunities would always be
explored during the year in consultation with the Council’s external advisors to maximise
returns on investments within a continuing and overall risk-averse approach.

In line with the delegation set out within the Council’s Constitution, the Portfolio Holder
for Corporate Finance and Governance would agree the Strategy for submitting to the
Resources and Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee as part of the required
consultation process. However to accommodate the current programme of meetings
and continuing work pressures, which included those associated with the external audit
of the Council’'s Statement of Accounts for 2020/21, a revised reporting timescale was
proposed.

It was therefore now proposed to seek Cabinet's agreement to the Strategy via this
report for recommending to Full Council on 2 March 2023. The associated consultation
exercise with the Resources and Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee would then
be undertaken as early as practicable in 2023/24.

The above reflected a pragmatic approach to ensure that the Strategy could be
approved ahead of the financial year it related to, which was a key requirement within
the associated Code of Practice. However, it was also recognised that if the Resources
and Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee had any comments / recommendations,
they could be reported back to Cabinet / Full Council at a later date in the year when
potential in-year revisions to the Strategy could be considered.

In order to ensure that a Capital and Treasury Strategy for 2023/24 was approved by 1
April 2023:-

It was moved by Councillor G V Guglielmi, seconded by Councillor Porter and:-
RESOLVED that Cabinet —

a) agrees the Annual Capital and Treasury Strategy for 2023/24 (including Prudential
And Treasury Indicators) and that it be submitted to Council for approval; and

b) undertakes the necessary consultation with the Resources and Services Overview
and Scrutiny Committee as early as practicable in 2023/24.

MANAGEMENT TEAM ITEMS

There were no Management Team items submitted for Cabinet’s consideration on this
occasion.

The Meeting was declared closed at 11.51 am

Chairman

Page 22



Agenda Item 9
CABINET
17 MARCH 2023
REPORT OF THE PLANNING PORTFOLIO HOLDER

A.1 — ARDLEIGH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN — PROPOSAL FOR PUBLIC CONSULTATION
(Report prepared by William Fuller)

PART 1 — KEY INFORMATION

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

To seek the Cabinet’s agreement for Officers to carry out six week public consultation on Ardleigh
Parish Council’'s new Neighbourhood Plan, as part of the statutory plan-making process.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Key Points:

¢ Ardleigh Parish Council has submitted the final version of its Neighbourhood Plan Tendring
District Council. The Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared by the Parish Council having
regard to technical evidence, feedback from community engagement activities and the
ongoing advice of Tendring District Council Officers.

e As part of the statutory plan-making process, the Neighbourhood Plan must be published
for six-weeks formal consultation and thereafter undergo an independent examination and
a local referendum before it can be formally adopted by the District Council.

e In adoption, the Neighbourhood Plan (with any changes required as a result of the
consultation and examination process) will form part of the ‘Development Plan’ alongside
the Tendring District Local Plan and will be a material consideration in the determination of
planning applications.

e The documents submitted by Ardleigh Parish Council include the Neighbourhood Plan itself,
a consultation document, a ‘Basic Condition Statement’ and a number of other supporting
documents including a Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) and a Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA).

e Because of the timing of both District Council and Town/Parish Council elections on 4th May
2023 and restrictions on consultation activity in the pre-election period beginning 13" March
2023, the six-week consultation will have to take place following the elections.

Page 23




The decisions involved in the process of making a Neighbourhood Development Plan are largely

technical or administrative in nature, however certain decisions for example the decision to hold a
referendum or ultimately the decision to make the Neighbourhood Plan and bring into force could
be key decisions and as such should include member involvement.

RECOMMENDATION

That Cabinet:

a) notes the contents of the submitted documentation at Appendix 1 (The Neighbourhood
Development Plan), Appendix 2 (Ardleigh Consultation Statement) and Appendix 3
(Ardleigh Basic Condition Statement ); and

b) authorises the Director of Planning to carry out a six week public consultation on the
Plan and other related documents, in accordance with Regulation 16 of the
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012, following the District and Town/Parish
Council elections in May 2023.

PART 2 — IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION

DELIVERING PRIORITIES

Neighbourhood Plans will support the Corporate Plan 2020-24 (aligned with the core themes of
Tendring4Growth and Community Leadership) through delivery of interventions aimed at:

e Delivering High Quality Services

e Community Leadership Through Partnerships

e Building Sustainable Communities for the Future
e Strong Finances and Governance

e A Growing and Inclusive Economy

The progression of this Neighbourhood Plan will also contribute to the 2022/23 Highlight Priority
Actions, in particular in delivering the north Essex Garden Community.

Neighbourhood Plans should supplement and support the policies and proposals in the District Local
Plan whilst enabling the communities to achieve their own objectives and aspirations.

RESOURCES AND RISK

The Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared by Ardleigh Parish Council. The
responsibilities for resourcing this project have, to date, sat principally with the Parish Council as the
‘qualifying body’. However, the District Council has statutory duties in regards to the preparation of

Page 24



the Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plans and these will be discharged by the Planning Team and
any additional expenses funded through the Local Plan budget.

A Neighbourhood Plan, once formally adopted, carries the same legal status as a District Local Plan
(and other documents that form part of the statutory ‘Development Plan’) and therefore becomes a
material consideration in the determination of planning applications. Applications for planning
permission would therefore be determined in accordance with the development plan (including any
Neighbourhood Plan), unless material considerations indicate otherwise

It is important that Neighbourhood Plans support and supplement the policies and proposals in the
District Local Plan. To ensure this, Officers have worked constructively with the Parish Council in an
advisory capacity in the preparation of its Neighbourhood Plan.

LEGAL

The ability for a Town or Parish Council to produce a Neighbourhood Plan is contained within the
Localism Act 2011. The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (“the Act”) and the Neighbourhood
Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) provide the statutory process as to how a
Neighbourhood Development Plan will be developed and implemented. The Neighbourhood
Planning (General) and Development Management Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2016,
contain statutory timescales by which decisions relating to Neighbourhood Planning have to be
made.

Neighbourhood Plans give communities the opportunity to set planning policies as Neighbourhood
Development Plans which will form part of the development plan of a local authority once
implemented and will sit alongside the Local Plan. The District Council’'s responsibility as Local
Planning Authority is largely technical in nature, for example advising on conformity with the
Development Plan and checking that Plans have followed correct procedures. Once made, a Local
Planning Authority must consider a Neighbourhood Development Plan when deciding applications
for planning permission, along with any other material consideration.

Decisions in relation to the making of Neighbourhood Development Plans are an executive function,
that is because Neighbourhood Development Plans are not Development Plan Documents as
defined in regulation 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations
2012 and as such do not come within the list of plans and strategies listed in Column 1 of the table
to Schedule 3 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000,
which would require Council approval or adoption.

Ardleigh Parish Council is at Regulation 15. This stage. This regulation states:

15.—(1) Where a qualifying body submits a plan proposal to the local planning authority, it must
include—
(&) a map or statement which identifies the area to which the proposed neighbourhood
development plan relates;
(b) a consultation statement;
(c) the proposed neighbourhood develogpment plan; and

Page 2o




(d) a statement explaining how the proposed neighbourhood development plan meets the
requirements of paragraph 8 of Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act.

(2) In this regulation “consultation statement” means a document which—
(a) contains details of the persons and bodies who were consulted about the proposed
neighbourhood development plan;
(b) explains how they were consulted:;
(c) summarises the main issues and concerns raised by the persons consulted; and
(d) describes how these issues and concerns have been considered and, where relevant,
addressed in the proposed neighbourhood development plan.

And then Regulation 16 states:

16. As soon as possible after receiving a plan proposal which includes each of the documents
referred to in regulation 15(1), a local planning authority must—

(a)publicise the following on their website and in such other manner as they consider is likely to bring
the proposal to the attention of people who live, work or carry on business in the neighbourhood
area—

(i)details of the plan proposal;

(indetails of where and when the plan proposal may be inspected,;

(ii)details of how to make representations;

(iv)a statement that any representations may include a request to be notified of the local planning
authority’s decision under regulation 19 in relation to the neighbourhood development plan; and
(v)the date by which those representations must be received, being not less than 6 weeks from the
date on which the plan proposal is first publicised; and

(b) notify any consultation body which is referred to in the consultation statement submitted in
accordance with regulation 15, that the plan proposal has been received.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

Area or Ward affected: Ardleigh Parishes

Consultation/Public Engagement: See Supporting Information section below.

PART 3 — SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Submission Documentation

Ardleigh Parish Council is at an advanced stage of Neighbourhood Plan preparation. The Parish
have completed the preparation stage of plan making and have submitted their Plan along with
background evidence documentation to the District Council so that we may formally consult upon
the Plan. This stage is akin to the ‘submission draft’ stage of Local Plan preparation.

Seven documents have been submitted to the Council, these are:

1. Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan
2. Basic Condition Statement

Page 26




Consultation Statement with a number of appendices
Ardleigh Village Design Statement

Ardleigh Community Engagement Report

Local Green Spaces Assessment

HRA and SEA Scoping Opinion Place Services

Nookow

Out of these, it is only the Plan, the Consultation Statement and the Basic condition statement that
are being consulted upon.

The Neighbourhood Plan

The Plan itself (Appendix 1) has previously been the subject of public consultation hosted by the
Parish Council. At that stage (Regulation 14) the District Council also made comments on the
emerging Plan.

The District Council had a number of concerns at that stage around the draft Plan’s compatibility
with the Adopted Development Plan, in particular how Policies in the draft plan would relate to the
Garden Community and emerging Development Plan Document.

As a result of the previous public consultation the Plan has had a number of amendments made to
it. It was considered that these amendments address the District Council’s previous comments.

The Forward to the Plan provides a succinct vision for the area when it states:

The Plan sets objectives on key identified themes such as transport, community, the built and historic
environment, local green spaces, housing and the general approach to development, including
landscape features and design quality of physical structures. It builds on current and future planned
activity in the Local Plan and says what the Parish Council and its partners will work towards.

The overwhelming view of the community, who responded to public consultation, is that the Parish
of Ardleigh should above all else retain its rural characteristics in relation to the visual quality of its
buildings, open spaces, trees, hedges, footpaths and bridleways. The people of the Parish of
Ardleigh also feel strongly that their sense of community should be protected and nurtured across
the whole Parish, including the village centre, Ardleigh Heath, Burnt Heath, John de Bois Hill, Fox
Street, Plains Farm, Crockleford Heath and other outlying areas.

The vision is for the people of Ardleigh to continue to develop its sense of community, retain its rural
feel and to enjoy and protect the countryside around them: allowing for strictly controlled housing
development and employment growth to maintain a vibrant community.

The Plan also contains six planning Policies, these are:

Policy GDP - General Approach to Development
Policy CFP - Community Facilities

Page 27




Policy HP - Housing

Policy EP - Natural, Built & Historic Environment
Policy LGP - Local Green Spaces

Policy TP - Transport & Parking

The Consultation Statement

This document provides details of who has been consulted at the previous stage, what they said
and how the Plan has changed because of those comments.

The Basic Condition Statement

Only a draft neighbourhood Plan or Order that meets each of a set of basic conditions can be put to
a referendum and be made. The basic conditions are set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to neighbourhood plans by section 38A of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The basic conditions are:

a. having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of
State it is appropriate to make the order (or neighbourhood plan).

b. having special regard to the desirability of preserving any listed building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic interest that it possesses, it is appropriate to make the
order. This applies only to Orders.

c. having special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance
of any conservation area, it is appropriate to make the order. This applies only to Orders.

d. the making of the order (or neighbourhood plan) contributes to the achievement of sustainable
development.

e. the making of the order (or neighbourhood plan) is in general conformity with the strategic policies
contained in the development plan for the area of the authority (or any part of that area).

f. the making of the order (or neighbourhood plan) does not breach, and is otherwise compatible
with, EU obligations.

g. prescribed conditions are met in relation to the Order (or plan) and prescribed matters have been
complied with in connection with the proposal for the order (or neighbourhood plan).

When considering whether a policy is in general conformity a qualifying body, independent examiner,
or local planning authority, should consider the following:

» whether the neighbourhood plan policy or development proposal supports and upholds the general
principle that the strategic policy is concerned with

* the degree, if any, of conflict between the draft neighbourhood plan policy or development proposal
and the strategic policy

Page 28



http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted

» whether the draft neighbourhood plan policy or development proposal provides an additional level
of detail and/or a distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policy without undermining
that policy

* the rationale for the approach taken in the draft neighbourhood plan or Order and the evidence to
justify that approach (NPPG - Paragraph: 074 Reference ID: 41-074-20140306 Revision date: 06 03
2014).

The development plan for Tendring District Council is currently made up of:

» Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond: North Essex Authorities’ Shared Strategic
Section 1;

» Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond: Section 2;
* Essex Minerals Local Plan; and

(L

The most relevant of these Local Plan documents - Sections 1 and 2 of the Tendring District Local
Plan - were only very recently adopted. Ardleigh’s Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared paying
close and considered regard to the strategic policies of these documents.

Other Consultation Material

As well as the above, Officers also intend on consulting on the associated Habitats Regulations
Assessment and Strategic Environmental Assessment.

The Consultation

The regulations require that a consultation is held for no less than six weeks. Officers consider that
a six week period would give interested parties enough time to digest the Plan.

It is of course worth noting that this will now take place after the elections in May as there was
insufficient time before them to hold a full six week consultation before the Pre-Election Period
started on 13 March 2023. In this way, it is likely that the public consultation for the Harden
Community Development Plan Document will take place at broadly the same time of this
Neighbourhood Plan.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 — Ardleigh Reg 16 Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 2 — Ardleigh Consultation Statement
Appendix 3 — Ardleigh Basic Condition Statement

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None

Page 29




This page is intentionally left blank



Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan
2020 - 2033

Prepared by Ardleigh Parish Council
December 2022

Page 31



Table of Contents

0T = T o 4
1. INtrodUCTION ... ————— 6
2. Neighbourhood Plan Area...........ccccerrriiiisnmmmmmmmnnisssssssrnssssssss s sssssssssss s sssssssssssssssnnssas 7
3. What is a Neighbourhood Plan and why do we need one?..........ccccevrvssunmmmmmnnnnnnns 8
4. Planning policy context ... s 10
1= 1 4o o [ SRR 10
RS T=T o1 o) o > SRR 12
Local Plan Strategy for Ardleigh ..........oooo e 13
5.Background to the Parish........ccccciiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeen s ssssene 16
SOCI0-€CONOMIC PrOfIlE ... e e e e e nees 18
HOUSING PrOfIl@.....eeeeeeee e 25
Landscape & Natural ENVIFONMENT..........ooiiiiiii e 29
HiStOry & CONSEIVALION ... ittt e e e e e e e e 34
Services, facilities & INfrasStrUCIUIE...........oevuiiii e 38
6.Consultation & evidence base ..o 43
7407 L3 [ o 49
LS 0 o 1= o £ 51
Neighbourhood Plan PoOlIiCIes........ccccceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiininiiisssssssssssss e 52
9.Policy GDP: General Approach to Development ...............oooiiiiiiiiiieceee e 53
10.Policy CFP: Community FaCilItieS.........cooiuiiiiiiiiii e 58
T1.POIICY HP: HOUSING -t neeeeeee 65
12.Policy EP: Natural, Built & Historic Environment ... 72
13.Policy LGP: LOCal GIreEN SPACES ......eeiiiiiiiiieaiiiiie e eiiieee ettt e e e 82
14.Policy TP: Transport & ParkiNg........cuoooiiiiiiiiii e 929
15.Implementation, Monitoring and Review............ccccviviimmmmmmmmmmmsnssssnnns 105
Appendix A: Proposals Maps......ccccurruummmmmmmmmmmmmmrirnrmssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssns 107
Appendix B: List of Neighbourhood Plan policies............cccooiiimmmmmmmmmmmmmnmesnnnnn. 114
Appendix C: Consultation questionnaire “your chance to have your say’.......... 115
Appendix D: Consultation questionnaire “have your say” ........cccccccmmmrmmrnnnnrennnnnns 119

Page 32



Appendices

+ Appendix A: Proposals maps

+ Appendix B: List of Neighbourhood Plan policies

+ Appendix C: Copy of first consultation questionnaire “your chance to have your say”
+ Appendix D: Copy of second consultation questionnaire “have your say”.

Annexes
« Annex 1: Local Green Spaces Assessment
+ Annex 2: Village Design Statement (VDS).

Additional supporting documents

+ Basic Conditions Statement

« Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) & Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA)
Screening Report

+ Ardleigh Community Engagement Report.

For the purposes of this Neighbourhood Plan, the terms “appendix” and “annex” are used as
follows:

Appendix - a document or report included at the end of the plan because it is too large
for the main body of the plan but needs to be included to provide clarity or
understanding.

Annex - a standalone document or report that supports the plan and its policies but that
can also be read and used in its own right.

Page 33



Foreword

Ardleigh comes from two Anglo Saxon words - Ard (High) and Ley (Pasture).
Archaeological finds show that the area has been settled since Neolithic times (4,000 to
2,000BC) and it has had continuous settlement ever since. It is also reputed to be one
of the largest parishes by area in the Country. The centre of the medieval village of
Ardleigh is approximately five miles (8 km) from the City of Colchester and about four
and half miles (7.2 km) from Manningtree. As well as the main settlement of the village
of Ardleigh, smaller hamlets make up the Parish as a whole.

There is a diverse mix of housing throughout the Parish from small modern estates to
historic buildings and farmhouses more than 70 of which are listed buildings. Land
surrounding the village and hamlets is predominantly given to agriculture and
horticulture, with an industrial area mainly situated along the Old Ipswich Road/A12.
Ardleigh is in the district of Tendring and the parliamentary constituency of Harwich and
North Essex. The Parish has its own Parish Council.

The Neighbourhood Plan has been created by the Parish Council and local residents
following extensive consultation. The process began in early 2020 when the
Neighbourhood Plan area was formally designated by Tendring District Council. The
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Working and Steering Groups then met a total of 75 times
between June 2020 and December 2022 to develop the Plan and ensure that the
appropriate steps were taken and guidance followed.

The Plan sets objectives on key identified themes such as transport, community, the
built and historic environment, local green spaces, housing and the general approach to
development, including landscape features and design quality of physical structures. It
builds on current and future planned activity in the Local Plan and says what the Parish
Council and its partners will work towards.

The overwhelming view of the community, who responded to public consultation, is that
the Parish of Ardleigh should above all else retain its rural characteristics in relation to
the visual quality of its buildings, open spaces, trees, hedges, footpaths and bridleways.
The people of the Parish of Ardleigh also feel strongly that their sense of community
should be protected and nurtured across the whole Parish, including the village centre,
Ardleigh Heath, Burnt Heath, John de Bois Hill, Fox Street, Plains Farm, Crockleford
Heath and other outlying areas.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



The vision is for the people of Ardleigh to continue to develop its sense of community,
retain its rural feel and to enjoy and protect the countryside around them: allowing for

strictly controlled housing development and employment growth to maintain a vibrant
community.

Thanks go to all of those in the community who have contributed to the production of
this Neighbourhood Plan.

December 2022

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



1. Introduction

1.1.

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

1.7.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Welcome to the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2033. This plan will deliver
our vision for the Parish of Ardleigh over the plan period.

Once made, a Neighbourhood Plan forms part of the Development Plan for the
defined Neighbourhood Area. Neighbourhood Plans were introduced by the
Localism Act 2011 and allow communities to shape development in their area.

Neighbourhood Plans help with the determination of planning applications in the
Neighbourhood Area, setting out where development will go and what it will look
like.

This Neighbourhood Plan is for the rural Parish of Ardleigh in the district of
Tendring. Ardleigh lies in open countryside between the urban centres of
Colchester and Manningtree.

The purpose of this plan is to allow Ardleigh to grow appropriately and
organically, whilst protecting its best features for future generations.

In order to produce this plan, the Working Group undertook a survey of views
throughout the Parish, commissioned a number of expert studies to produce the
evidence base and instructed a local planning consultancy (Planning Direct) to
assist with the technical drafting, working closely with the Parish Council and the
District Council throughout.

Once adopted, we expect that all planning decisions in Ardleigh will be made in
accordance with this Neighbourhood Plan, unless it is in conflict with an up-to-
date Local Plan or material planning considerations indicate otherwise.




2. Neighbourhood Plan Area

2.1. This Neighbourhood Plan concerns the Parish of Ardleigh. On 08/06/2020,

Tendring District Council formally designated the whole Parish as a
Neighbourhood Plan Area.

2.2. The diagram below provides the Neighbourhood Plan Area within which this
Neighbourhood Plan applies.

© Crowe copyright and catbase rght. Al righes rsetved (100052308) 2022 Contwns OS ¢ Crown copyrghTa database fight 2022

Fig 1. Neighbourhood Plan Area [blue line]

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



3. What is a Neighbourhood Plan and why do we
need one?

3.1.  Neighbourhood planning is a right for communities introduced through the
Localism Act 2011. Communities can shape development in their areas through
the production of Neighbourhood Development Plans (often referred to simply as
Neighbourhood Plans), Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community
Right to Build Orders.

3.2. Once approved, Neighbourhood Plans become part of the Development Plan
and the policies contained within them must be used in the determination of
planning applications.

3.3. Policies in Neighbourhood Plans must be in general conformity with the strategic
policies of the Local Plan. However, they may change more detailed policies (or
add further detailed policies) where appropriate to the designated Neighbourhood
Plan area.

3.4. Fundamentally, Neighbourhood Plans cannot block development already
included in the Local Plan. What they can do is shape where that development
will go and what it will look like.

3.5. A Neighbourhood Plan is developed by a Neighbourhood Forum or a Parish/
Town Council. In this case, Ardleigh Parish Council has worked with specialist
consultants to develop the Neighbourhood Plan.

3.6. Before a Neighbourhood Plan can be adopted, it must be independently
examined to ensure that it meets the basic conditions. It must then be put to a
public referendum of all of the registered electors within the Neighbourhood Plan
Area.

3.7. Only a draft Neighbourhood Plan that meets each of the basic conditions can be
put to a referendum and be “made” (in other words, adopted). The basic
conditions are set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as applied to Neighbourhood Plans by section 38A Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3.8. The basic conditions are:

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



+ Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by
the Secretary of State it is appropriate to make the Neighbourhood Plan;

+ The making of the Neighbourhood Plan contributes to the achievement of
sustainable development;

+ The Neighbourhood Plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies
contained in the development plan for the area of the authority (or any part of
that area);

« The making of the Neighbourhood Plan does not breach, and is otherwise
compatible with, EU obligations; and

+ Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the Neighbourhood Plan and
prescribed matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for
the order.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



4. Planning policy context

4.1. The Development Plan for Ardleigh is currently made up of:

+ Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond: North Essex Authorities’
Shared Strategic Section 1;

+ Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond: Section 2;
* Essex Minerals Local Plan; and

« Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan.

Section 1

4.2. Section 1 of the 2013-2033 Local Plan was jointly prepared by Braintree,
Colchester, Essex and Tendring Councils (known collectively as the North Essex
authorities) and covers broad strategic matters. It was adopted on 26/01/2021.

4.3. Section 1 of the Local Plan takes bold steps to provide for the housing,
employment and social needs of existing and future residents up to and beyond
the plan period. A key focus of this part of the Plan is the creation of a new
garden community.

Broad Location

— Adminetrative Boundary

SO ORESIIINEES Outo; 070772020  Scabo: 120000

Fig. 2. Broad location of the proposed Tendring/Colchester Garden Community

‘f!;}# \
LEIGH |

(502
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan PaQ§54O 10



4.4.

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

This is the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community which is intended to
deliver 2,500 homes and 7 hectares of employment land over the plan period
(and 7,000 - 9,000 homes and 25 hectares of employment land in total). The new
community is proposed to be sited on the Tendring/Colchester border, extending
into the southernmost portion of Ardleigh Parish where the small historic hamlet
of Crockleford Heath' is located.

The initial design and delivery of the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden
Community - including its nature, form, boundaries and exact housing numbers -
will be the subject of a Strategic Growth Development Plan Document (DPD),
prepared jointly by Colchester and Tendring Councils. Following delivery, new
sites in the Ardleigh Parish area of the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden
Community will be expected to comply with the development plan in force at that
time, including any relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies.

The Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community DPD, currently in draft
form, was subject to public consultation between March and April of 2022. The
draft DPD includes the identification of an “Area of Special Character” at and
around the settlement of Crockleford Heath, aimed at safeguarding its distinctive
rural character.

At the time of writing, the partner councils were in the process of reviewing the
consultation responses and evidence base and making amendments to the draft
DPD, with a final version anticipated for further public consultation in late 2022 -
early 2023. Formal adoption of the DPD is on track to take place in 2023.

Ardleigh Parish Council intends to work closely and proactively with the partner
councils to progress the design and development of the Garden Community.
However, this major project is still in its earliest phases and is not anticipated to
start delivering new homes in Ardleigh Parish until after the current Local and
Neighbourhood Plan period (to 2033) has expired.

1 Also referred to by locals as simply Crockleford

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

w—?‘*
Pai

11



Section 2

4.9.

4.10.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pa@

Section 2 of the 2013-2033 Local Plan contains policies relating solely to
Tendring District. It was adopted on 25/01/2022. Section 2 allocates the homes
and jobs required for the plan period outside of the garden community. It also
contains place-shaping policies. These policies steer and guide development to
ensure that Tendring’s natural and built assets are enhanced and protected, its
communities are well connected both by broadband and travel choices, and new
development is designed to promote healthy living, adaptability of homes and
safety from flood risk.

Section 2 of the Local Plan also sets out the settlement hierarchy for Tendring
District, as illustrated by the below diagram.

Strategic Urban Settlements

Large populations, wide range of infrastructure
& facilities. Most sustainable location for growth

Smaller Urban Settlements
Large populations relative to rural settlements,

range of infrastructure & facilities. Significant
job and housing growth possible

=
A 4
v

&2 "



Rural Service Centres

Opportunities for smaller-scale growth. Housing
allocations proportionate to the settlement

Smaller Rural Settlements

Much less in the way of jobs, services, facilities
& infrastructure. Least sustainable location for
growth. Small-scale increase in housing stock

possible

Fig. 3. Section 2 settlement hierarchy

Local Plan Strategy for Ardleigh

4.11.

4.12.

4.13.

4.14.

Ardleigh village is defined as a Smaller Rural Settlement. It sits at the lowest tier
of the settlement hierarchy, where development is anticipated to be modest in
both scope and scale.

The village is provided with defined Settlement Development Boundaries and,
unless directly provided for by a Local Plan policy2, most new development in the
Parish is expected to be contained within these limits (policy SPL 2).

For planning purposes, those areas of the Parish lying outside of Ardleigh
village’s Settlement Development Boundaries are defined as countryside. There
is no presumption in favour of development in these areas. However, policy PP
13 sets out a number of specific circumstances where, in the interest of
supporting growth in the rural economy, planning permission may be granted in
the countryside.

Over the plan period, housing growth in Ardleigh is expected to be limited to
small-scale “infill” developments of 10 houses or fewer to be located within the
defined Settlement Development Boundaries (Sections 3.3.1.4, 3.3.2 & 3.3.3).

2 For example, policies PP 13 and LP 6

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

13



4.15.

4.16.

417.

4.18.

4.19.

4.20.

4.21.

The Plan also provides a strategy for Rural Exception Sites3 (policy LP 6). These
will be permitted on sites adjoining Ardleigh’s defined Settlement Boundaries
provided:

i. Sufficient evidence is provided of a shortage of council/affordable housing
within the Parish; and
ii. The scheme is supported by Ardleigh Parish Council.

The Plan also provides a flexible policy for self-build houses. These schemes
may be permitted in the countryside subject to meeting specific criteria (policy LP
7).

The development of new care homes and extra care housing is also promoted by
the Plan. In Ardleigh, these should be contained within the Settlement
Development Boundaries (policy LP 10).

Retail growth in Ardleigh is expected to be limited to small-scale developments
intended to serve the day-to-day needs of the local community only (policy PP 3).

In terms of employment growth, the Plan encourages sustainable development
proposals for farm and other land-based diversification schemes that would
benefit the rural area (policy PP 6). Further support for rural-based enterprises is
provided by local policy PP 13.

Tourism-related proposals of the right kind are also strongly encouraged,
including the provision of appropriate outdoor recreational facilities that would
strengthen the function and protection of the undeveloped countryside (policy PP
8).

In terms of visitor accommodation, any growth in hotels or guesthouses should
be limited to established sites or to ancillary accommodation at appropriate
venues such as public houses (upper floors), residential health and beauty
facilities and function/conference centres (policy PP 9). New or extended
camping and touring caravan sites are also encouraged but will be subject to
holiday occupancy restrictions (policy PP 10).

3 Rural Exception Sites are defined at the national level as “small sites used for
affordable housing in perpetuity where sites would not normally be used for housing”

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

14



4.22. The policies of this Neighbourhood Plan are intended to support and complement
the general spatial strategy outlined above. Where relevant, they will also provide
expansions upon the development plan’s (non-strategic) development
management policies that are specific to the Parish.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

15



5. Background to the Parish

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

The Parish lies within the Ardleigh & Little Bromley Ward, part of the District of
Tendring situated within the County of Essex.

Ardleigh is a small rural Parish which comprises largely of good quality
agricultural land, supported by dispersed farmsteads. The main point of
settlement is the historic nucleated village of Ardleigh which lies at the heart of
the Parish. Other smaller hamlets, including Ardleigh Heath, Burnt Heath and
Crockleford Heath intersperse the wider rural area. It is believed that the Parish
has been settled in excess of 3000 years.

The 2011 Census recorded 849 households and 2058 usual residents throughout
the Parish4.

Ardleigh village is defined as a smaller rural settlement in the Local Plan. It
comprises a nucleated village which has grown around the crossroads of Station
Road, Dedham Road, Colchester Road and Harwich Road. These key arterial
routes extend throughout and beyond the Parish, connecting Ardleigh to various
lower and higher-level settlements including Colchester, Manningtree and
Brightlingsea.

The Parish lies in very close proximity of the historic city of Colchester5, being
directly adjoined to the defined town settlement boundary in places. The heart of
Ardleigh village lies approximately 7km, or a 12-minute drive, from the city
centre.

Since 1981, a substantial proportion of Ardleigh village has been formally
designated as a Conservation Area. Significantly, the Parish also contains the
remains of a later Bronze Age urnfield cemetery which was designated a
Scheduled Ancient Monument in 1976 (list entry no. 1002146).

Ardleigh Reservoir lies to the south-west of Ardleigh village and covers an

4 Unless otherwise stated, all statistics in this document are derived from 2011 census

data.

5 Colchester was awarded city status in May 2022 to mark the Queen’s Platinum
Jubilee.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

16



expansive 48.5 hectares. The reservoir supplies over 14 million litres of drinking
water every day to 133,000 customers in the Colchester area. It also supports
various recreational activities.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 17



Socio-economic profile

5.8.

5.9.

5.10.

70%
52.5%
35%
17.5%

0%

The rural Parish is sparsely populated, with a density (number of persons per
hectare) of 1 by contrast to 4.1 for the district, 4 for the county and 4.1 for the
country as a whole.

As indicated by the below charts, the age profile of the Parish is more closely in
line with findings for the county and the country than with the age structure of its
host district.

Significantly, the Parish contains proportionately fewer very old persons (85+)
than the national population which is rather unusual for a small rural locality such
as this. It may be the case that the Parish’s close proximity to the urban centre of
Colchester has supported more younger residents to remain than is the norm.

Population split by age Population split by old age
14%

f 10.5% —
| 7%
B 1 mm . -

0%
0-15 16-64 65+ 65-74 75-84 85-89 90+

W Ardleigh ™ Tendring Essex England W Ardleigh ™ Tendring Essex England

5.11.

5.12.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Fig. 4. Fig. 5.

The vast majority of Ardleigh’s residents are self-reported as of white British
origin (95%). This indicates the Parish to be very slightly more ethnically diverse
than its host district, where 95.4% of residents are self-reported as of white
British origin. As is usual in more sparsely populated rural areas, Ardleigh
contains considerably less ethnic diversity than the country as a whole (where
79.8% of the population self-reports to be of white British origin).

Approximately 69.1% of Ardleigh’s working age (16-74) population is

18



economically active®, compared to 61.7% for the district, 71.1% for the county
and 69.9% for the country as a whole. The below chart provides a break down of
economically active residents by activity. As indicated, Ardleigh contains a
statistically significant number of self-employed workers and proportionately
fewer short-term unemployed residents than the district, county or country as a
whole.

Activity of economically active residents

Ardleigh —h_n i
Tendring -_—I- o
Essex 4___ 0
England -__lg i

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

M Part-time W Full-time ® Self-employed
Unemployed M Student
Fig. 6.

5.13. Following from the above, approximately 30.9% of Ardleigh’s population is
economically inactive?, compared to 38.3% for the district, 28.9% for the county
and 30.1% for the country as a whole. The below chart provides a break down of
economically inactive residents by activity. As indicated, Ardleigh contains
proportionately fewer retired residents than its host district, although this remains
above the county and national findings.

6 “economically active” is a term used in the 2011 Census to refer to those persons
either in employment or unemployed but available and actively seeking work.

7 “economically inactive” is a term used in the 2011 Census to refer to those persons not
in employment or actively seeking and available for work due to being retired, looking
after home or family, long-term sick or disabled, students or other reasons.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 19



5.14.

5.15.

5.16.

Activity of economically
inactive residents
: | .
Ardleigh _‘- B o Retired
Tendring  me———— m ¥ Student ,
‘ Looking after home or family
Essex _‘- e H Long-term sick or disabled
' M Other
England | s =]
0% 50% 100%
Fig. 7.

The Parish of Ardleigh is predominantly occupied by agricultural land uses and
this is reflected in the statistically significant proportion of working residents
employed in the industries of agriculture, forestry and fishing.

Ardleigh also contains a statistically significant proportion of working residents
employed in administrative, professional, scientific and technical industries.

Compared to findings for the host district, Ardleigh contains proportionately fewer
residents employed in the industries of wholesale, retail, vehicle repair, health
care or social work. This is indicated by the below chart which provides a break
down of the main industries in which the working residents of Ardleigh are
employeds.

8 For the purposes of this chart, only industries employing more than 4% of the total
working population of Ardleigh have been individually noted. All other industries are
grouped into the “other” category.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

20



Agriculture, forestry, fishing
Manufacturing

Construction

Wholesale, retail, vehicle repair
Transport, storage
Accommodation, food service
Finance, insurance
Professional, scientific, technical
Admin, support

Public admin, defence
Education

Health, social work

Other

Industries of working residents

)

T ———

. S

re

e

‘} L

|

0%

6%

12%

18%

B Ardleigh ™ Tendring ™ Essex = England

5.17. At 35.3% of its total working population, Ardleigh also contains a very significant
number of residents employed in directorial, managerial, senior or other
professional roles. This compares especially favourably to findings for the host
district, where only 21.6% of the total working population occupies such high

level roles.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Fig. 8.

21




Occupations of working residents

1 00°/o T .

75%
]

50%

25% +—
E—
[S—

0% I

Ardleigh Tendring Essex  England

Manager, director, senior
Professional

Assoc. professional, technical
Admin

Skilled trade

Care, leisure, service

Sales, customer service
Plant, machine operatives
Elementary

Fig. 9.

5.18. Ardleigh’s residents are also relatively well-educated, especially compared to
district-wide trends. Indeed, only 24% of Ardleigh’s adult residents are without
any qualification, compared to 34.3% of Tendring’s total adult population.
Similarly, 27.4% of Ardleigh’s adult population is educated to degree-level or
above, compared to only 15.9% for Tendring as a whole. As indicated by the
below chart, the residents of Ardleigh’s qualification levels are more closely in
line with findings for the county and the country than its host district.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 22



Highest qualifications of residents aged 16+
35%
17.5% I‘ — II _ I
. || IR I ul
None Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4+ Other
W Ardleigh B Tendring Essex England

Qualification Levels

None = no academic or professional qualifications

Level 1 = 1-4 GCSEs or equivalent (any grades)

Level 2 = 5+ GCSEs or equivalent (grades A*-C)

Level 3 = 4+ AS Levels/2+ A Levels or equivalent

Level 4+ = Degree level or above (e.g. BA, BSc)

Other = Vocational, work-related, foreign, apprenticeships

Fig. 10.

5.19. The health of Ardleigh’s residents is generally very good, particularly compared
to findings for its host district. This may be explained, at least in part, by Ardleigh
village’s well-located GP Surgery in the context of a rural district where many of
the smaller rural communities are somewhat remote from vital health services.

5.20. As indicated by the below chart, approximately 81.9% of Ardleigh’s residents
report their health to be either “good” or “very good”, compared to just 74.2%
throughout Tendring. This finding is largely in keeping with the national figure,
with 81.4% of England’s total population reporting to be in either “good” or “very
good” health.

5.21. Similarly, only 3.7% of Ardleigh’s population report their health to be either “bad”
or “very bad”, compared to 7.6% throughout Tendring and 5.4% throughout
England.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 23



Self-reported health of residents
100%
75%
50%
25%
Oo/o T T T
Ardleigh Tendring Essex England
M Very bad health ™ Bad health ' Fair health
~ Good health M Very good health

Fig.11.

5.22. Taken together, the above statistics paint a picture of a Parish that has:

+ a low population density;

a fairly well-balanced age profile;
limited ethnic diversity;

typical levels of employment;

a notable agricultural economy; and

+ a well-educated and healthy population.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

24



Housing profile

5.23. The 2011 census recorded 849 households and 2058 usual residents in the
Parish®.

5.24. The average household size of the Parish stands at 2.5 persons which is only
very slightly greater than the averages for the district (2.2), county and country
(both at 2.4).

5.25. There are high levels of home ownership throughout the Parish. 80.9% of all
Ardleigh’s households own their homes, with approximately 54% of these owned
outright and 46% owned with a mortgage (or loan). This compares very
favourably to statistics for the county and the country where, respectively, 71.3%
and 63% of all households own their homes. It also exceeds levels of home
ownership throughout Tendring (at 73.7%).

Tenure of all households

Own outright

Own w/mortgage | J

Private rent
Social rent

Other =

|
|

0% 12.5% 25% 37.5% 50%

W Ardleigh ™ Tendring Essex England
Fig.12.

5.26. As is fairly usual in rural areas, only a small proportion of Ardleigh’s housing
stock is rented (16.8%). The number of socially-rented properties in Ardleigh (at

9 In April 2020, Tendring District Council estimated that there were approximately 1000
dwellings in the Parish (taking account of recent development), with a further 230
dwellings expected on sites with planning permission. This suggests a rather significant
increase in housing stock since 2011

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 25



5.27.

8.3% of its total stock) is closely aligned with the figure for the district (at 8.4%),
however there are substantially fewer privately-rented properties in Ardleigh (at
8.5% of its total stock) than are found throughout Tendring as a whole (at 16.2%).

Ardleigh’s housing stock is very much dominated by detached property types,
these comprising a significant 57% of its total provision. Compared to findings for
the district, county and the country as a whole, Ardleigh contains relatively few
flats, maisonettes and terraced homes.

House types

60%

45% —

30% — —aa

gl I III N A

0% | - []

Detached Semi-detached Terraced Flat/maisonette
W Ardleigh ™ Tendring © Essex England

Fig.13.

5.28. In terms of household composition, the vast majority of all Ardleigh’s households

are occupied by single families (70.2%). This stands in relative contrast to the
numbers of single family households found throughout the district (62%), the
county (66%) and the country as a whole (61.8%).

7

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pa 6 26



75%

Household composition

50%
25% I I I
0% | I O | O []

Ardleigh Tendring Essex  England
I one person I single family 1 other

5.29. Ardleigh contains a fair range of local services and facilities for a Parish of its
size. Its residents nonetheless remain largely dependent on private car use for
access to main shopping, employment and educational facilities. This is reflected
in the Parish’s high levels of car (and van) ownership, as indicated by the below

Fig.14.

chart.
Cars per household

100% ——

|

50%

25%

Ardleigh Tendring Essex  England
M Nocars W 1car @ 2cars ' 3cars W 4+cars

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Fig.15.

27



5.30. Taken together, the above statistics suggest that Ardleigh’s population is
composed mainly of families that own their detached homes and have 1 or more
cars.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 28



Landscape & Natural Environment

5.31.

5.32.

5.33.

5.34.

5.35.

5.36.

5.37.

5.38.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

The Parish of Ardleigh stands on a flat gravel plain in open countryside. It
comprises predominantly of agricultural land and retains a distinctly pastoral
character and quality in spite of its close proximity to the urban centre of
Colchester.

Dedham Vale AONB is located immediately to the north of the Parish, just
outside of its confines.

Part of the A120, a major regional trunk road, passes through the southern
portion of the Parish, close to its boundary with Colchester City. This presents a
marked urban intrusion into an otherwise rural landscape.

The nucleated Ardleigh village provides the main point of settlement at the heart
of the Parish, with other smaller hamlets and farmsteads dispersed throughout.

Here, the landscape character is truly emblematic of the host National Character
Area (NCA), Suffolk Coast and Heaths. Indeed, the 2015 NCA Profile found that:

“The majority of the character area is sparsely settled with small isolated,
nucleated medieval hamlets and villages complementing a scatter of isolated
farmsteads, traditional barns and cottages throughout the rural area.”

Ardleigh is one such nucleated medieval village, tucked into an otherwise rural
landscape where it is complemented by scatterings of isolated farmsteads, barns
and cottages.

A valley system lies to the west and south of Ardleigh village but is barely
perceptible, with one of the valleys being largely filled by Ardleigh Reservoir.

Ardleigh Reservoir is a notable landscape feature, spanning almost 50 total
hectares to the south-west of Ardleigh village. The reservoir was created in the
1970s and supplies the area with potable drinking water as well as supporting
various recreational activities.

29



Fig. 16. Ardleigh Reservoir from Wick Lane
Glyn Baker / Ardleigh Reservoir from Wick Lane / CC BY-SA 2.0

5.39. There are two Sites of Special Scientific Interest?© (SSSIs) in Ardleigh.

5.40. The first is Ardleigh Gravel Pit which sits just south of the village and is split over
2 units, occupying 1.22 total hectares. This site is considered to be of major
geological importance, with deposits exposed here being of international
significance. Ardleigh Gravel Pit is classified as being in “favourable condition™!
by Natural England.

10SSSIs are areas designated for special protection by Natural England due to their
features of special interest, including their wildlife, geology and/or landform.

" Natural England’s objective is to achieve “favourable condition” status for all SSSIs.
This means the habitats and features of the site are in a healthy state and being
conserved by appropriate management.

0

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pa 60 30



5.41. The second is Bullock Wood, an ancient woodland'2 which straddles the Parish’s
boundary with Colchester. Only a small part of this 23.3 hectare SSSI is located
in Ardleigh. This site is noted to contain a wide range of trees, including a number
of nationally rare species. Bullock Wood benefits from “favourable condition”
status.

=1
&
=

I
, |
A Harwich Road §

2 _13',7::‘?-.«—.,_.
‘.Gauhbmec:\‘e.\_ o
l' F‘*rm | aw e

= A

/ H N
i 3 =
- S
Luagr\;§>~._
| Farm &F
A A
A X

..J,‘\\ A
glu-,;gustug‘vgwx,
SR 7 ()

! Jo 0
k| /é\,?% Ardleigh Gravel\(=
3 it (SSSI)

=

Fig. 17. The two SSSIs in the south of the Parish: Bullock Wood & Ardleigh Gravel Pit

5.42. In conjunction with Essex Wildlife Trust, the District Council has identified over
100 Local Wildlife Sites'3 (LoWS) in Tendring, 11 of which are in the Parish of
Ardleigh.

2 Ancient Woodlands are areas of woodland identified by Natural England as having
had continuous woodland cover since 1600 AD resulting in the survival of certain rare
plants and animals and are thereby afforded special protection. Ancient Woodland is a
form of Irreplaceable Habitat.

13 LoWS are areas of land with significant wildlife value which provide important wildlife
refuges and a green infrastructure network. They are worthy of nature conservation and
protected by the Local Plan.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 31



Local Wildlife Sites

Code  Site Name

Te1 Ardleigh Reservoir Wood, Ardleigh
Te2 Birch Wood, Ardleigh

Te3 Ardleigh Reservoir Grassland, Ardleigh
Te4d Churn Wood Meadow, Ardleigh
Te5 Churn Wood, Ardleigh
Te6 Wall’'s Wood, Ardleigh
Te7* Chapel Lane Verge, Ardleigh
Te9 Manor House Meadow, Ardleigh
Te10  Springhead Corner Meadow, Ardleigh
*Protected Verges
Local Wildlife Sites: Ancient Woodlands
Name
Churn Wood, Ardleigh
Walls Wood, Ardleigh
Table 1.

Area (ha) Grid Ref.

2.1 TM 026287
0.7 TM 028303
3.1 TM 032284
1.3 TM 033256
26.3 TM 036259
14.3 TM 037271
0.03 TM 043254
1.6 TM 052288
2 TM 053286
Grid Ref.

TM 036258

TM 038274

5.43. The Local Plan also identifies a number of Safeguarded Open Spaces'4
throughout Ardleigh and affords these additional protection against development

(see local policy HP 4).

5.44. Safeguarded Open Spaces designated in the Local Plan include Ardleigh’s:

+ The Ardleigh Recreation Ground;
* Millennium Green;

+ churchyard;

+ allotments; and

14 Safeguarded Open Spaces comprise of local green and open spaces (including
parks, churchyards, allotments and playing pitches) which make a considerable
contribution to the quality of life of residents and visitors and which promote sustainable

communities.

e
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan PaggGZ

32



* cemetery.

38m )

Diamond
Cctta,b'es

B.2 Ardleigh

/
. EedL ]

n

\
Island
R Cottage

\‘§ /

1

()
Ul
1] v
'lIss :
[ Springfield \"
Shrublands ,’

[T Local widiife Sites

- Safeguarded Open Space
Y Scheduled Monument - Point

| 7~ scheduled Monument

D Settlement Development Boundaries

- ) i p
. oo '
Martells
€ Crown Copyright and database right 2021, Ordnance Survey Licence No. 1000 \
P, 1 £n

2

X

10esa. DA

\!h/r

\
Little
Garth 3

Fig. 18. Ardleigh’s Safeguarded Open Spaces in green (Local Plan)

5.45. Additional Local Green Spaces are identified in this Neighbourhood Plan

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

33



History & Conservation

5.46.

5.47.

5.48.

5.49.

5.50.

5.51.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

A defining feature of Ardleigh is its rich historical and archaeological character.

It is believed that the Parish has been settled in excess of 3000 years. Ardleigh
appeared in the 1086 Domesday Book, with its population of 38 households
placing it in the largest 20% of all settlements recorded at this time.

The Parish currently boasts 75 listed buildings, of which one is a Scheduled
Ancient Monument, two are Grade |I* listed, and the remainder Grade |l listed.

There is a notably high concentration of Grade Il listed buildings at the historic
core of Ardleigh village along Colchester Road and The Street.

The Grade II* listed St Mary’s Church, parts of which date to the 14th century, is
also prominently located here.

o

Fig. 19. The Grade II* listed St Mary’s Church

In recognition of its clear heritage value, the heart of Ardleigh village has been a
designated Conservation Area since 1981. The Conservation Area Appraisal
adopted by the District Council in 2006 summarises the special interest of the
Conservation Area as follows:

34



“Ardleigh is a small medieval village at an important road junction, and retains its
fine church and sequences of attractive vernacular buildings. The well-treed
approaches to the north and the east are essential to the character of the village
and are also included in the Area. The village expanded southwards in the 19th
century, resulting in further groups of distinctive buildings, which with their

settings are also recognised by Area designation.”

]
,/ '} J|'s
/ /RCSOWOI( Shrublands /|

'

'

v /'~x~_‘ Track

ol

Garden
Centre

White
House

Key

D Conservation Area
[T Local wildife Sites
- Safeguarded Open Space
Y Scheduled Monument - Point
l:: Scheduled Monument
D Settlement Development Boundaries

© Crown Copyright s database right 2021, Ondnance Survey Licence No. 100018684
/

/A X
/ Martells
Barn

g~
’
\._[: o
A
W
1 £ YW > ® Rt I & —

Fig. 20. Ardleigh Conservation Area in purple

Q

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



Notable Assets

5.52.

5.53.

5.54.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

To the south of the Parish and just north of the A120 is the Grade II* listed Spring
Valley Mill, a water mill which was later adapted to steam and now sits vacant.
This late 18th century timber-framed and weatherboarded structure sits in a
prominent position adjacent Spring Valley Lane, an historic route which is
protected in its own right. The mill is the setting of Malcolm Saville’s 1956
children’s novel “Treasure at the Mill” and the filming location of its subsequent
1957 adaptation.

Spring Valley Mill is on Historic England’s Heritage at Risk (HAR) Register. Its
condition is “very bad” and it has priority B status; “B - immediate risk of further
rapid deterioration or loss of fabric; solution agreed but not yet implemented”. It is
believed that some urgent repair works have already been carried out following
the receipt of a Repair Grant for Heritage at Risk. However, as of 2021, the mill
remained to be supported by temporary scaffolding.

Fig. 21. The Grade II* listed Spring Valley Mill

Ardleigh’s only Scheduled Ancient Monument is the crop mark site just south of
Ardleigh village which was first designated in 1976. This site contains a later
bronze age cemetery comprising both barrows and urnfield. Fragments of urn

36



were first unearthed during a 1955 scheme of deep ploughing on Vince’s Farm.

5.55. Other archaeological finds have since been uncovered here, including multi-
period remains in 1995-96 as the successful result of a watching brief placed on
the stripping of a new access road.

‘‘‘‘‘

T Bum P @
i Heath 4
R \

.......

Fig. 22. Scheduled Ancient Monument located just south of the railway line

5.56. There are 9 Protected Lanes'® throughout Tendring district and two of these -
Lodge Lane/Crown Lane North and Spring Valley Lane - can be found in
Ardleigh.

15 Protected Lanes are lanes designated by the County Council and afforded additional
protection as a result of their heritage value (indicating ancient road patterns) and
contribution to local character

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 37



Services, facilities & infrastructure

5.57. The services and facilities in Ardleigh are relatively diverse for a Parish of its
small size and rural nature.

Overview

5.58. Currently available at the heart of Ardleigh village is a post office, Primary
School, GP surgery, two churches, takeaway, convenience store and public car
park. Just south-west of the village, along Colchester Road, is a service station
and public house.

4
Fig. 23. The Lion Inn, a Grade Il listed public house at the heart of Ardleigh village,
currently shut

5.59. The longstanding village pub permanently closed its doors during the COVID-19
pandemic and it is not yet known whether it will re-open in the future.

5.60. Ardleigh Parish also contains a number of more specialised services and
facilities.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 38



Employment

5.61. In terms of key employment sites, these are generally agricultural or industrial in
nature and include a steel fabricator, plant & machinery hire shops, fruit &
vegetable wholesalers, an industrial estate, a construction company, a horse
breeder, a timber merchant, a sand & gravel supplier, a vineyard and various
working farms.

5.62. There are several business parks, notably around the Old Ipswich Road area
offering units for small and medium sized enterprises of various sorts.

Leisure & Community Facilities

5.63. Ardleigh’s main recreational facility is Ardleigh Reservoir which hosts a fishery
and a sailing club. Colchester Bowling Club is also located in close proximity.
Ardleigh Fly Fishing Club operates from a private site at Hull Farm.

Fig. 24. Ardleigh Fly Fishing Club

5.64. Ardleigh’s Village Hall is located towards the southernmost extremity of the
village, adjacent to the Ardleigh Recreation Ground and Millennium Green. The
recently refurbished Village Hall is fully accessible and available for public hire.

5.65. The recreation ground and green provides a cricket pitch, a children’s play park
and exercise equipment.lt previously offered a football pitch and has potential to

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 39



be used for a wide range of sports and recreation. It is also home to Ardleigh
Cricket Club.

Fig. 25. Children’s play equipment

5.66. A mobile library visits Ardleigh village every three weeks.

Tourism

5.67. Ardleigh’s dedicated tourism facilities are mostly in the form of accommodation.
The Parish contains a small number of holiday lettings, B&Bs and a Caravan &
Camping Park.

Transport
5.68. There are a number of bus stops located throughout Ardleigh village and some of

the smaller hamlets. At the present time, buses are fairly regular and provide
parishioners with access to Colchester, Manningtree, Harwich and elsewhere.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 40



5.69.

5.70.

Fig. 26. Bus stop & shelter at the heart of Ardleigh village

Historically, the Parish was served by a dedicated railway station on the Great
Eastern Main Line. The station was permanently closed in 1967 but the railway
line remains a prominent landscape feature, bisecting Ardleigh village to the
south.

The nearest train stations are now in Manningtree (approximately 4.2 km north-
east of the Parish boundary) and Colchester North (approximately 3.6 km south-
west of the Parish boundary).

New A120/A133 link road

5.71.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Public consultation on a new link road for the A120/A133 closed in December
2019. The new link road is proposed to adjoin with a section of the A120 located
within the south-easternmost extremity of Ardleigh Parish. The new road is
proposed in order to reduce congestion, improve connectivity and facilitate
planned housing and business growth in the area. In particular, it will form part of
the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community, creating access into and
from it.

41



5.72. Planning permission for the new link road was granted by Essex County Council
in November 2021 (ref. CC/TEN/31/21). It is anticipated that construction of the
road will commence in 2022 and complete in 2024. The proposed location of the
new link road is indicated on the below diagram.

5.73. The new link road is likely to improve parishioners’ ease of access into the urban
centre of Colchester but may also increase pressures for future development. It
will be important to ensure that Colchester’s urban sprawl remains reasonably
well-contained and Ardleigh’s rural character is safeguarded.

e ices {
i ——
s
Burnt Heath %
7 %
232 Ipswich Road -Bromiey Road Clancery s e, o
# gy,
Bromiey Cross
Cosoms]
A AR AT L . TR A e
4 B
3 555 4 Welshwood Pirk B1029
jreon s 5
eath, | & b s 9 A120
s Crockleford =t
Heath \ \
3 \\\\
e \\
; ; e N\
"‘-, & Tumip Lodge Lane ~Church Road \\
Greenstead g Reeunahin 3 \\
‘):.:',‘ ~Tye Road
o Carpenters Lane - ; / Tre g, g ‘:r Het
B a 00 © ol Cotmpen Lodgm sam
Slough Lane <
. —_k -Link Road Elmstead Market
m‘\ v s COlCNESTE SR04 ey R
M ————— g e
; T™ A133 CLINGOE HILL ™" Se2lion \ Eimstead
West Loage Colchester Road Market
; A133 Fige gois <
B1027 . _~Emstead Road g,
% ¢ 3 ‘; $ %o,
(N Smon Py o / F = o
£ i . [A12]
Fig. 27. Approved new link road & waste transfer station
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 42




6. Consultation & evidence base

6.1.

National planning guidance requires that the local community is actively involved
in the shaping of a Neighbourhood Plan, with their views relied upon to inform the
purpose, direction and contents of the Neighbourhood Plan.

Summary

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

6.5.

6.6.

6.7.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

In 2020/21, local consultation took the form of two questionnaires:

1. a Strengths/Weaknesses/Opportunities/Threats (SWOT) Questionnaire called
“Your Chance to Have Your Say” to establish the broad areas of concern and
key opportunities for new development; and

2. a more detailed Consultation Questionnaire reflecting the results from the
SWOT.

Due to the unprecedented circumstances of a global pandemic and associated
Government imposed restrictions, consultation could not be conducted face-to-
face. There was no opportunity for Village Hall events or visits to clubs and
groups.

Instead, both consultations were carried out through online and hard copy
questionnaires. These were distributed electronically via a dedicated page on
Ardleigh Parish Council’s website and other social media sites.

Details of the consultation exercises (and updates) were also included in the
Ardleigh Advertiser (Parish magazine) which is available online, with a hard copy
also delivered to every household in the Parish.

Hard copies were also distributed to accessible community sites, such as the
local shop, Post Office, garage, garden centres and Ardleigh Surgery. Every
effort was made to be as inclusive as possible.

Both questionnaires were aimed at all age groups and suitable for both
householders and businesses.

43



First steps

6.8.

6.9.

The Neighbourhood Planning Team is made up of a Steering Group (with a
project management role) and a larger Working Group. Both were established in
April 2020. The Chair of the Steering Group reported regularly to the Parish
Council.

The Steering Group was made up of 3 Parish Councillors (one of whom acted in
a secretarial role), plus the Parish Council Clerk. The Working Group was made
up of 9 Parish Councillors, the Parish Council Clerk and 4 members of the
public. The members of the public include one young person, two who have
lived in the Parish for many years and another who recently moved to the village.
Of the Parish Council members, two are new; one having become a Parish
Councillor after joining the Working Group.

6.10. Both Groups were set up during April 2020 at which time a Terms of Reference

6.11.

(ToR) was agreed and sanctioned by the Parish Council as well as a project plan
and a communications and engagement strategy.

All meetings were conducted via an online video conferencing service. A shared
online database was created for all documents and a dedicated page was
created on the Ardleigh Parish Council website to record progress and
communicate with the local community.

6.12. Communication with the local community has been key throughout the plan

preparation process. Articles have regularly been posted in the Ardleigh
Advertiser, supplemented by other social media posts and updates on the
Parish Council website.

6.13. Progress was regularly reported at the Parish Council’s monthly meeting, with

the Minutes published on their website and summarised within the Ardleigh
Advertiser.

First ‘SWOT’ Questionnaire

6.14. The first questionnaire was entitled “Your Chance to Have Your Say” (see

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Appendix 1).

44



6.15.

6.16.

6.17.

6.18.

6.19.

6.20.

6.21.

6.22.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

This consultation tool was developed and designed by the Working Group to
gain insight into the key issues affecting the local community. It was intended to
steer and inform a more detailed questionnaire.

It was also agreed, due to the pandemic restrictions, that it would be of benefit
to engage with the local community as early as possible in order to better raise
awareness of the Neighbourhood Plan.

The SWOT Questionnaire was available on the Parish Council’s website, under
the Neighbourhood Plan heading. It was also available in hard copies at the
local Post Office, shops, garage and garden centres.

It was launched at the beginning of July 2020 and ran until the end of August
2020.

Posters designed to raise local awareness of the ongoing consultation exercise
were placed on all of the Parish Notice Boards, including at the following
locations:

* Village playing field
* Village Hall

* Village Centre

* Village School

* Coggeshall Road

* Fox Street

* Plains Farm

* Burnt Heath

* Crockleford Heath.

Posters were additionally displayed in the two garden centres, local shops, Spar
petrol station, Post Office and Ardleigh Surgery. The Ardleigh Advertiser (Parish
magazine) included information about the survey throughout the campaign.

A database of businesses and local community groups was also compiled using
a variety of local directories (and local knowledge) and contacted by email.

130 total responses to the SWOT Questionnaire were received and analysed by
members of the Working Group. The results were published in the Ardleigh
Advertiser and on various social media platforms.

w—?‘*
Pai

45



Second Questionnaire

6.23.

6.24.

6.25.

6.26.

6.27.

Using the results of the initial SWOT Questionnaire, a more detailed Consultation
Questionnaire was developed by Planning Direct with input from the Working
Group. As the Government’s pandemic restrictions persisted, there were no
opportunities for face-to-face consultation events to be held. To counter this,
every effort was made by the Working Group to inform the local community of
the second consultation exercise.

The Consultation Questionnaire was launched on 18th November 2020 via
Survey Monkey. A hard copy version was designed, printed and distributed
throughout the Parish in the same manner as the SWOT questionnaire.

The village school, church, businesses and a number of local community groups
were contacted by email and encouraged to participate.

Posters designed to emphasise different benefits of completing the
questionnaire (to encourage as wide a take-up as possible) were displayed on
Parish notice boards, in the usual village retail outlets and other local places
frequented by parishioners.

The Consultation Questionnaire ran from mid-November to the end of January
2021. 300 responses were received, more than doubling the response to the
SWOT questionnaire. This amounts to around 15% of the Parish population.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan PabwG 46



6.28. The responses to the Consultation Questionnaire have been used to inform the
Vision, Objectives and Policies of this Neighbourhood Plan.

Outcome of the consultation

6.29. It is the overwhelming view of the people who live and work in the Parish of
Ardleigh that it should above all else retain its rural characteristics, including the
visual quality of its buildings, open spaces, trees, hedges, footpaths and
bridleways.

6.30. There is also a strong sense of community in Ardleigh which should be protected
and nurtured throughout all parts of the Parish, including its outlying hamlets
such as Crockleford Heath (which is impacted by the proposed Garden
Community).

6.31. Local residents would like to see the community spirit of the Parish strengthened
by encouraging the development of leisure, sport and other recreational facilities
including, if possible, a community hub.

6.32. Local people have clearly stated that they feel the greatest threat to the rural
characteristics and community spirit of the Parish is the overdevelopment of
housing. It appears to be widely agreed amongst local residents that Ardleigh has
taken “more than its fair share” of new housebuilding in recent years and should
not be the focus of major/strategic housing growth.

6.33. This local opinion appears to be largely in line with the view taken by Tendring
District Council and the housing strategy contained within their Local Plan'e.

16 Indeed, the Local Plan does not allocate any housing sites in Ardleigh or set any
minimum housing figure for the Parish. The adopted housing strategy is such that
Ardleigh could deliver 0 additional homes over the plan period and the District would still
meet or exceed its minimum housing requirements.

Furthermore, the District Council’s projections for small sites and windfall development
(based on past trends for the whole District) assumes that a total of 122 new dwellings
will be delivered throughout the Smaller Rural Settlements between 2021 and 2033.
This equates to approximately 10 - 11 dwellings per year. Split equally amongst the 18
Smaller Rural Settlements, this equates to an approximate annual housing projection
per Smaller Rural Settlement of just 0.5 - 1 dwelling(s).

w—?‘*
Pai

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 47



6.34. The responses from the Consultation Questionnaire have been used to inform
the Vision and Policies of this Neighbourhood Plan.

Evidence Base

6.35. To inform the preparation of this Neighbourhood Plan, the following documents
have also been produced:
Annex 1: Local Green Spaces Assessment; and
Annex 2: Updated Village Design Statement (2021).

&8 48

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pa@



7.1.

7.2.

7.3.
7.4.

7.5.

7.6.
7.7.

7.8.

&
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pa

Vision

In 2033, the Parish of Ardleigh remains in possession of its distinctive rural
character and qualities.

The village’s longstanding nucleated format continues to be preserved, whilst the
rest of the Parish continues to provide a complementary offering of scattered
farmsteads, barns, cottages and other appropriate rural land-based development.

The agricultural economy continues to thrive and there has been no significant
loss of best and most versatile agricultural land to non-compatible uses.
Appropriate and well-located rural land-based businesses have been supported
to expand and flourish.

Positive features of the built, natural and historic environment have been
protected and, wherever possible, enhanced. Ideally, Spring Valley Mill no longer
appears on the Heritage at Risk register.

Some small-scale housing development has taken place within the defined
Settlement Development Boundaries. This has been built to a very high standard,
showing due regard for the local vernacular, the surrounding built context and the
contents of the Village Design Statement. Sustainable design and construction
techniques abound.

Existing community facilities, including Safeguarded Local Greenspaces, have
been retained and new leisure facilities intended to improve community cohesion
and the health and wellness of residents have been introduced.

Where tourism, retail or employment-related development has taken place, it
demonstrates due regard to the needs of residents and constraints of the Parish,
including its landscape character and highways capacity.

Whilst efforts have been made to reduce the Parish’s high levels of out-
commuting for employment purposes (including support for home working
proposals), efforts have equally been made to avoid any significant influx of in-
commuting to Ardleigh.

79 49



7.9. Ardleigh remains a pleasant and tranquil place to live and work, providing a high
standard of life to all of its residents.

7.10. The policies of this Neighbourhood Plan will ensure that the Vision is achieved.

A
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pa 0 50



8. Objectives

8.1.

&
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pa

a)

The objectives of this Neighbourhood Plan are simple:
+ To achieve the Vision; and

+ To achieve sustainable development in Ardleigh in accordance with the three
overarching objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF),
namely:

an economic objective — to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

a social objective — to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet
the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering well-designed,
beautiful and safe places, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect
current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural
well-being; and

an environmental objective — to protect and enhance our natural, built and
historic environment; including making effective use of land, improving
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution,
and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon
economy.

81 51



Neighbourhood Plan Policies

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 52



9. Policy GDP: General Approach to
Development

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 53



Explanatory text

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

9.5.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Once made, this Neighbourhood Plan will form part of the Development Plan for
the Neighbourhood Plan Area. In accordance with national planning legislation,
all applications for development within the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Area
must comply with both the Local Plan and the Neighbourhood Plan (and any
other documents forming the Development Plan) unless material considerations
indicate that a departure from one or more of their policies is justified.

Whilst the Neighbourhood Plan sets no target or allocations for development
within the Neighbourhood Plan Area, it does recognise that there will be a small
amount of new development within the settlement on a windfall basis (per
paragraph 3.3.1.4.2 of the Local Plan Part 2).

A range of small scale new development can be accommodated on a limited
basis in Ardleigh where it falls within the Settlement Development Boundaries
and complies with all other relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies.

Outside Settlement Development Boundaries, opportunities for new development
are more constrained. All parts of the Parish outside of the defined Settlement
Development Boundaries comprise open countryside where national and local
policies of restraint apply.

The Local Plan approach to development in the open countryside seeks to:

+ Encourage the sustainable growth and development of farm and other rural
land based businesses, including the construction of essential new buildings
and rural workers’ dwellings (policies PP 6 & PP 13);

« Support the re-use of redundant rural buildings for sustainable employment,
leisure or tourism purposes (policies PP 6 & PP 13);

« Support the provision of compatible outdoor recreational activities (policy PP 8);

+ Enable the provision of new or extended camping and caravan sites, provided
there is no adverse effect on local biodiversity or geodiversity (policy PP 10);
and

+ Allow for the delivery of a modest amount of specialist nhew homes only,
namely:

- Rural workers’ dwellings (in accordance with policy PP 13);
- Affordable housing on Rural Exception Sites (in accordance with policy LP
6); and

54



- Certain types of self-build and custom-built homes (in accordance with
policy LP 7).

9.6. All of the above types of open countryside development permitted by the Local
Plan are considered to be modest in scale and impact. Policy GDP provides
additional support for similarly modest developments, provided specific criteria
are met.

9.7. This Neighbourhood Plan does not seek to prevent or discourage any
development that is permitted by the Local Plan.

9.8. Policy GDP reinforces the Local Plan approach to development within Ardleigh’s
Settlement Development Boundaries. It provides some additional flexibility
outside of Settlement Development Boundaries in order to:

+ support the retention, growth and new provision of a wide array of small
businesses provided that these are compatible with their countryside settings;
and

+ encourage the provision of replacement dwellings that would benefit local
character and improve energy-efficiency/sustainability.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 55



fom.

o \

= \Yiew Hall Lodge 7~ |
AL\

7
/- T
Rain/
\ r
5 . z
© Crown copytight and datansse rahtijob# elened | 100052300} 3022, Contains 05 O CrodlirEdy

Fig. 28. Ardleigh’s Settlement Development Boundaries in red

56

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



Policy GDP - General Approach to Development

1. Small scale development will be supported where:

. The site is within Settlement Development Boundaries; and
. The development is consistent with all other relevant
Neighbourhood Plan policies.

. With the exception of the Tendring/Colchester Borders
Garden Community, new development outside of the
Settlement Development Boundaries will not generally be
permitted unless it is consistent with all other relevant
Neighbourhood Plan policies and:

Housing development

. It is a Rural Exception Site in full accordance with local policy
LP 6;

. It is a small development of Self/Custom-Build Homes in full
accordance with local policy LP 7; or

. Itis for the 1:1 replacement of an existing dwelling that would
both enhance local character and improve the site’s overall
energy efficiency and/or sustainability.

All other development
. The proposal is modest in scale and impact; and
. It would provide necessary support for a new or existing
business that is appropriate to the rural area; or
It would directly provide for the conservation, enhancement

or appropriate enjoyment of the countryside.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan




10. Policy CFP: Community Facilities

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Page’88 58



Explanatory text

10.1.

The Local Plan seeks to retain and enhance community facilities including, where
relevant, supporting their new provision. The loss of community facilities is
generally only permissible where replacement facilities are provided in an
appropriate location or there is evidence of a lack of community need for the
existing facility or a different community facility on the same site. Developments
are also expected to meet any need(s) for new or enhanced community facilities
that arise from the delivery of the development (policy HP 2).

Community consultation

10.2.

10.3.

10.4.

10.5.

10.6.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

In response to the local consultation exercises, the local community has
expressed a very strong desire to see the re-introduction of gym, swimming and
tennis/squash/badminton facilities to the area.

The overwhelming local opinion is that the recent permanent loss of Ardleigh’s
well-located Squash and Leisure Club (previously a Safeguarded Local
Greenspace and Asset of Community Value) to market housing in c. 2016
(application ref. 16/00878/FUL) - contrary to the Development Plan in place at
that time - was unjustified and unfortunate.

Tendring District Council approved the loss of this community facility in spite of
this being strongly objected by the following parties:

+ The District Council’s Regeneration Team;

« The District Council’s Leisure Services Team;
+ Sport England;

+ England Squash,;

+ Ardleigh Parish Council;

+ Ardleigh Hall Fall Outs Group; and

+ around 69 individual members of the public.

The local community is consequently very keen to see the delivery of new
similarly well-located leisure facilities that would appropriately mitigate for the
unfortunate loss of the above highly valued community facility.

The introduction of other outdoor facilities and activities, such as walking/cycling
routes, a BMX track, an enclosed dog walking space and easy access to

w—?‘*
Pai

59



recycling facilities and new allotments, would also be welcomed by the
community.

10.7. The Parish Council advises that The Ardleigh Recreation Ground recently
contained a football pitch but this is no longer the case. The Parish Council would
be keen to see this facility reinstated.

10.8. In addition, a significant number of local people wanted to see a ‘community hub’
of sorts introduced to Ardleigh, with perhaps another cafe, more restaurants and
a greater variety of retail shops available too.

10.9. There was a feeling that young children were well catered for in relation to play
areas, but that there were insufficient leisure/recreational facilities for older young
people.

10.10. Overall, people were satisfied with the school and GP Surgery but some were
concerned that both were under pressure from recent housing development.

10.11. This section of the Neighbourhood Plan seeks to provide clear encouragement
for the retention and new development of community facilities in line with the
expressed desires of the local community.

10.12. Further work would need to be done to explore options for the development of
certain community facilities in the Parish, particularly in relation to a Community
Hub and improved leisure/recreational facilities for young people.

10.13. It is known that there is currently a deficit of around 1.70 hectares of equipped
play/open space in Ardleigh.

10.14. Based on statutory consultation responses to recent applications for new housing
in Ardleigh'7, it is also understood that:

+ Ardleigh’s GP Surgery is overcapacity'8; and

17 see, for example, the consultation response to refused application 20/00592/0OUT
(appeal reference APP/P1560/W/20/3260443) for up to 50 dwellings on Land North of
Wick Lane

8 In June 2020, the NHS (North East Essex) reported that The Ardleigh Surgery
(including its Branch The Dedham Surgery) has a “Spare Capacity (NIA m2)” of -207.29

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 60



10.15.

10.16.

10.17.

10.18.

+ Ardleigh’s Primary School is overcapacity'® and likely to remain at or close to
capacity in the near future.

It is important that these community facilities can be retained for the benefit of
current and future generations in Ardleigh. The local community is concerned that
too much housing development is likely to lead to these highly valued local
facilities being relocated away from Ardleigh, notwithstanding any financial
contributions. This would be likely to have serious negative implications for all of
the following:

« The general health and wellbeing of residents - reported in the most recent
census to be very good;

« Community cohesion - with fewer opportunities for residents to meet and
engage with one another;

+ Children’s socialisation - with the Primary School offering various extra-
curricular activities which are especially valuable given the local play/open
space deficit;

« The overall sustainability of Ardleigh - in spite of having both a GP Surgery and
Primary School, Ardleigh sits at the lowest possible tier of the Settlement
Hierarchy. Loss of the Primary School and GP Surgery could cause it to lose its
settlement status entirely; and

« Community reliance on the private car - the GP Surgery and Primary School
are located in safe and convenient walking distance of most village residents. If
these facilities were relocated out of the Parish confines, it is highly likely that
all residents of Ardleigh would be reliant on the private car to access them.

Safeguarded Local Greenspaces are subject to their own policy later in this
Neighbourhood Plan.

This Neighbourhood Plan does not seek to prevent any development that is
permitted or encouraged by the Local Plan.

Policy CFP reinforces the Local Plan approach to community facilities. It provides
strong support for the new provision of certain community facilities for which

19 In January 2020, there were 113 pupils on roll, compared to an indicated capacity of
105 places

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

w—?‘*
Pai

61



there is an established local need20. All of these preferred facilities would make
welcome contributions towards the Local Plan’s ambitious goals to improve
community health and wellbeing (policy HP 1).

10.19. The policy also provided necessary acknowledgement of the recent evidence
concerning the total lack of capacity at Ardleigh’s GP Surgery and Primary
School. As a result of these vital facilities’ evidenced lack of current capacity??, it
is clear that any new housing development in Ardleigh of any size will need to
make a proportionate contribution towards their expansion in line with part a. of
local policy HP 2.

20 not precluding the delivery of other community facilities in Ardleigh, provided local
need can be established

21 and in the absence of any more recent evidence to suggest new capacity has been
found

A\

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pagé?QZ 62



Policy CFP - Community Facilities

1. Applications for new or improved community facilities will
be strongly supported where the proposal:

. Provides a gym, swimming pool, squash/tennis/badminton
courts and/or other similar exercise-related leisure
facilities;

. Provides on-site enhancement of the Village Hall that
would develop its role as a Community Hub;

. Concerns a small, independent local business with a clear
community role or function (including a cafe, meeting
room, small restaurant, small retail shop, pub, dog training
facility/walking area etc.); or

. Would make a welcome contribution towards redressing
Ardleigh’s equipped play/open space deficit (of 1.70
hectares at the time of writing).

. New or improved community facilities should be designed
to be accessible to all, including those with mobility
restrictions. Preference will be shown for community
facilities that are intended or able to meet the needs of
young people.

. Proposals that would cause the loss or closure of existing
community facilities will be refused unless they are in full
accordance with local policy HP 2. In order to meet this
policy, it will generally be expected that:

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan




. In relation to part b. of the policy, any existing community
facility located within the Settlement Development
Boundaries should be replaced by a facility also located
within the Settlement Development Boundaries;

. In relation to part c. of the policy, where the Parish Council
and/or members of the local community provide
reasonable evidence in response to a relevant planning
application that regular community use is made of a facility
and/or the facility meets a clear community need, this will
be given substantial weight by the decision-maker.

. All housing applications that would result in a net addition
of housing must be accompanied by:

. Evidence that there is sufficient capacity at the GP Surgery
and Primary School to meet the needs arising from the
new household(s); or

. A proportionate financial contribution towards the
enhancement or new provision of appropriate medical and
primary education facilities within the parish confines.

. Development (including cumulatively) that would lead to
the closure or relocation of Ardleigh’s GP Surgery or
Primary School outside of the parish confines will be
resisted.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan




11. Policy HP: Housing

65

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



Explanatory text

11.1. In order to achieve a sustainable increase in housing stock over the plan period,
the Local Plan anticipates delivery from the following key sources only:

« EXxisting permissions;
+ Housing site allocations; and
+ Other suitable sites within Settlement Development Boundaries (Section 3.3.2).

11.2. The Local Plan does not allocate any housing sites in Ardleigh or set any
minimum housing figure for the Parish. The adopted housing strategy is such that
Ardleigh could deliver 0 additional homes over the plan period and the District
would still meet or exceed its minimum housing requirements.

11.3. Furthermore, the District Council’s projections for small sites and windfall
development (based on past trends for the whole District) assumes that a total of
122 new dwellings will be delivered throughout the Smaller Rural Settlements
between 2021 and 2033. For argument’s sake, this equates to only
approximately 10 - 11 dwellings per year. Split equally amongst the 18 Smaller
Rural Settlements, this equates to an approximate annual housing projection per
Smaller Rural Settlement of just 0.5 - 1 dwelling(s).

11.4. Notwithstanding the above provisions, the Local Plan adopts a positive and
proactive approach to the delivery of new housing in line with the national
objective to significantly boost the housing land supply.

11.5. To this end, the Local Plan provides “in principle” support for all of the following
types of new housing in Ardleigh:

+ Developments of 10 or fewer infill dwellings located within the Settlement
Development Boundaries of the village (see paragraphs 3.3.1.4.3 & 3.3.1.4.4);

+ Developments of affordable housing on sites physically adjoining the village’s
Settlement Development Boundaries provided the development meets an
identified affordable housing need in Ardleigh that could not otherwise be met
and is supported by the Parish Council; and

+ Developments of self-build and custom-built housing anywhere in the Parish if it
comprises a 1:1 replacement of an existing dwelling OR it would redevelop
vacant or redundant brownfield land that is evidenced to be unviable for
employment use.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 66



11.6.

11.7.

11.8.

11.9.

11.10.

11.11.

Ardleigh Parish Council is supportive of the District’s ambition to exceed
minimum housing requirements. However, this must be balanced against other
important planning considerations, including the capacity of infrastructure/
facilities and the retention of Ardleigh’s built/landscape character and rural
identity.

Ardleigh has already seen a considerable amount of housing growth in recent
years, far in excess of previous Local Plan predictions. Since 2011, this modest
and historic rural settlement has seen a c. 20% increase in its total housing
stock. Prior to this, growth had occurred more gradually over many years.

The recent level of housing growth in Ardleigh is considered to be unsustainable.
Many of the village’s critical and highly valued services are currently unable to
withstand any further material expansion of its housing stock?2.

The Parish Council believes that better use can be made of existing residential
plots to meet the changing/growing accommodation needs of local households,
including the rise in multigenerational living. This approach is far preferred to the
new residential development of previously green and open sites, especially in the
rural areas. To this end, policy HP provides express support for the creation of
ancillary residential accommodation (such as “granny annexes”) throughout the
Parish.

Although it is acknowledged that parts of the Parish lie in proximity of the more
sustainable Colchester, there is legitimate concern that allowing housing growth
in these areas will cause the rural Parish of Ardleigh and urban City of Colchester
to coalesce. It is of vital importance that the sense of physical and functional
separation between the City of Colchester and the rural Parish of Ardleigh is
preserved throughout and beyond the current plan period. Great importance will
be attached to this matter in the consideration of any relevant planning
applications.

Additionally, the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community (part of which
is located in Ardleigh) is expected to deliver a very substantial number of new
homes throughout and beyond the current plan period23. No matter where these

22 For example, recent evidence shows that both the GP Surgery and the Primary
School are oversubscribed and there is also a deficit of play/open space

23 2000 total homes up to 2033 and a further 5500 homes post 2033

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

w—?‘*
Pai

67



new houses are delivered in Ardleigh, they will have considerable impacts on the
Parish’s rural character, infrastructure, sense of community and, of course, its
overall housing stock.

Community consultation

11.12. The community consultation exercises underpinning the preparation of this
Neighbourhood Plan have made it clear that an overwhelming majority of local
residents strongly object to any further housing development taking place over
the plan period.

11.13. Many expressed concern in response to the Consultation Questionnaire that
recent housing development has threatened the community. Concerns were
specifically raised about harm to the rural environment arising from
developments taking place away from the village confines and about impacts on
the school and GP surgery which were widely agreed to be at breaking point.
This community view appears to be objectively supported by the available
evidence.

11.14. There is clearly little community support for any form of housing development.
However, in terms of size, 4+ bed dwellings were felt to be the least needed
whilst 2 and 3-bed dwellings were the most needed, with 1-beds not far behind.

11.15. In terms of residential design, a small community preference was indicated for
the inclusion of sustainable/eco-friendly design and construction techniques.
Policy HP therefore provides support for housing schemes that achieve high
levels of sustainability. This could include houses that achieve zero carbon status
or meet the Living Building Challenge.

11.16. Also preferred were infill schemes2* and designs that harmonise with the
traditional architectural character of the area. There was clear consensus that if
new residential development is to be allowed, it should only be within the
Settlement Development Boundaries.

11.17. Whilst there was some limited local support for affordable housing in the Parish,
any affordable housing needs are likely to be met in full by development already
planned for and/or approved (such as the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden
Community). It is also the case that the existing number of socially-rented

24 “infill” meaning small plots with development on both sides, usually forming part of an
otherwise continually built-up road frontage of buildings

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 68



11.18.

11.19.

11.20.

11.21.

11.22.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

properties in Ardleigh is closely aligned with the figure for the district as a whole
which includes the urban localities of Clacton, Harwich and Manningtree.

In the event that additional need arises, Local Plan policy LP 6 already provides
scope for the delivery of suitable affordable housing schemes in the Parish over
the plan period.

Where the Parish Council is satisfied that:

1. a Parish need for an affordable housing scheme put forward under policy LP 6
has been demonstrated (with evidence); and

2. the application complies with all other provisions of policy LP 6 and any other
relevant development plan policies;

they will provide their formal support for the application, as required by policy LP
6.

Per the above discussion, there is currently no established need or local
community support for any additional housebuilding in Ardleigh over and above
that already permitted by the Local Plan.

This Neighbourhood Plan does not seek to prevent or discourage any
development that is permitted by the Local Plan.

Policy HP reinforces the Local Plan approach to housing development within and
without Ardleigh’s Settlement Development Boundaries. It identifies a number of
specific design features that applications for new housing in Ardleigh should seek
to incorporate in order to increase their chances of approval. It also provides
additional scope for the creation of ancillary residential accommodation
throughout all parts of the Parish in order to better support local residents to meet
their changing housing needs.

69



Policy HP - Housing

1. Housing development of any kind will be strictly resisted
outside of the Settlement Development Boundaries unless
itis in full compliance with policy GDP of this
Neighbourhood Plan.

. Housing development will be supported within the
Settlement Development Boundaries where:

. The proposal is for limited infilling* of no more than 10
dwellings.

*For the purposes of this policy, infilling means the development
of a plot with buildings on both sides, usually a plot in an
otherwise continuously built-up road frontage.

3. In all circumstances, housing applications that include the
following features will be looked on more favourably than

those that do not:
. Sustainable design and construction features in excess of
minimum policy requirements;
. Accessibility features including level thresholds, wide
doorways and ground floor bedrooms/bathrooms;
Measures to improve fire safety and resilience in excess of
minimum policy requirements;
. Smaller dwellings (1-3 beds); and
. Affordable houses in excess of minimum policy requirements.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan




4. The creation of ancillary residential accommodation (e.g.
granny annexes) within the curtilage of existing dwellings
will be supported throughout the parish provided:

. Evidence is supplied that the accommodation is required to
provide necessary care and/or support to a member of the
site’s immediate family or household; and

. A restrictive condition to prevent the future use of the
ancillary accommodation as a separate or self-contained
dwelling is applied to any grant of planning permission.

. For developments that include the provision of affordable
housing, it will generally be expected that affordable homes
are interspersed throughout the market housing and are
indistinguishable from the market housing in terms of their
external appearance, design, standards and build quality.

7

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



12. Policy EP: Natural, Built & Historic
Environment

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 72



Explanatory Text

12.1. At the highest level of planning, the achievement of “sustainable development”
requires the protection and enhancement of the country’s natural, built and
historic environments (paragraph 8 of the NPPF).

12.2. The Local Plan contains various detailed policies concerned with the
conservation and enhancement of Tendring’s natural, built and historic
environments, including:

Built

+ Policy SPL 3 which expects all new development to make a positive contribution to the
quality of the local environment and protect or enhance local character. In particular:

- new buildings and building alterations should be well-designed and maintain or
enhance local character;

- development should relate well to its surroundings by way of its siting, height,
scale, massing, form, design and materials;

- Development should respect or enhance local landscape character, views,
skylines, street patterns and open spaces;

- Boundary treatments and hard/soft landscaping should be designed as an integral
part of the development and use locally distinctive materials and local/native
species;

Natural

+ Policy PPL 3 which seeks to protect the rural landscape and to refuse permission for
any development that would cause overriding harm to its character or appearance,
including to its estuaries, rivers, skylines, traditional buildings, settlement settings,
native hedgerows, trees and woodlands, rural lanes, footpaths/bridleways and
heritage assets;

+ Policy PPL 4 which requires that new development avoids significant impacts on any
protected species and is supported by appropriate ecological assessments. This
policy also resists development that would have an adverse impact on designated
wildlife sites (including Local Wildlife Sites) or aged/veteran trees;

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 73



Historic

+ Policy PPL 7 which requires new development with the potential to affect designated
or non-designated archaeological remains to be accompanied by an appropriate desk-
based assessment and which resists development that would cause harm to the
significance of an archaeological heritage asset or its setting;

+ Policy PPL 8 which expects new development to preserve and enhance Conservation
Areas and their settings, especially in terms of scale and design, materials, finishes
and boundary treatments, landscaping, trees and spaces and important views;

+ Policy PPL 9 which states that permission will be refused for proposals that fail to
protect the special architectural or historic interest of an affected listed building unless
approval is justified by the provisions of the NPPF.

12.3. The Ardleigh environment has a pleasant and modest rural character that derives
from a variety of factors, including (but not limited to) its:

+ Visual qualities, including the architectural styles of buildings and the way
manmade features (such as buildings and lanes) relate to natural features (such
as trees and hedgerows) in the landscape;

+ Use(s) of buildings and land, especially agricultural and other rural land-based
uses which are a long-preserved and defining feature of the Ardleigh landscape;

+ Wide array of natural and biodiverse landscape features including woodlands,
ancient hedgerows, water bodies, meadows and orchards;

+ Heritage assets, including the Conservation Area, the significant number of
impressive old farmhouses and the mediaeval village church;

* Noises, including a lack of noise. For example, there are remote areas of the
Parish (including parts of Crockleford Heath) where there is a lack of any road or
traffic noise and birdsong dominates. Elsewhere, the noise of agricultural
vehicles and machinery can be prominent throughout the working landscape;

« Smells. For example, in woodlands compared to agricultural areas;

+ Lack of development, especially how this assists places and spaces to relate to
one another. This includes: soft green spaces (formal or otherwise) that provide
visual relief in built-up environments; gaps between buildings; open fields,
especially where these are “hard-up” against the village’s built-up areas; and

« Type/amount of activity. For example, parts of the village and surrounding
working agricultural landscape have a vibrant and bustling character, whereas
other areas in the Parish are notably quiet and tranquil.

A9\
[ 4 ]l;'v‘\,
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Page@04 74



12.4. The defining character of the Parish is as a working agricultural settlement. The
historic settlement’s origins reside firmly in the agricultural working of its
surrounding landscape and many of its statutory heritage assets reflect the
critical social, economic and environmental importance of this local industry
throughout the many thousands of years of the settlement’s existence. Although
(in common with all other parts of the country) agriculture is no longer as
significant a local industry as it was historically, it does continue to employ a
statistically significant number of local residents.

12.5. Furthermore, arable agricultural fields continue to strongly define the Parish’s
rural landscape character and a good deal of its field boundaries (and
hedgerows) are many hundreds of years old. Ardleigh also retains a generous
amount of “best and most versatile” agricultural land which should be
permanently retained in agricultural use wherever possible.

12.6. The need to retain “best and most versatile” agricultural land is rendered all the
more significant by the ongoing coastal erosion that continues to reduce
agricultural land supply in this eastern region of the country. Local residents are
also conscious of contemporary concerns surrounding food insecurities (arising
from economic recession, Brexit, the pandemic and international conflicts).

12.7. A Conservation Area encompasses the heart of the historic Ardleigh village. The
Conservation Area Appraisal prepared by Tendring District Council (2006)
summarises its special interest as follows:

“Ardleigh is a small medieval village at an important road junction, and retains its
fine church and sequences of attractive vernacular buildings. The well-treed
approaches to the north and the east are essential to the character of the village
and are also included in the Area. The village expanded southwards in the 19th
century, resulting in further groups of distinctive buildings, which with their
settings are also recognised by Area designation.”

12.8. In December 2011, the Parish Council published a Village Design Statement
(VDS). This document was prepared in consultation with Tendring District Council
and seeks to describe the distinctive characteristics of the various parts of the
Parish (including the village, the Conservation Area and some of the outlying
hamlets) and provide design guidance for new development in these areas.
Since its publication, the VDS has been a material planning consideration for all

A9\
| A ]l;'v‘\,
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pa 105 75



relevant planning applications in the Parish.

12.9. The VDS (see Annex 2) has been updated as part of the preparation of this
Neighbourhood Plan. The update is based on detailed desk- and field- based
assessments. It seeks primarily to identify and assess developments undertaken
in the Parish since 2011. For example, it evaluates the design success of these
recent developments, including the extent to which they have complied with the
former VDS and its design requirements. Where relevant, the guidance of the
VDS has been updated to describe changes to local character, to clarify design
expectations and/or to provide necessary additional protection against the design
shortcomings of developments implemented in the Parish since 2011.

12.10. Although it would not be practicable or helpful to include the full contents of the
VDS here, some of the key “desirable” and “undesirable” design features for new
development in Ardleigh are set out in the tables below.

Roofs
Desirable Undesirable
45 degree pitch Shallow pitch
Natural slate Sheet roofing
Handmade plain clay tiles or modern Clay or concrete pantiles
equivalent
Traditional small dormer windows Large, unrelieved expanses of roof
“Laced” valleys and “bonneted” hips Large, disproportionate and flat-topped
dormer windows
Chimneys Absence of chimneys

Green and blue roofs, where appropriate
Table 2.

Walls
Desirable Undesirable

Red, handmade brick to match local “soft” Large expanses of unrelieved render with
red bricks bland glossy or semi-matte paints

Pageil06



Rendered walls of traditional limestone or “Shiplap” style weatherboarding
truly matte finish

Sawn or feathered weatherboarding with
black stain or matte paint finish

White “Suffolk” handmade brick
Pebbledash render

Table 3.
Windows
Desirable Undesirable
Windows in extensions to match windows Large unrelieved areas of glazing
of existing building
Wooden frames of traditional size UPVC windows
Simple glazing Obscure glazing with large-pattern designs
Table 4.
Doors
Desirable Undesirable
Doors in extensions to match doors of Non-vernacular design
existing building
Solid timber UPVC doors

Colour based on traditional mineral or
vegetable paint colours

Table 5.

Landscaping & boundary treatments
Desirable Undesirable

Gravel hardstandings Hardstandings of large unrelieved areas of
tarmac, concrete or geometric pavers

Page 107



Hardstandings of clay, stone or concrete Hardstandings of patterned concrete
individual “setts” of square or rounded

non-geometric design

Hedges formed of native species such as  Very tall boundary treatments unless it

hawthorn consists of trees or hedges
Low brick walls Close-boarded fencing
Timber picket and post-and-rail fencing  Overly elaborate or ornate brick walls and
(stained not painted) metal fences
Traditional timber joinery gates Hedges of non-native or generic species

such as laurel

Traditional low iron fences and gates in  Poorly sited, intrusive or excessive exterior

simple styles lights

Simple modern or traditional light fittings

12.11.

Table 6.

This Neighbourhood Plan now requires all new development in the Parish to pay
due regard to the relevant contents of the updated VDS. The VDS comprises an
annex to the Neighbourhood Plan and attracts equal weight.

Community consultation

12.12.

12.13.

12.14.

In response to the community consultation exercises, an overwhelming majority
of local residents reported that they value and wish to preserve the Parish’s rural
character, including its open spaces, trees, hedgerows and the visual qualities of
its buildings. Respondents did not wish to see the Parish’s cherished footpaths,
bridleways or rural lanes adversely affected by any new development. Some
concern was also expressed about the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden
Community, particularly the harm this might cause to the rural environment of
Crockleford Heath.

This Neighbourhood Plan does not seek to prevent or discourage any
development that is permitted by the Local Plan.

Policy EP reinforces the Local Plan approach to the natural, built and historic
environments of the District. It provides valuable guidance to enable applicants to
understand Ardleigh’s specific character and identify how new development can

0

o
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Page§08 78



be designed to maintain or enhance this. Given the considerable importance of
working agricultural land to the character and appearance of Ardleigh’s historic
rural landscape, it directly resists any permanent loss of best and most versatile
agricultural land to non-compatible uses in accordance with local policy PPL 3. It
also introduces exceptional support for proposals that would secure material
benefits for Ardleigh’s natural, built and/or historic environments, provided only
that this is not outweighed by any disbenefits of the scheme.

79

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan



Policy EP - Natural, Built & Historic Environment

1. Development that is consistent with all other relevant
Neighbourhood Plan policies will be supported provided:

a. Its design pays due regard to the contents of the Village
Design Statement™*, including by way of its:

I. Siting;

ii. Layout;

iii. Form and scale;

iv. Architectural style

v. Materials;

vi. Relationship to surrounding development;
vii.Impact on built/landscape features;
viii.Landscaping and boundary treatments;
ix. Car parking;

X. Accessibility; and

Xi. Biodiversity efforts

*including subsequent revisions and/or subsequent replacement
guidance

b. No urbanising effect is had on a rural lane or street (for
example, as a result of resurfacing, hedgerow removals or
loss of an open landscape view);

c. There is no urban intrusion (including as a result of light or

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan




noise pollution or increased vehicular traffic) into currently
tranquil rural areas;

. There is no net loss of good quality green landscape
features (including trees, hedges and shrubs) and all new
green landscape features are of appropriate local or native
species;

. Appropriate opportunities are incorporated to support
local biodiversity and wildlife;

There is no permanent loss of best and most versatile
agricultural land to non-compatible uses (the onus will be
on the developer to establish the quality of any agricultural
land proposed for other uses);

. Development in the Conservation Area or within its setting
preserves or enhances its significance and has regard to
the contents of the Conservation Area Appraisal; and

. Development affecting a Listed Building or its setting
preserves or enhances its significance and is supported by
a proportionate Heritage Impact Assessment.

. Exceptional support is provided for any development that,
in the view of the Parish Council, would secure material
benefits for the natural, built and/or historic environment
of Ardleigh. In all cases, the benefits will be weighed
against any disbenefits of the development, including
conflict with strategic policies. Support will only be
provided if the benefits are assessed to outweigh any
disbenefits.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan




Local Green Spaces

13. Policy LGP

82

=
S
o
]
o
o
<
S
>
o
2
(=
2
o
2
=
2
2
i
S
<



Explanatory Text

13.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) supports the designation of
land as Local Green Space through both local and neighbourhood plans
(paragraph 101).

13.2. Designated Local Green Spaces are considered to be “areas or assets of
particular importance” (per paragraph 11 and its supporting footnote) and are
consequently given additional protection against inappropriate development.

13.3. The Local Green Space designation should only be used where the green space
is:

a) In reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;

b) Demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local
significance,
for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value,
tranquillity
or richness of wildlife; and

c) Local in character and not an extensive tract of land (paragraph 102).

13.4. Further guidance on Local Green Space designation is provided in National
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG), including:

+ Whether to designate land is a matter for local discretion;

+ Local Green Space designation will rarely be appropriate where the land has
planning permission for development. Exceptions could be where the
development would be compatible with the reasons for designation or where
planning permission is no longer capable of being implemented;

+ “Reasonably close proximity” depends on local circumstances including why
the green area is seen as special. If public access is a key factor, then the site
should normally be within walking distance;

+ Land can be considered for designation even if there is no public access (e.g.
green areas which are valued because of their wildlife, historic significance
and/or beauty);

+ Designation of a site does not confer any rights of public access over what
exists at present;

+ There is no need to designate linear corridors simply to protect public rights of
way (as they are already protected by other legislation);

w—?‘*
Pai

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 113 83



+ A site does not need to be in public ownership, however landowners should be

contacted and provided the opportunity to make representations in respect of
proposals in a draft plan; and

+ Designating a green area as Local Green Space would give it protection

consistent with that in respect of Green Belt, but otherwise there are no new
restrictions or obligations on landowners.

13.5. In accordance with the above provisions of the NPPF and NPPG, the Local Plan
designates various Local Green Spaces throughout the District and provides a
policy for their protection. This is policy HP 4 on “Safeguarded Open Space”
which states that development resulting in the total or partial loss of Safeguarded
Open Space will not be permitted unless:

a.

o

The site is replaced by a new site of at least equal quality, size and
accessibility;

It is demonstrated that there is no longer a demand for the existing site;

The site is not appropriate for other open space functions; and

. The development of the site would not result in the loss of an area important to

visual amenity.

13.6. The Local Plan formally designates the following sites in Ardleigh as Local Green
Spaces:

Churchyard;

Cemetery;

The Ardleigh Recreation Ground;
Millennium Green;

Green space at Church View/Chapel Court;
Grass verge on The Street; and

Grass verges on Mary Warner Road.

13.7. As supported by both the NPPF and the Local Plan, this Neighbourhood Plan is
able to designate additional Local Green Spaces (LGSs), provided the above
national criteria are met.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

84



13.8. Locality?®> has also published a toolkit for neighbourhood planners entitled
“Neighbourhood Planning Local Green Spaces”. This contains more detailed
guidance concerning the identification and designation of LGSs as well as the
drafting of relevant neighbourhood plan policies for their protection.

Locality toolkit

Some of the most relevant advice provided by the Locality toolkit is extracted below:

Some of the community and environmental benefits of green spaces are:
* Being part of the public realm, where informal social interaction can take place

« Forming part of a network of paths and spaces, enabling movement through an area

* Providing habitats for wildlife and a natural corridors and spaces through urban areas

+ Adding to local amenity, providing an attractive setting and outlook for surrounding
residential and commercial properties

« Forming part of the character or setting of historic areas, buildings and townscape

* Providing areas and opportunities for growing local food.

Community and Stakeholder engagement:
Where Local Green Space designations are being considered, it is also advisable to

engage with those controlling the land.

Policy themes:
Purposes and themes for policies addressing green space and infrastructure could
include -

 Ensuring the space remains open and its community value is maintained

* Protecting the character of the area, including historic areas

 Ensuring adjacent development complements its setting

Setting out design requirements for new development around green space, including
providing access into the space, where appropriate

+ Enabling changes of use to allow a wider range of activities to take place

25 | ocality is an organisation providing support to neighbourhood planning groups on
behalf of the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities. They provide both
grant (financial) and technical (assistance and advice) support

w—?‘*
Pai

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 115 85



A policy specific to Local Green Space could make clear that development should not
compromise the open character and community value of spaces or set out where limited
development may be allowed to enhance the community use of the space.

Design policies could ensure that development adjacent to Local Green Space provide
active frontages, to provide natural surveillance. Such policies could also deal with scale
and character of development. Open Green Spaces could provide an ideal setting for
creative modern buildings on adjacent sites.

13.9. The LGSs of this Neighbourhood Plan and the related LG policy have been
identified and prepared in accordance with the national criteria, the NPPG and
the Locality toolkit.

13.10. A comprehensive LGS Assessment was carried out as part of the preparation of
this Neighbourhood Plan and comprises an important aspect of its evidence
base26. A total of 24 spaces were nominated for consideration by the local
community. Each of these spaces was then subject to a desk-based assessment,
leading to 6 of the nominations being discounted from further consideration.

13.11. Field assessments were then conducted of the 18 remaining spaces to enable a
more detailed appraisal of their accordance with the national criteria. The field
assessments led to more sites being discounted or amended, with a total of 10
LGSs carried forward for nomination in the Neighbourhood Plan.

13.12. The 10 LGSs carried forward for nomination in the Neighbourhood Plan are:

Space 3 Fishing lake and footpaths north of Colchester Road;
Space 4 Field south of Mary Warner Estate;

Space 5 Reservoir land;

Space 7 Manor House meadow;

Space 8/12 Woodlands attached to Birch Wood;

Space 9 Green Island Gardens;

Space 13 Hart’s Lane orchard;

N ook~

26 This section of the Neighbourhood Plan provides an overview of its key contents.
However, for a detailed understanding of the assessment process and public
consultation responses, regard should be had to the separate LGS Assessment at
Annex 1

| &1 ]
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pagell6 86




8. Space 22 Car park land;
9. Space 23 Glebe Corner land; and
10.  Space 24 Harwich Road allotments.

13.13. A brief summary of the special community value and local significance (e.g.
beauty, historic significance, recreation value, tranquility, richness of wildlife) of
each nominated LGS appears below2’. These are the qualities which any new
development in or adjacent to the space should seek to preserve or enhance.
Development that would cause material harm to these features will be
considered “inappropriate” in relation to policy LGP.

Space 3: Fishing lake and footpaths north of Colchester Road

Fig. 29. Space 3

13.14. The site comprises public footpaths and a fishing lake. Parts of the site support
beautiful, far-reaching public views to be had both across the arable landscape
and back towards the settlement edge. These views are genuinely representative
of the Landscape Character Area and largely unchanged since historic times.
The space is emblematic of the historic (and, in other places, eroded) abrupt
spatial relationship between the mediaeval nuclear village of Ardleigh and the

27 these summaries are not exhaustive - for full descriptions, reference should always
be made to the separate LGS Assessment at Annex 1

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 87



surrounding working countryside. It has been used for recreational walking by
villagers for hundreds of years. It provides the only glimpse of open countryside
available from Colchester Road (within the built-up area of the village). The
fishing lake is replete with local wildlife, including a variety of birds and bats.
Given its close proximity to the village centre, it is a surprisingly tranquil place
with a perceptible sense of being far away from people and settlement. It is
subject to regular recreational use by a local fishing club.

13.15. Although there is no need to designate the footpaths in order to protect them as
public rights of way, their designation is justified in order to provide some control
over development in their setting that is likely to seriously disrupt or damage their
considerable and longstanding community value.

Space 4: Field south of Mary Warner Estate

Fig. 30. Space 4

13.16. The site is an agricultural field containing both formal and unofficial (although
visibly well-trodden) walking routes that are used daily by villagers. It provides an
idyllic rural backdrop to various important civic/green spaces located at the very
heart of the village. It enables far reaching views to be had both from and
towards the settlement edge, assisting even casual observers to understand the
historic origins and importance of Ardleigh as a working agricultural settlement.

)

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pag el 88



13.17.

13.18.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Its retention also preserves the distinctive nuclear format of the village which is a
highly positive feature of the wider Landscape Character Area that has been
eroded on other edges of the village. The abrupt transition from settlement to
open countryside is a defining and historic feature of Ardleigh’s special landscape
character that is very well represented here. In these respects, the site performs
an important landscape and heritage function. There is also evidence of children
playing in the area (geocaching and similar games).

Although there is no need to designate the footpaths in order to protect them as
public rights of way, their designation is justified in order to provide some control
over development in their setting that is likely to seriously disrupt or damage their
considerable and longstanding community value.

Space 5 Reservoir land

Fig. 31. Space 5

The site runs adjacent to Ardleigh Reservoir and contains woodlands and an
agricultural field, both crossed by a well-used public footpath. The field is in
working agricultural use associated with Prettyfields vineyard, reflective of the
defining Ardleigh landscape character. It is also occasionally used for community
purposes and functions (with the kind permission of the landowner). The site
showcases a number of the Parish’s most important and special landscape

89



13.19.

13.20.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

features (including agricultural land use, mature woodlands and the reservoir) in
a compact area, to paint a very vibrant picture of life in Ardleigh. Opportunities for
public access to the Reservoir are currently very limited - this site provides the
closest and most tranquil public access to the water and is cherished by the local
community for this reason. The mature woodlands are genuinely replete with
local wildlife, including deer, and birdsong dominates. Views from the public
footpath across the water are spectacular. The adjacent vineyard is a popular
local attraction and is frequently decorated for the season, to the delight of local
children - the installations can typically be seen from the public footpath although
paid entry to the vineyard is also possible.

Although there is no need to designate the footpath in order to protect it as a
public right of way, its designation is justified in order to provide some control
over development in its setting that is likely to seriously disrupt or damage its
considerable and longstanding community value.

Space 7 Manor House meadow

Fig. 32. Space 7

The site is long-preserved amenity land enclosed by public footpaths and
containing ancient woodlands. It is subject to daily recreational use by villagers.
Part of the site is designated Local Wildlife Site Te10 in recognition of its
significant value to wildlife. Salary Brook also passes through the area,

90



supporting a wide variety of habitats. It has visual presence on the approach to
Ardleigh village along the B1029.

13.21. Although there is no need to designate the footpaths in order to protect them as
public rights of way, their designation is justified in order to provide some control
over development in their setting that is likely to seriously disrupt or damage their
considerable and longstanding community value.

Space 8/12 Woodlands attached to Birch Wood

Fig. 33. Space 8/12

13.22. Space 8/12 comprises two small but dense sections of woodland located along
the historic and picturesque Hart’'s Lane. The woodlands appear as natural
extensions of the adjacent Birch Wood which is a designated Local Wildlife Site.
Their trees appear to be of some maturity and good quality. In common with the
adjacent Birch Wood, the space supports a wide variety of wildlife. Birch Wood is
identified to be suffering from piecemeal conversion to residential garden. Given
this ongoing threat, the retention of these sections of adjoining woodland is
considered to be all the more important for both landscape and biodiversity
reasons. The sites also make a notable positive contribution towards the special
rural and sylvan qualities of the historic Hart’'s Lane and the setting of nearby
listed buildings.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 91



Space 9 Green Island Gardens

LR

Fig. 34. Space 9

13.23. This space comprises a former plantation that is now managed as landscaped
gardens, with public access available for a fee. Historically, the site was Ardleigh
Park Plantation, likely owned and managed in connection with the nearby manor,
named Ardleigh Park, which is now a Grade Il listed building. Its layout and
overall landscape character is largely unchanged since historic times and it is
thus considered to hold firm heritage value and it continues to make a very
substantial positive contribution to the setting of Ardleigh Park. It contains an
exceptional variety of plant and animal life and is very well managed and cared
for. It also provides educational facilities to assist local residents to identify, plant
and care for appropriate species in their own gardens.

Space 13 Hart’s Lane orchard

Fig. 35. Space 13

A2
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pageil22 92



13.24.

13.25.

13.26.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

The space is a working apple orchard with a public footpath running along its
boundary. Previously, the public footpath ran through the centre of the orchard
but part of the orchard was recently lost to residential use. Historically and for
many generations, the surrounding area (Hart’s Lane) was replete with working
fruit orchards, however these uses have nearly all been lost. This space now
comprises the last remaining veteran fruit orchard on Hart’s Lane. It
consequently provides an evocative and highly valuable reminder of the specific
agricultural origins of this part of the Parish. The Woodland Trust also recognises
that fruit orchards of this scale and nature are “biodiverse hotspots” - given the
modern loss of all other fruit orchards on Hart’s Lane, this last remaining space is
likely to provide a highly valuable refuge for local wildlife and its retention is
important.

Although there is no need to designate the footpath in order to protect it as a
public right of way, its designation is justified in order to provide some control
over development in its setting that is likely to seriously disrupt or damage its
considerable and longstanding community value.

Space 22 Car park land

Fig. 36. Space 22

This space comprises a small section of public amenity land that sits adjacent to
the village’s central car park. It consists of undulating grassed land containing
various trees and a well-used pedestrian pathway. It is located within the
Conservation Area, in close proximity and in view of the landmark, Grade II*

93



listed village church. It is also close to and overlooked by the nearby residential
estate, providing a well-used informal play area for children living there. The land
is considered to make a very valuable contribution towards the landscape
qualities of the Conservation Area. In particular, it greatly softens the hard-edged
character of the public car park, provides a welcome gap in built form and
confers maturity on the adjacent modern housing estate.

Space 23 Glebe Corner land

Fig. 37. Space 23

13.27. This space comprises former glebe land (historically attached to the village
church) that now appears as rough grassland, bordered by dense and mature
hedgerows of some quality. The space is considered to provide a very important
landscape function, marking the unofficial “entrance” to Ardleigh from the east. Its
partial treed enclosure clearly distinguishes it from the wider open landscape and
serves to signpost the transition from large-scale arable countryside to small-
scale rural settlement. In its current state, the site has clear biodiversity value
and appears to support an abundance of butterflies and bees. It also assists to
preserve the tranquility and landscape qualities of the adjacent allotments and
cemetery. Although it is no longer glebe land, it retains many of the undeveloped
qualities that is would historically have held as glebe land and it continues to form
part of the church’s heritage setting. Its retention provides an evocative reminder
of the ecclesiastical origins of this part of the Parish.

Zi
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pag elli24 94



Space 24 Harwich Road allotments

Space 24

13.28. The site comprises private allotments that are used by local residents to grow
vegetables, flowers and keep poultry. Produce grown here is frequently sold to
the local community. It is believed that these are the only allotments in the
Parish. Although open to members of the public for a fee, it is understood that the
allotments are at capacity. Overall, the allotments appear tidy and well cared for
and have a positive visual presence from the road on the approach to the village.
Especially given modern concerns over food security and supply issues, these
village allotments have considerable value to the local community.

13.29. The location and boundary of each LGS is indicated on the proposals maps
(appendix A).

Community consultation

13.30. The local community and the landowners of the 10 remaining LGSs were
provided with an opportunity to submit written representations on the
nominations. In total, 9 written representations were received. Of the 6 landowner
responses received, only 1 was supportive. A summary of the public/landowner
comments, including the Parish Council’s responses to objections raised,
appears in the LGS Assessment (Annex 1). Ultimately, the Parish Council does
not consider that any of the objections received weigh against designation of any
of the 10 LGSs. The Parish Council would emphasise that designation of the
sites:

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 95



13.31.

13.32.

13.33.

13.34.

13.35.

13.36.

« Will not confer any public rights of access over and above those already in
existence and the Parish Council will continue to support landowners to deal
with any trespassing issues;

« Will not prevent any development on or around the space. In fact, development
that is compatible with the space’s established use and/or special community
value will be encouraged; and

+ Will not place any additional burdens or requirements on landowners other than
to continue to maintain the space’s special value as they do at present.

This Neighbourhood Plan does not seek to prevent or discourage any
development that is permitted by the Local Plan.

Policy LGP does not place any blanket restriction on new development on or in
proximity of the Local Green Spaces. Instead, it seeks to ensure that any
relevant new development preserves or enhances the features and/or qualities of
the space that contribute towards its special community value and/or local
significance.

If, for example, a space is valuable (in part) for its agricultural use/s, new
development associated with that agricultural use/s will be supported and
encouraged. The only exception will be if the new agricultural development is of
such a major scale or impact that it would materially alter the site’s established
agricultural character and/or intensity of use.

Designated spaces will not be prevented from changing use or diversifying,
provided any such changes maintain or enhance its special community value
and/or local significance.

The Parish Council will directly support and encourage proposals that are
assessed to materially enhance a designated space’s special community value
and/or local significance.

For example, the Parish Council will enthusiastically support any of the proposals
appearing in the below table2s:

28 provided the development is consistent with all other relevant Neighbourhood Plan
policies

| &1 ]
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pageil26 96



Space

Space 3

Space 4
Space 5
Space 9

Space 13

Space 22

Space 23
Space 24

Possible enhancements

Appropriate seating areas around the lake
Appropriate new facilities in association with the lake’s use by a

local fishing club
New footpath signs to clarify areas of public access

Proposals to support the field’s (low impact) community uses

Appropriate new facilities to support the site’s educational and
recreational values
Proposals to support accessibility throughout the site by all

people, including those with mobility restrictions (as required)
Proposals to support or enhance the site’s use as a working fruit

orchard
Bins (including dog waste bin) on or close to the pedestrian path

Appropriate new seating areas (such as benches)

Public art
Allotments for community use (only on part)

Discreet new communal facilities to tidy up communal areas and
reduce the occurrence of litter/dumping
Appropriate new facilities to support the sale of produce from the
site

Table 7.

G |
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan P‘age 127 97



Policy LGP - Local Green Spaces

. Inappropriate development* on or adjacent to a Local
Green Space (as identified in both the Local Plan and this
Neighbourhood Plan) will be refused except in very special
circumstances.

*For the purposes of this policy, inappropriate development is
development that would cause material harm to or loss of the
special community values and/or local significance of the
space as identified in:

e The explanatory text of this policy; and
e The separate LGS Assessment (see Annex 1)**,

**including subsequent revisions and/or subsequent replacement
guidance

2. Development will be supported on or adjacent to a Local
Green Space provided it:

a. Is compatible with the established character and use of the
space; and

b. Preserves or enhances the special community values and/
or local significance of the space.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan




14. Policy TP: Transport & Parking

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 99



Explanatory Text

14.1.

14.2.

14.3.

14.4.

14.5.

14.6.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) expects transport issues to be
considered from the earliest stages of plan-making. Amongst other matters, plans
should seek to address potential impacts on existing transport networks and
identify opportunities for walking, cycling and public transport use (paragraph
104).

The NPPF also provides that:

« significant development should be focused on locations that are or can be
made sustainable by both limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine
choice of transport modes (paragraph 105); and

+ development that will generate significant amounts of movement should be
accompanied by a Travel Plan and Transport Statement or Transport
Assessment (paragraph 113)29.

Due to its position at the lowest possible rung of the Settlement Hierarchy,
Ardleigh is only anticipated to deliver “small-scale development” over the plan
period (per paragraph 3.3.1.4.2 of the Local Plan Part 2). Consequently, it is not
anticipated that any significant/major development likely to generate significant
amounts of movement or to have significant transport implications will be
delivered anywhere in Ardleigh over the plan period.

Local policy CP 1 requires that all new development is sustainable in terms of
transport and accessibility. To achieve this, new development should include and
encourage opportunities for access to sustainable transport modes (including
walking, cycling and public transport).

Local policy CP 2 provides support for new development that contributes towards
the safety and efficiency of the transport network and that offers a range of
sustainable transport modes.

Policy CP 2 also addresses the strategic link road (between A120 and A133) and
Rapid Transit System that are due to provide essential infrastructure to the
Tendring Colchester Borders Garden Community.

29 | ocal policy CP 1 sets similar requirements for “major development likely to have
significant transport implications”

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

100



14.7. The Garden Community will be subject to comprehensive planning to ensure that
the type, amount, location, design (etc.) of new housing and employment sites
takes appropriate advantage of the planned transport infrastructure, whilst
addressing all other material planning considerations (including landscape,
heritage and biodiversity impacts which will be very finely balanced).

14.8. Until the above new infrastructure is delivered and full details of the Garden
Community are formally established, this southern portion of the Parish will
remain to be considered a highly unsustainable location for new development.
Consequently, the only development that will be supported here is development
that policy GDP of this Neighbourhood Plan identifies to be appropriate outside of
the village’s Settlement Development Boundaries. Where proposed development
in this area is in accordance with policy GDP, the Parish Council will still have
careful regard to its potential to prejudice the delivery of the planned transport
infrastructure and/or the Garden Community.

Community consultation

14.9. In response to consultation, the majority of local people felt that the roads in and
around Ardleigh are adequate overall. However, a large number of people
reported concerns about congestion and parking on certain Parish roads,
particularly Old Ipswich Road and The Street at the heart of the village.

14.10. Since public consultation closed, the Parish Council advises that parking
controls have been introduced to The Street in the form of double red lines. It is
anticipated that this recent feature will mitigate at least some of the parking
pressures and congestion along this street.

14.11. There were also concerns about the speed of traffic through the Parish and the
general flouting of weight restrictions on the small roads and lanes. It was felt
that greater efforts are needed to ensure these restrictions are enforced.

14.12. A lot of local people would also like to see the local transport network enhanced
by improved cycle and walkways.

14.13. It is acknowledged that the Neighbourhood Plan is limited in what it can achieve
in relation to certain local concerns. It cannot, for example, introduce policies to
require motorists to abide by weight restrictions that are already in place. Essex
Highways is the Authority responsible for enforcing Weight Restriction Orders
and the Parish Council will continue to liaise with this body directly to address
local concerns.

A9\
| A ]l;'v‘\,
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pa 131 101



14.14.

14.15.

14.16.

14.17.

14.18.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

In respect of parking, the Parish Council is concerned that recent development
throughout Ardleigh has given insufficient consideration to both the design and
quality of car parking facilities. Recently, developers have not been providing
parking in accordance with the adopted guidance and the serious harmful
implications of this are plain to see. In many of Ardleigh’s modern housing
estates, the parked car is by far the most dominant feature in the streetscene
and this is truly unfortunate.

These recent developments in Ardleigh have failed to provide the parking
facilities required to meet the basic needs of their occupants at the point of their
construction, let alone into the future. As cars inevitably grow in size and the
number of cars per household inevitably increases too, the failure of these
recent developments to incorporate sufficient well-designed parking will only
become more apparent and the implications for local character and local road
networks more severe.

This Neighbourhood Plan therefore seeks to ensure that parking provision is
henceforth designed in accordance with the adopted regional guidance and also
considered from the earliest stages of a development’s design as an integral
feature. The provision of undersized garages, undersized or poorly arranged
spaces and/or an inadequate number of in-curtilage spaces will no longer be
entertained anywhere in Ardleigh.

This Neighbourhood Plan does not seek to prevent or discourage any
development that is permitted by the Local Plan.

Policy TP complements the provisions of the NPPF and the policies of the Local
Plan. In particular, it reinforces the Local Plan approach of resisting significant
and major development in the Smaller Rural Settlement of Ardleigh and its
surrounding countryside. It also identifies specific ways in which new
development can contribute towards the safety and efficiency of Ardleigh’s
transport network, in accordance with local policy CP 2. Given the parking
inadequacies of a number of recent developments in Ardleigh, it also seeks to
reinforce the importance of well-designed parking facilities and the need to
comply with established parking guidance.

102



Policy TP - Transport & Parking
1. With the exception of the Tendring/Colchester Borders

Garden Community, development likely to generate
significant amounts of movement and/or to have significant
transport implications™® will be strictly resisted throughout
the parish.

*For the purposes of this policy, this includes any
development that is of a scale to trigger a local or national
requirement to provide a Travel Plan, Transport Statement or
Transport Assessment.

2. Development that is consistent with all other relevant
Neighbourhood Plan policies will be strongly supported
where it would:

. Improve road safety;
. Reduce parking pressures or the occurrence of
inappropriate parking;
. Provide appropriate traffic control;
d. Improve existing cycle or walkways; or
e. Provide new cycle or walkways.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 103



. Permission will be refused for any development that is
likely to materially exacerbate existing transport,
congestion, accessibility or parking issues, particularly
along and in proximity of The Street and Old Ipswich Road.

. Development likely to undermine or pre-empt the delivery
or design of the forthcoming Garden Community and its
associated transport infrastructure will be strictly resisted.

. Parking provision should be considered as an integral
feature of a development’s design, addressed in the earliest
design stages.

. All new development should provide parking in accordance
with both the Essex Parking Standards and the Essex Design
Guide**, to include:

. Number of spaces;
. Location of spaces (i.e. in or out of the curtilage); and

c. Layout, size and design of spaces.

**including subsequent revisions and/or subsequent replacement
guidance

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan




15. Implementation, Monitoring and Review

Implementation

15.1. The Neighbourhood Plan forms part of the statutory Development Plan and will
be used by decision takers to determine the outcome of planning applications
and appeals in the Parish. The District Council, as the Local Planning Authority,
will use it to determine the outcome of planning applications within the Parish.

15.2. In preparing the Neighbourhood Plan, care has been taken to ensure that all of
its policies are achievable.

15.3. The Parish Council will rely on the Neighbourhood Plan to inform its
representations on submitted planning applications. The Parish Council’s formal
support will be provided for all applications that are assessed to be in full
accordance with all relevant policies in this Plan.

15.4. Once ‘made’, this Neighbourhood Plan will form part of the Development Plan for
the district.

Monitoring

15.5. Ardleigh Parish Council will monitor both the implementation and the ongoing
relevance of the Neighbourhood Plan on a regular basis.

15.6. Subject to available resources, the Parish Council will prepare annual monitoring
reports. These reports will be published on the Council’s website.

Review

15.7. The Plan will be subject to review every five years. As part of the five-year
review, the views of residents will be sought and the Neighbourhood Plan will be
updated as necessary. As part of its ongoing monitoring of the Neighbourhood
Plan, the Parish Council will consider undertaking an early review if any of the
following circumstances apply:

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 105



+ Material change in local circumstances;

+ Monitoring of the plan reveals an issue with policy wording; or

« There is an update to the Local Plan, the NPPF or a Ministerial Statement (etc.)
that affects the Neighbourhood Plan.

15.8. The Parish Council will also pay close attention to the progress of the Tendring/
Colchester Borders Garden Community. In particular, they will work alongside the
partner councils to identify any changes to the Neighbourhood Plan that might be
necessary or appropriate in the light of advancements made.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 106



Appendix A: Proposals maps

Key

Settlement
Development
Boundaries

Local Green Spaces

Neighbourhood Plan
Area

Map 1: Neighbourhood Plan Area

- =
g el
- 5

uuuuu

—

Hirtrnbey, Conees

- = Cnesiy
o -

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 107



Map 2: Settlement Development Boundaries

=7 3 -. sz / | I"| @

ge
I { % mom

Iss

5 Mast

A
X b /
" . 5, !
§ )
ey \\ p 4
\% /
\ N
. e
A ath
A 3
& Crown coayrialt and datatase fant il JeSened | 100052309) 1 H22. Contains O

A

ARDLEIGH

>

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pag 8138 108



Map 3: Local Green Spaces 7 & 9

—
= =wl

- - | g
Jlight and citabase right AlTrights rescrd

= 1
taihs 015 daka'€ Crown copyright and database right 3022

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 109



Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 110



Map 5: Local Green Spaces 3, 22, 23 & 24

ag) 3

/ i
" q? Recreation >~ H,
o A . || Ground | |
mﬁbﬁm (100052305) 202 Contains 06 dafa & Crown cooyright and datsbasge right 2033 Y

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 111



Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Bl

S “";7 ROMAN POTTERY KILN
. ]
\
.\
A

\
A
3

112



Map 7: Local Green Spaces 8,12 & 13
7 ~ @uﬂinh H o
| &
%}" T A
1

«T?i :

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

113



Appendix B: List of Neighbourhood Plan policies

Policy GDP - General Approach to Development
Policy CFP - Community Facilities

Policy HP - Housing

Policy EP - Natural, Built & Historic Environment
Policy LGP - Local Green Spaces

Policy TP - Transport & Parking

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 114



Appendix C: Consultation questionnaire “your
chance to have your say”

Ardleigh’s Neighbourhood Plan - Your
Chance to Have Your Say

You may be aware that the Parish Council has decided to produce a Neighbourhood Plan for
the parish of Ardleigh. To ensure the Neighbourhood Plan reflects the views of our
community, we would like all members of the community to share their thoughts with us. It is
vital that all members of your household (including young people) complete this survey to
help shape the future development of the whole Parish area.

A Neighbourhood Plan is a document that enables local communities to have a say in the
future development of their local area BUT it is not a document that can prevent ALL future
development. It can be used to:

* Choose where future development should be built including shops, homes and offices
* Decide what infrastructure should be provided

* Designate local green spaces

* Influence what new buildings should look like

The first step is to find out what you and those in your household think about the area and
build on findings from Ardleigh’s Village Design Statement 2011 (found at Ardleigh Parish
website: https://ardleigh.website). This survey should only take a few minutes of your time
and your input could prove incredibly valuable to the community.

This form is anonymous. Any information you provide will be handled in accordance with
Ardleigh Parish Council's Privacy Policy which is published on the website
https://ardleigh.website. The survey is expected to be open during July 2020 please return
your form as quickly as possible so that your views can be included.

Please note that the survey is also available online at https://ardleigh.website/have-your-say

1. Your age bracket

Mark only one oval per row.
5-11 1218  19-24 25-34 35-44 4554 55-64 65-74 75+

Age

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 115



2. Your gender
Mark only one oval per row.

Male Female  Other  Prefer not to say

Gender

3. Please let us know a little more about yourself.

Tick all that apply.
| live in | work in | own a business in
Ardleigh Ardleigh Ardleigh
Tick all boxes that are relevant —
to you r : j

4. If you live in Ardleigh, how long have you lived here?

5. If you live in Ardleigh, do you rent or own your property?
Mark only one oval.

( ',7,,',11 Rent

) Own

6. If you live in Ardleigh, how many people are in your household?

Your views of the village

There will be more opportunities to get involved and have your say in our vision and plans for the future of our
community as the Neighbourhood plan develops, but PLEASE take a few minutes to answer the next four initial
questions. We will not disclose any individual details. We will share the results with the community.

A

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pag ell46 116



7. What is good about living, working or visiting Ardleigh and the surrounding area?

8. What is not so good about living, working or visiting Ardleigh and the surrounding
area?

9. What developments and/or extra facilities do you think our community/Parish
area needs?

10. What are your concerns for the future of our community/Parish area?

A
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Page 147 117

on>



11. Do you have any other comments you would like to make about our
community/Parish area? (Please continue on a separate sheet if you wish)

12. Please return your completed form to Ardleigh Parish Council. There are
collection boxes in the Ardleigh Post Office and Ardleigh Convenience Store or
you can leave in the letter box at the entrance to Ardleigh Village Hall or post to

PO Box 12865, Colchester, CO7 7EZ. Thank you.

7

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Pag ell48 118



“have

ionnaire

ion quest

Consultat

Appendix D

Buwuoid [1ouno) ysued ——R_U—ﬂ.-‘

W ) | Ry ) M etiid
R L T e

uV.. .

% AVS HNOA IAVH
L 9Jieuuojsanj uonejnsuo’)
> uejd pooyanoqybian
w. ysued ybiajpay

194119 WoJ) BIQEIEAL 81 daEULOHSIND SIY) JO s81d0D

0 § Doooo

0oo

000000

infoio

0 fo o

oioio

10 30

£ 30

0: 0

0000

000000

000

sanop AowALy

S

119

c
S
a
]
o
o
£
S
S
o
2
=
=y
]
=
£
=y
@
S
S
<



O feoie g
g = 0 ma Qo
D wo: O ovor [Qseoe
0 we Q wo Q 60

04 Buie 08 o Bnsd 9tk U OF

0O fesocumss [ o
o wuiey ) oy
LROUI0 IO & W B2

wqur
BUOYC] JO BIAIDDY P Noé sl seted
MEID ST B OV PRGN BQ O) By DIPOM DO )| (T
Apariou inod
wngua @ O L

Ty

amy oM

(i N0 LU AYUIBDI OF AT BURG BN INCUI
g PO s Gl 1 INOQE0M DU SN
ST Chou g 1) OPOCHRCH MOA apyaud BETIL B

Hur
S RURWAOMAGD IENPUUSIGUINNG M0 J| §T

i) Mo L uog

O setewpaguons O so0omg

[m} soifty [J oudvAtuoasg

iy

0 USIR B U) SSRLMIOCAI0 0l Lo samwmd
F0LIENGQ YOI UL QIO BUE T S DIOM | P

B MO 1, u00)

0O weeswamucns O ]
(m] ealy [  ewnbnAbuag
WO 0

YBUT Bl L S0 WOAD WO 0] PRSI § W SIBGL T

BUOHRSND BB GE B2 ‘B2 SUDIRNNG

10 Mg oul W speds o) Buom Bunuea oymig 77

[m] Moy Juc
0 vetesospucss O andusg
O ety () seivAluag
NBIBEIY 2 URTY 0 Uy

APROL W3 U ESIH ) RINCUN SNSRI B 12

wouy Luog ]

angs Inueorsal sio Auy (0
w0012 wssy numgs ()

ooy vages [
weas e ()

peoy yawadk oo

R0 Damdzo)
WL w0 ANES| UE A BuAduORRBUY DYe) 02

W YBELY 0 BUT BIE DUIOM DUR L BPEOI Y B
urmpay

10 WSl Bl A SESIIUATA G DUIBINI (ELS SIUMLUDD
O cune 000 BunUDD PUR BONE S nogE
EUDLLALIO O 104§ BHIM ST ASNING SO Seil by

eumonisesu|

(O 0 GBI Bl 0 SORSEDRITYD
1RR Gyt OuDUEtlas SRIBLALOD SUT awey nok o] §1

[m] Moum Luog
0O wutespigucns Pry Ty
0 outy () sadekfuoss
RUOORARD AL® AQ DIIOWIN ASSINAOE L (80r G
20 PINOYE SEUD) DUE BARMOIPUG BLER0N) Y /)

O ‘retemsstvons O vastengy

(m] saiby [ wede kbosas

218 §80DOY “SHRI| 'BEIN0O LATO WOUEINQ

10 AUFOND JINEIA G} Of UONBIRI Ul NHBIMICARED
TR W LRI DTOUS BB 10 USING ML ‘B
OB B 10 UD nok un
BAN UEEBLY DMLY O UBLRY I 1 Duing 0 Pacse
UASBOd ¢ BT T JUBLILTMALG U BU) UORUBLL
HES N0AMS SrONIE DY) Ul POCUICASE) DUM BEOUL I
WewuCALg (eany

UMDY 10 USIRg 10 JewdO|esep
g oyl Dupsptin: SURLEIOO KUT BWBY NOK 0O ‘G

a e 0
NI MOUCIS 0l B) bt BubSag

(=] founoy 2 4o |
PO DG AN EAIOWAE (i

=] WBEOY ANIINS Bty
o UBHERE- GO UB ARPGHURTSTS 10 St (B
QU0 180U 60 |, law Apscud

10 B0 U| WTR: FIEHC) FOU 34 @l DINOM | UBSDIY

10 BTG Py} L PRROCT B KIBLIBHRRP ME ) 'y

By mou on

I DIANS

Bumnoy eepaun o

NS A AD0) ca; uaE-x

00 00O

POpos! je0w 3 !us.ﬁpno!u!?iﬁ.i(s o

O ®voN [ *peax

[ eeae [ eoar [J Peal

LhareLCdul D T L Uim

Aaoua j 010 14 aub oTead) yBmmY jo Useg
BUL Lt DD 180U B SLICK MO J0 B2 UM, 2L

wON

Dunto BEmROUY

DBLLOA 85D 01Dy

VOHIDOUALIOCTH DOR1IMIG

wmoptung

0000000

gy

L

(GO0 TO0W 58§ U Ajoud

10 D0 W (e areod) UBRKLY O UILTE B Ul
DSy JBOW 3| MUy nOA op ALedoud o 0oL eum L

(w) DU UG

0O  wetesp fuesis sadung

=] wty () ondw Aucas
DU SICWI STOU UBMDAY O UBUT Sl WA | 51
FMLACIMASD BTNy INOTE
TUOUN0 IN0A B AN ST UADRIY O WELRG
i SICOBAD H40 YI0G0 POLOTUOT AW ALins
srowesd Bul ul Buspuodsa) (o abwodied Yty v

Buisnoy

LNDSIDIY JO B B
BOQIUOWE DURBG TRBLLLOD AT BDY NOA 07 &
0O  sremace oy
O seswenpipucns (O sufiesny
(=] vaty [  soteitosg
UBEY 40 s el i osd Bunad
05 EOUUIT FUOIERINYRL TS LAY S UL E

O waeswomeon

0O wtesiouene O salemq
] ity O waibe ABuong
BRI JO WAL

Sl L VIR AR ¥ I (S S B

WBRIBOAS |0 DALY NOK DRy

1 894 10 DL BLUCE GHE} | S803UT

=] eI0N 10N BIOUM B WINPURISIRL AJUNUALOD B

O  setespktons . O andienn ufinauy gjesodaud dpoede oy) of sabe
a sty (Q  eede Atuaag 03 BIGE 34 UM HBUT B} JD BILBDEE)
LI B4 0 S PRI Lseq sty ueyd Byl B30

DL SIvNU PR ErODPe W R nbeyps, ubiogy G
fEuoRsant

D wquagdde N -ﬁgﬁiisg

£ !lcﬂnh-nciiilzj’-
[w] waieng D vob<

Bpj0 58 160 Sm IRy RUNEUS 0 ANUnualoD
PIOGAEN0Y Al 4O B50 P N0 BOBYS I |II% EIRMBUE INOK DUR
bbb Gl o DIOIGAI09 OF BOYIILL DL 0O 9T 11 1
0O saundieioy “BUONSAND GO BLUOS IBMELN T) NOK yE¥
. st — ©1 @) PINOM DU LO(UKIO NG BAIBA BIA
5 — > e Lam eoulen o R JNO O FRIBIBGD (BN
2 witeng (O saily 043 O UOHDHI0IS (N3 PUE WIMONISEAL
DAY A 1O SHOYL PUY SPSEY §i§.§
AL il DG L (KOOUSW [0 UDmAGA MLy 204 *00 Wi 0841 Y00 1BRL B
0 MO LU0 MOy PR NG 8Q PNOD SHIEOR) /
O sesespituons. sadeeg BOCLICU MDU DIOUM AU (14 814}
O s 0O - Sedn s IV 10K A URid POOVINOQUBION
PADYBEN0N Al 10 TIOGUI DUD 88kl 0 BPOD I Bugum
203 fprbese 10100 LBMDIY IO UEIm Bl 14 890US T ¥ # Kousiod i ey
o i ey ‘ ‘sdvw-pur-sonaesBoal
0O wteswituons O saion FRSTMDEERIN (1968 Bufinc
(a} by [J  wwlo Afuong 0 PUE LE4 SURIG '008]G BUEIONY
UGy "UEBH PICIBMOOID ‘168AS X04 IIH %08
10 YBURG G} U SRTORIR / ST RIOW SN DINOM | T 00 LGP e RUNg Wiee uBlonsy
i ’ ‘miweg 8BeNIA BUL Bupniaul ysied
Aioads esemd ‘e () .
e e | DIOUM 043 RIIADD BIAOSOND BLL)
W00 LR by sy ) “uwd poonoquBoN
jo0s Bunnavs [ UsiiEg UBIIPIY Oy} dOjeASD oM B NOK
weQ ) WLOdW) 51 I8YM AIUap] S93eq 0
iy 80 GOY (1M PU AIAING J(10S B} WoOL)
otn oneus pnom E-SZEBEB_ %!iu‘i
BRI J0 g By Ul adep Hdxe o
210 880y 8:]2..:8.?:822 ' Jz%l‘ll!
LI WO T DB ML W A
SO @M 0B UBIPA 0 YL DUl L 831001 o) Y} WU} O BMOYIO) BJpEULORSOND.
DAY YOO K U1 9] SEBOLE SEULNLIY UL
ARAINE BOOMRKT WG U1 SRELO0RRI )0 QI 4O Y ueyg G
sepuewy U1 YBIBIRIY ) ) swodfeM

120

c
S
o
]
o
o
<
S
=
]
2
(=
2
o
2
=
2
2
i
S
<



Blank.

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 121



This page is intentionally left blank



planning direct

-

1% i
|. b i
1.
AR
(¥ Lo ‘
(LA 1
1" 1
i
e ! 1z
.
H

-
-
LMy

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2033
Regulation 14 Consultation Statement

On behalf of: Ardleigh Parish Council
Prepared by: N O’Hagan BA (Hons)
Date: 18/01/2023

planningdirect.co.uk | enquirieqipgjerrBagdirect.co.uk 101473 407911



NOTICE

This document has been prepared for the
stated purpose in Accordance with the
Agreement under which our services were
commissioned and should not be used

for any other purpose without the prior
written consent of Planning Direct. We
accept no responsibility or liability for the
consequences of this document being used
for a purpose other than that for which it was
commissioned.

© Planning Direct. All rights reserved. No
part of this document may be otherwise
reproduced or published in any form or by
any means, including photocopying, storage
on a computer or otherwise, without the prior
permission of the copyright holder.

Planning Direct is a trading name of Cicero
Communication Ltd. Registered in England

and Wales, no. 7986959.

July 2020

planning direct

The Furnace, The Maltings, Princes Street,
Ipswich, IP1 1SB

01473 407911

% enquiries@planningdirect.co.uk

G www.planningdirect.co.uk

b
0604 2 planning direct
Rage.154




Table of Contents

1o o [Tt o] 4
Details of the persons and bodies consulted.......cccvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeiennn, 5
Explanation of the consultation ProCeSS . .iiiiiiiuuriiiiiiiiiiiisnrtieeiirieiiissssssesseennes 7
Main issues and concerns & how these have been considered by the Parish Council
and, where relevant, addressed in the Plan.....cccovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiineeens 11
ONlINE fOMMIS . uiiiiiiiiiiiiiitiiiii ittt eeiiieesetaassessssssssssasssssssssssssssasssnns 11
Other consultation rESPONSES c.vvvviiiiiiiiiiiissetsereeeiiissssssssssesssnssssssssssessnnns 17
00 5 o 1 o o T 51
Appendix A: notification letter ..ovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i it e e 52
Appendix B: Ardleigh Advertiser advert ....cccvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiissieeennns 53
Appendix C: online consultation form ....ciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiciiiiir e e e e 54
Appendix D - online fOrm reSPONSES ...vuuuiiiiirreeeiirasssrissessesssssesssassssssssssessnnes 55

%
0604 3 planning
Dngn 155




Introduction

This Regulation 14 Consultation Statement has been produced to accompany the
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan.

The Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan - “the Plan” - sets out policies that relate to the
development and use of land within only the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Area.

Regulation 14 of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 required the
Neighbourhood Planning body to publicise and consult on their Plan before its
submission to the Local Planning Authority.

Regulation 15 of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 requires the
Neighbourhood Planning body to submit a consultation statement to the Local Planning
Authority alongside their Plan. Per paragraph (2) of regulation 15, a “consultation
statement” means a document which:

(a) contains details of the persons and bodies who were consulted about the proposed
neighbourhood development plan [or neighbourhood development plan as proposed
to be modified.];

(b) explains how they were consulted;

(c) summarises the main issues and concerns raised by the persons consulted; and
(d) describes how these issues and concerns have been considered and, where

relevant, addressed in the proposed neighbourhood development plan [or
neighbourhood development plan as proposed to be modified.]

This document provides a consultation statement in accordance with the above
regulations.

\ -
0604 4 planning
D.qu 156




Details of the persons and bodies consulted

All relevant consultation bodies in paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 of The Neighbourhood
Planning (General) Regulations 2012 were contacted directly, including:

Essex County Council (Highways and Education & Archaeology & Heritage &
sustainable Urban Drainage Systems & Minerals and waste);
Essex Place Services (Ecology);

Essex Police;

Natural England;

Lichfields (developers of the forthcoming Garden Community);
National Highways;

Colchester Borough Council;

Crockleford Heath and Elmstead Action Group (CEAG);
Essex County Fire and Rescue Service;

Tendring District Council;

The Coal Authority;

The Homes and Communities Agency;

The Environment Agency;

English Heritage;

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited;

The Marine Management Organisation;
newsitereceptioneastofengland @openreach.co.uk (electronic communications);
Primary Care Trust;

UK Power Networks;

Cadent Gas Ltd;

Anglian Water.

Also consulted was the local population, both residential and working.
A number of key local businesses/service providers were contacted directly, including:

Ardleigh Advertiser; Ardleigh Boarding Cattery; Ardleigh Caravan Park; Ardleigh
Convenience Store; Ardleigh Takeaway; Ardleigh Post Office; Ardleigh Pre-School;
Ardleigh Reservoir Committee; Ardleigh Sailing Club; Ardleigh Service Station; Ardleigh
GP Surgery; Colchester Bowling Club; Collins Skip Hire; Co-op funeral services; DB

-
0604 5 planning
Dagp 157




Concrete Ltd; Dragonfly Hotel (SURYA Hotels); Eastern Waste Disposal - Martells; EIm
Park Hospital; Green Island Gardens; Prettyfields Vineyard; SRC Ltd; St Mary's School.

)
0604 6 planning direct
Dngn 158




Explanation of the consultation process

The regulation 14 consultation process began on 08/08/22 and concluded on 23/09/22
at midday. Overall, the consultation period lasted for 6 weeks and 4 days.

Direct consultation

All relevant consultation bodies in paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 of The Neighbourhood
Planning (General) Regulations 2012 were contacted directly by phone, letter and/or
email'. Contact details were generally provided by the LPA, Tendring District Council.

Key local businesses and service providers were also contacted directly by phone, letter
and/or email2, including:

Ardleigh Advertiser; Ardleigh Boarding Cattery; Ardleigh Caravan Park; Ardleigh
Convenience Store; Ardleigh Takeaway; Ardleigh Post Office; Ardleigh Pre-School;
Ardleigh Reservoir Committee; Ardleigh Sailing Club; Ardleigh Service Station; Ardleigh
GP Surgery; Colchester Bowling Club; Collins Skip Hire; Co-op funeral services; DB
Concrete Ltd; Dragonfly Hotel (SURYA Hotels); Eastern Waste Disposal - Martells; EIm
Park Hospital; Green Island Gardens; Prettyfields Vineyard; SRC Ltd; St Mary's School.

All posters, emails, letters, phone calls and adverts:

- directed interested persons to ardleigh.website/our-plan where they could view copies
of the Plan and make their representations online;

- invited interested persons to the drop-in consultation session due to be held at the
Village Hall;

« gave other contact options for persons wishing to access hard copies of the Plan and/
or make representations using other channels, including by email and post.

Traditional media
An advert was also posted in the August edition of the Ardleigh Advertiser3, the local
parish magazine which is available both in hard copy and online.

1 a copy of the notification letter/email appears at Appendix A
2 a copy of the notification letter/email appears at Appendix A
3 a copy of the advert appears at Appendix B
“
0604 7 planning ®
Dagp 159




Posters advertising the Village Hall drop-in session were also erected in prominent and
well-frequented parts of the parish, including on the Parish Council’s noticeboards, at
the post office, village shop, petrol station and local garden centres.

Ardleigh Parish Council

&
Ardleigh Matters

Presents:

Drop-in update session for residents
on issues affecting the village:

e The Neighbourhood Plan
e The Substation/Pylon Proposals

e The Garden Community Project

Wednesday 24 August 2022 in the
Village Hall, Ardleigh

NNNNANNNNANNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNANN

PSSP PSSP S 77777/ 7777777777777
PSSV ISP PSSP/ 7 /777777777 7777777777 7777

NANNNNAUNANNANNNNNNNNANNNNNNNNNANANAN

N\ N\
\ 2.00pm - 7.00pm \
Copy of the poster
Online

The relevant page of Ardleigh Parish Council’s website - ardleigh.website/our-plan - was
"
0604 8 planning
Page 160




updated to advise parishioners of the ongoing consultation, provide access to the draft
Plan documents, invite all interested parties to the drop-in Village Hall session on
24/08/2022 and enable representations to be submitted via the straightforward online
form4. Contact details were also provided for anyone wishing to access a hard copy of
the Plan and/or make their representation via email or post.

REGULATION 14 CONSULTATION

Drop in Session 24 August

oo N °"’°‘9" Paper version of the Plan

A pager

Have your say

ardleigh.website/our-plan - regulation 14 consultation page

Advertisements were also posted on relevant social media pages, including the Parish
Council’s Facebook page, other village Facebook groups and the Neighbourhood Plan
Instagram account.

In person

A drop-in consultation session was held at Ardleigh Village Hall on 24/08/2022 from 2pm
to 7pm. Members of the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group were present throughout
the day to answer questions and provide more information about the Plan. Hard copies
of the Plan were available to view.

4 a copy of the online form appears at Appendix C
"
0604 9 planning
Paage 161




Photos of the Village Hall
drop-in session on
24/08/2022

Reminders & late submissions

On 21/09/2022 and on the morning of 23/09/22, reminders of the consultation’s closure
were posted on the Parish Council’s social media accounts, including Facebook and
Instagram.

Although the consultation period formally ended at midday on 23/09/22, the online form
was left open to enable late submissions to be considered at the Parish Council’s
discretion. No late representations were received, however.

..
0604 10 plOnning direct
Dngn 162




Main issues and concerns & how these have
been considered by the Parish Council and,
where relevant, addressed in the Plan

Online forms

In total, 33 representations were made online by members of the general public. Of

these, the vast majority (87%) expressed their support for the proposed Neighbourhood
Plan.

A summary of key issues and concerns raised by the online form submissions appears
in the table below, accompanied by the comments of the Parish Council. Wherever an
alteration has been made to the Plan, this is clearly indicated in the Parish Council’s
comments.

A full anonymised list of the consultation responses with the complete comments of the
Parish Council appears at Appendix D.

Key issue 1: weight to the Plan
A number of respondents raised concerns that the Plan would not be given due

consideration during the consideration of planning applications and other matters in the
Area.

Parish Council’s response: Once adopted, Ardleigh Parish Council expects the District
Council to give the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan their full statutory weight when
making decisions in the area. The Parish Council will continue to comment on
applications in their area and anticipate that the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan will
better support them to resist inappropriate development.

\ -
0604 11 planning
Dagp 163




Key issue 2: cycling
One respondent was concerned that there was not stronger commitment in the Plan to
developing cycle routes.

Parish Council’s response: The Parish Council is also very keen to promote cycling
and other sustainable transport modes throughout the parish, however a
Neighbourhood Plan - by its purpose and nature - is limited in what it can achieve.
Policy CFP does provide support for new or improved community facilities, especially
exercise-related leisure facilities. This could include, for example, new cycleways or
other suitable cycling facilities. Policy TP also provides strong support for development
that would improve existing cycleways or provide new cycleways.

Key issue 3: number of new homes
Some respondents felt the Plan should do more to limit the number of houses built
over the plan period.

Parish Council’s response: The Neighbourhood Plan does not set any specific housing
targets and the strategy of the Local Plan is that Ardleigh will sustain only modest
housing growth over the plan period. The plan-led approach to development is of vital
importance and the Parish Council expects all planning decisions to be made in light of
this.

Key issue 4: school and surgery already over-subscribed
One respondent commented that future development should be small scale as the
school and surgery are already over-subscribed.

Parish Council’s response: The Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan recognises the well-
evidenced pressures facing the village’s key essential services such as the school and
GP surgery. It makes bold efforts to protect these cherished and vital local facilities
from the negative effects of new development - see policy CFP in particular. Ardleigh
Parish Council will pay close attention to the effect and efficacy of these policies during
their monitoring of the Plan.

-
0604 12 planning
Rage.164




Key issue 5: pylons
A number of respondents expressed concern about pylons development in the area.

Parish Council’s response: This comment appears to be in relation to an ongoing major
planning application for pylons works in the area which has generated a large local
response. This is separate to the Neighbourhood Plan and the Parish Council has
engaged with the community on this matter independently of the Plan.

Key issue 6: design of the Garden Community
Some respondents wanted to see more control over the design and location of the
forthcoming Garden Community.

Parish Council’s response: The Local Plan establishes that the design of the new
garden community will be subject to its own, independent development plan document.
Therefore, the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan is not able to directly influence its design
or location etc. However, the Parish Council is committed to working as closely as
possible alongside the developers and the District Council to achieve a satisfactory
design. Where public input is invited, the Parish Council will do its best to promote this
and encourage all members of the public to take part.

\ -
0604 13 planning
Dngp 165




Key issue 7: accommodation for older people

One respondent expressed concern about the above average number of older persons
in the area and wanted more commentary on the availability of bungalows in order to
guide current and future demands.

Parish Council’s response: The Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan makes bold steps for the
older population that go above and beyond the policies of the Local Plan. Bungalows
are not specifically identified by Fig 13 because the data used - unfortunately - did not
include this house type. Nonetheless, Fig 13 indicates what houses already exist in the
area and does not provide a proposed housing mix for new development. In addition,
policy HP provides strong support for new houses that include accessibility features
like level thresholds, wide doorways and ground-floor bedrooms. Policy HP also
provides welcome new support for the creation of ancillary residential accommodation
(e.g. granny annexes) throughout all parts of the parish, including outside settlement
boundaries. This will provide more housing choice for all residents with support needs,
including older people.

Key issue 8: designation of space 4 as a Local Green Space
One online respondent objected to the inclusion of space 4 as a Local Green Space on
the basis that the site is not considered to meet the national criteria in the NPPF. It
should be noted that the respondent is the landowner of the site.

Parish Council’s response: The comments previously made by this respondent (copy
at Attachment 10) have been carefully considered and addressed previously by the
Parish Council (previous comments at Attachment 11). National criteria for Local Green
Spaces are open to discretion and require a judgement to be taken. It is the Parish
Council’s view that the space does meet the NPPF criteria and the respondent’s
previous comments have not altered this position. For example, the respondent
previously stated “there is no notable interaction or outlook from any civic space within
the settlement”. The Parish Council does not agree. In their view, there is notable
interaction between the space and very important civic spaces in the village, including
its recreation ground. This is considered to be well-evidenced by the photographic
record. As the Parish Council does not agree with the assessments made by the
respondent, they do not consider it necessary or appropriate to remove space 4 from
the Plan and are content for it to be considered at examination by the Inspector who

will, of course, apply their own discretion.
%

0604 14 planning
Dngp 166




Key issue 9: Some nominated Local Green Spaces should not have been
discounted

One respondent was concerned that some sites were discounted due to their existing
designations and other sites were discounted because they didn’t exist yet. The
respondent felt the sites should be included to provide another level of protection to the
sites.

Parish Council’s response: National planning practice guidance provides “if land is
already protected by designation, then consideration should be given to whether any
additional local benefit would be gained by designation as Local Green Space.” Due
consideration was given to this guidance during the desktop phase of assessments.
For those spaces already designated as SSSiIs - e.g. Bullock Wood - the only tangible
benefit of a Local Green Space designation would be to provide some additional
control over development in its setting. Given the scale, layout and position of these
sites (i.e. with multiple, varied settings on different sides) and the established presence
of suburban development in their settings, this was not considered to be especially
necessary or, indeed, achievable. Unfortunately, the Parish Council has also been
advised that it is not possible to designate Local Green Spaces that do not yet exist.
However, they fully recognise the considerable importance - for landscape,
biodiversity, social cohesion, public health etc. - that the planned new reservoir (space
16) will hold once complete and do intend to review its designation at that time.

-
0604 15 planning
Dngp 167




Key issue 10: More emphasis on protection of the rural environment
One respondent felt there could have been more emphasis on resisting the despoiling
of Ardleigh’s rural environment, in particular the proposed substation and pylons.

Parish Council’s response: The Plan does include ambitious policies for the protection
of Ardleigh’s rural environment. For example, policy EP resists any development that
would have an urbanising effect on a rural lane or street and any development that
would cause urban intrusion (including by way of noise, light pollution or increased
traffic) into currently tranquil rural areas. The Plan also adopts the Village Design
Statement (VDS) into policy. The VDS is a pre-existing document that was recently
updated to address development undertaken in the parish in the c. 10 years since its
initial publication. The VDS clearly identifies the character (built and landscape) of
different parts of the parish - for example, is it rural and tranquil? All new development
in the area will now be expected - in accordance with policy EP - to pay due regard to
the VDS. This will require respect to be shown for the environment’s established
qualities and features.

\ -
0604 16 planning
Dngp 168




Other consultation responses

In addition to the consultation responses submitted via the online form, the Parish
Council received written representations from the following parties:

- National Highways;

- Lichfields (developers of the Garden Community);
- Natural England;

- Colchester Borough Council;

- Crockleford Heath and Elmstead Action Group;

- Essex County Council;

- Essex County Fire and Rescue Service;

- Alocal resident and landowner; and

- Tendring District Council.

A summary of each party’s consultation response appears in the tables below,
accompanied by the comments of the Parish Council. Wherever an alteration has been
made to the Plan, this is clearly indicated in the Parish Council’s comments.

Complete copies of the written representations are attached separately as follows:

Attachment 1 - National Highways

Attachment 2 - Lichfields (developers of the Garden Community);
Attachment 3 - Natural England;

Attachment 4 - Colchester Borough Council;

Attachment 5 - Crockleford Heath and Elmstead Action Group;
Attachment 6 - Essex County Council;

Attachment 7 - Essex County Fire and Rescue Service;
Attachment 8 - Local resident and landowner; and

Attachment 9 - Tendring District Council.

0604 17 planning
Dagp 169




Natural England

Natural England does not have any specific comments on this draft neighbourhood
plan.

However, we refer you to the attached annex which covers the issues and
opportunities that should be considered when preparing a Neighbourhood Plan.

Parish Council’s response: The Neighbourhood Plan includes ambitious policies
concerned with the appropriate conservation and enhancement of the natural
environment in line with the enclosed annex. No change required.

0604 18 planning
Dngn 170




National Highways

Policy TP which identifies opportunities for traffic mitigation measures and public realm
improvements, including road junctions’ improvement and implementation of
sustainable transport measures, and traffic calming measures will be acceptable in
principle.

We welcome any initiative which leads to introduce of walking, cycling, and any other
sustainable scope of travel, following the Policy CP1 and traffic mitigation in line with
the policy intended to enhance the active travel environment where appropriate.

National Highways offers No Objection to this Neighbourhood Plan.
Parish Council’s response: The comments of National Highways are appreciated and

the Parish Council is pleased that they have no objection to the Plan. No changes to
the Plan required.

-
0604 19 planning
Dagp 171




Colchester Borough Council

There are a number of insert maps within the Neighbourhood Plan (NP), however it
would be useful to have an overarching Policy Map which brings these all together.

For context it would be helpful to see a map identifying where the new Garden
Community is to be located and showing where it overlaps with the Ardleigh NP area. It
may be beneficial to highlight existing routes between the two communities and also
consider potential new routes (especially routes that encourage non-vehicular use
such as bridleways/cyclepaths).

Parish Council’s response: The reason the policy maps have been arranged in their
chosen format is because the parish has a very large area. It is not therefore possible
to accurately plot all relevant features (such as Local Green Spaces) on one map as
the scale is prohibitive. The use of multiple maps ensures the position and boundaries
of each Local Green Space are clear and limits the potential for confusion or dispute.
No change required.

A map showing the (current) broad location of the Garden Community appears at Fig 2
on page 10 of the Plan. As the design of the Garden Community (including its exact
form and boundaries etc.) is the subject of a separate and emerging Development Plan
Document, it would not be appropriate for the Neighbourhood Plan to attempt to
establish this. No change required.

412 states that over the plan period, housing growth in Ardleigh is expected to be
limited to small- scale “infill” developments of 10 houses or fewer to be located within
the defined Settlement Development Boundaries. There is very little opportunity within
the defined Settlement Development Boundaries for infill developments so on this
basis little to no development will occur.

Parish Council’s response: The housing growth/targets/approach identified at
paragraph 4.12 (now 4.14) are based on the strategic policies and provisions of the
Local Plan, specifically Sections 3.3.1.4, 3.3.2 & 3.3.3. Whilst it is the case that this
means little development will occur in Ardleigh over the plan period, this is also in
accordance with the District-level spatial strategy which anticipates only development
that is “modest” in scope and scale to come forward in Ardleigh. No change required.

A
0604 20 planning
Dngp 172




It should be noted that part of Spring Valley Lane, a protected lane, falls within the
boundary of the Garden Community draft plans.

Parish Council’s response: The Neighbourhood Plan has not provided any new or
additional protection or designations to Spring Valley Lane. It has been designated as
a Protected Lane by the County Council and the developers of the forthcoming Garden
Community will need to take this into account. The Neighbourhood Plan would have no
bearing on this. No change required.

Fig 28 Settlement Boundary Map doesn’t reflect the current housing within the
boundary. Map 2 in Appendix A reflects the current development level much more
accurately and should be used as the basis of all similar maps within the NP.

Parish Council’s response: The settlement development boundaries for Ardleigh have
been established by the District Council as part of their Plan and do not necessarily
reflect the extent of housing. Rather, they are a planning tool used to direct new
development. It would not be appropriate for the Neighbourhood Plan to seek to
undermine or revise the settlement development boundaries set by the Local Plan. No
change required.

As stated in the explanatory text, Ardleigh Surgery does not have spare capacity and
the school is over capacity and likely to remain in the near future therefore it is likely a
financial contribution for all housing applications will be requested.

Parish Council’s response: If the school and surgery in Ardleigh remain over-
subscribed, it will be essential that new development in the area makes a suitable and
proportionate financial contribution towards its improvement and retention. The
Neighbourhood Plan policy seeks to ensure this in the important interests of social
cohesion and public health and well-being. The local community has been
understandably vocal about the pressures facing these essential and valued local
services and the Neighbourhood Plan has duly taken these local concerns and
aspirations on board. No change required.

The creation of ancillary accommodation (such as Granny Annexes) does not count as
additional housing stock so should not be contained within the housing policy.

o
0604 21 planning
Dngp 173




Parish Council’s _response: Although ancillary accommodation may not count as
housing stock, it is still a form of residential accommodation and the housing policy is
considered the most appropriate and logical place for it. No change required.

Paragraph 11.11 Conflicts with paragraph 4.6 which states no housing from the Garden
Community is expected to be delivered within the Ardleigh NP plan area within the plan
period.

Parish Council’s response: Paragraph 11.11 refers to the substantial number of new
homes due to be delivered within the Garden Community over the plan period.
Paragraph 4.6 (now 4.8) states the Garden Community is not expected to deliver
homes in_Ardleigh parish until after the plan period. These comments are both
accurate as - at the time of writing - it is expected that the Garden Community will be
built out from the south first, with new houses unlikely to be constructed in Ardleigh
parish until after 2033. No change required.

Policy TP — Transport and Parking

The key objectives and principles for the Garden Community are to ensure
neighbourhoods are walkable, low traffic and liveable, where residents can access
most of their daily needs within a 15- 20 minute walk or bike ride from their home. The
Garden Community will be designed and built in a way that reduces the need to travel,
especially by car. With this in mind the Garden Community should not result in
increased traffic congestion on existing roads into Ardleigh.

Parish Council’s response: Comments on how the Garden Community relates to policy
TP are acknowledged. A small change has been made to this policy following
comments from other interested parties - more on this elsewhere.

-
0604 22 planning
Rage.l/4




Crockleford Heath and Elmstead Action Group

Section 4.6 It is important this neighbourhood plan makes reference to the garden
community and aims to meet the requirements of the garden community while taking
note of the views of current residents of the garden community area within Ardleigh
Parish and in particular in Crockleford Heath.

[Other comments are made regarding sections 5.73, 11.11 and 15.8. All comments
refer to the need for the Garden Community to consider and safeguard the rural hamlet
character of Crockleford Heath]

Parish Council’s response: The Parish Council acknowledges and appreciates the
strong desire of local residents and action groups to preserve the special character of
Crockleford Heath during and beyond development of the garden community.
However, the Parish Council must also reiterate that the initial design and delivery of
the garden community is formally outside the remit of this Neighbourhood Plan.
Instead, it will be subject to a separate Development Plan Document (draft in progress)
prepared by Tendring District Council and its partners as opposed to the Parish
Council. Because of this, the Neighbourhood Plan is very limited regarding what it can
confirm or dictate for the garden community.

However, the Parish Council is committed to working alongside Tendring District
Council, the garden community developers and partners to the best of its ability. The
parties responsible for the Development Plan Document (DPD) have confirmed to the
Parish Council that the draft DPD includes the identification of an “Area of Special
Character” at and around the settlement of Crockleford Heath, aimed at safeguarding
its distinctive rural character.

The Parish Council agrees it would be appropriate to acknowledge this clearly-stated
design intention in the policy context section of the Neighbourhood Plan. To this end,
the following alterations have been made to the Plan (new text appears in bold,
removed text is struck through):

o
0604 23 planning
Dngp 175




45. The initial design and delivery of the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden
Community - including its nature, form, boundaries and exact housing numbers - will
be the subject of a Strategic Growth Development Plan Document (DPD), prepared

jointly by Colchester and Tendring Councils. This-DPD,—currently-in-draft form,—was

the-DPD-is-on-track-to-take place-in-2023- Following delivery, new sites in the
Ardleigh Parish area of the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community will
be expected to comply with the development plan in force at that time, including
any relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies.

4.6 The Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community DPD, currently in draft
form, was subject to public consultation between March and April of 2022. The
draft DPD includes the identification of an “Area of Special Character” at and
around the settlement of Crockleford Heath, aimed at safeguarding its distinctive
rural character.

4.7. At the time of writing, the partner councils were in the process of reviewing
the consultation responses and evidence base and making amendments to the
draft DPD, with a final version anticipated for further public consultation in late
2022 - early 2023. Formal adoption of the DPD is on track to take place in 2023.

4.6. 4.8 Ardleigh Parish Council intends to work closely and proactively with the
partner councils to progress the design and development of the Garden Community.
However, this major project is still in its earliest phases and is not anticipated to start
delivering new homes in Ardleigh Parish until after the current Local and
Neighbourhood Plan period (to 2033) has expired.

A
0604 24 planning
Dngp 176




Essex County Council

The following wording should be an addition to the planning context section.

“Most areas of the Neighbourhood Plan area are within a Mineral Safeguarding Area
due to the presence of sand and gravel deposits beneath the ground. These areas are
subject to a minerals safeguarding policy (Policy S8 of the Essex Minerals Local Plan),
which seeks to prevent deposits being unnecessarily sterilised by non-mineral
development. However, the housing allocations contained in the Neighbourhood Plan
fall below the site size threshold at which the provisions of Policy S8 are engaged.”

The following wording should be an addition to the planning context section.

“Within the Neighbourhood Plan Area there are Mineral and/ or Waste Consultation
Areas in relation to Crown Quarry, Martells Quarry, Slough Farm and Ardleigh Waste
Transfer Station. These areas are subject to Policy S8 of the MLP which establishes
Mineral Consultation Areas at a distance of 250m around permitted, allocated and
existing mineral infrastructure, and/ or Policy 2 of the Waste Local Plan which
establishes Waste Consultation Areas at a distance of 250m (400m in the case of
Water Recycling Centres) around permitted, allocated and existing waste
infrastructure. Essex County Council as the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority
must be consulted on all applications for non-minerals and non-waste development
proposed within these areas.”.

Parish Council’s response: The Neighbourhood Plan makes clear at paragraph 4.1 that
both the Essex Minerals Local Plan and the Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local
Plan form part of the Development Plan for Ardleigh.

It is not considered necessary to copy specific policies from the aforementioned plans
into the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan as it is preferred that developers consider the
comprehensive policies of these plans in their full written context.

In addition, the Local Plan (Section 2) already includes similar discussion of the EMLP
and WLP at paragraphs 1.3.4.2 - 1.3.4.6. No change required.

A
0604 25 planning
Dngp 177




Policy GDP

ECC as the MWPA welcome reference to the importance of sustainability throughout
the NP, however it is recommended that Policy GPD, which addresses the general
approach to development, should support a wider understanding of sustainability by
requiring development proposals to make reference to the sustainable use of building
materials.

It is recommended that this policy (or perhaps another suitable policy in the NP)
includes reference to promoting waste reduction, re-use and recycling, sustainable
building design and the use of sustainable materials, including in relation to their
procurement, in the construction of new development or redevelopment in line with
Policy S4 of the MLP.

Parish Council’s response: Policy GDP is intended to supplement and support the
broad spatial policies of the Local Plan, particularly policies SPL1 and SPL2 of Section
2. It is therefore mainly a locational policy and is not intended to cover development
management issues such as sustainable design/construction.

Concerning sustainable design/construction, this is considered to be appropriately
addressed by polices HP and EP which provide, respectively, as follows:

- Housing applications that include sustainable design and construction features in
excess of minimum policy requirements will be looked on more favourably than those
that do not; and

- Exceptional support is provided for any development that, in the view of the Parish
Council, will secure material benefits for the natural, built and/or historic
environment™.

*This provision is deliberately open-ended to enable the Parish Council to consider a
wide range of material benefits on a case-by-case basis including, of course,

sustainability and environmental benefits.

No change required.

A
0604 26 planning
Dngp 178




Policy HP

ECC are supportive of Policy HP 3b which states housing applications that include
accessibility features will be looked at more favourability than those that do not. To
support ageing in place, the needs of adults and children with disabilities and the
prevention and maximising independence ambitions, ECC recommend that the NP
strengthens its position in part 3b of the policy by making specific reference to both the
Building Regulations Part M4 (2) and M4 (3) and the Tendring Local Plan Housing
Standards Policy:

“On housing developments of 10 or more dwellings, 10% of market housing should be
to Building Regulations Part M4(2) ‘adaptable and accessible’ standard. For affordable
homes, 10% should be to Building Regulations Part M4(2) and 5% should be to Part
M4(3) ‘wheelchair-user’ standards (Ref. Tendring District Housing Viability Assessment
12 May 2017).”

Parish Council’s response: ECC’s recommendation to reference Building Regulations
Part M4 (2) and M4 (3) and the Tendring Local Plan Housing Standards Policy has
been carefully considered. Ultimately, the Parish Council has opted not to make a
change to this policy provision for the following reason:

The reference to “accessibility features” is deliberately vague and open-ended to
enable the Parish Council to consider a wide range of proposed features on a case-by-
case basis. The Parish Council has made efforts to limit technical/specialist language
and planning jargon throughout the Plan in order to make it as accessible and
genuinely useful to as wide a range of potential developers - including typical
homeowners - as possible. Rather than directing readers to consider other technical
planning and construction documents, the policy provides clear examples of common
accessibility features of which the average business or homeowner is likely to be
aware. It is felt that the policy, as worded, is more likely to encourage the inclusion of
accessibility features in new developments in the Parish. No change required.

o
0604 27 planning
Dngp 179




Policy TP

It is also recommended, given the requirements around parking in Policy TP, this policy
sets out a requirement that for any Part M4(3) homes parking also needs to be Part M
compliant, i.e., 3.3m or capable of being widened. As a minimum, the number of
spaces provided to this standard should reflect the number of Part M4(3) dwellings
provided at any development.

Parish Council’s response: Part M4(3) homes are specifically wheelchair user
dwellings and an optional standard. Given the spatial strategy for this lowest-tier
settlement, it is highly unlikely that a significant number of Part M4(3) homes would be
brought forward over the plan period. It is not therefore considered necessary to make
specific provision for this in a Neighbourhood Plan policy. However, the Parish Council
will consider any applications specifically for Part M4(3) homes on their individual
merits. If applicants expect material positive weight to be given in the planning balance
to the provision of highly accessible housing in accordance with Part M4(3) of the
Building Regulations then all relevant criteria (including with respect to parking) will
need to be met. No change required.

ECC as the lead authority on education make the following points. Paragraph 11.8
states that the primary school is “unable to withstand any further material expansion of
[the] housing stock”. Similarly, paragraph 11.13 describes Ardleigh St Mary’s Primary
School as “being at breaking point”. These statements contradict paragraph 10.14
which correctly states that the primary school is “likely to remain at or close to
capacity”. The primary school has an excellent record of meeting the needs of the local
population in high birth years and, as of May 2022, 47.8% of the pupils on roll lived
closer to other schools i.e., the result of new housing would likely be that fewer pupils
from outside the Priority Admission Area would gain a place. ECC recommend that the
aforementioned wording is omitted from paragraph 11.8 and 11.13.

-
0604 28 planning
Dngp 180




Parish Council’s response: The pressure facing these local services was a matter
raised consistently by the local community throughout the consultation processes of
the Neighbourhood Plan. Given the degree of local concern expressed, the Parish
Council entered into discussions with the LPA, Tendring District Council, concerning
how this matter could best be addressed in the Neighbourhood Plan. On the advice of
the LPA, the Parish Council conducted research into the most recent formal positions
of the two services - GP surgery and primary school - concerning their capacity. This
research found as follows:

In a written publication dated June 2020, the NHS (North East Essex) reported that the
Ardleigh Surgery had a spare capacity of -207.29 m2 NIA, i.e. a deficit of space.

In a written publication dated January 2020, the primary school indicated there were
113 pupils on roll compared to 105 school places, i.e. an oversubscription.

Based on this most recent evidence (at the time of the Plan’s preparation) it is accurate
to state at para 11.8 that the village’s services are currently unable to withstand any
material expansion of its housing stock. The spatial strategy established by the Local
Plan and bolstered by the Neighbourhood Plan does not anticipate a material
expansion of the local housing stock™ and so this is unproblematic.

*although the Garden Community is unlikely to deliver new housing in Ardleigh Parish
until after the current plan period, any new housing would be supported by its own
services and facilities and would not be reliant on already stretched village facilities.

Paragraph 11.13 provides discussion of the community consultation. It states that local
residents “widely agreed” the school and GP surgery to be at breaking point. This is an
accurate reflection of the community’s expressed views.

Paragraph 10.14 states the primary school is currently overcapacity and likely to
remain at or close to capacity in the near future. The purpose of this statement is to
make clear that the pressures facing the primary school are chronic rather than acute.
It is accurate to state that the primary school is unlikely to resolve its capacity issues in
the near future.

No changes required.
"

0604 29 planning
Dngp 181




ECC as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) recommends that Policy HP reference
the issue of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS). All new developments should
incorporate SuDS, including rainwater harvesting, grey-water recycling etc to mitigate
surface water flood risk. Further, all minor developments should manage runoff off
using porous surfaces or otherwise discharge from the site should be limited to 1-year
greenfield rates or 1 I/s, whichever is greater. There should also be the inclusion of
SuDS drainage solutions to provide treatment to runoff generation from all new
developments. Reference could also be made to relevant policy in the Tendring District
Council Section 2 Local Plan. ECC recommend the promotion of multifunctional space,
biodiversity and amenity space with a combination of blue and green features. All new
developments should comply with the Essex SuDS Design Guide.

Parish Council's response: The Parish Council has made efforts, wherever possible, to
avoid the repetition of provisions already clearly established by the Local Plan. Policy
LP 4 of the Local Plan (part 2) requires all new residential and mixed use
developments to manage surface water by means of SuDS unless there is an
exceptional case not to do so. Policy PPL 5 also requires new development to include
SuDS and provides useful detail about the approach to be taken to water quality,
conservation, disposal etc. These policies are considered to address SuDS in
appropriate detail and a Neighbourhood Plan policy would only unnecessarily repeat
them.

Regarding blue and green features, the Neighbourhood Plan is considered to make
appropriate provision for these. For example, green and blue roofs appear in the list of
desirable features in the supporting text to policy EP. Part 2 of policy EP also provides
exceptional support for developments that secure material benefits for the natural and/
or built environment of Ardleigh. This could include, for example, material benefits for
sustainable water drainage, water conservation etc.

-
0604 30 planning
Dngp 182




The NP should consider, apply and reference the Essex Green Infrastructure Strategy
(2020) and the Essex Green Infrastructure Standards (2022), which are relevant to all
Essex local authorities. These documents champion the enhancement, protection, and
creation of an inclusive and integrated network of green spaces. Applying Essex’s nine
Green Infrastructure (Gl) principles will help to ensure quality and consistency in the
provision, management, and stewardship of Gl an essential part of place-making and
place-keeping for the benefit of people and wildlife.

Parish Council's response: The Neighbourhood Plan includes ambitious policies for
local green infrastructure, with the inclusion of a Local Green Spaces policy supported
by an extensive evidence base. The Local Green Spaces policy will make a material
and welcome contribution towards Essex’s Gl principles. The Parish Council will
carefully monitor and review the Plan’s contribution towards the Essex Green
Infrastructure Strategy (2020) and the Essex Green Infrastructure Standards (2022) at
appropriate intervals throughout the plan period.

It is recommended that the following points are included as part of Policy EP -
“‘including tree planting” at provision xi; “there should also be no net loss of
biodiversity” at provision b; this includes 10% biodiversity net gain for applicable new
developments in line with the Environment Act 2021 at provision e; Multifunctional
green space should be incorporated throughout the area, where appropriate, and be
evenly distributed in order to offer maximum benefit to the community.

Parish _Council's response: provision xi is deliberately open-ended to allow a wide
range of biodiversity efforts to be considered, depending on the context. Local policy
PPL 4 adopts the following position RE biodiversity: Proposals for new development
should be supported by an appropriate ecological assessment. Where new
development would harm biodiversity or geodiversity, planning permission will only be
granted in exceptional circumstances, where the benefits of the development
demonstrably outweigh the harm caused and where adequate mitigation or, as a last
resort, compensation measures are included, to ensure a net gain, in biodiversity

The alterations suggested by ECC could be understood to undermine or conflict with
the approach advocated by Local Plan policy PPL 4. The Parish Council will await
changes to the Local Plan in accordance with the Environment Act before making any

amends of their own.
o

0604 31 planning
Dngp 183




Policy LGP

The wording of Part 2 of the policy is considered ambiguous and it is recommended for
review to ensure it achieves its intended outcome. The explanatory text provides some
clarity of what is intended and relevant points should be included in the policy itself,
otherwise ‘development’ could be open to interpretation.

Parish Council's response: The use of the term “development” is considered to be
most appropriate here and - given the range of local green spaces proposed and
variety of development that could be appropriate to each - it would not be helpful to
attempt to narrow this down further. Part 2 of the policy makes it clear that
development will only be supported if it both (a) is compatible with the character/use of
the space and (b) preserves the special values/significance of the space. This is
worded similarly to other national and local policies concerned with the protection of
natural/historic/built assets. For example, paragraph 197 of the NPPF refers to “the
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness.” It does not attempt to specify what “developments” or what “local
character” as this should be determined on a case by case basis.

Policy TP: Transport & Parking
It is noted that the NP makes little/no reference to the promotion of improved bus
services and infrastructure.

Parish Council's response: The Neighbourhood Plan is realistic about what is
achievable in Ardleigh and reflects, as far as possible, local aspirations for travel. In
recent years, as for most rural areas, bus services have been scaled back and
withdrawn from Ardleigh and there is no evidence at all to suggest this trend will cease
or reverse. If the County Council believes there is scope for bus services to be
returned to Ardleigh, the Parish Council would welcome these discussions with a view
to updating the Plan on its next review. Notwithstanding this, community consultation
revealed little local appetite for improved bus services, with new and improved cycle
and footways being the clear priority of residents. The policy reflects this.

A
0604 32 planning
Rage.184




Additionally, the NP makes no reference to electric vehicle charging (EVC) points
alongside parking. ECC suggests reference is included regarding the provision of EVC
infrastructure. Provision for electric charging points should be provided for all proposed
car parking spaces, associated within residential development proposals as set out in
the latest government guidance and standards.

Parish Council's response: It is understood the requirement for EVC points is not yet in
force (from 2023) and so it may be premature to include this in the Plan. Provision 6 of
policy TP has been reworded to ensure compliance is demonstrated with the Essex
Parking Standards and the Essex Design Guide and subsequent revisions and
replacement guidance. It is assumed these county-wide documents will be updated
as necessary to reflect changes to national guidance and standards.

ECC recommends reference is made safe direct walking and cycling routes to Ardleigh
St Mary’s Primary School since it fronts the A137. Further guidance is provided within
the ECC Local and Neighbourhood Planners’ Guide to School Organisation (January
2018), Section 6 (page 12) including establishing and improving walking and cycling
routes to schools; reducing school run traffic and dispersing it away from school
entrances; enforcing low traffic speeds around schools and the walking routes pupils
use; ensuring pavements around schools are clear and wide enough for parents with
pushchairs to pass; providing public art, nature areas and local history information
boards, in the immediate area, to offer learning opportunities; planting of trees and / or
hedges to enhance air quality / reduce exposure to poor air quality; and the use of
landscaping and carefully selected street materials to reduce noise

Parish Council’s response: The primary school adopts a highly sustainable location at
the heart of the village where it is accessible to most residents of the village via
continuous, lit pavements. Vehicle speeds are generally lower around the school due
to the presence of traffic controls, road markings and bus stops. The main pressure
facing the school is with regard to space/capacity and this is duly addressed by the
Plan. In terms of accessibility and travel, the school is also amongst the most
accessible and sustainable services in the Parish. Whilst the Parish Council will
enthusiastically support proposals to enhance walking and cycling routes to the school,
this has not been a focus of the Neighbourhood Plan for the reasons given above.

A
0604 33 planning
Dngp 185




Green Infrastructure (Gl)

A new policy could be included recognising the value of wider multi-functional Gi for
both people and wildlife, which can improve connectivity to existing and new green
spaces, and which provide new open space.

Parish Council’s response: A considerable portion of the time and funds spent on the
Neighbourhood Plan has been channelled towards the creation of the Local Green
Spaces policy which contains ambitious provisions for valuable green infrastructure
throughout the parish. Following the community consultation, the need to protect/
enhance existing (and especially currently non-designated) important green spaces
was prioritised for this first iteration of the Plan. The Parish Council intends to review
the efficacy of this policy and investigate how else green infrastructure can be
promoted, protected and enhanced in the parish throughout their monitoring of the
Plan.

Climate change

The NP does not include a policy on climate change. NPPF (2021), paragraph 153
requires Plans to take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate
change, taking into account the long-term implications for flood risk, coastal change,
water supply, biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of overheating from rising
temperatures.

Parish Council’s response: Although there is no single policy specifically concerned
with climate change, climate change is addressed - to some extent - in most Plan
policies. For example -

- Policy GDP supports the replacement of dwellings where this would improve energy
efficiency and sustainability. It also provides support for development in the
countryside that is modest in scale and impact and directly provides for the
conservation, enhancement or appropriate enjoyment of the countryside. That could
include, for example, schemes with positive implications for climate change such as
new hedgerow planting or community food growing schemes etc..

- Policy CFP provides support for new community facilities in accessible locations and
resists the loss of established important and accessible village facilities, with a view
to creating a more walkable community with less need for travel by car;

A
0604 34 planning
Dngp 186




- Policy HP provides additional support for dwellings boasting sustainable design and
construction features in excess of policy requirements. It also provides support for
multigenerational living (attached annexes for family members) which will ensure the
best possible use is made of existing residential sites to meet local housing needs

- Policy EP provides exceptional support for developments that would secure material
benefits for the natural and built environment of Ardleigh including, for example, by
reducing reliance on fossil fuels. Policy EP also promotes the use of natural/local/
traditional building materials in new development which generally have less
embodied carbon than modern alternatives

- Policy LGP provides welcome support for Local Green Spaces, most of which make
material positive contributions to local biodiversity, local wildlife habitats, land
drainage, food production etc.

- Policy TP provides support for new and improved sustainable travel routes, including
cycle and walkways.

\ -
0604 35 planning
Dagp 187




Essex County Fire and Rescue Service

Essex County Fire and Rescue Service would ask that the following are considered
during the continued development of the Ardleigh Parish Neighbourhood Plan:

« Use of community spaces as a hub for our Prevention teams to deliver Fire Safety
and Education visits, with the shared use of an electric charging point.

- Adherence to the requirements of the Fire Safety Order and relevant building
regulations, especially approved document B.

- Installation of smoke alarms and/or sprinkler systems at suitably spaced locations
throughout each building.

- Implementation of vision zero principles where there are introductions of or changes
to the road network.

- Appropriate planning and mitigations to reduce risks around outdoor water sources.

- Suitable principles in design to avoid deliberate fire setting.

- Consideration for road widths to be accessible whilst not impeding emergency
service vehicle response through safe access routes for fire appliances
including room to manoeuvre (such as turning circles).

- Implementation of a transport strategy to minimise the impact of construction
and prevent an increase in the number of road traffic collisions. Any development
should not negatively impact on the Service’s ability to respond to an incident in the
local area.

« A risk reduction strategy to cover the construction and completion phases of the
project.

Parish Council’s response: Whilst the comments appear to relate to a specific project
or development rather than the Neighbourhood Plan as a whole, the Parish Council
acknowledges the general thrust of Essex County Fire and Rescue Service’s
consultation response which is - broadly speaking - that efforts to improve fire safety
and resilience should be made wherever possible. To this end, the following iteration
has been made to policy HP (new text appears in bold):

3. In all circumstances, housing applications that include the following features will be
looked on more favourably than those that do not: [...]

c. Measures to improve fire safety and resilience in excess of minimum policy
requirements

A
0604 36 planning
Dngp 188




Local resident and landowner (owner of proposed Local Green Space 5)

[summarised]

« The proposal to designate space 5 as a Local Green Space is flawed

- The report states the land is currently undesignated which is wrong as it's part of a
licensed premises, Prettyfields vineyard

- Encouraging the public to come to a wedding venue to enjoy the view could be
provocative

- The wording in the description that you can access the area “via” the footpath
insinuates the area is a destination - but that is only the case for paying customers

- The site is used by Colchester Aero modellers and to encourage the public to use it
would be contrary to the thoughts of the council when they refused consent for the
club to use the land as a public playing field because their model aircraft could pose
a danger to others on the playing field

« Requests the site is deleted as a Local Green Space before usage gets worse than it
is now. Notes Ardleigh Reservoir Committee have put in a car park without
permission

Parish Council’s response: When the Parish Council says the land is undesignated,
they are referring to natural/landscape designations such as AONBs, County Wildlife
Sites and Sites of Special Scientific Interest. The description of the site’s use makes it
clear that it is occupied by Prettyfields vineyard.

Both the Local Green Spaces Assessment document and the Plan itself make it clear
that public access is only possible along the public footpaths, with access to the
vineyard requiring paid entry.

Designation of the space is not anticipated to materially alter use of the site.
Trespassing has not been encouraged and all development currently requiring
planning consent will continue to be subject to the same consents.

The Parish Council would like to make it clear that they are supportive of the existing
use of the relevant part of the site as a working vineyard as this is very much
compatible with the special value of the site as a whole. The Parish Council expects
the proposed designation of this space will be to the material benefit of this established
rural land-based business as it provides additional resistance to development in its
vicinity that would not be compatible with its character.

o

0604 37 planning
Dngp 189




The Parish Council would also encourage the landowner to report potential breaches
of planning control in the area - such as the alleged car park - to the Local Planning
Authority via the usual channels. If the site is designated as a Local Green Space, it is
anticipated that even greater priority will be given to tackling unauthorised and
inappropriate development in its setting.

-
0604 38 planning '
Dngn 100




Lichfields, developers of the Garden Community

Paragraph 4.6 of the draft NP explains that the delivery of homes within the TCBGC
will not take place until the NP period has expired (up to 2033), which is incorrect. The
delivery of homes is currently scheduled to commence as early as 2025/2026 within
the garden community allocation.

Parish Council’s response: Paragraph 4.6 (now 4.8) states that homes are not
expected to be built out in Ardleigh Parish until after the current plan period. Whilst
homes are expected to be delivered as early as 2025/6, this is due to take place in
other areas not covered by Ardleigh Parish. The developer has confirmed to the Parish
Council that this remains their broad intention.

It is important therefore that policies in the emerging draft NP do not attempt to
undermine the delivery of the garden community. To minimise this risk, and the risk of
draft NP being rejected at examination stage, we would strongly encourage the Parish
Council to progress its draft NP alongside the Councils emerging DPD, with a view to
creating a complementary plan, rather than advancing it prior to adoption of the DPD.

Parish Council’s response: The Plan has been amended to make it clear that the initial
design and delivery of the garden community will be subject to its own (emerging)
DPD. As there is little anticipated cross-over between the Neighbourhood Plan and the
DPD, it is not considered essential that they are progressed together. The Parish
Council already delayed their Plan to allow Section 2 of the Local Plan to be adopted
first and do not consider it helpful to delay further.

Regarding Crockleford Heath, we understand the desires of some people within the
community for no development to occur in its vicinity. However, this is in direct conflict
with the strategic allocation in the Section 1 Plan, which anticipates Crockleford Heath
forming part of the garden community and as such, change and appropriate
development is anticipated. It is Latimer’s aspiration that its proposals respect,
enhance and reinforce the character of the existing area and strengthen the existing
community in Crockleford Heath, and we look forward to ongoing discussions over the
coming years as proposals are worked up.

A
0604 39 planning
Dngp 191




Parish Council’s response: No part of the Plan resists development of the Garden

Community in the Crockleford Heath area and there is not considered to be any policy
conflict in this regard. The emerging aspirations for the Crockleford Heath area (per the
draft DPD) are acknowledged and it is agreed that it would be appropriate to clearly set
these design aspirations out in the Neighbourhood Plan. To this end, the following
wording has been added to paragraph 4.6:

The draft DPD includes the identification of an “Area of Special Character” at
and around the settlement of Crockleford Heath, aimed at safeguarding its
distinctive rural character.

Policy GDP: General Approach to Development

Latimer welcomes confirmation at paragraph 9.8 in that the NP does not seek to
prevent or discourage any development that is permitted by the Local Plan (i.e.
including the TCBGC), however, this is not reflected in the wording of Policy GDP,
which does seek to restrict development outside of the settlement boundary. Such
policy wording would limit the extent of developable land within the allocated garden
community, which would undermine the ability for the allocated garden community to
deliver between 7,000 and 9,000 homes. To avoid conflict with the Section 1 Plan,
policy should only relate to land both outside of the settlement boundary and outside of
the Broad Location for the TCBGC already allocated in the Section 1 Plan.

Parish Council’s response: It is agreed that policy GDP could be reworded to make it
clearer that the garden community comprises an exception to the general resistance to
development outside of settlement boundaries. The following alteration has been made
(new text appears in bold):

Policy GDP -

2. With the exception of the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community,
new development outside of the Settlement Development Boundaries will not generally
be permitted unless it is consistent with all other relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies
and[...]

A
0604 40 planning
Dngp 1902




Policy CFP: Community Facilities

Latimer generally supports the aims of this policy. In relation to criterion 4, relating to
proposals resulting in a net addition of housing being required to provide evidence that
there is sufficient GP and/or primary school capacity, Latimer confirms that proposals
within the garden community will ensure sufficient health, education and other
community provision is provided to meet the needs of the new community. This will be
a requirement of the DPD in any event and something Latimer is seeking to ensure
from the outset to create a successful and thriving place.

Parish Council’s response: It is understood that the garden community will be a self-
sustaining community, providing sufficient facilities - including health, education etc. -
to meet the needs of its residents. Part 4 of the policy relates only to housing
applications that generate a “need” for the village’s existing GP Surgery and primary
school. The housing proposed within the Garden Community would generate no such
need.

Policy HP: Housing

Latimer objects to criterion 1, which conflicts with Section 1 Plan, Policy SP 8 and SP
9. To remedy this, this aspect of the policy should only relate to land both outside of the
settlement boundary and outside of the Broad Location for the TCBGC. Latimer
additionally object to criterion 3 as the housing mix for the garden community will be
informed by the DPD and subsequent planning applications. Latimer is committed to
delivering 30% affordable housing provision across the garden community, as required
by the adopted Section 1 Plan.

Parish Council’s response: Criterion 1 of policy HP requires development to be in
accordance with policy GDP. The alteration to policy GDP (to specifically identify the
garden community as an exception) ensures policy HP poses no conflict with Section 1
policies SP8 and SP9. Regarding criterion 3, the introductory text makes it clear that
the initial design and delivery of the garden community will be subject to its own DPD.
It would not, therefore, be expected to comply with the preferred housing mix at policy
HP. Notwithstanding this, part 3 is worded to provide additional support for housing
applications that include specified features. It would not prevent the approval of
applications that failed to include any of the specified features.

o
0604 41 planning
Dngp 193




Policy EP: Natural, Built & Historic Environment

We object to the inclusion of the TCBGC within this policy and respectfully request that
it is specifically excluded from this policy as it directly conflicts with the Section 1 Plan,
particularly as all related matters will be addressed within the DPD. Furthermore,
detailed design codes will be developed by Latimer in consultation with the Councils,
community and other stakeholders to inform future planning applications, all set within
the framework of the Councils emerging DPD. Notwithstanding, having reviewed the
Village Design Statement (VDS), there are many which are not appropriate for the
TCBGC.

In relation to the natural environment, Latimer’s intention is to protect and incorporate
Public Rights of Ways, hedgerows and mature trees and ancient woodland where
practical and appropriate to help integrate the new garden community with the existing
area. We look forward to discussing this and other aspects of our proposals in due
course.

Parish Council’s response: The Plan has been amended to make it clear that the initial
design and delivery of the garden community will be subject to its own (emerging)
DPD.

Following subsequent discussions with both the garden community developers and
TDC, all parties appear to agree that the plan for development within the garden
community post-delivery is not yet established. It is not clear, for example, whether the
emerging DPD will cover development in the garden community post-delivery, whether
a new DPD will be adopted or whether new sites in the community would (once
complete) be expected to comply with the development plan in force in the area at that
time.

In order to ensure new sites in the garden community retain a Plan-led approach to
development at all times, the introductory text of the Neighbourhood Plan now explicitly
states as follows:

o
0604 42 planning
Dngp 194




Following delivery, new sites in the Ardleigh Parish area of the Tendring/
Colchester Borders Garden Community will be expected to comply with the
development plan in force at that time, including any relevant Neighbourhood
Plan policies.

It is anticipated that “relevant” policies of the Neighbourhood Plan would likely include
policy EP.

Regarding the Village Design Statement (VDS), this provides an objective appraisal of
the current character of each main area of the parish. It is acknowledged that the
garden community will alter the character of its host area to the degree that the VDS is
unlikely to remain accurate post its completion. In acknowledgement of this, the
following alteration has been made to the policy (new wording in bold):

1. Development that is consistent with all other relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies
will be supported provided:
a. Its design pays due regard to the contents of the Village Design Statement* [...]

*including subsequent revisions and/or subsequent replacement guidance.

In the event that both of the following should hold true:

1. Sites in the garden community are completed and occupied in Ardleigh Parish over
the plan period; and

2. No development plan document is adopted to guide the future development of these
sites;

Then it would be expected that the Village Design Statement is updated (or another
document prepared) to provide an objective appraisal of the newly established
character of the garden community. Sites in the garden community would be expected
to demonstrate due regard for the contents of such a document, in accordance with
policy EP.

The Parish Council considers it reasonable, appropriate and achievable - in the
absence of a replacement/overriding development plan document - that completed
sites in the garden community would be expected to comply with all other provisions of

policy EP.
"

0604 43 planning
Dngp 195




Policy LGP: Local Green Spaces

As above, the TCBGC should be excluded from this policy as it directly conflicts with
the Section 1 Plan and in any event these aspects will be addressed within the DPD
and associated strategic masterplan.

Parish Council’s response: Policy LGP is concerned only with the individual Local
Green Spaces identified in the Plan and adjacent land. It contains no other provisions.
All of the individual Local Green Spaces identified in the Plan are located some
distance from the area of the Garden Community. The area of the Garden Community
contains no Local Green Spaces and nor does it contain any land that could
reasonably be considered “adjacent” to them. For these reasons, it is firmly disputed
that the policy LGP has any bearing on the Garden Community or presents any conflict
with the Section 1 Local Plan.

Policy TP: Transport & Parking

Transport and parking are important considerations; however, the Councils may wish
to adopt a bespoke approach within the TCBGC to minimise car travel and encourage
a modal shift towards more sustainable travel patterns. This will be embedded within
the ethos of the new garden community. We therefore object to this policy and
respectfully request that the TCBGC is excluded to allow these important matters to be
given due consideration as part of the DPD and development management process.

Parish Council’s response: Policy TP has been reworded as follows:

1. With the exception of the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community,
development likely to generate significant amounts of movement and/or to have
significant transport implications™ will be strictly resisted throughout the parish.

In addition, as set out previously, the Plan’s introductory text has also been amended
to make it clear that the initial design and delivery of the garden community is subject
to its own DPD as opposed to the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan.

Following completion, however, it would be expected that new sites within the garden
community have regard to the development plan in force at that time. That could
potentially include the Neighbourhood Plan unless it is replaced or superseded in the
interim. If it is not superseded, the Parish Council considers it reasonable, appropriate

A
0604 44 planning
Dngp 106




and achievable that completed sites in the garden community would be expected to
comply with the provisions of policy TP.

.:
0604 45 planning direct
Dngn 197




Tendring District Council, Local Planning Authority

The District Council continues to raise concerns that the emerging Ardleigh NDP would
not be in general conformity with Strategic Policies contained within the adopted
Development Plan. In particular policies SP6 and SP9 of the Section 1 Local Plan in
relation to the Tendring Colchester Borders Garden Community.

Prior to Regulation 16 stage, the District Council would need assurance that the
emerging policies within the NDP would not conflict with the Strategic Policies
contained within the adopted Development Plan.

Parish Council’s response: In subsequent discussions, TDC has confirmed to the
Parish Council that these broad summary comments relate to more detailed comments
issued further in their letter - addressed below.

Paragraphs 4.2 — 4.6 would benefit from additional clarity on the remit of the
neighbourhood Plan where it intersects with the DPD. A paragraph explaining that the
Policies within this Neighbourhood Plan do not relate to development within the DPD
would suffice.

Parish Council’s response: Following subsequent discussions with TDC, this section
has been reworded to confirm the the initial design and delivery of the Garden
Community will be the subject of a separate DPD. However, following delivery, new
sites in the Garden Community will be expected to comply with the development plan
in force at that time, including any relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies.

The Parish Council believes this is the most appropriate way to approach development
of and in the Garden Community. Should the development plan for the Garden
Community change over the course of the plan period to exclude the Neighbourhood
Plan™, the policy as reworded would account for this.

"It has been suggested that the Garden Community may - in future years - form its own
parish rather than falling within the remit of Ardleigh Parish (and surrounding parishes).
As this is yet to be confirmed, the above alteration to the Neighbourhood Plan ensures
the completed Garden Community is not left without a plan-led approach to
development in the interim.

A
0604 46 planning
Dngp 108




Policy GDP (General Approach to Development) and Policy HP (Housing) could be
interpreted as not allowing any development outside of defined settlement boundaries
in the Neighbourhood Plan Area — notwithstanding the fact that the Garden Community
will be developed partly in the Neighbourhood Plan Area, albeit in accordance with
parameters to be set by the Development Plan Document (DPD) being prepared by
Tendring, Colchester and Essex Councils. The emerging Neighbourhood Plan should
be in general conformity with the Development Plan, it needs to clearly and explicitly
acknowledge the Garden Community development. The NDP must also explain that a
separate policy document (i.e. the DPD) will apply to that development, the emerging
Plan is close to achieving this in the above mentioned text. The current wording of the
emerging Policies are ambiguous at best and could be read as restrictive at worse;
and therefore would not, on a strict reading, be in conformity with the adopted
Development Plan. These emerging Policies should be amended to address the above
concerns.

Parish Council’s response: It is agreed these policies could be clearer regarding the
“exception” provided by the garden community. The following alteration has been made
(new text appears in bold):

Policy GDP -

2. With the exception of the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community,
new development outside of the Settlement Development Boundaries will not generally
be permitted unless it is consistent with all other relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies
and|[...]

Policy HP states that housing development will be resisted outside settlement
boundaries unless it is in full compliance with policy GDP. The above alteration to
policy GDP ensures policy HP now also takes necessary account of the garden
community.

o
0604 47 planning
Dngp 199




Similarly with Policies EP (Natural, Built and Historic Environment) and LGP (Local
Green Spaces), whilst it is not clear, these Policies should not aim to prejudice or run
counter to the adopted Development Plan and Emerging DPD. The preparation of the
DPD is an evolving process working at some speed. We would recommend that the
Parish Council fully engage with the joint Councils during this preparation process
before the Neighbourhood Plan proceeds to the next stage.

Parish Council’s response: The relevant parts of the policy context section (paras. 4.3 -
4.8) now make it very clear that the initial design and delivery of the garden community
will be established by the emerging DPD. They also make it clear that, post-delivery,
new sites in the garden community will be expected to comply with the development
plan in force at that time. This is considered to be a necessary and important provision
as it ensures new sites in the garden community are not left without a plan-led
approach to development. For this reason, policies EP and LGP do not specifically
exclude the garden community or sites within it. This is to protect against the following
possibility (example) -

The garden community makes unexpected progress and houses begin to be built out
in Ardleigh Parish before 2033.

Houses are built out in accordance with the parameters established by the DPD.
Once completed, the homes begin to be occupied.

New occupiers start to make changes to their properties requiring planning permission,
e.g. new garages, new boundary treatments and other householder alterations.

As the DPD only covers the initial design and delivery of the garden community,
alterations made 1o sites subsequent to the creation of the garden community are
undertaken without any detailed development management policies to guide them.

It is also worth stating that none of the spaces proposed by policy LGP are within
proximity of the garden community. Development of the garden community would not
have any potential to conflict with policy LGP.

A
0604 48 planning
Dngp 200




It is also unclear if Policy TP (Transport and Parking) is intended to apply to
development within the Garden Community. If this is the case, it is considered that this
policy would not accord with the adopted Development Plan and will need clarification.

Parish Council’s response: It is agreed that policy TP could be clearer regarding the
garden community. The following alteration has been made (new wording in bold):

1. With the exception of the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community,
development likely to generate significant amounts of movement and/or to have
significant transport implications™ will be strictly resisted throughout the parish.

The Council has started work on defining a character area for Crockleford Heath. This
work will feed into the next iteration of the DPD. The Parish Council is encouraged to
engage in this work and help with the shaping of this unique area.

Parish Council’s response: It is agreed that the ongoing work on the DPD - particularly
insofar as it pertains to the character area for Crockleford Heath - warrants further
comment in the Plan. To this end, the following wording has been added to paragraph
46:

The draft DPD includes the identification of an “Area of Special Character” at
and around the settlement of Crockleford Heath, aimed at safeguarding its
distinctive rural character.

There is a presentation issue on page 32 where the list of green spaces is split over
two pages.

Parish Council’s response: It is not considered that splitting the list confuses or
otherwise affects understanding of this section. The Parish Council has pointed out to
TDC that there are various examples of lists split across two pages in their own Local
Plan. TDC accepts that no change is required.

Throughout a number of Policies it is required that new development accord with all
Policies in the Neighbourhood Plan. As we have mentioned before, this is an
unreasonable request and should be amended.

A
0604 49 planning
Dngp 201




Parish Council’s response: There is no requirement anywhere in the Plan that new
development accord with all policies. Rather, the requirements are worded such that
development should accord with all “relevant” policies in the Plan. These provisions
are typical and appropriate, appearing in various Local Plan policies, e.g.: policy PP5
states that [various] developments “will be permitted where they comply with other
relevant policies in this Local Plan” amongst other provisions.

0604 50 planning
Dngn 202




Conclusion

The Parish Council wishes to express their gratitude to everyone who took the time to
comment on the Neighbourhood Plan during the regulation 14 consultation. The
resultant alterations to the Plan make for a stronger and more comprehensive document
overall of which the local community should be proud.

The Parish Council will now look to submit the Plan for formal examination, during which
your views will also be sought and your input gratefully received and taken on board.

-
0604 51 planning '
Dngn 2073




Appendix A: notification letter

Ardleigh Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan

Pre-submission Consultation (Regulation 14)

Ardleigh Parish Council wishes to inform you of the above consultation. The details of how to make
representations on the Pre-Submission Plan are given below:

e The Plan can be viewed in the following ways:
o By electronic download from _https://ardleigh.website/our-plan The wider evidence
base and supporting documents can also be viewed and downloaded.
o Hard Copy:
= Ardleigh Village Hall, CO7 7RS on 24" August, 2 p.m. to 7 pm where
members of the Parish Council and the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group
will be available to answer questions.
= In case of difficulty accessing via the above options, please call 01206
414989 or email ardleighnp@gmail.com to arrange to view a hard copy. (we
hope to have a copy available at St Mary’s Church, Ardleigh, CO7 7LD from
15" August).
e Representations can be made in the following ways:
o By completing a feedback form available via the web link
https://ardleigh.website/our-plan
0 By emailing ardleighnp@gmail.com
o More information and copies of the feedback form will be available at the drop-in
session, 24" August, Ardleigh Village Hall 2-7pm
o By writing to Ardleigh Parish Council, PO Box 12685, Colchester CO7 7EZ

e The Pre-Submission Consultation runs from 8" August, to 12 noon on. 23" September, 2022.
No representations will be accepted after this time.

e All representations must include name, address and if relevant, the organisation you are
representing.

If you have any questions, please email ardleighnp@gmail.com or come along to our drop in session
on 24 August.

-
0604 52 planning
Rage.204




Appendix B: Ardleigh Advertiser advert

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan: The draft Neighbourhood Plan is now being finalised by our
consultants, Planning Direct, and should be returned to the Parish Council by Sth August 2022.
Assuming there are no delays, the next stage of the Plan will be fo hold a é-week consultation
with the community. The Government set this process - called Regulation 14 Pre-submission
Consultation. The Parish Council will publicise the Plan and invite comments on it. All
comments will be considered by the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group and a final version
of the Plan will then be submitted to the Local Planning Authority, Tendring District Council,
for examination by an independent examiner.

The 6-week Pre-submission consultation will begin on 8th August and end on 16th September
2022. An on-line version of the draft Neighbourhood Plan, with an accompanying comments
questionnaire, will be made available on Ardleigh Parish Council Our Plan website link. There
will also be a small number of hard copies available for those who cannot access the Plan
electronically. Look out for more information on this through social media and posters, which
will be placed around the community.

Another date for your diary is the 24th August, 2022. Ardleigh Parish Council will be holding
another Information Drop-in session at the Village Hall, from 2pm until 7pm. The draft Neigh-
bourhood Plan will be available to view, with the Pre-submission consultation questionnaire.

13

‘.
0604 53 planning direct ®
+



Appendix C: online consultation form

* Required

1. Do you support the proposed Neighbourhood Plan for Ardleigh?
() Yes
() No

() Maybe/ not sure

2. Do you have any comments on the proposed Policies within the Plan?

Enter your answer

3. Do you have any other comments on the proposed Neighbourhood Plan?

[ - .
Enter your answer

4. Please give your name and address below.
If you are representing an organisation please also give the name of the organisation.
(All representations must be accompanied by a name and address). *

Enter your answer

.:
0604 54 planning direct
Dngn 206




Appendix D - online form responses

.g
0604 55 planning direct
Dngn 207




090

oU¢ 9vtd
98

12a.1p Buluuod

Do you
support the
proposed

Neighbourh
ood Plan for Do you have any comments on the proposed Do you have any other comments on the proposed
Ardleigh?  Policies within the Plan? Neighbourhood Plan? Parish Council’s response

A very bit thank you to everyone who has worked
Respondent 1  Yes Excellent thoroughly agree so hard on this. N/A

They have been well thought through and
Respondent 2 Yes reflect the desires of the community. N/A
I know how much work has gone in to the
Respondent 3 Yes I support them all. preparation of this plan. N/A
Once adopted, Ardleigh Parish Council expects the
District Council to give the policies of the
Neighbourhood Plan their full statutory weight when

Generally a very clear document, extremely making decisions in the area. The Parish Council will

well researched with plenty of opportunity for continue to comment on applications in their area and

community involvement in drawing up anticipate that the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan

conclusions and proposals/policies. will better support them to resist inappropriate

1 am concerned that this document will simply development. The link road is part of the District Plan

be given lip service by TDC planning and the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan does not have

department, recent experience on the level of the power to affect this. However, Ardleigh Parish

new builds in Ardleigh leads me to believe that Council will continue to monitor road issues in the area

their Local Plan target of <1 new property a and would urge parishioners to continue to report their

year is fanciful. complaints or concerns. The Parish Council is also very
keen to promote cycling and other sustainable

On one specific point, the proposed new link transport modes throughout the parish, however a

road, the document states "The new link road |am very disappointed that there is not a stronger Neighbourhood Plan - by its purpose and nature - is

is likely to improve parishioners’ ease of access commitment to developing cycle routeways into limited in what it can achieve. Policy CFP does provide

into the urban centre of Colchester", this will  Colchester and Manningtree as a means of reducing support for new or improved community facilities,
only be the case for a very small number of road traffic as well as promoting a healthier, more  especially exercise-related leisure facilities. This could

Ardleigh parishioners, only those in the sustainable method of personal transport. Cycling is include, for example, new cycleways or other suitable

Crockleford Heath area. This benefit is likely to becoming even more accessible to the general cycling facilities. Policy TP also provides strong support

be outweighed by other road users looking for public with the continued development of electric ~ for development that would improve existing cycleways
Respondent4 Yes a shortcut to and from the link road. bicycles. or provide new cycleways.

A3




090

ou¢ oVtEd
|d 1S

Buiuuo

Respondent 5

Respondent 6

Respondent 7

Respondent 8

Respondent 9

Respondent 10

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Very Comprehnsive No

A great piece of work and reflects the needs of
the village and help to keep its character going Itis vital that the plan is upheld by local and
forward. national plans.

Limit the number of houses being proposed

| hope there are developments restricted to 10
dwellings

If there is any further building in Ardleigh, they
should only be small scale developments - the
school and surgery are over-subscribed
already.

N/A

Once adopted, Ardleigh Parish Council expects the
District Council to give the policies of the
Neighbourhood Plan their full statutory weight when
making decisions in the area. The Parish Council will
continue to comment on applications in their area and
anticipate that the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan
will better support them to resist inappropriate
development.

The Neighbourhood Plan does not set any specific
housing targets and the strategy of the District Plan is
that Ardleigh will sustain only modest housing growth
over the plan period. The plan-led approach to
development is of vital importance and the Parish
Council expects all planning decisions to be made in
light of this.

The Neighbourhood Plan does not set any specific
housing targets and the strategy of the District Plan is
that Ardleigh will sustain only modest housing growth
over the plan period. The plan-led approach to
development is of vital importance and the Parish
Council expects all planning decisions to be made in
light of this.

N/A

The Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan recognises the well-
evidenced pressures facing the village’s key essential
services such as the school and GP surgery. It makes
bold efforts to protect these cherished and vital local
facilities from the negative effects of new development
- see policy CFP in particular. Ardleigh Parish Council
will pay close attention to the effect and efficacy of
these policies during their monitoring of the Plan.



89 090

UlL¢ @VEa

1o Buluuo|d

£0)

Respondent 11

Respondent 12
Respondent 13
Respondent 14

Respondent 15

Respondent 16
Respondent 17

Respondent 18

Respondent 19

Yes

Yes
Yes

Maybe/ not
sure

Yes
Yes

Yes

No

| am in total support of the proposed policies.

whoever devised the plan clearly put time and
effortin to it. Congratulations!

No

Pylons are a blight on the landscape and
should not be promoted in this cavalier
fashion, There is an alternative route under the
sea to Tilbury with a mega reduced
environmental impact.

A lot of hard work has gone into producing this
plan.

The Parish of Ardleigh stands to benefit hugely
when it is adopted

Not sure what the neighbour hood plan is but I'm
opposed to any building work, pylons etc

No

This represents a deal of work from many willing
volunteers. Thank you.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

This comment appears to be in relation to an ongoing
major planning application for pylons works in the area
which has generated a large local response. This is
separate to the Neighbourhood Plan and the Parish
Council has engaged with the community on this
matter independently of the Plan.

N/A
N/A

N/A

This comment appears to be in relation to an ongoing
major planning application for pylons works in the area
which has generated a large local response. This is
separate to the Neighbourhood Plan and the Parish
Council has engaged with the community on this
matter independently of the Plan.



090

LL¢ 9olktd
6S

|d

Buiuuo

Respondent 20 Yes

Seem well thought out and logical.
Also aspirational, for instance about the
development of communal facilities.

It must be made clear that the new town, the
design, location and viability of which cannot
be subject to Ardleigh policies, must not be
allowed to impact the village more than is
absolutely necessary.

The socio-economic profiles presented clearly
demonstrate that there is an above average
number of older persons (over the age of 65+)
living in Ardleigh compared to levels in England
and Essex. This indicates that there is an
existing need for specialist older person
accommodation in Ardleigh. As individual’s

Again, to do with the new town, how the Plan links
into it.

How can Ardleigh ensure that Tendring take notice
of what villagers want?

Query:

Manor House Meadow: is this field now in the
ownership of Manor House? They have theirown
meadows. The photo is of the land which used to
belong to Bovills Hall

We are pleased to see that the Parish Council has
removed reference to the landowner granting
permission for the public to walk on the unofficial
routes that go beyond the public rights of way.

It is assumed that reference to “designating” the
land as a Local Green Space as a means to
protecting the footpaths (para 13.17) relates purely
to the existing PROW. If this is not the case, then

The District Plan establishes that the design of the new
garden community will be subject to its own,
independent development plan document. Therefore,
the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan is not able to directly
influence its design or location etc. However, the Parish
Council is committed to working as closely as possible
alongside the developers and the District Council to
achieve a satisfactory design. Where public input is
invited, the Parish Council will do its best to promote
this and encourage all members of the public to take
part. Regarding Manor House Meadow - parts of this
site are designated Local Wildlife Sites Te9 and Te10,
known respectively as “Manor House Meadow” and
“Springhead Corner Meadow” - this is where the name
was taken from.

The Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan makes bold steps for
the older population that go above and beyond the
policies of the District Plan. Bungalows are not
specifically identified by Fig 13 because the data used -
unfortunately - did not include this house type.
Nonetheless, Fig 13 indicates what houses already exist
in the area and does not provide a proposed housing
mix for new development. In addition, policy HP
provides strong support for new houses that include
accessibility features like level thresholds, wide

clarification is required, because it is wrong to imply doorways and ground-floor bedrooms. Policy HP also
that a Neighbourhood Plan designation could in any provides welcome new support for the creation of

way claim to allow access to private land.

care requirements increase, they will inevitably Nevertheless, the inclusion of Space 4: Field south

have to move away from Ardleigh to seek
accommodation that suits their needs (this

of Mary Warner Estate as Local Green Space as
defined in the NPPF continues to be flawed. The

type of accommodation isn’t just specialist care Parish Council dismisses Nigel Cowlin’s specialist

homes, but single storey living, such as
bungalows).

opinions in the December 2021 assessment
entitled "Review of proposed Local Green Space
designation" without any detailed explanation as to

ancillary residential accommodation (e.g. granny
annexes) throughout all parts of the parish, including
outside settlement boundaries. This will provide more
housing choice for all residents with support needs,
including older people. Unless clearly stated, any
reference to a footpath is a reference to a formally
designated Pubic Right of Way (PRoW). The comments
previously made by Mr Cowlin have been carefully
considered and addressed previously. National criteria



090

¢l ¢ OovkEd
d 09

Buiuuo

Respondent 21

Respondent 22
Respondent 23
Respondent 24
Respondent 25

Respondent 26

Respondent 27

No

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Yes

Yes

The housing types breakdown in Fig 13 does
not identify bungalows. It would be beneficial
if this Information was presented in the plan so
that the important distinction between the
numbers of two storey family housing and
single storey bungalows can be made. As
presented, bungalows are hidden as they cross
over the detached, semi-detached and
terraced categories and yet, they provide a
specialist type of accommodation that the
population statistics show is needed now as
well as in the future. This information will help
guide the Parish Council as to current and
future demands for this particular type of
housing. We recommend this change is made
to the plan prior to submission to the LPA.

A sound solution to labour over development
of the village.

Agree with them all - well thought out,
comprehensively described and should
hopefully protect Ardleigh in the coming years
from unwanted development.

why. In essence, Space 4 does not meet the criteria
for what constitutes Local Green Space as set out in
the NPPF and so, we maintain that this designation
should be removed from the Neighbourhood Plan
submitted for examination.

We consider that as written, the Neighbourhood
Plan does not meet the “basic conditions” as it will
not have due regard to National Policy (i.e. it does
not meet the NPPF definition of Local Green Space
as explained in the December 2021 Nigel Cowlin
Assessment) and that the Independent Examiner
will not be in a position to recommend that the plan
proceed to the referendum stage. This will cause
delay to the "adoption" of the Neighbourhood Plan
and the Parish Council is advised to make this
change now to avoid such delay.

It meets requirements, has been thoughtfully
developed for the benefit of the environment and
the community living in the village.

A great document, well prepared, well presented.
Thank you to everyone involved in putting in the
hard work and research to prepare the NP

for Local Green Spaces are open to discretion and
require a3 judgement to be taken. It is the Parish
Council’s view that the space does meet the NPPF
criteria and the comments of _ have not
altered this position. For example, _ stated
“there is no notable interaction or outlook from any
civic space within the settlement”. The Parish Council
does not agree. In their view, there is notable
interaction between the space and very important civic
spaces in the village, including its recreation ground.
This is considered to be well-evidenced by the
photographic record. As the Parish Council does not
agree with the assessments made by I, they
do not consider it necessary or appropriate to remove
space 4 from the Plan and are content for it to be
considered at examination by the Inspector who will, of
course, apply their own discretion.

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A

N/A



090

¢ lL¢ @oVtd
|d 19

Buiuuo

)

L/
-\

Maybe/ not
Respondent 28 sure

Respondent 29 Yes

Respondent 30 Yes

| hope that when the parish is threatened with

new developments (housing or business), TDC

as the planning authority will take notice of the
Policies which have been written based on the

residents feedback.

The Policies cover a lot of important topics
relating to the Parish of Ardleigh and
adequately reflect the results of the public
surveys

Congratulations on your thorough 'Local Green
Space Assessment'. CNHS is concerned however
that some sites are being "discounted" from
inclusion on the grounds that they are already
protected. Examples are Bullock Wood, Churn
Wood. Another, a new reservoir with green space, is
being discounted as it does not yet exist. CNHS
would not "discount" any site that has benefit to
biodiversity and hence wildlife protection and
enhanced health and well-being to the community.
Such sites should be included so that your
neighbourhood plan adds another level of 'material'
policies to protect those sites. Please do not allow
any dilution to protection of sensitive sites.

A lot of hard work has gone into producing this
Neighbourhood Plan and I thank the Parish Council
for doing this.

It is essential that we have a Neighbourhood Plan to
stop unwanted development in our rural parish.

National planning practice guidance provides “if land is
already protected by designation, then consideration
should be given to whether any additional local benefit
would be gained by designation as Local Green Space.”
Due consideration was given to this guidance during
the desktop phase of assessments. For those spaces
already designated as SSSls - e.g. Bullock Wood - the
only tangible benefit of a Local Green Space
designation would be to provide some additional
control over development in its setting. Given the scale,
layout and position of these sites (i.e. with multiple,
varied settings on different sides) and the established
presence of suburban development in their settings,
this was not considered to be especially necessary or,
indeed, achievable. Unfortunately, the Parish Council
has also been advised that it is not possible to
designate Local Green Spaces that do not yet exist.
However, they fully recognise the considerable
importance - for landscape, biodiversity, social
cohesion, public health etc. - that the planned new
reservoir (space 16) will hold once complete and do
intend to review its designation at that time.

Once adopted, Ardleigh Parish Council expects the
District Council to give the policies of the
Neighbourhood Plan their full statutory weight when
making decisions in the area. The Parish Council will
continue to comment on applications in their area and
anticipate that the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan
will better support them to resist inappropriate
development.

N/A



VT2 9bed

090

29

|d

Buiuuo

)

L/
-\

Respondent 31 Yes

Respondent 32 Yes

Respondent 33 Yes

They seem to be a fair reflection of the issues
that matter to most residents and are
invaluable to maintain and protect the
character of the village of Ardleigh, as well as
the environment and natural habitats for
nature in this ancient part of the county. Green
spaces and an appreciation of what has
emerged over millennia, including landscapes,
buildings and community need to be
protected, especially now.

No

No

| welcome the thought of such an item being
adopted to ensure the village isn't swallowed up or
buried under huge and ad hoc developments of any
nature. It's not NIMBY as developments must be
part of the future but they must be considered
properly and with respect to residents,
environment, infrastructure and plain Common
Sense! That is how | see the neighbourhood plan.

Could have been more emphasis on resisting the
despoiling of Ardleigh’s rural environment, in
particular the proposed substation and enormous
pylons.

Ardleigh does not need National Grid’s proposed
substation and pylons, or the proposed connecting
wind farm substations.

N/A

The Plan does include ambitious policies for the
protection of Ardleigh'’s rural environment. For
example, policy EP resists any development that would
have an urbanising effect on a rural lane or street and
any development that would cause urban intrusion
(including by way of noise, light pollution or increased
traffic) into currently tranquil rural areas. The Plan also
adopts the Village Design Statement (VDS) into policy.
The VDS is a pre-existing document that was recently
updated to address development undertaken in the
parish in the c. 10 years since its initial publication. The
VDS clearly identifies the character (built and
landscape) of different parts of the parish - for
example, is it rural and tranquil? All new development
in the area will now be expected - in accordance with
policy EP - to pay due regard to the VDS. This will
require respect to be shown for the environment’s
established qualities and features.

This comment appears to be in relation to an ongoing
major planning application for pylons works in the area
which has generated a large local response. This is
separate to the Neighbourhood Plan and the Parish
Council has engaged with the community on this
matter independently of the Plan.



Blank.

b

0604 63 planning direct



This page is intentionally left blank



national
highways

Your Ref: Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Reg 14 Dr Shamsul Hoque

Our Ref: Ardleigh NPlan Reg 14 National Highways
Operations - East
Woodlands

Manton Lane
Bedford MK41 7LW

Ardleigh Parish Council
PO Box 12685
Colchester CO7 7EZ

Date: 23 September 2022

Sent via email; ardleighnp@agmail.com

Dear Sir/Madam,

Ardleigh Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan

Pre-submission Consultation (Regulation 14)

Thank you for your correspondence, dated 10 August 2022, for inviting National
Highways’ comments on the subject mentioned above. After completion of our review
of the supporting documents, now sending my comments below:

National Highways is responsible for the operation, maintenance, and improvement of
the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in England on behalf of the Secretary of the State.
In the proposed Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan for the period between 2020 and 2033,
the land is located within the Tendring District Council.

National Highways is a key delivery partner for sustainable development promoted
through the plan-led system and as a statutory consultee, we have a duty to cooperate
with local authorities to support the preparation and implementation of development
plan documents.

With respect to the adopted Section 1 of the Local Plan, the proposed new

Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community (TCBGC) is to be sited on the
Tendring and Colchester border, extending into the southernmost portion of Ardleigh

Page 217



Parish. It is expected that this Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community will
deliver a very substantial number (for example, 2000 total homes up to 2033 and a
further 5500 homes post 2033) of new homes throughout and beyond the current plan
period; (para 11.11).

Tendring District Council Policy CP2 Transport Network stated that to serve this
Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community (TCBGC), a new strategic link road
between the A120 and A133 and a Rapid Transit System will be required. A planning
permission for this new strategic A120/A133 link road was granted by Essex County
Council in November 2021. This is part of a packaged bid including funding for the
provision of a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) scheme which will be essential if a severe
impact from the development is to be avoided on the highway network.

Therefore, such as the ‘Policy TP — Transport and Parking’ which identifies
opportunities for any traffic mitigation measures and public realm improvements,
including road junctions’ improvement and implementation of sustainable transport
measures, and traffic calming measures will be acceptable in principle.

We welcome any initiative which leads to introduce of walking, cycling, and any other
sustainable scope of travel, following the Policy CP1 and traffic mitigation in line with
the policy intended to enhance the active travel environment where appropriate.

National Highways offers No Objection to this Neighbourhood Plan.

If you require any clarification on the points raised, please let me know at
PlanningEE @nationalhighways.co.uk

Yours faithfully

S. H.

Dr Shamsul Hoque
Assistant Spatial Planner
PlanningEE@nationalhighways.co.uk

Page 218


mailto:PlanningEE@nationalhighways.co.uk

The Minster Building 020 7837 4477

2| Mincing Lane london@lichfields.uk
London EC3R 7AG lichfields.uk
Ardleigh Parish Council
PO Box 12865
Colchester
CO77EZ

FAO: Rachel Fletcher, Parish Clerk

Sent via email: ardleighnp@gmail.com

Date: 23 September 2022
Our ref: 62189/01/PR/CW/25801416v4
Your ref:

Dear Sir/Madam,

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Regulation 14 Consultation — September
2022

We write on behalf of our client, Latimer (Tendring Colchester Borders Garden Community ‘TCBGC’)
Developments Limited, hereon in referred to as ‘Latimer’, in response to the above consultation.
Latimer and its team welcome the opportunity to engage with Ardleigh Parish Council on its emerging
Neighbourhood Plan (NP) and would welcome a meeting over the coming weeks to introduce ourselves
and discuss how we can best work together to create a 21st-century garden community.

This letter provides Latimer’s response to the Regulation 14 version of the Ardleigh NP dated August
2022, organised under relevant headings.

Introduction and context

Latimer, partnering with Mersea Homes, is the master developer bringing forward the TCBGC and
controls most of the land allocated for the new garden community. This is the largest strategic
allocation in the North Essex Authorities’ Shared Strategic Section 1 Plan (hereon in referred to as the
Section 1 Plan). Adopted Policy SP 8 and SP 9 of the Section 1 Plan allocates the area for between 7,000
and 9,000 new homes, 25 hectares of employment land, university land, community, leisure, retail and
other associated uses. Policy SP 8 sets the Broad Location for the garden community and requires a
Development Plan Document (DPD) to be prepared, including policies setting out how the new
community will be designed, developed, and delivered. It is an important, strategic allocation for both
Tendering and Colchester Councils to enable them to accommodate their required and planned growth.
Failure to do so will result in unplanned, speculative developments which is not in the interests of either
local planning authority or the Parish Councils.

We note that the northwest corner of the garden community lies within the Ardleigh Draft
Neighbourhood Plan (NP) Area.

The Councils are currently preparing this DPD, with its Regulation 19 consultation Celebrating
scheduled for end 2022/early 2023. To inform the DPD, the Councils are 0

Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners Limited (trading as “Lichfields”) is registered ggﬁ é 221]9
Registered office at The Minster Building, 21 Mincing Lane, London EC3R 7A yeal‘S



preparing a strategic masterplan for the garden community, which will be consulted upon alongside the
DPD.

The Neighbourhood Plan Regulations (2012) require that NPs meet a number of basic conditions, which
importantly includes a requirement to be in general conformity with strategic policies. Latimer is keen
to emphasise to the Parish Council that the emerging and draft Ardleigh NP must conform with the
adopted and examined Section 1 Plan, including Policy SP 8 and SP 9. It must not (and cannot)
prejudice the delivery of this important strategic allocation and the ability of this garden community to
deliver between 7,000 — 9,000 homes.

Paragraph 4.6 of the draft NP explains that the Parish Council intends to work closely and proactively
with the Councils to progress the design and development of the garden community, which we fully
support. It goes on to explain that the delivery of homes within the TCBGC will not take place until the
NP period has expired (up to 2033), which is incorrect. The delivery of homes is currently scheduled to
commence as early as 2025/2026 within the garden community allocation.

It is important therefore that policies in the emerging draft NP do not attempt to undermine the
delivery of the garden community. To minimise this risk, and the risk of draft NP being rejected at
examination stage, we would strongly encourage the Parish Council to progress its draft NP alongside
the Councils emerging DPD, with a view to creating a complementary plan, rather than advancing it
prior to adoption of the DPD.

We fully appreciate and understand that a new garden community of 7,500+ homes and all associated
infrastructure and supporting uses will represent a significant change to the area. However, the area has
been allocated in the Section 1 Plan and the Councils consider this is best way to accommodate growth
and the increasing demand for new homes.

Latimer, in partnership with Mersea Homes, are wholly dedicated to delivering an exemplary new
garden community over the coming decades. This change can therefore be seen as a positive and
planned, and over the next 18+ months we look forward to positive engagement on shaping the detail of
these proposals.

Response to emerging policies
Within this section we provide our response to specific policies under relevant headings.

Regarding Crockleford Heath, we understand the desires of some people within the community for no
development to occur in its vicinity. However, this is in direct conflict with the strategic allocation in the
Section 1 Plan, which anticipates Crockleford Heath forming part of the garden community and as such,
change and appropriate development is anticipated. Itis Latimer’s aspiration that its proposals respect,
enhance and reinforce the character of the existing area and strengthen the existing community in
Crockleford Heath, and we look forward to ongoing discussions over the coming years as proposals are
worked up.

Pg2/a Page 220

25801416v4



Policy GDP: General Approach to Development

Latimer welcomes confirmation at paragraph 9.8 in that the NP does not seek to prevent or discourage
any development that is permitted by the Local Plan (i.e. including the TCBGC), however, this is not
reflected in the wording of Policy GDP, which does seek to restrict development outside of the
settlement boundary. Such policy wording would limit the extent of developable land within the
allocated garden community, which would undermine the ability for the allocated garden community to
deliver between 7,000 and 9,000 homes. To avoid conflict with the Section 1 Plan, policy should only
relate to land both outside of the settlement boundary and outside of the Broad Location for the TCBGC
already allocated in the Section 1 Plan.

Policy CFP: Community Facilities

Latimer generally supports the aims of this policy. In relation to criterion 4, relating to proposals
resulting in a net addition of housing being required to provide evidence that there is sufficient GP
and/or primary school capacity, Latimer confirms that proposals within the garden community will
ensure sufficient health, education and other community provision is provided to meet the needs of the
new community. This will be a requirement of the DPD in any event and something Latimer is seeking
to ensure from the outset to create a successful and thriving place.

Policy HP: Housing

Latimer objects to criterion 1, which conflicts with Section 1 Plan, Policy SP 8 and SP 9. To remedy this,
this aspect of the policy should only relate to land both outside of the settlement boundary and outside
of the Broad Location for the TCBGC. Latimer additionally object to criterion 3 as the housing mix for
the garden community will be informed by the DPD and subsequent planning applications. Latimer is
committed to delivering 30% affordable housing provision across the garden community, as required by
the adopted Section 1 Plan.

Policy EP: Natural, Built & Historic Environment

We object to the inclusion of the TCBGC within this policy and respectfully request that it is specifically
excluded from this policy as it directly conflicts with the Section 1 Plan, particularly as all related
matters will be addressed within the DPD. Furthermore, detailed design codes will be developed by
Latimer in consultation with the Councils, community and other stakeholders to inform future planning
applications, all set within the framework of the Councils emerging DPD. Notwithstanding, having
reviewed the Village Design Statement (VDS), there are many which are not appropriate for the TCBGC.

In relation to the natural environment, Latimer’s intention is to protect and incorporate Public Rights of
Ways, hedgerows and mature trees and ancient woodland where practical and appropriate to help
integrate the new garden community with the existing area. We look forward to discussing this and
other aspects of our proposals in due course.

Policy LGP: Local Green Spaces

As above, the TCBGC should be excluded from this policy as it directly conflicts with the Section 1 Plan
and in any event these aspects will be addressed within the DPD and associated strategic masterplan.

g3/ Page 221

25801416v4



Policy TP: Transport & Parking

Transport and parking are important considerations; however, the Councils may wish to adopt a
bespoke approach within the TCBGC to minimise car travel and encourage a modal shift towards more
sustainable travel patterns. This will be embedded within the ethos of the new garden community. We
therefore object to this policy and respectfully request that the TCBGC is excluded to allow these
important matters to be given due consideration as part of the DPD and development management
process.

Conclusion

Latimer welcomes the opportunity to engage with Ardleigh Parish Council on its emerging
Neighbourhood Plan (NP).

Whilst we support some aspects of the emerging NP, we are concerned that other aspects are not in
conformity with the Section 1 Plan, namely Policies SP 8 and SP 9, and could prejudice the delivery of
this important allocation. We would therefore encourage the Parish Council to advance its NP in
parallel with the DPD, with a view to creating a complementary plan. Alternatively, the area covered by
the draft NP could be limited to all areas outside of the allocated TCBGC Broad Location to allow the
Councils emerging DPD to set the framework for this important strategic site allocation.

We would very much welcome a meeting to introduce ourselves, outline our aspirations, discuss our
representations with you and explore how we can best work together to ensure appropriate foundations
are laid to allow the creation of a successful, thriving exemplary 215t century garden community that we
can all be proud. We will be in touch shortly to arrange this.

Yours sincerely

fodigf -

Pauline Roberts
Senior Director

Copy Russ Edwards and Luke Cadman — Latimer by Clarion Housing Group

Gary Guiver and William Fuller — Tendring District Council

g4/ Page 222

25801416v4



Date: 17 August 2022
Our ref: 403582
Your ref: Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan

Ardleigh Parish Council

Hornbeam House

BY EMAIL ONLY Crewe Business Park
Electra Way

Crewe
Cheshire
CW16GJ

T 0300 060 3900

Dear Sir or Madam
Neighbourhood Plan Pre-submission Consultation (Regulation 14)

Thank you for your consultation on the above dated 10 August 2022 which was received by Natural
England on 10 August 2022

Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future generations,
thereby contributing to sustainable development.

Natural England is a statutory consultee in neighbourhood planning and must be consulted on draft
neighbourhood development plans by the Parish/Town Councils or Neighbourhood Forums where they
consider our interests would be affected by the proposals made.

Natural England does not have any specific comments on this draft neighbourhood plan.

However, we refer you to the attached annex which covers the issues and opportunities that should be
considered when preparing a Neighbourhood Plan.

For any further consultations on your plan, please contact: consultations@naturalengland.org.uk.

Yours faithfully

Corben Hastings
Consultations Team

Page 223


mailto:consultations@naturalengland.org.uk

Annex 1 - Neighbourhood planning and the natural
environment: information, issues and opportunities

Natural environment information sources

The Magic! website will provide you with much of the nationally held natural environment data for your plan
area. The most relevant layers for you to consider are: Agricultural Land Classification, Ancient Woodland,
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Local Nature Reserves, National Parks (England), National Trails,
Priority Habitat Inventory, public rights of way (on the Ordnance Survey base map) and Sites of Special
Scientific Interest (including their impact risk zones). Local environmental record centres may hold a range of
additional information on the natural environment. A list of local record centres is available here?.

Priority habitats are those habitats of particular importance for nature conservation, and the list of them can be
found here®. Most of these will be mapped either as Sites of Special Scientific Interest, on the Magic website or
as Local Wildlife Sites. Your local planning authority should be able to supply you with the locations of Local
Wildlife Sites.

National Character Areas (NCAs) divide England into 159 distinct natural areas. Each character area is defined
by a unique combination of landscape, biodiversity, geodiversity and cultural and economic activity. NCA
profiles contain descriptions of the area and statements of environmental opportunity, which may be useful to
inform proposals in your plan. NCA information can be found here*.

There may also be a local landscape character assessment covering your area. This is a tool to help understand
the character and local distinctiveness of the landscape and identify the features that give it a sense of place. It
can help to inform, plan and manage change in the area. Your local planning authority should be able to help
you access these if you can’t find them online.

If your neighbourhood planning area is within or adjacent to a National Park or Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB), the relevant National Park/AONB Management Plan for the area will set out useful information
about the protected landscape. You can access the plans on from the relevant National Park Authority or Area
of Outstanding Natural Beauty website.

General mapped information on soil types and Agricultural Land Classification is available (under ‘landscape’)
on the Magic® website and also from the LandIS website®, which contains more information about obtaining soil
data.

Natural environment issues to consider

The National Planning Policy Framework’ sets out national planning policy on protecting and enhancing the
natural environment. Planning Practice Guidance® sets out supporting guidance.

Your local planning authority should be able to provide you with further advice on the potential impacts of
your plan or order on the natural environment and the need for any environmental assessments.

! http://magic.defra.gov.uk/

2 http://www.nbn-nfbr.org.uk/nfbr.php
3http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiv
ersity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx

4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making

5 http://magic.defra.gov.uk/

6 http://www.landis.org.uk/index.cfm
"https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807247/NPPF_Feb 2019

revised.pdf
8 http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/quidance/natural -environment/

Page 224



http://magic.defra.gov.uk/
http://www.geostore.com/environment-agency/WebStore?xml=environment-agency/xml/ogcDataDownload.xml
http://www.nbn-nfbr.org.uk/nfbr.php
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making
http://magic.defra.gov.uk/
http://www.landis.org.uk/index.cfm
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807247/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/
http://magic.defra.gov.uk/
http://www.nbn-nfbr.org.uk/nfbr.php
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making
http://magic.defra.gov.uk/
http://www.landis.org.uk/index.cfm
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/natural-environment/

Landscape

Your plans or orders may present opportunities to protect and enhance locally valued landscapes. You may
want to consider identifying distinctive local landscape features or characteristics such as ponds, woodland or
dry stone walls and think about how any new development proposals can respect and enhance local landscape
character and distinctiveness.

If you are proposing development within or close to a protected landscape (National Park or Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty) or other sensitive location, we recommend that you carry out a landscape
assessment of the proposal. Landscape assessments can help you to choose the most appropriate sites for
development and help to avoid or minimise impacts of development on the landscape through careful siting,
design and landscaping.

Wildlife habitats

Some proposals can have adverse impacts on designated wildlife sites or other priority habitats (listed here®),
such as Sites of Special Scientific Interest or Ancient woodland™. If there are likely to be any adverse impacts
you’ll need to think about how such impacts can be avoided, mitigated or, as a last resort, compensated for.

Priority and protected species

You’ll also want to consider whether any proposals might affect priority species (listed here!!) or protected
species. To help you do this, Natural England has produced advice here® to help understand the impact of
particular developments on protected species.

Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land

Soil is a finite resource that fulfils many important functions and services for society. It is a growing medium for
food, timber and other crops, a store for carbon and water, a reservoir of biodiversity and a buffer against
pollution. If you are proposing development, you should seek to use areas of poorer quality agricultural land in
preference to that of a higher quality in line with National Planning Policy Framework para 171. For more
information, see our publication Agricultural Land Classification: protecting the best and most versatile
agricultural land®®.

Improving your natural environment

Your plan or order can offer exciting opportunities to enhance your local environment. If you are setting out
policies on new development or proposing sites for development, you may wish to consider identifying what
environmental features you want to be retained or enhanced or new features you would like to see created as
part of any new development. Examples might include:

e Providing a new footpath through the new development to link into existing rights of way.

e Restoring a neglected hedgerow.

Creating a new pond as an attractive feature on the site.

Planting trees characteristic to the local area to make a positive contribution to the local landscape.
Using native plants in landscaping schemes for better nectar and seed sources for bees and birds.
Incorporating swift boxes or bat boxes into the design of new buildings.

e Think about how lighting can be best managed to encourage wildlife.

e Adding a green roof to new buildings.

Shttp://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiv
ersity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx

10 https://www.gov.uk/quidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences
Uhttp://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiv
ersity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx

12 https://www.gov.uk/protected-species-and-sites-how-to-review-planning-proposals

13 http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/35012

Page 225



http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/protected-species-and-sites-how-to-review-planning-proposals
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/35012
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/35012
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140711133551/http:/www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/conservation/biodiversity/protectandmanage/habsandspeciesimportance.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/protected-species-and-sites-how-to-review-planning-proposals
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/35012

You may also want to consider enhancing your local area in other ways, for example by:

Setting out in your plan how you would like to implement elements of a wider Green Infrastructure
Strategy (if one exists) in your community.

Assessing needs for accessible greenspace and setting out proposals to address any deficiencies or
enhance provision.

Identifying green areas of particular importance for special protection through Local Green Space
designation (see Planning Practice Guidance on this '4).

Managing existing (and new) public spaces to be more wildlife friendly (e.g. by sowing wild flower strips
in less used parts of parks, changing hedge cutting timings and frequency).

Planting additional street trees.

Identifying any improvements to the existing public right of way network, e.g. cutting back hedges,
improving the surface, clearing litter or installing kissing gates) or extending the network to create
missing links.

Restoring neglected environmental features (e.g. coppicing a prominent hedge that is in poor condition,
or clearing away an eyesore).

14 http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/quidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-

way-and-local-green-space/local-green-space-designation/

Page 226


https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space/local-green-space-designation/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space/local-green-space-designation/

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Requlation 14 Consultation Response — Sep 2022

General Comments

There are a number of insert maps within the Neighbourhood Plan (NP), however it would be useful
to have an overarching Policy Map which brings these all together.

Tendring Colchester Borders Garden Community

This is a major development which straddles the Ardleigh NP boundary. This will include additional
housing stock within the Ardleigh NP boundary and a network of footpaths, cycleways and
bridleways to enhance accessibility within the site and to the adjoining areas including Ardleigh. The
Ardleigh Neighbourhood plan group are encouraged to engage with the Councils working on the
plan for the Garden Community.

For context it would be helpful to see a map identifying where the new Garden Community is to be
located and showing where it overlaps with the Ardleigh NP area. It may be beneficial to highlight
existing routes between the two communities and also consider potential new routes (especially
routes that encourage non-vehicular use such as bridleways/cyclepaths).

Paragraph 4.12

4.12 states that over the plan period, housing growth in Ardleigh is expected to be limited to small-
scale “infill” developments of 10 houses or fewer to be located within the defined Settlement
Development Boundaries. There is very little opportunity within the defined Settlement
Development Boundaries for infill developments so on this basis little to no development will occur.

Paragraph 5.56

It should be noted that part of Spring Valley Lane, a protected lane, falls within the boundary of the
Garden Community draft plans.

Policy GDP

Fig 28 Settlement Boundary Map doesn’t reflect the current housing within the boundary. Map 2 in
Appendix A reflects the current development level much more accurately and should be used as the
basis of all similar maps within the NP.

Policy CFP — Community Facilities

4. As stated in the explanatory text, Ardleigh Surgery does not have spare capacity and the school is
over capacity and likely to remain in the near future therefore it is likely a financial contribution for
all housing applications will be requested.

Policy HP Housing

Page 227



Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Requlation 14 Consultation Response — Sep 2022

4. The creation of ancillary accommodation (such as Granny Annexes) does not count as additional
housing stock so should not be contained within the housing policy.

Paragraph 11.11

Conflicts with paragraph 4.6 which states no housing from the Garden Community is expected to be
delivered withing the Ardleigh NP plan area within the plan period.

Policy TP — Transport and Parking

The key objectives and principles for the Garden Community are to ensure neighbourhoods are
walkable, low traffic and liveable, where residents can access most of their daily needs within a 15-
20 minute walk or bike ride from their home. The Garden Community will be designed and built in a
way that reduces the need to travel, especially by car. With this in mind the Garden Community
should not result in increased traffic congestion on existing roads into Ardleigh.

Page 228



Crockleford Heath and Elmstead Action Group (CEAG)

Comments on Ardleigh Parish Council
Neighbourhood Plan

Pg 11 Section 4.6

Ardleigh Parish Council intends to work closely and proactively with the
partner councils to progress the design and development of the Garden
Community. This major project is still in its earliest phases and is not
anticipated to start delivering new homes in Ardleigh Parish until after the
current Local and Neighbourhood Plan period (to 2033) has expired.
However, it is important that this Neighbourhood plan makes reference to the
Garden Community and aims to meet the requirements of the Garden
Community whilst taking note of the views of current residents of the Garden
Community area withing Ardleigh Parish Council, and in particular in
Crockleford Heath.

Pg 39 Section 5.73

The new link road is likely to improve parishioners’ ease of access into the
urban centre of Colchester but may also increase pressures for future
development. It will be important to ensure that Colchester’s urban sprawl
remains reasonably well-contained and Ardleigh’s rural character is
safeguarded. In particular the hamlet of Crockleford Heath, the only
community within the Garden Community masterplan, should be considered
carefully in relation to any proposed development. [ADD a broad outline of
Crockleford Heath to Fig 27]

Pg 65 Section 11.11

Additionally, the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community (part of
which is located in Ardleigh) is expected to deliver a very substantial number
of new homes throughout and beyond the current plan period22. No matter
where these new houses are delivered in Ardleigh, they will have
considerable impacts on the Parish’s rural character, infrastructure, sense of
community and, of course, its overall housing stock. In particular, the hamlet
of Crockleford Heath, the only community within the Garden Community,
should retain its rural hamlet character, through the Garden Community
masterplan stage.

Pg 103 Section 15.8




The Parish Council will also pay close attention to the progress of the
Tendring/ Colchester Borders Garden Community. In particular, they will work
alongside the partner councils to identify any changes to the Neighbourhood
Plan that might be necessary or appropriate in the light of advancements

made. In particular, the Parish Council will work to ensure that the rural
hamlet of Crockleford Heath, identified in Figure 27, should maintain its rural

hamlet character whilst being associated with the developing Garden

Community.

Page 230



A
Ar—
A

Essex County Council

23 September 2022

Spatial Planning
Essex County Council
County Hall

Market Road

CM1 1QH

Parish Clerk

Ardleigh Parish Council
PO Box 12865

CO7 7EZ

By email: ardleighnp@gmail.com

Dear Parish Clerk,

RE: ARDLEIGH NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN PRE-SUBMISSION CONSULTATION
(REGULATON 14)

Thank you for consulting Essex County Council (ECC) on the abovementioned Ardleigh
Neighbourhood Plan (NP). ECC provides the following response, which reflects ECC’s
role as the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, the Highway Authority, the
Transportation Authority, the lead authority for education (including early years and
childcare), the Lead Local Flood Authority and our responsibility for providing and
delivering adult social care (ASC) and public health services.

The ECC response outlines where changes need to be made to ensure ECC can deliver
its statutory responsibilities and recommends other changes for your consideration.
Although the NP does not make any site allocations, any growth through windfall
development will need to be assessed, including infrastructure requirements, any
mitigation, and how they will be funded and delivered.

The response reflects the order of the NP.

Essex County Council’s Neighbourhood Planning Guide (2019)

This document provides information on the services within ECC that may need to be
considered when completing a NP and provides relevant weblinks to policy and guidance.
Essex County Council’s Neighbourhood Planning Guide can be found here.

Page 231 !


file:///C:/Users/matthew.jericho/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/YAKB39R8/ardleighnp@gmail.com
https://assets.ctfassets.net/knkzaf64jx5x/3LQJyboNGJMiB1Tng8nGWV/2a924e5ce18cfb13a62f7336bf36b1b5/essex-county-councils-neighbourhood-planning-guide-september-2019.pdf

1. Planning policy context

ECC as the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (MWPA) welcome appropriate
reference to the Essex Minerals Local Plan 2014 (MLP) and the Essex and Southend-on-
Sea Waste Local Plan 2017 (WLP) which together accurately reflect the Development
Plan within Tendring District.

Map 1 of this response shows that almost all of the NP area is covered by a Minerals
Safeguarding Area (MSA) designation. Proposals for non-mineral development coming
forward in land designated as a MSA must demonstrate compliance with Policy S8 of the
MLP. Accordingly, the following wording should be an addition to the planning context
section.

“Most areas of the Neighbourhood Plan area are within a Mineral Safeguarding Area
due to the presence of sand and gravel deposits beneath the ground. These areas
are subject to a minerals safeguarding policy (Policy S8 of the Essex Minerals Local
Plan), which seeks to prevent deposits being unnecessarily sterilised by non-mineral
development. However, the housing allocations contained in the Neighbourhood Plan
fall below the site size threshold at which the provisions of Policy S8 are engaged.”

There are currently minerals and waste infrastructure existing, allocated or permitted in
the NP area. Detailed information around these sites can be found in Appendix 1 of this
response.

Policy S8 of the MLP establishes Mineral Consultation Areas (MCA) at a distance of 250m
around permitted, allocated and existing mineral infrastructure, including extraction sites.
ECC as the MWPA must be consulted on all applications for non-mineral development
proposed within these areas.

Policy 2 of the WLP establishes Waste Consultation Areas at a distance of 250m (400m
in the case of Water Recycling Centres) around permitted, allocated and existing waste
infrastructure. ECC as the MWPA must be consulted on all applications for non-waste
development proposed within these areas.

Accordingly, the following wording should be an addition to the planning context section.

“Within the Neighbourhood Plan Area there are Mineral and/ or Waste Consultation
Areas in relation to Crown Quarry, Martells Quarry, Slough Farm and Ardleigh Waste
Transfer Station. These areas are subject to Policy S8 of the MLP which establishes
Mineral Consultation Areas at a distance of 250m around permitted, allocated and
existing mineral infrastructure, and/ or Policy 2 of the Waste Local Plan which
establishes Waste Consultation Areas at a distance of 250m (400m in the case of
Water Recycling Centres) around permitted, allocated and existing waste
infrastructure. Essex County Council as the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority
must be consulted on all applications for non-minerals and non-waste development
proposed within these areas.”.

Page 232


mailto:https://assets.ctfassets.net/knkzaf64jx5x/5UZuVtnjZbJ81olvZoZKVX/90acfc65df6fa8ee8ab20df3f0cda1c8/essex-minerals-local-plan-adopted-july-2014.pdf
https://www.southend.gov.uk/downloads/file/5194/adopted_waste_local_plan
https://www.southend.gov.uk/downloads/file/5194/adopted_waste_local_plan

2. Policy GDP: General Approach to Development

ECC as the MWPA welcome reference to the importance of sustainability throughout the
NP, however it is recommended that Policy GPD, which addresses the general approach
to development, should support a wider understanding of sustainability by requiring
development proposals to make reference to the sustainable use of building materials.

It is recommended that this policy (or perhaps another suitable policy in the NP) includes
reference to promoting waste reduction, re-use and recycling, sustainable building design
and the use of sustainable materials, including in relation to their procurement, in the
construction of new development or redevelopment in line with Policy S4 of the MLP.

3. Policy HP: Housing

ECC are the Adult Social Care (ASC) authority and must ensure that the needs of older
adults and adults with a disability are reflected in line with our duty under the Care Act
2014 and the wider prevention and maximising independence agendas. This includes
reviewing both general needs housing, and any specialist housing provision.

ECC are supportive of Policy HP 3b which states housing applications that include
accessibility features will be looked at more favourability than those that do not. To
support ageing in place, the needs of adults and children with disabilities and the
prevention and maximising independence ambitions, ECC recommend that the NP
strengthens its position in part 3b of the policy by making specific reference to both the
Building Regulations Part M4 (2) and M4 (3) and the Tendring Local Plan Housing
Standards Policy:

“On housing developments of 10 or more dwellings, 10% of market housing should
be to Building Regulations Part M4(2) ‘adaptable and accessible’ standard. For
affordable homes, 10% should be to Building Regulations Part M4(2) and 5% should
be to Part M4(3) ‘wheelchair-user’ standards (Ref. Tendring District Housing Viability
Assessment 12 May 2017).”

It is also recommended, given the requirements around parking in Policy TP, this policy
sets out a requirement that for any Part M4(3) homes parking also needs to be Part M
compliant, i.e., 3.3m or capable of being widened. As a minimum, the number of spaces
provided to this standard should reflect the number of Part M4(3) dwellings provided at
any development.

ECC as the lead authority on education make the following points. Paragraph 11.8 states
that the primary school is “unable to withstand any further material expansion of [the]
housing stock”. Similarly, paragraph 11.13 describes Ardleigh St Mary’s Primary School
as “‘being at breaking point”. These statements contradict paragraph 10.14 which
correctly states that the primary school is “likely to remain at or close to capacity”. The
primary school has an excellent record of meeting the needs of the local population in
high birth years and, as of May 2022, 47.8% of the pupils on roll lived closer to other
schools i.e., the result of new housing would likely be that fewer pupils from outside the

Page 233


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted

Priority Admission Area would gain a place. ECC recommend that the aforementioned
wording is omitted from paragraph 11.8 and 11.13.

ECC as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) recommends that Policy HP reference the
issue of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS). All new developments should incorporate
SuDS, including rainwater harvesting, grey-water recycling etc to mitigate surface water
flood risk. Further, all minor developments should manage runoff off using porous
surfaces or otherwise discharge from the site should be limited to 1-year greenfield rates
or 1 I/s, whichever is greater. There should also be the inclusion of SuDS drainage
solutions to provide treatment to runoff generation from all new developments. Reference
could also be made to relevant policy in the Tendring District Council Section 2 Local
Plan.

ECC recommend the promotion of multifunctional space, biodiversity and amenity space
with a combination of blue and green features. All new developments should comply with
the Essex SuDS Design Guide. The SuDS Discharge Hierarchy should also be
considered where onsite infiltration or hybrid infiltration would be preferred discharge
method, for sites where onsite infiltration is not viable first discharge to watercourse and
then sewer would be considered. Further, all SuDS design proposals should incorporate
source control and conveyance SuDS features prior to large attenuating feature.
Sustainable ways of surface water management where above ground storage is preferred
option when considering drainage strategies for new developments

4. Policy EP: Natural, Built and Historic Environment

The NP should consider, apply and reference the Essex Green Infrastructure Strategy
(2020) and the Essex Green Infrastructure Standards (2022), which are relevant to all
Essex local authorities. These documents champion the enhancement, protection, and
creation of an inclusive and integrated network of green spaces. Applying Essex’s nine
Green Infrastructure (GI) principles will help to ensure quality and consistency in the
provision, management, and stewardship of Gl an essential part of place-making and
place-keeping for the benefit of people and wildlife.

It is recommended that the NP include reference to the Environment Act (2021) and the
requirements for “applicable development” to deliver a biodiversity net gain (BNG). The
delivery of BNG is expected to take place on-site where possible, via the protection and
retention of existing Gl and provision of new features. However, it is recognised that this
might not always be conceivable, and that off-site delivery could provide additional
benefits and be used to protect areas of land that are of local natural and wildlife value.

It is recommended that the following points (underlined) are included as part of Policy EP.

1. Development that is consistent with all other relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies
will be supported provided:
a. lIts design pays due regard to the contents of the Village Design Statement,
including by way of its:
I.  Sitting
Page 234


https://www.essexdesignguide.co.uk/suds
https://www.essexdesignguide.co.uk/suds/discharge-locations/the-drainage-hierarchy/
https://www.placeservices.co.uk/media/325343/essex-gi-strategy-accessible-pdf.pdf
https://consultations.essex.gov.uk/rci/essex-gi-standards/supporting_documents/Essex%20Green%20Infrastructure%20Framework%20Guidance%205.21.pdf

ii. Layout;

lii. Form and scale;

Iv. Architectural style;

v. Materials;

vi. Relationship to surrounding development;
vii. Impact on built/landscape features;
viii. Landscaping and boundary treatments;

ix. Car parking;

X. Accessibility; and

xi. Biodiversity efforts (including tree planting);

b. No urbanising effect is had on a rural lane or street (for example, as a result
of resurfacing, hedgerow removals or loss of an open landscape view).
There should also be no loss of biodiversity.

e. Appropriate opportunities are incorporated to support local biodiversity
wildlife; this includes 10% biodiversity net gain for applicable new
developments in line with the Environment Act 2021.

i. Multifunctional green space should be incorporated throughout the area,
where appropriate, and be evenly distributed in order to offer maximum
benefit to the community.

5. Policy LGP: Local Green Spaces

The wording of Part 2 of the policy is considered ambiguous and it is recommended for
review to ensure it achieves its intended outcome. The explanatory text provides some
clarity of what is intended and relevant points should be included in the policy itself,
otherwise ‘development’ could be open to interpretation.

6. Policy TP: Transport & Parking

ECC as the Highway Authority and the Transportation Authority welcome the NP’s policy
ambitions to support road safety and encourage/provide more active travel measures to
mitigate congestion and adapt to climate change. ECC welcomes the NP’s strong support
to safeguard and enhance pedestrian and cycling connections.

It is noted that the NP makes little/no reference to the promotion of improved bus services
and infrastructure. Additionally, the NP makes no reference to electric vehicle charging
(EVC) points alongside parking. ECC suggests reference is included regarding the
provision of EVC infrastructure. Provision for electric charging points should be provided
for all proposed car parking spaces, associated within residential development proposals
as set out in the latest government guidance and standards.

ECC welcome that the NP reflects aspects consistent with Essex Parking Standards.

Page 235


https://www.essexdesignguide.co.uk/media/1960/essex-parking-standards.pdf

ECC recommends reference is made safe direct walking and cycling routes to Ardleigh
St Mary’s Primary School since it fronts the A137. Further guidance is provided within the
ECC Local and Neighbourhood Planners’ Guide to School Organisation (January 2018),
Section 6 (page 12) including establishing and improving walking and cycling routes to
schools; reducing school run traffic and dispersing it away from school entrances;
enforcing low traffic speeds around schools and the walking routes pupils use; ensuring
pavements around schools are clear and wide enough for parents with pushchairs to
pass; providing public art, nature areas and local history information boards, in the
immediate area, to offer learning opportunities; planting of trees and / or hedges to
enhance air quality / reduce exposure to poor air quality; and the use of landscaping and
carefully selected street materials to reduce noise

Suggested additional policy matters

ECC provides the following comments in an advisory capacity for consideration by
Ardleigh Parish Council as it continues to prepare the NP.

Green Infrastructure (GI)

Gl is a network of multi-functional high-quality green spaces and other environmental
features (such as footpaths, street trees, play parks and village green) which together
delivers multiple environmental, social and economic benefits, by:

e contributing to the quality and distinctiveness of the local environment and landscape
character,

e ensuring opportunities for community socialisation to promote community cohesion
and increase community safety,

e creating a green wedge and buffer,

e providing opportunities for physical activity, improving health and wellbeing and
generally adding to quality of life,

e adapting and mitigating against a changing climate and severe weather through the
management and enhancement of existing habitats and the creation of new ones to
assist with species migration, to provide shade during higher temperatures, reduce air
pollution and for flood mitigation, an

e encouraging a modal shift from car to walking and cycling by linking publicly
accessible green space wherever possible (including through tree lined streets) to

e form walking and cycling routes,

e Biodiversity net gain should be achieved in line with the Environment Act 2021,

e Street tree planting is also required in line with the most recent updates to the NPPF.

A new policy could be included recognising the value of wider multi-functional Gl for both
people and wildlife, which can improve connectivity to existing and new green spaces,
and which provide new open space.

Policy X: Green infrastructure and development

Proposals will be encouraged that seek to conserve, and where appropriate enhance the
green infrastructure of the parish, demonstrating how they:
e Conserve and where appropriate enhance designated green spaces and/or create
new green/open spaces where appropriate.

Page 236


https://assets.ctfassets.net/knkzaf64jx5x/64wpmMGfhiSgaDs7bc2f2B/95972b3171202201d57a514ed2501318/ECC_Local_and_Neighbourhood_Planners_Guide_to_School_Organisation.pdf

e Improve the connectivity between wildlife areas and green spaces through green
corridors and/or improvements to the Public Rights of Way (PRoW) and cycle and
footpath networks.

e Enhance the visual characteristics and biodiversity of green spaces in close

proximity to the development through biodiversity/environment net gain.

e Ensure their landscape schemes, layouts, access and public open space provision
and other amenity requirements contribute to the connectivity, maintenance and
improvement of the Green Infrastructure Network.

e Take into consideration the principles of Sustainable Drainage (SuDS) and natural
flood management techniques, which will enhance biodiversity and ecosystems.

e Consider the multi-functional use and benefits of local green spaces as part of the
Green Infrastructure network.

Climate change

The NP does not include a policy on climate change. NPPF (2021), paragraph 153
requires Plans to take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate change,
taking into account the long-term implications for flood risk, coastal change, water supply,
biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of overheating from rising temperatures. NPs
provide communities with an opportunity to address climate related issues and improve
the local environment.

A policy should include reference to the Essex Climate Action Commission (ECAC), which

is a formal independent cross-party commission established in October 2019. The

ECAC’s formal role is to:

¢ identify ways where we can mitigate the effects of climate change, improve air quality,
reduce waste across Essex and increase the amount of green infrastructure and
biodiversity in the county; and

e explore how we attract investment in natural capital and low carbon growth.

The Commission published its recommendations in Net Zero: Making Essex Carbon
Neutral. The recommended text for inclusion is provide below.

“In 2019, Tendring District Council declared a climate emergency acknowledging that
urgent action is required to limit the environmental impacts produced by the climate
crisis. The Council aims to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030. This is supported by
ECC who established the Essex Climate Action Commission in 2020 to promote and
guide climate action in the county and move Essex to net zero by 2050. It is an
independent, voluntary, and cross-party body bringing together groups from the public
and private sector, as well as individuals from other organisations. The Commission
published its report Net Zero: Making Essex Carbon Neutral in July 2021 and its
recommendations are relevant to all Essex local authorities, parish and town councils,
as well as Essex businesses, residents, and community groups. The report sets out
a comprehensive plan for Essex to: reduce its greenhouse gas emissions to net zero
by 2050 in line with UK statutory commitments; and to make Essex more resilient to
climate impacts such as flooding, water shortages and overheating. The report covers

Page 237


https://www.essexclimate.org.uk/
https://www.essex.gov.uk/climate-action
file://///chesfs12/TeamShare/Spatial%20Planning%20&%20Regeneration/Spatial%20Planning/Colchester/Neighbourhood%20Plans/Copford%20and%20Easthorpe%20NP/Regulation%2016/ECC%20Response/which%20is%20a%20formal%20independent%20cross-party%20commission%20established%20in%20October%202019%20by
file://///chesfs12/TeamShare/Spatial%20Planning%20&%20Regeneration/Spatial%20Planning/Colchester/Neighbourhood%20Plans/Copford%20and%20Easthorpe%20NP/Regulation%2016/ECC%20Response/which%20is%20a%20formal%20independent%20cross-party%20commission%20established%20in%20October%202019%20by

a wide range of topic areas including land use, energy, waste, transport, plus the built
and natural environments. The report’'s recommendations are now incorporated into
a Climate Action Plan and a focused work programme over the coming years to
ensure the effects of climate change can be mitigated.”

The Centre for Sustainable Energy (CSE) have produced guidance to support
neighbourhood planning groups in implementing climate change policies within their
Neighbourhood Plans. It includes guidance on a range of climate change topics, including
renewable energy and sustainable buildings. The guidance may provide further
information for the Parish Council when reviewing the NP following this round of
consultation.

Conclusion:

Please contact me if you require further information or would like to discuss this response
in more detalil.

Yours sincerely,

Matthew Jericho
Spatial Planning and Local Plan Manager

Email: matthew.jericho@essex.gov.uk
Ph: 0333 01 30557

Page 238


https://www.cse.org.uk/downloads/reports-and-publications/policy/planning/renewables/neighbourhood-planning-in-a-climate-emergency-feb-2020.pdf
mailto:matthew.jericho@essex.gov.uk

6c¢ abed

Map 1 - MSAs, MCAs and WCAs in relation to Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Area

[AL4] Dedham Heath

Lawfora

; JliNEY S A, ) tleighbourhood Man area
, o NS ) maw sites
Lm-—"‘ N ’} \ £ 250m buffer
i - % | 1 Slough Farm MLP & WLP
o fim P % £33 4120 / A133 Link road
N s, MSA Sand & Gravel
e S / LA | Crown Copyright Reserved Licance Ho 1000 19502 2022




Ot’¢ abed

Appendix 1 — Safeguarding Designations and Safeguarded Minerals and Waste Infrastructure relevant to the NP area

Details of planning applications can be viewed on the ECC website, by accepting the disclaimer and then searching on the planning

reference.

Schedule of Mineral Infrastructure and Designations Within the NP area

Site type

Site name

Planning application number

Further Details

Mineral Safeguarding Areas

Sand and Gravel

N/A

Subject to MSA designation —
Policy 8 of the Essex Minerals
Local Plan 2014

Spatial extent shown in Map 1

Mineral Consultation Area
Subject to MCA designations
— Policy 8 of Essex Minerals
Local Plan 2014.

Spatial extent shown in Map 1

Crown Quarry

ESS/57/04/TEN — Permission
Expiry — 30/12/2026

Winning and working of minerals,
removal of surplus soils and
erection of a low profile processing
plant concrete batching plant and
ancillary buildings

Martells Quarry

ESS/53/17/TEN - Extant
Permission - Extraction of
minerals shall cease south of
Slough Lane by 30 December
2026. Restoration shall be
completed by 30 June 2033.
Current permission is
ESS/61/19/TEN.

Pending legal agreement
ESS/27/20/TEN - Continuation
of permitted developments
until 30 September 2040.

ESS/29/20/TEN (MLP Site B1
— Slough Farm) - Proposed
western extension to Martells

Quarry.

N/A

10



Schedule of Waste Infrastructure and Designations within the NP area

Tz abed

>

Subject to WCA designations
— Policy 2 of Essex and
Southend-on-Sea Waste Local
Plan)

<

management facility, with
associated change of use of
land.

Site type Site name Planning application number | Further details
Waste management Ardleigh Waste Transfer Station ESS/16/13/TEN - Proposed N/A
infrastructure. development of a new waste

Martells Landfill

ESS/30/16/TEN - Application
for the continued restoration of
former quarry void by means of
landfill - site restored by 31st
December 2023.

Slough Farm, Ardleigh,
Tendring (WLP Site -
(L(N1R)).

N/A

Martells Industrial Estate

ESS/08/08/TEN - Reception
and decontamination of ferrous
and non-ferrous metal goods
(Mainly Vehicles). Preparation
and processing of metal for
export. Erection of new
buildings associated with the
proposed use. Provision of
sealed working floor areas,
associated drainage. Provision
of weighbridge, parking and
fencing.

ESS/31/14/TEN - Erection of a
storage building for mechanical
plant and machinery.

N/A

11



This page is intentionally left blank



ssex County
ire & Rescue Service

Essex County Fire
and Rescue
Service

Initial Response to
Arxrdleigh Parish
Neighbourhood
Plan

Future Infrastructure Risk ~~ October 2022
Page 243



ECFRS Initial Response to Ardleigh Parish Neighbourhood Plan

Version 1 Flﬁuaglea;écﬂ‘re Risk October 2022



ECFRS Initial Response to Ardleigh Parish Neighbourhood Plan
3

This document outlines Essex Fire and Rescue Service’s initial response to the
consultation for the proposed development.

Essex County Fire and Rescue Service has a statutory duty to provide Response,
Prevention and Protection functions within the community. Therefore, we would
welcome any opportunities to enable further development and enhancement of these
provisions.

If further information or clarification on any of the points presented is required to
support the developers, please contact the Service via
future.infrastructure.risk@essex-fire.gov.uk.

Version 1 Future R@g&tmk October 2022


mailto:future.infrastructure.risk@essex-fire.gov.uk

ECFRS Initial Response to Ardleigh Parish Neighbourhood Plan

National Fire and Rescue Priorities - Home Office

The priorities for fire and rescue authorities set out in the National Fire and Rescue
Framework for England July 2018 are to:

e Make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and
response to fire and rescue related incidents

e |dentify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks
their areas face

e Collaborate with emergency services and other local and national partners to
increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the service they provide

e Be accountable to communities for the service they provide

e Develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, skilled,
flexible and diverse

The Fire and Rescue Plan - Essex County Fire and Rescue
Service

The Fire and Rescue Plan sets out the priorities for fire and rescue services in Essex
and a series of strong, tangible commitments to how we will help keep our
communities safe.

The plan brings together the Service, partners and the public to build safe and
secure communities and other efficient and effective prevention, protection and
response activity.

The activities in this plan set out a clear direction for development of the Service and
how, by working closer together with other emergency services and wider partners,
we can deliver a better service while being closer to the communities we serve.

Our priorities are:

e Prevention, protection and response

e Improve safety on our roads

e Help the vulnerable to stay safe

e Promote a positive culture in the workplace

e Develop and broaden the roles and range of activities undertaken by the
Service

e Be transparent, open and accessible

e Collaborate with our partners

e Make best use of our resources

Essex Design Guide

The Essex Design Guide provides high level direction for new developments which
we would like to draw your attention to:

Version 1 Flﬁuaglea;éc@re Risk October 2022



ECFRS Initial Response to Ardleigh Parish Neighbourhood Plan

e Continuation of road design to ensure safe and timely access and egress to
and from new developments.

e Continuation of road design to include turning circle provision plus future
consideration to appliance sizes to ensure adequate space to manoeuvre on
a development.

e Consideration for installation of an approved suppression system with better
safety and more design freedom. Sprinkler considerations would help to
isolate fire to the source and to ensure better safety for occupants /
emergency services / reduce insurance costs. This may also afford
developers more design freedom and scope for capacity in respect of
distance from buildings to fire appliance access points.

e Continued consultation with Water Authorities for fire hydrant / water main
provisions and consideration to ensure sufficient strategically placed
resources are made available for operational firefighting and with appropriate
water pressure considerations.

e Ensure new fire hydrant installations are fully operational before permitting
residents to occupy dwellings.

e Ensuring new fire hydrants are not installed within private driveways /
gardens.

e Continuation of at least 3 forms of fire hydrant asset indication. Hydrant
indicator plate / post, painted FH cover and painted adjacent kerb. In the
absence of a kerb then a thermoplastic yellow road ‘H’ applied to the road
surface.

e Section 106 agreement at planning application stage to ensure that the
developer will bear the costs for any new fire hydrant installations deemed
necessary by the Fire Authority where the new development exceeds 10
dwellings.

e Where applicable door sets to carry dual certification ensuring compliance
with fire and security regulations. Such recommendations align with both the
Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety in the wake of
and the review and recommendations resulting from the Grenfell Fire tragedy
of 2017.

e Fire resistant cladding considerations that may fall outside of Building Control
matters.

Initial Response to Consultation Document

Having reviewed the consultation document, at this time Essex County Fire and
Rescue Service would ask that the following are considered during the continued
development of the Ardleigh Parish Neighbourhood Plan:

e Use of community spaces as a hub for our Prevention teams to deliver Fire
Safety and Education visits, with the shared use of an electric charging point.

Version 1 Future Fn)fag'ectgé}\?sk October 2022


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/707785/Building_a_Safer_Future_-_web.pdf

ECFRS Initial Response to Ardleigh Parish Neighbourhood Plan

e Adherence to the requirements of the Fire Safety Order and relevant building
regulations, especially approved document B.

¢ Installation of smoke alarms and/or sprinkler systems at suitably spaced
locations throughout each building.

e Implementation of vision zero principles where there are introductions of or
changes to the road network.

e Appropriate planning and mitigations to reduce risks around outdoor water
sources.

e Suitable principles in design to avoid deliberate fire setting.

e Consideration for road widths to be accessible whilst not impeding emergency
service vehicle response through safe access routes for fire appliances
including room to manoeuvre (such as turning circles).

e Implementation of a transport strategy to minimise the impact of construction
and prevent an increase in the number of road traffic collisions. Any
development should not negatively impact on the Service’s ability to respond
to an incident in the local area.

e Arrisk reduction strategy to cover the construction and completion phases of
the project.

Essex County Fire and Rescue Service welcomes the opportunity to continue these
conversations as the development progresses to ensure opportunities to reduce risk
and improve the emergency service provision are realised.

Future Infrastructure Risk Team: future.infrastructure.risk@essex-fire.gov.uk

Version 1 Ftlj?uagleagécgre Risk October 2022


https://saferessexroads.org/visionzero/
mailto:future.infrastructure.risk@essex-fire.gov.uk

From:

Sent: 05 September 2022 16:57

To: Rachel Fletcher <Clerk@ardleigh-pc.gov.uk>
Subject: Open Green space

Dear Rachael
Good to see you the other day at the village hall.

I shall not be able to be at the Parish Council meeting on Monday so I would be grateful
if you could read this out at that time.

The area of land that is part of the "Wooden Fender Field" that I have cultivated grass on
that the council have decided to change its designation by making it a green open space
is flawed.

Firstly, the report states that there is no designation on the land - this is wrong, it is part
of a licenced premises, the rest of which is known as Prettyfields vineyard, and to state
that it is anything else would effect my third party insurance.

Secondly, encouraging the public to come to what is a wedding venue to enjoy the view
could be a bit provocative!

Thirdly the wording in the description that you can access this area "VIA" the footpath
insinuates that the area is a destination - which it only is when there are paying
customers there!|

Fourthly the Colchester Aero modellers fly regularly from this area and encouraging
members of the public to venture fort at the grassy area would be contrary to the
thoughts of the council when they refused the club permission to use the public playing
fields as it was thought back then that their model aircraft (that put on an excellent
display for the millennium day celebrations) could be a danger to others on the playing
field!

I ask that you now delete this particular area from your plans before usage gets worse
than it is now, especially as the Ardleigh Reservoir Committee have now put a car park
in (without any planning permission) right next to it on the route of the footpath!

We don't want to get the sort of numbers of water users that Dedham is getting!

Kind regards




This page is intentionally left blank



SENT BY EMAIL Town Hall
Station Road
Clacton on Sea
Essex CO15 1SE

Tel: (01255) 686177
Email: planning.policy@tendringdc.gov.uk
Please ask for :

17th October 2022 Our Ref : ARDNP/REG14

For the attention of Ardleigh Parish Council,
Ardleigh Neighbourhood Development Plan (Regulation 14) Consultation

Thank you for consulting Tendring District Council on the above mentioned
Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP).

General Comments

The Neighbourhood Planning Regulations require that Neighbourhood Plans meet a
number of ‘Basic Conditions’. One of these is that the NDP is in general conformity with
the strategic policies contained within the Adopted Development Plan. For Tendring the
Development Plan includes the Tendring District Local Plan 2013 — 2033 and Beyond:
Section 2 (adopted January 2022) as well as the Tendring District Local Plan 2013 — 2033
and beyond: North East Authorities’ Shared Strategic Section 1 (adopted January 2021).

The District Council continues to raise concerns that the emerging Ardleigh NDP would not
be in general conformity with Strategic Policies contained within the adopted Development
Plan. In particular policies SP6 and SP9 of the Section 1 Local Plan in relation to the
Tendring Colchester Borders Garden Community.

Prior to Regulation 16 stage, the District Council would need assurance that the emerging
policies within the NDP would not conflict with the Strategic Policies contained within the
adopted Development Plan.

Website: Switchfbﬁg e 25 1 Customer self-service portal:
6

www.tendringdc.gov.uk 01255 6 tendring-self.achieveservice.com



Other Comments

We are pleased to see a clear understanding of the progression of the work on the Garden
Community as well as the associated Development Plan Document (DPD). Paragraphs
4.2 — 4.6 detail this relationship when they state:

4.2. Section 1 of the 2013-2033 Local Plan was jointly prepared by Braintree, Colchester,
Essex and Tendring Councils (known collectively as the North Essex Authorities) and
covers broad strategic matters. It was adopted on 26/01/2021.

4.3. Section 1 of the Local Plan takes bold steps to provide for the housing, employment
and social needs of existing and future residents up to and beyond the plan period. A key
focus of this part of the Plan is the creation of a new garden community.

4.4. This is the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community which is intended to
deliver 2,500 homes and 7 hectares of employment land over the plan period (and 7,000 -
9,000 homes and 25 hectares of employment land in total). The new community is
proposed to be sited on the Tendring/Colchester border, extending into the southernmost
portion of Ardleigh Parish where the small historic hamlet of Crockleford Heath is located.

4.5. The design of the Tendring/Colchester Borders Garden Community - including its
nature, form, boundaries and exact housing numbers - will be the subject of a Strategic
Growth Development Plan Document (DPD), prepared jointly by Colchester and Tendring
Councils. This DPD, currently in draft form, was subject to public consultation between
March and April of 2022. At the time of writing, the partner councils were in the process of
reviewing the consultation responses and evidence base and making amendments to the
draft plan, with a final version anticipated for further public consultation in late 2022 - early
2023. Formal adoption of the DPD is on track to take place in 2023.

4.6. Ardleigh Parish Council intends to work closely and proactively with the partner
councils to progress the design and development of the Garden Community. However, this
major project is still in its earliest phases and is not anticipated to start delivering new
homes in Ardleigh Parish until after the current Local and Neighbourhood Plan period (to
2033) has expired.

This section would benefit from additional clarity on the remit of the neighbourhood Plan
where it intersects with the DPD. A paragraph explaining that the Policies within this
Neighbourhood Plan do not relate to development within the DPD would suffice.

Policy GDP (General Approach to Development) and Policy HP (Housing) could be
interpreted as not allowing any development outside of defined settlement boundaries in
the Neighbourhood Plan Area — notwithstanding the fact that the Garden Community will
be developed partly in the Neighbourhood Plan Area, albeit in accordance with parameters
to be set by the Development Plan Document (DPD) being prepared by Tendring,
Colchester and Essex Councils. The emerging Neighbourhood Plan should be in general
conformity with the Development Plan, it needs to clearly and explicitly acknowledge the
Garden Community development. The NDP must also explain that a separate policy
document (i.e. the DPD) will apply to that development, the emerging Plan is close to
achieving this in the above mentioned text. The current wording of the emerging Policies
are ambiguous at best and could be read as restrictive at worse; and therefore would not,
on a strict reading, be in conformity with the adopted Development Plan. These emerging
Policies should be amended to address the above concerns.

Page 252



Similarly with Policies EP (Natural, Built and Historic Environment) and LGP (Local Green
Spaces), whilst it is not clear, these Policies should not aim to prejudice or run counter to
the adopted Development Plan and Emerging DPD. The preparation of the DPD is an
evolving process working at some speed. We would recommend that the Parish Council
fully engage with the joint Councils during this preparation process before the
Neighbourhood Plan proceeds to the next stage.

It is also unclear if Policy TP (Transport and Parking) is intended to apply to development
within the Garden Community. If this is the case, it is considered that this policy would not
accord with the adopted Development Plan and will need clarification.

The Council has started work on defining a character area for Crockleford Heath. This
work will feed into the next iteration of the DPD. The Parish Council is encouraged to
engage in this work and help with the shaping of this unique area.

There is a presentation issue on page 32 where the list of green spaces is split over two
pages. Throughout a number of Policies it is required that new development accord with all
Policies in the Neighbourhood Plan. As we have mentioned before, this is an
unreasonable request and should be amended.

| trust that this helps in the progression of the emerging Neighbourhood Development
Plan. If you require any clarification from us, please do not hesitate to contact me.

With kind regards,

William Fuller BA (Hons) MSc (He/Him)
Planning Officer

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank



REVIEW OF PROPOSED =

LOCAL GREEN SPACE

DESIGNATION E

Field South of Mary Warner Es ‘

Ardleigh

Ardleigh Parish Council proposed Local Gree

Space 4

Page 255




DOCUMENT DETAILS

Document type: Review of proposed Local Green Space designation
Reference: NC19.570-Igs01
Publish date: 17/12/2021
Client: M Scott Properties Ltd
Site location: Field South of Mary Warner Estate
Ardleigh
Site identifier: Ardleigh Parish Council proposed Local Green Space 4

Document version record
version notes written by date

ISSUE NC 17/12/2021

checked by

date

This document has been produced by Nigel Cowlin Ltd

Nigel Cowlin Ltd is a Landscape Institute Registered Practice with Chartered
Landscape Architects specialising in landscape assessment and landscape design
issues relating to planning and development. The company’s landscape assessment
experience includes residential schemes ranging from single house developments
to large urban extensions, commercial developments, as well as wind and solar
energy projects in a variety of contexts. These landscape assessment services have
been provided in relation to standard planning application cases as well as technical
chapters for Environmental Statements and as part of expert witness services for
planning inquiries.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the guidance and code of practice

of the Landscape Institute. Where this includes statements of opinion these are the
true professional opinion of the author.

The layout and content of this document is copyright protected.
© Nigel Cowlin Ltd 2021

Nigel Cowlin Ltd
COW LI N Central Stores 01787 228145
\ Bures office@nigelcowlin.co.uk
Landscape Assessment & Design CO8 5AD www._nigelcowlin.co.uk

Page 256




Field South of Mary Warner Estate

DOCUMENT PACK & CONTENTS

Main text

page
1. 10T L8 3 i o] o TS 1
2. Local Green Space POIICY.......cccvveieeieesiiesieese et seese et 1
3. Description of the land & context...........cccocvveiiivieesieeceeseese e 2
4. Appraisal against Local Green Space cCriteria............cccoeveeeerieeceeseenieenn 3
5. L0701 a o1 111 ) o USRS 5

Appendices

Appendix A Ardleigh Parish Council naotification letter to Mr & Mrs Harris
Appendix B Ardleigh Parish Council Green Spaces Assessments (Space 4)

Appendices have colour coded footers.

Page 257

19.570-Igs01.docx 17/12/2021



Field South of Mary Warner Estate

1.

1.1

1.2

21

2.2

23

Introduction

Ardleigh Parish Council has notified the landowner that a parcel of their
farmland has been shortlisted for designation as ‘Local Green Space’
within the drafting of the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan (see copy of
notification letter provided as Appendix A). The Parish Council has
provided explanation and justification for this proposal within its Green
Spaces Assessments and Consultation Document (relevant extract
provided as Appendix B). The basis for the use of the Local Green
Space designation, within Local and Neighbourhood Plans, is set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF) at paragraphs
101, 102 & 103. In particular, NPPF paragraph 102 sets out criteria for
the characteristics and qualities of land for which such a designation may
be appropriate.

This report provides a review of the merits of this land for Local Green
Space designation, with reference to the Parish Council’s justification
and in light of the NPPF criteria. It has been informed by:

° Review of local landscape character publications and any
attributed value/quality for the local landscape setting;

° Review of local planning policy context checking for statutory and
local planning designations regarding protection of the landscape;

Review of nearby heritage assets such as Parks & Gardens, Listed
Buildings and Scheduled Monuments; and

° Site visit to confirm form and features of site and relationship to its
context.

Local Green Space policy

Relevant NPPF 2021 paragraphs are duplicated below.
Paragraph 101

‘The designation of land as Local Green Space through local and
neighbourhood plans allows communities to identify and protect green
areas of particular importance to them. Designating land as Local Green
Space should be consistent with the local planning of sustainable
development and complement investment in sufficient homes, jobs and
other essential services. Local Green Spaces should only be designated
when a plan is prepared or updated, and be capable of enduring beyond
the end of the plan period.’

Paragraph 102

‘The Local Green Space designation should only be used where the
green space Is:

a) in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;

b) demonstrably special to a local community and holds a
particular local significance, for example because of its beauty,
historic significance, recreational value (including as a playing
field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and

¢) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.

Page 258

19.570-Igs01.docx 17/12/2021

1/5



Field South of Mary Warner Estate

24

3.

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

Paragraph 103

‘Policies for managing development within a Local Green Space should
be consistent with those for Green Belts.’

Description of the land & context

The Ardleigh Parish Council Green Spaces Assessments identifies this
land as the field south of Mary Warner Estate (Space 4). It is part of a
largely self-contained and readily identifiable area of open land adjacent
to the south-western edges of the village. This wider area measures
approximately 16 Ha and is largely featureless and flat. The majority of
it is in arable farming use, divided into two fields, with a separate portion
to the south that has been left fallow for a number of years. The northern
edge of this land has an open border with Colchester Road, as it enters
the western edge of the village. The opposite side of the road is
developed with a line of houses fronting the road. The north-eastern
edges border onto houses on Colchester Road, Aveline Road and
Gernon Road. Aveline and Gernon Roads are a post war, council type,
housing estate backing onto the land. Aveline Road terminates with an
open farm access into the northern field. The eastern edge is borders
two public open spaces. These are enclosed by strongly hedged and
tree lined boundaries. One is the Ardleigh Millennium Green and the
other is Ardleigh Recreation Ground. They are set behind properties
along north-south alignment of Station Road. The south-east edge has
quite an open, but fenced boundary with the Great Eastern Mainline
railway. Woodland and tree cover beyond the railway line also provide
enclosure to this aspect. The south-western edge borders a vegetated
corridor along Green Lane and Ardleigh Footpath 7. The north-western
edge is enclosed by vegetation in the edges of a small cluster of
properties at the start of Green Lane, separate to the main village area.

This land is crossed by Ardleigh Footpath 5, which emerges from the
village in the north-east corner, near to the entrance to the Millennium
Green off Mary Warner Road. It links back to Colchester Road, around
175m to the north, near to the centre of the village. After emerging in
the countryside edge, it then traces west along the back garden edges
of the first houses on Gernon Road, before diagonally crossing the open
field in a south-westerly direction to join Ardleigh Footpath 7 on Green
Lane. In addition to this formal public right of way, casual walking routes
with trodden paths circle around the edges of all parts of this area.

This area lies within the Tendring Plain / Bromley Heaths local landscape
character area. This is a relatively flat, plateau farmland landscape. It
has varied enclosure levels, with some large-scale prairie field patterns,
but elsewhere frequent woodland and tighter enclosure with tall hedges.
The settlement pattern is quite varied, including industrial clusters and
there are extensive areas of glass houses. There is also some quarrying
activity.

The village Conservation Area is away from this area, in the centre of
the village and extending south along Station Road. There is an isolated
Grade Il Listed Building (Tudor House and Well House) on Green Lane,
nearby to the west. There are two other Grade Il Listed Buildings within
the Conservation Area along Station Road, next to the recreation
ground. These are Phoenix Steam Mill and Engine House and the
adjacent Mill House. These Listed Buildings are sometimes visible from
within this area of open land, as is the tower of the Grade II* Listed St
Marys Church, in the village centre to the north-west.

The shortlisted Local Green Space 4 is the eastern portion of the above
described wider area. It is the arable field directly alongside the
Millennium Green and Recreationlﬁwg,zgghe bordering area of

19.570-Igs01.docx 17/12/2021

2/5



Field South of Mary Warner Estate

41

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

fallow land to the south of this. It is separated from the remaining arable
field, to the west, by a rough margin containing a ditch. To the north it
adjoins the edges of Gernon Road, where Footpath 5 skirts the edge of
the land along the back of rear gardens. The diagonal route of the
footpath, crossing the area, is away to the west of Space 4, but the
southern edge of Space 4 does border with Footpath 7, before it crosses
the railway line. A smaller triangular area of fallow land, to the south of
the recreation ground, is not included within Space 4.

Appraisal against Local Green
Space criteria

The NPPF sets out criteria for the appropriate selection of land for the
Local Green Space designation (NPPF paragraph 102). The following
headings and sub-headings reflect those criteria and analysis is
provided under each heading.

REASONABLY CLOSE PROXIMITY

Space 4 is within easy walking distance of the local community within
the Ardleigh village. Space 4 readily complies with this requirement.

SPECIAL AND OF PARTICULAR LOCAL SIGNIFICANCE

The NPPF requires the Local Green Space designation to be used only
for land which is ‘demonstrably special to a local community and holds
a particular local significance’. 1t provides some examples to help
understand how this might apply: ‘beauty, historic significance,
recreational value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of
its wildlife’. These examples follow the principles applied by Landscape
Architects in determining the relative value of a local landscape area for
the purposes of Landscape and Visual Appraisal or Landscape and
Visual Impact Assessment. The Landscape Institute has recently
published guidelines to assist practitioners in this aspect of their work.
This is Landscape Institute Technical Guidance Note 02/21 ‘Assessing
landscape value outside of national designations’ (LI TGN 02/21). It
provides a more comprehensive range of indicative factors. These have
also been reviewed and are included below, where relevant.

Richness of wildlife / natural heritage interests:

No evidence of ecological, geological, geomorphological or
physiographic interest has been found for Space 4. In ordinary terms
Space 4 has no natural heritage, or ecological/wildlife interests above
and beyond ordinary arable farmland. As such this space is not special
or of particular local significance for its richness of wildlife. The Ardleigh
Parish Council Green Spaces Assessment for Space 4 also does not
suggest that this area is valued for its natural heritage.

Historic significance / cultural heritage interests:

There is no evidence of archaeological, historical or cultural interest for
Space 4. There is also no known connection with notable people, events
or the arts for this location. The Ardleigh Parish Council Green Spaces
Assessment for Space 4 also does not suggest that this area is valued
for its historic significance.

Recreational value:

Recreational use of the land is limited to public footpath routes along
two edges and unofficial walking routes (unsanctioned by the

Page 260

19.570-Igs01.docx 17/12/2021

3/5



Field South of Mary Warner Estate

4.7

4.8

4.9

landowner) around other edges of Space 4. These routes are well used,
and the Ardleigh Parish Council Green Spaces Assessment talks of
evidence of children playing in the area (geocaching and similar games).
This nature and level of activity is typical of farmland on the edges of
settlements. It is not sufficient for the area to meet the criteria that it is
‘demonstrably special to the local community’ and of ‘particular local
significance’ in terms of recreational value.

Beauty or scenic appeal

The wider area, as described in Section 3 above, has basic scenic
appeal as open farmland adjacent to a settlement. When walking
through it there is the ordinary appeal of open countryside and the area
benefits from trees and woodland around the outlying edges. However,
the interior of the area is rather featureless and flat, and there is no
particular vista or outlook into any wider countryside. Views back to the
village are not unpleasant, but also are without particular merit. The
church tower can be picked out above the rooftops of the village from
locations towards the western edges of the area, particularly around the
junction of Footpaths 5 & 7. From the west of the area, the Listed Mill
and Mill House can be seen through the trees in the Millennium Green
and Recreation Ground. These are of some interest, but are not on their
own determinative of any special scenic value. They are also not
particular characteristics of Space 4, where the angle of view and
proximity to the tree lined edges of the adjacent Millennium Green and
Recreation Ground generally block these views. In more general views
back to the village edge, the view is to the rear of post war housing, with
typically mixed enclosure including close boarded fences and some
unkempt boundaries. There is no notable interaction or outlook from any
civic spaces within the settlement, suggestive that this area has any
valued relationship with the settlement. The settlement largely turns its
back onto this area. The presentation of the Millennium Green and
Recreation Ground is also such that they do not engage with this space;
they are enclosed by hedging and largely inward looking. The
characteristics of Space 4 are of insufficient scenic appeal for it to meet
the criteria of being ‘special’ or of ‘particular local significance’.

In contrast, the Ardleigh Parish Council Green Spaces Assessment talks
about the attractiveness of the views back to the village, and its role in
providing an important rural backdrop to the Millennium Green and
Recreation Ground. It uses phrases such as from the south of the area,
the built form of the village appears as a pleasant and incidental feature
peering out of a lush landscape’ and ‘it enables picturesque views to be
had of Ardleigh from as far south as the train tracks’. Yet it also notes
‘the nondescript, hard-edged suburban nature’ of the adjacent housing
estate areas. It also suggests that ‘it provides an invaluable rural outlook
from the southern edge of the village and from two of its most valuable
and well-used community facilities’ (The Millennium Green and
Recreation Ground). However, as illustration of this it offers photos
looking towards the hedge and tree lined enclosure to these spaces, with
only glimpsed views out via incidental gaps, and no notable views out to
Space 4. Space 4 does not feature as any positive attribute in these
views.

Wildness and/or tranquillity:

This location offers little perception of wildness and no notable degrees
of tranquillity. The productive farmed landscape is clearly not of a wild
nature. The fallow areas have some degree of wild character, but this
is peripheral and of no great influence on the overall character of the
area. The constant presence of the estate housing to the north and the
trainline to the south also interfere with any feelings of isolation or
tranquillity. The Ardleigh Parish Council Green Spaces Assessment for

Page 261

19.570-Igs01.docx 17/12/2021

4/5



Field South of Mary Warner Estate

4.10

5.1

Space 4 also does not suggest that this area is valued for its wildness
or tranquillity.

LOCAL IN CHARACTER AND NOT AN EXTENSIVE TRACT OF LAND

The wider area between Colchester Road, Green Lane, the railway line
and the edges of Ardleigh village would clearly be classed as an
extensive tract of land. The portion of this that is Space 4 is smaller than
this, but it is not readily distinguishable and separate to the wider area
in any material way. This whole area would ordinarily be characterised
simply as open countryside on the edge of the settlement. It is not a
piece of land that is performing any properly recognisable green space
function above and beyond that. As such, it is not clear how this area is
the sort of local open space facility that the Local Green Space
designation is intended to capture. The Ardleigh Parish Council Green
Spaces Assessment for Space 4 is not clear about how this space
satisfies this criteria, except that it is the land bordering the Millennium
Green and Recreation Ground. These two public open spaces function
properly irrespective of the nature of the bordering area and presence of
Space 4. Therefore this justification is not well founded.

Conclusions

The NPPF lists three criteria for the appropriate use of the Local Green
Space designation (NPPF paragraph 102). All three of these criteria
should be met, in one form or another. The Ardleigh Parish Council
shortlisted Space 4 fails to meet two of these criteria. Itis in reasonable
close proximity to the community’, but it is not ‘demonstrably special’ and
‘of particular local significance’. It is also unclear how it is ‘ocal in
character’and is not more related to ‘an extensive tract of land’. Ardleigh
Parish Council shortlisted Space 4 is not an appropriate piece of land for
the Local Green Space designation.

Page 262

19.570-Igs01.docx 17/12/2021

5/5



Field South of Mary Warner Estate

APPENDIX A

Page 263

19.570-Igs01.docx 17/12/2021 Appendix A



Ardleigh Parish Council
PO Box 12865
COLCHESTER

CO7 7EZ

o B
Ema

Website: www.ardleigh.website

ARDLEIGH PARISH COUNCIL

Dear Mr & Mrs -

IMPORTANT: This letter concerns land we believe is in your ownership

I am writing to you on behalf of Ardleigh Parish Council, as on-going preparation of
Ardleigh’s Neighbourhood Plan may affect land in your ownership or in which you have an
interest.

It is intended that Ardleigh’s Neighbourhood Plan will designate a number of Local Green
Spaces and provide policies for their protection and enhancement.

These policies will not prevent any new development on a site but they will require that new
development does not compromise its special value. Developments that would enhance a
Space’s special value will be encouraged.

Some Background, Local Green Spaces are designated because of their special value to
the local community. They must be in reasonably close proximity to the community they
serve and they cannot be an extensive tract of land.

Sites may have special value to the community because of their: beauty; historic
significance; recreational value; tranquility; wildlife and/or landscape value.

Sites do not necessarily have to be accessible by the local community to be considered of
special value. However, public access is one relevant factor.

Ardleigh Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group has already invited Local
Green Spaces nominations from the community and has subsequently conducted a
thorough desktop and field assessment of all sites nominated.

Following these investigations, 11 sites throughout the Parish of Ardleigh have been
shortlisted due to their special community value. A comprehensive description, rationale and
list of all shortlisted sites can be found on the Ardleigh Parish Council website
https://bit.ly/ArdleighGreenSpaces

We believe that you may have an interest in the shortlisted site described below:

e Field south of Mary Warner Estate, west of Millennium Green. Land on south side of
Dedham Road, Ardleigh. (Space 4) TM053292, FOOTPATH PROW158_5 Overview:
agricultural field on the southern edge of the village, bordered by official and

unofficial walking routes.
° Page 264



If you are the landowner of this space or have any other interest in the land, we would
welcome your written response by no later than 1st January 2022.

Please respond to the following:
e What is your interest in the land (e.g., owner/leaseholder)?
e Do you understand the proposal to designate your land as a Local Green Space?

e Do you support or object to the proposal to designate your land as a Local Green
Space?

e Is the land the subject of an on-going planning application?
e s the land the subject of any existing or emerging allocations in the Local Plan?

When considering Local Green Spaces these factors were considered. You may wish to
comment on:

e |sthe land local in character?
e Is the land within close proximity of the local community?
e |s there any public access to the land (formally or otherwise)?

e The land’s beauty, historic significance, recreational value, tranquility, wildlife value,
landscape value.

Your response will be taken into careful consideration by Ardleigh Parish Council’'s Working
Group and will be used to inform the final list of Local Green Spaces to be designated in the
Neighbourhood Plan.

Your response can be emailed or posted to Ardleigh Parish Council at the following:
ardleighpc@gmail.com
Ardleigh Parish Council, PO Box 12865, Colchester CO7 7EZ.

Do not hesitate to contact the Ardleigh Parish Council if you require further clarification or
assistance.

We look forward to hearing from you.

Yours sincerely

S eWe

Tim Barrott

Chair of Ardleigh Parish Council

Page 265



Field South of Mary Warner Estate

APPENDIX B

Ardleigh Parish Council Green Spaces
Assessments (Space 4)




Field south of Mary Warner Estate (Space 4) TM053292, FOOTPATH PROW158 5
Overview: agricultural field on the southern edge of the village, bordered by official and
unofficial walking routes.

ERRT

Size: approx. 7.7 ha

Proximity: The site lies in exceptionally convenient proximity of the village centre, with
connecting footpaths available. It is also accessible from the recreation ground/
children’s play area.

Ownership: It is believed that the working agricultural field is in private ownership. An
unofficial footpath runs along its eastern boundary and is well-trodden. Its daily use by
the public appears to have been kindly permitted by the landowner over multiple
decades. A public right of way extends along its northern and southern boundaries,
skirting off to the west.

Use: The field provides an idyllic rural backdrop to one of the village’s main built-up
residential areas (Mary Warner Estate) as well as some of its important community
facilities (Millennium Green and children’s play area/playing fields). Its unofficial walking
track is very well-used by villagers, mainly walkers and local children.

Page 267



It also forms part of a pleasant and well-used circular walking route that takes you
across the train tracks and through ancient woodlands before returning to the village.

Existing designations: None known.
Allocations or planning consents: None.

Assessment: This field provides a very pleasant rural backdrop to some important
village amenities and (relatively) densely occupied parts of the village. It enables far-
reaching views both from and towards open countryside. From the south of the area,
the built form of the village appears as a pleasant and incidental feature peering out of a
lush landscape. There was evidence of children playing in this area (geocaching and
similar games).

The presence of high quality, mature trees along the site’'s eastern perimeter adds
considerably to the character and amenity of the village recreation grounds.

Despite the nondescript, hard-edged suburban nature of the Mary Warner Estate, the
presence of this open tract of land ensures the overall retention of the rural character
and setting of this part of the village.

Photos 02/11/2021:

View from the south - built edge of Ardleigh just visible on the horizon

Page 268



View from site through perimeter trees|View from children’s play area through to
towards recreation ground site

S B

Trees alongside children’s play area Assisting to soften and situate the Mary
Warner Estate

Conclusion: The value of this site to the local community is significant. It is located in
exceptionally close proximity of the main built-up part of the village. It provides an
invaluable rural outlook from the southern edge of the village and from two of its most
valuable and well-used community facilities. It enables picturesque views to be had of
Ardleigh from as far south as the train tracks. It is used on a daily basis by a wide
variety of villagers for a number of recreational purposes.

CARRY FORWARD AS A LOCAL GREEN SPACE.

Page 269



This page is intentionally left blank



1s1xe Apeaije Jey) asoy} Jano ssadoe alqnd jo sybu
Aue 18ju0d Jou pjnom adeds ay} Jo uoneubisaq -

adeospue| Jopim

ay} wouy y saysinbuisip jey) ises syl 0} saoeds

uaaib [euoneasoas Juepodwi ay) yum diysuoneal

-1aul/Ajwixoid pue (Jewuoy Jesjonu oL0lSIY SY

Buinesaud) abejia ayy 03 diysuonejal [ejyeds sy osje
S1}| "SM8IA [eLSR Ul JuspIAs sI Auepunog plely ay] -

Jsyoereyo
[eanu Buppom sy - ped }sow 8y} 1o} - sulejal
abe||iA urew ay} Jo ped yuepoduw SIY} ‘UoIsnIsul
ulepouw siy3 jo ayds uj ey Buunsus - yuou syl 0}
aje)se Buisnoy uiepoLu 8y} Jo J8jorIeyd ueqINgns
2I0W 8y} WOJy Jal|al [BINJ/|ENSIA [BD13140 sapinoid }| .
alaymas|e pue
abe||IA 8y} UIyIM WOL) PAMBIA UBYM YlOq JusWws|ies
ay} Jo saijiienb [einJ pue Ajneaq ay} 0} S8yNquUIU0D
Aleayisod Auan 3| “}ses syl 0] Sal}i|10.} [BuOlje8Id8.)
ay} pue ypou sy o} Buisnoy uiepow Jo seale ay}
Ajjeioadse ‘Juawajpias ayl yum diysuonejal ajgenjea
B Sey a)Is 8y} Jey} JopIsSuod saop [1ounod ysued ayj -
apisAiunod Buppom jusoelpe
8y} 0} uoiOaUUOod [euonouny pue [eaisAyd (bulobuo
pue ouojsiy) s,abe|iAn ayy Buisiseydwse ‘abe||in
urew ay} Jo syed [enuapisai/oIA Juepodwi Swos
0} doupyoeq uaaib |nyiineaq e sepinoid 8yis 8y -

syjedjo0; [e1o1o ay) wouy Aeme ssa290e 21|gnd mojje 0}
Jaumopue| ay} Aq uaalb usaq Jane sey uoissiuuad oN
puej jo joes}

BAISUBIX8 UB PalapiSuod aq p|noys os pue adeospue|

[einJ Jopim 8y} wouy a|qeysinBunsip jou si eaie 8y -

yinos ayj o} Aemjiel
8y} pue yuou ay} o} Buisnoy aje)se Jo aoussaid

ay} 0} yed ui enp Ayjinbuel) Jo asuas 8| Sl 818y -

Bupjoo| piemul pue Buibpay
Aq pasojous ale Aay) - eoeds ay} yum abebus jou op

[***] punous) uoneaiday pue usaiL) WnIUUd|IN YL
juswees

8y} yum diysuonejal panjeA e aAey Jou S80p

eale ay} Bunsabbns ‘quawsaas ayy uiym aoeds 2IAI0
Aue WO} OO0JINO 10 UOI}OBISIUI 8|qBJOU OU S| 818y |
Jsw senofped Jnoypm ase Inq

jueses|dun jou aie abe||IA 8y} O} 8)IS 8y} SSOI0B SMBIA
apisAiunod

uado jo |eadde Aseuipio ayy sey )l ‘Aineaq Jo suus) u|
Ayunwwod

|[e20] 8y} 0} . |e1oads Ajqelysuowsp, Buleq Jo is8)

8y} }98W 0} JUSBIOIYNS JOU S| }| "sjusLws|yas Jo sebpa
8y} uo puejuwuey jo [eoidA} s1 AjIAIOR JO [9A8)/ainjeu
8y} 48ASMOH "pasn [|am aJe Jey) (Jaumopue| ay} Aq
pauonouesun) saynoJ Bupjiem [eloioun pue syyedoo)
21|Qnd 0} pajiLl| S| PUB| By} JO 8SN [BUOHEBIOBY
S}Sala)ul [Binynd

10 [eouo)s1y ‘[eoibojoaeyoie JO 80USPIAS OU S| BJay |
8JI|P|IM JO SSauyol S} 4oy [e1oads jou S| 8deds ay |

8lgp peoeds ¢ @oeds Jo JeUuMOpUET

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



plonning direct

o

=

Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 2020 - 2033 Basic
Conditions Statement

On behalf of: Ardleigh Parish Council
Prepared by: N O’Hagan BA (Hons)
Date: 30/03/2022

planningdirect.co.uk | enquirieqipgerpyggdirect.co.uk 101473 407911



NOTICE

This document has been prepared for the
stated purpose in Accordance with the
Agreement under which our services were
commissioned and should not be used

for any other purpose without the prior
written consent of Planning Direct. We
accept no responsibility or liability for the
consequences of this document being used
for a purpose other than that for which it was
commissioned.

© Planning Direct. All rights reserved. No
part of this document may be otherwise
reproduced or published in any form or by
any means, including photocopying, storage
on a computer or otherwise, without the prior
permission of the copyright holder.

Planning Direct is a trading name of Cicero
Communication Ltd. Registered in England

and Wales, no. 7986959.

July 2020

planning direct

The Furnace, The Maltings, Princes Street,
Ipswich, IP1 1SB

01473 407911

¥% enquiries@planningdirect.co.uk

. www.planningdirect.co.uk

b

planning direct

Page. 274



Table of Contents

[ Y o0 Yo ¥t (o] o PP 4

Basic Condition 1: Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance
issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood plan...6

Basic Condition 2: The making of the neighbourhood development plan contributes to
the achievement of sustainable development.........cccviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee, 13

Basic Condition 3: The making of the neighbourhood development plan is in general
conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area
of the authority (or any part of that area)..........ccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiriiriirees 20

Basic Condition 4: The making of the neighbourhood development plan does not
breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations..........cccceviiiiiinnnennn... 26

Basic Condition 5: Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the neighbourhood plan
and prescribed matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for
the neighbourhood plan. The prescribed condition is that the making of the
neighbourhood plan does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 ......cceviiiiiieeiireiiiinnnnnnnnn. 27

(600 Y Lol U113 (o] o [ 28

%
3 planning
Dagp 275




Introduction

This Basic Conditions Statement has been produced to accompany the Ardleigh
Neighbourhood Plan.

The Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan - “the Plan” - sets out policies that relate to the
development and use of land within only the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Area.

The Plan refers only to the administrative boundary of the parish of Ardleigh. There are
no other adopted Neighbourhood Development Plans that cover the Ardleigh
Neighbourhood Area.

The Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan Working Group has prepared the Plan to establish a
vision for the future of the parish. The community has set out how that vision will be
realised through planning and controlling land use and development change over the
plan period 2020 to 2033.

Tendring District Council, as local planning authority, designated the Plan area which
covers the parish of Ardleigh in June 2020.

On the designation of the Plan area, Tendring District Council reports as follows:

In accordance with paragraph 6 and 6A of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, as
amended in 2015, Tendring District Council held an 8 week period of public consultation from Monday
20 January - Monday 16 March 2020 on the proposed designation.

On the 8th June 2020 the Council’s Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee considered Ardleigh
Parish Council’s request to designate the whole of the Parish to form the Neighbourhood Plan Area. At
that meeting it was resolved that the application from Ardleigh Parish Council to designate the whole
of the Ardleigh Parish as a Neighbourhood Development Plan Area (NDPA) be noted and that that
designation be approved.

This means that the District Council has formally agreed the Neighbourhood Plan Area allowing the
Parish Council to proceed with the preparation of their Neighbourhood Plan.

Consultation on the neighbourhood plan itself will follow and this first stage is only about the area to
be included with the proposed plan.

The relevant legal framework for the preparation and making of neighbourhood plans is
supported by the Localism Act 2011 and the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 and

o
4 planning
Dagp 276




found in the:

* Town and Country Planning Act 1990: ss. 61F, 611, 61M-P and Schedule 4B
+ Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004: ss 38A-C
* Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (2012 N0.637) (As Amended).

Paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 requires a
neighbourhood plan to meet five basic conditions before it can proceed to a referendum.

The basic conditions
These are:

1. Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the
Secretary of State it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood plan;

2. The making of the neighbourhood development plan contributes to the achievement
of sustainable development;

3. The making of the neighbourhood development plan is in general conformity with the
strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the authority (or
any part of that area);

4. The making of the neighbourhood development plan does not breach, and is
otherwise compatible with, EU obligations; and

5. Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the neighbourhood plan and prescribed
matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for the
neighbourhood plan. The prescribed condition is that the making of the
neighbourhood plan does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.

This document sets out how the Plan meets the Basic Conditions.

\_\
)

5 planning
Page.2..[



Basic Condition 1: Having regard to national policies and
advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of
State, it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood plan

To meet this condition, the Plan must be shown to have regard to national policies and
advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State. National policy and
guidance is contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’) and the
National Planning Practice Guidance (‘NPPG’).

This section aims to set out how the policies of the draft Plan take account of national
policy and advice.

The NPPF provides the framework within which all locally-prepared plans for housing
and other development should be produced. It explores how the following three
overarching objectives of the planning system can be achieved:

a) an economic objective — to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity;
and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

b) a social objective — to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring
that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of
present and future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe
places, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and future
needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and

c) an environmental objective — to protect and enhance our natural, built and historic
environment; including making effective use of land, improving biodiversity, using
natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and
adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy.

The NPPF seeks primarily to:
+ Deliver a sufficient supply of homes;
L)

5 planning
Dagp 278




+ Build a strong, competitive economy;

+ Ensure the vitality of town centres;

+ Promote healthy and safe communities;

* Promote sustainable transport;

+ Support high quality communications;

+ Make effective use of land;

+ Achieve well-designed places;

+ Meet the challenges of climate change, flooding and coastal change;
« Conserve and enhance the natural environment;

« Conserve and enhance the historic environment; and
+ Facilitate the sustainable use of minerals.

Table 1 sets out the objectives of the Plan by comparison to the objectives of the NPPF.

Table 1
Plan objective Relevant NPPF objectives
To achieve the Vision + Deliver a sufficient supply of homes

+ Build a strong, competitive economy

+ Promote healthy and safe communities

* Promote sustainable transport

+ Make effective use of land

+ Achieve well-designed places

+ Meet the challenges of climate change,
flooding and coastal change

+ Conserve and enhance the natural
environment

+ Conserve and enhance the historic
environment

\_\
)

. planning
Page.2./9



To achieve sustainable development in
Ardleigh in accordance with the three
overarching objectives of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF),
namely:

a) an economic objective — to help build
a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land
of the right types is available in the right
places and at the right time to support
growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and

coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

b) a social objective — to support strong,
vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and
range of homes can be provided to meet
the needs of present and future
generations; and by fostering well-
designed, beautiful and safe places, with

accessible services and open spaces that

reflect current and future needs and
support communities’ health, social and
cultural well-being; and

c) an environmental objective — to

protect and enhance our natural, built and

historic environment; including making
effective use of land, improving
biodiversity, using natural resources
prudently, minimising waste and pollution,
and mitigating and adapting to climate
change, including moving to a low carbon
economy.

8

8. Achieving sustainable development
means that the planning system has three
overarching objectives, which are
interdependent and need to be pursued in
mutually supportive ways (so that
opportunities can be taken to secure net
gains across each of the different
objectives):

a) an economic objective — to help build
a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient
land of the right types is available in the
right places and at the right time to
support growth, innovation and
improved productivity; and by identifying
and coordinating the provision of
infrastructure;

b) a social objective — to support strong,
vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and
range of homes can be provided to
meet the needs of present and future
generations; and by fostering well-
designed, beautiful and safe places,
with accessible services and open
spaces that reflect current and future
needs and support communities’ health,
social and cultural well-being; and

c) an environmental objective — to
protect and enhance our natural, built
and historic environment; including
making effective use of land, improving
biodiversity, using natural resources
prudently, minimising waste and
pollution

o3

planning

Page.280



and mitigating and adapting to climate
change, including moving to a low carbon
economy.

Table 2 sets out each policy of the Plan alongside the policies in the NPPF that it has
had regard to and analyses how each Plan policy contributes to achieving the key
objectives of the NPPF.

Table 2

Policy title and reference NPPF paragraphs Commentary

Policy GDP - General Paragraph 13 Policy GDP supports the delivery of the
Approach to Local Plan’s strategic policies and
Development Paragraph 15 reinforces its strategic approach to
development in both Smaller Rural
Sections 5, 6, 14 Settlements and the open countryside.

& 15
Policy GDP takes a positive approach to

development, providing additional support
for certain developments that would:

* Enhance the existing local housing
stock and improve its energy efficiency;

+ Support a new or existing rural
business; and

+ Directly provide for the enhancement or
enjoyment of the countryside.

\_\
)

9 planning
Page.281



Policy CFP - Community Paragraph 20
Facilities
Paragraph 84

Paragraph 93

Policy HP - Housing
Policy

Paragraph 13
Paragraph 126
Section 14

Paragraph 62

Policy CFP seeks to make provision for
community facilities for which the local
community has expressed a clear need
or desire

Policy CFP seeks to ensure that local
services and community facilities are kept
or made genuinely accessible

Policy CFP also seeks to guard against
the loss of valued and pressured local
facilities - especially the GP surgery -
whose loss would significantly reduce the
community’s ability to meet its day-to-day

needs
Policy HP reinforces the Local Plan

approach to Settlement Development
Boundaries

Policy HP seeks to encourage
sustainable design/construction
techniques in new housing schemes in
accordance with paragraph 126 and
Section 14 of the NPPF

Policy HP also provides additional
support for the creation of ancillary
residential accommodation in order to
better meet the needs of different groups
in the local community, especially
multigenerational families, older people
and those with care needs

o3

planning

Page.282



Policy EP - Natural, Built Paragraph 126
and Historic

Environment Paragraph 128

and 129

Paragraph 130
Paragraph 131
Paragraph 174
Paragraph 179
Paragraph 180
Paragraph 189

Paragraph 206

Policy EP cont.

Policy EP is concerned with creating
high-quality and sustainable buildings
and places. It requires developers to
have regard to the updated Village
Design Statement (VDS). The VDS is a
form of local design guide produced as
part of the Plan, per NPPF paragraphs
128 and 129.

By way of the VDS, policy EP ensures
the various criteria of paragraph 130 will
be met by new development.

Policy EP recognises the intrinsic
character and beauty of the countryside
in Ardleigh and seeks to protect and
enhance its valued landscapes, features,
economic assets and biodiversity.

Policy EP also seeks to protect the
historic environment, including the
Ardleigh Conservation Area, and its
irreplaceable assets

Policy EP finally provides exceptional
support for any development that would
secure material benefits for Ardleigh’s
natural, built and/or historic environment

o3

planning

Page.283



Policy GP - Local Green Paragraph 101
Spaces
Paragraph 102

Paragraph 103
Paragraph 147
NPPG on Local

Green Space
designation

Policy TP - Transport &
Parking

Paragraph 104
Paragraph 105
Paragraph 106

Paragraph 113

Policy TP cont.

N.B.The separate LGS Assessment
details how the Spaces meet the criteria
at paragraph 102 of the NPPF

Policy GP is concerned with managing
development within a Local Green Space.
In accordance with paragraph 103, it is
consistent with NPPF paragraph 147 on
development affecting the Green Belt.

In particular, it resists inappropriate
development except in very special
circumstances. It also provides express
support for development that would be
compatible with a space’s character and
special value/s.

Given the very limited sustainability of the
parish (per the Local Plan), Policy TP
resists significant development likely to
generate significant amounts of
movement in accordance with paragraph
105 .

Policy TP also provides strong support for
development that would improve the
functioning of the local road network or

promote opportunities for cycling/walking.
Given the unfortunate deficiencies in

recent developments in the area, policy
TP also reiterates that parking should be
integral to the design of all schemes, per
paragraph 104 of the NPPF.

o3

planning

Page.284



Basic Condition 2: The making of the neighbourhood
development plan contributes to the achievement of
sustainable development

In order to demonstrate that a draft Plan contributes to sustainable development,
sufficient and proportionate evidence should be presented on how the draft Plan guides
development to sustainable solutions (NPPG - Paragraph: 072 Reference ID:
41-072-20190509 Revision date: 09 05 2019).

In order to achieve sustainable development, the planning system adopts the following
three overarching objectives:

a) an economic objective — to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity;
and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

b) a social objective — to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring
that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of
present and future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe
places, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and future
needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and

c) an environmental objective — to protect and enhance our natural, built and historic
environment; including making effective use of land, improving biodiversity, using
natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and
adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 8 of the NPPF provides that these objectives are interdependent and need to
be pursued in mutually supportive ways.

Table 3 below summarises how the objectives and policies in the Plan contribute
towards sustainable development, as defined in the NPPF. Many of the objectives and
policies of the Plan overlap the three strands of sustainability and so appear in multiple
places.

Essex County’s Place Services has also prepared a Habitats Regulations Assessment
&
13 planning
Dagp 285




and Strategic Environmental Assessment in support of the Plan.

Table 3

Economic sustainability

NPPF definition: to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the
right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying
and coordinating the provision of infrastructure
Plan objectives + To achieve the Vision
+ To achieve sustainable development in Ardleigh in accordance
with the three overarching objectives of the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF), namely:
a) an economic objective — to help build a strong, responsive
and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right
time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity;
and by identifying and coordinating the provision of
infrastructure
Plan policies + Policy GDP - General Approach to Development
+ Policy CFP - Community Facilities
+ Policy EP - Natural, Built & Historic Environment

ﬁ‘

~y
14 planning

Page.286



Social sustainability

NPPF definition: to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present
and future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with
accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support
communities’ health, social and cultural well-being
Plan objectives + To achieve the Vision
+ To achieve sustainable development in Ardleigh in accordance
with the three overarching objectives of the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF), namely:
b) a social objective - to support strong, vibrant and healthy
communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of
homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and
future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful
and safe places, with accessible services and open spaces
that reflect current and future needs and support communities’

health, social and cultural well-being
Policy GDP - General Approach to Development

Policy CFP - Community Facilities

Policy HP - Housing

Policy EP - Natural, Built & Historic Environment
Policy GP - Local Green Spaces

Policy TP - Transport and Parking

Plan policies

\_\
)
15 planning
Page.287



Commentary

Policy GDP reinforces the Local Plan approach to housing
delivery, whilst providing additional support for high-quality and
sustainable replacement dwellings. This will help to improve the
existing housing stock, supporting a stronger, more vibrant and
healthier local community.

Policy CFP seeks to provide accessible local services and
provides enthusiastic support for new facilities for which the local
community has expressed a strong need or desire.

Policy CFP also seeks to ensure that sufficient essential
infrastructure is in place to meet the needs arising from new
housing schemes in the area.

Policy HP reinforces the Local Plan approach to new housing
delivery in the area. It also provides additional support for new

ancillary residential accommodation. It is anticipated that this
policy provision will make a welcome contribution towards local

housing needs whilst avoiding much of the harm to local
character, infrastructure and patterns of movement normally
associated with new housebuilding.

Policy EP seeks to preserve and enhance Ardleigh’s quality of
design, its beauty and its safety.

Policy GP provides welcome protection for Local Green Spaces
that are of particular importance to the local community. It
supports developments that would enhance the community value
of designated spaces.

Policy TP seeks to ensure that all new development is provided
with appropriate and well-designed parking facilities

Environmental sustainability

NPPF definition: to protect and enhance our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, improving biodiversity, using natural resources
prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate
change, including moving to a low carbon economy

ﬁ‘

~y
16 planning

Page.288



Plan objectives

Plan policies

Commentary

To achieve the Vision

To achieve sustainable development in Ardleigh in accordance
with the three overarching objectives of the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF), namely:

c) an environmental objective — to protect and enhance our
natural, built and historic environment; including making
effective use of land, improving biodiversity, using natural
resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and
mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to
a low carbon economy

Policy GDP - General Approach to Development

Policy CFP - Community Facilities

Policy HP - Housing

Policy EP - Natural, Built & Historic Environment

Policy GP - Local Green Spaces

Policy TP - Transport & Parking

Policy GDP seeks to ensure that development is of a scale and
location to protect and enhance the natural, built and historic

\_\
)
17 planning
Page.289



character of the parish, in accordance with the Local Plan
approach to development in the Smaller Rural Settlements and
countryside. It provides exceptional support for development that
would directly provide for the enhancement or enjoyment of the
Ardleigh countryside.

Policy CFP seeks to ensure that replacement community
facilities are sustainably located in the Settlement Boundaries to
avoid harm to the intrinsic character of the countryside and limit
the reliance of local residents on private cars (given its
associated pollution and carbon emissions).

Policy CFP also seeks to ensure that new development does not
result in the loss or closure of Ardleigh’s sustainably located
essential facilities - this recognises that their relocation outside of
the village would greatly reduce the overall sustainability of the
settlement whilst greatly increasing residents’ daily reliance on
private cars.

Policy HP provides firm support for the inclusion of various
sustainability and accessibility features in the design of new
housing, helping to adapt to climate change and move to a low
carbon economy.

Policy HP also provides support for ancillary residential
accommodation which will assist to make the most effective
possible use of established residential plots in Ardleigh.

Policy EP is directly concerned with the protection and
enhancement of Ardleigh’s natural, built and historic
environment. It provides exceptional support for development
that would secure material environmental benefits.

Policy GP protects designated Local Green Spaces - all of which
make substantial positive contributions to the character and
quality of the Ardleigh environment - from inappropriate
development.

Policy TP seeks to ensure that new development does not
materially exacerbate existing problems with local roads
(especially around parking and congestion). It also seeks to
ensure new development is provided with appropriate parking

facilities - this should reduce the occurrence of inappropriate and
nhtrniicive narkinn ecneciallv nn-ctreat

*‘

5y

18 planning
Page.290



As explored in the above table, all of the objectives and policies of the Plan make clear
contributions towards the achievement of sustainable development in the Plan area.
Most of the plan policies serve multiple sustainability objectives, ensuring that the
social, economic and environmental objectives of sustainable development are pursued
in a genuinely interdependent and mutually supportive manner.

19 planning
Dagp 291




Basic Condition 3: The making of the neighbourhood
development plan is in general conformity with the
strategic policies contained in the development plan for
the area of the authority (or any part of that area)

When considering whether a policy is in general conformity a qualifying body,
independent examiner, or local planning authority, should consider the following:

« whether the neighbourhood plan policy or development proposal supports and
upholds the general principle that the strategic policy is concerned with

+ the degree, if any, of conflict between the draft neighbourhood plan policy or
development proposal and the strategic policy

» whether the draft neighbourhood plan policy or development proposal provides an
additional level of detail and/or a distinct local approach to that set out in the
strategic policy without undermining that policy

+ the rationale for the approach taken in the draft neighbourhood plan or Order and
the evidence to justify that approach (NPPG - Paragraph: 074 Reference ID:
41-074-20140306 Revision date: 06 03 2014).

The development plan for Tendring District Council is currently made up of:

+ Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond: North Essex Authorities’ Shared
Strategic Section 1;

+ Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond: Section 2;

+ Essex Minerals Local Plan; and

+ Essex and Southend-on-Sea Waste Local Plan.

The most relevant of these Local Plan documents - Sections 1 and 2 of the Tendring
District Local Plan - were only very recently adopted. Ardleigh’s Neighbourhood Plan
has been prepared paying close and considered regard to the strategic policies of these
documents.

Table 4 below explores how all policies in the Plan achieve general conformity with
strategic policies of the development plan.
\ -

20 planning
Dagp 292




Table 4

Plan

Tendring Local Plan policies Commentary

policy
GDP

CFP

* Policy SP3 of Section 1 .
(Spatial Strategy for North
Essex)

* Policy SPL1 of Section 2
(Managing Growth) &
supporting paragraphs at
3.3.1.4

* Policy SPL2 of Section2 -
(Settlement Development
Boundaries)

* Policy LP6 of Section 2
(Rural Exception Sites)

* Policy LP7 of Section 2
(Self-build and Custom-
built Homes)

* Policy HP1 of Section2 -
(Improving Health and
Wellbeing)

+ Policy HP2 of Section 2
(Community Facilities)

Policy SP3 provides that existing settlements
will be the principal focus for additional growth
and that, beyond main settlements, the focus
will be on diversification of the rural economy
and conservation/enhancement of the natural
environment. Policy GDP uses this strategic
approach as its framework.

Policy SPL1 identifies Ardleigh as a Smaller
Rural Settlement. The supporting text confirms
these are the least sustainable locations for
growth but that some small-scale development
is appropriatePolicy SPL2 states that outside
SDBs, applications will be considered in
relation to the Settlement Hierarchy in Policy
SPL1 and other relevant policies in the LP.
Policy GDP builds on this, clarifying - by
reference to policies SP3, SPL1 and its
supporting text - that only certain, small-scale
developments will generally be encouraged in
Ardleigh’s countryside

Policy GDP also clarifies that the only housing
that will be supported outside of SDBs in
Ardleigh is housing that is in accordance with
exceptional strategic policies LP6 and LP7 of

the Local Plan
Policy HP1 seeks to ensure that residents can

access high quality health services and that
new/improved services can be put in place to
serve growing populations. Given the
acknowledged pressures on Ardleigh’s GP
surgery and school, policy CFP reinforces this
strategic requirement.

Policy HP2 seeks to deliver and maintain a

\_\
)
o1 planning
Page.293



Cont.

HP

EP

+ Policy SPL1 of Section 2
(Managing Growth) &
supporting paragraphs at
3.3.1.4

+ Policy SPL2 of Section 2
(Settlement Development
Boundaries)

+ Policy LP6 of Section 2
(Rural Exception Sites)

+ Policy LP7 (Self-build and
Custom-built Homes)

+ Policy PPL 10 of Section
2 (Renewable Energy
Generation and Energy
Efficiency Measures)

+ Policy SP7 of Section 1
(Place Shaping Principles)

+ Policy SPL3 of Section 2
(Sustainable Design)

+ Policy PPL3 of Section 2
(The Rural Landscape)

range of new community facilities. To this end,
policy CFP identifies those potential new
facilities most needed/desired by the local
community

Policy CFP also provides some additional
detail concerning how parts b. and c. of policy
HP2 will be understood and applied in the

context of Ardleigh
In terms of new housing outside of SDBs,

policy HP directs developers to consider policy
GDP - the conformity of this policy with the
development plan (including policies SPL1,
SPL2, LP6 and LP7) is explored above

Policy SLP1’s supporting text confirms that
housing should be limited to infill
developments of no more than 10 houses
within Settlement Development Boundaries
(SDBs). Policy HP transposes these
supporting provisions into policy.

Policy PPL 10 requires all developments
involving the creation of 1 or more dwellings to
be accompanied by a “Renewable Energy
Generation Plan” that will set out measures to
be included in design, layout and construction
to maximise energy efficiency and the use of
renewable energy. Policy HP supports this by
providing some examples of sustainability
measures/features that will be encouraged in

Ardleigh
Policy SP7 requires all new development to

meet high standard of design. To this end, the
preparation of local design codes/guides is
encouraged. Policy EP directs developers to
have regard to the local design guide (Village
Design Statement) which was updated as part
of the Plan’s preparation

o3

0 planning

Page.294



Cont.

and supporting paragraph -« Policy SPL3 requires new development to

7.3.1

* Policy PPL4 of Section 2
(Biodiversity and
Geodiversity)

+ Policy PP13 of Section 2
(The Rural Economy)

+ Policy PPL8 of Section 2
(Conservation Areas)

+ Policy PPL9 of Section 2
(Listed Buildings)

make a positive contribution to the local
environment and protect or enhance local
character. Policy EP and the associated VDS
seek to clarify/explore how this can be
achieved in the local context of Ardleigh.

In recognition of Ardleigh’s distinctive and
special rural character, policy EP also contains
specific provisions relating to the protection or
enhancement of this, per policies SPL3 and
PPL3

Policy PPL4 requires, as a minimum, that
development achieves net gain for biodiversity
(as a result of lack of harm, mitigation, or as a
last resort, compensation). To this end, policy
EP resists the loss of good quality green
landscape features and requires that new such
features are appropriate local or native species
(to genuinely support biodiversity)

Policy PPL3 provides that the rural landscape
will be protected and permission will be
refused for any development that would cause
overriding harm to its character and
appearance. Supporting paragraph 7.3.1
confirms the importance of protecting best and
most versatile agricultural land. Similarly PP13
confirms the types of development that may be
supported inhale countryside, most of which
relate to agriculture (and similar rural land-
based activities). Ardleigh’s countryside
contains a valuable amount of irreplaceable

\_\
)
o3 planning
Page.295



Cont. best and most versatile agricultural land and
this makes a substantial (and irreplaceable)
positive contribution to the local landscape
character and local economy. Policy EP
accordingly resists its permanent loss to non-
compatible uses

+ Provisions of policy EP concerning the
Conservation Area and Listed Buildings are in
keeping with the provisions of policies PPL8
and PPLO9. It is acknowledged that the NPPF
(and its own heritage policies) will remain a
material planning consideration in the

determination of all applications
GP + Policy HP4 of Section2 - Policy HP4 contains provisions relating to the

(Safeguarded Open loss and replacement of Local Green Spaces.
Space) and supporting Policy GP does not negate or otherwise
paragraph 4.4.4 contradict this policy which will retain its full

weight in Ardleigh. Instead, policy GP contains
provisions relating to the sorts of development
that will generally be supported, or alternatively
resisted, or or adjacent to Ardleigh’s Local
Green Spaces

+ Supporting paragraph 4.4.4 confirms the
power of Neighbourhood Plans to identify
Local Green Spaces and include policies to
rule out “new development” other than in very
special circumstances. Policy GP has been
drafted in light of this. It does clarify that only
“new development” that would harm or erode a

space’s identified values will be resisted
TP * Policy CP1 of Section2  « Policy CP2 concerns the new Garden

(Sustainable Transport Community and associated transport
and Accessibility) infrastructure planned in Ardleigh. Policy TP
+ Policy CP2 of Section 2 ensures the delivery of the Garden Community
(Improving the Transport and its planned transport infrastructure is not
Network) undermined by premature development
*‘
~y
o4 planning

Page.296



Policy SPL1 of Section 2
(Managing Growth) &
supporting paragraphs at
3.3.1.4

Policy PP13 of Section 2
(The Rural Economy)

+ Policy CP2 seeks to ensure the provision of a
safe and efficient transport network that offers
a range of sustainable transport choices.
Policy TP provides detail concerning how this
can be achieved in Ardleigh.

* In recognition of the considerable harm caused
to the character, safety and efficiency of local
roads, policy TP also seeks to ensure that
relevant new development in Ardleigh provides
sufficient and appropriate parking facilities

« To further support policy CP2, policy TP also
identifies two roads in Ardleigh where parking
and congestion issues are already problematic
and where, accordingly, development
exacerbating these issues will be refused

+ Policy SPL1 and supporting paragraph 3.3.1.4
confirms that only small-scale development is
supported in the Smaller Rural Settlement of
Ardleigh. Policy PP13 confirms that
development in the countryside should not
create significant levels of traffic and that
proposals generating significant numbers of
jobs should be readily accessible by public
transport (in the Ardleigh countryside, access
to public transport is severely limited if not non-
existent). Policy CP1 also requires that new
development is sustainable in terms of
transport and accessibility and that new major
development includes proposals for walking
and cycling routes and new or improved bus-
stops/services (this is not achievable in
Ardleigh, given its size, location and strong
rural character). In light of these policy
provisions, policy TP resists significant
development likely to generate significant
amounts of movement throughout the parish.

\_\
)
o5 planning
Page.29/



Basic Condition 4: The making of the neighbourhood
development plan does not breach, and is otherwise
compatible with, EU obligations

The Plan and the process under which it was made conforms to the SEA Directive (EU
2001/42/EC) and the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations
2004 (the Regulations). 5.2.

At Pre-Submission (Regulation 14) Consultation Stage, the Neighbourhood Plan was
screened for the need for an SEA (Strategic Environmental Assessment).

In May 2022, following a screening exercise which took on board comments from the
statutory bodies (the Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England), an
SEA & HRA Screening Report, prepared by Essex County Council Place Services, was
published. This came to the opinion that an SEA was not needed. This Screening
Report has been submitted at Regulation 16 stage as part of the evidence base for the
Plan.

In addition to conforming to its EU obligations, the Plan does not breach and is not
otherwise incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights.

o
6 planning
Dagp 208




Basic Condition 5: Prescribed conditions are met in
relation to the neighbourhood plan and prescribed
matters have been complied with in connection with the
proposal for the neighbourhood plan. The prescribed
condition is that the making of the neighbourhood plan
does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6
of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017

Under Directive 92/43/EEC, also known as the Habitats Directive, it must be
ascertained whether the draft Plan is likely to breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of
Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. Assessments
under the regulations are known as Habitats Regulation Assessments ("HRA").

An appropriate assessment ("AA") is required only if the Plan is likely to have significant
effects on a European protected species or site. To ascertain whether or not it is
necessary to undertake an assessment, a screening process is followed. 6.2. A

An HRA and SEA (Strategic Environmental Assessment) Screening was undertaken by
Essex County Council Place Services on the Pre-Submission (Regulation 14) Version of
the Neighbourhood Plan.

In May 2022, following consultation with Natural England, Place Services published its
report. The report was of the opinion that no planning policies within the Ardleigh
Neighbourhood Plan will lead to any adverse effects and can be screened out of further
assessment.

Tendring District Council is therefore of the opinion that the Plan is not likely to have
significant impacts on European protected species or sites.

The Screening Report - including the responses from the statutory bodies - has been
submitted at Regulation 16 stage as part of the evidence base for the Plan.
\ -

o7 planning
Dagp 299




Conclusion

The relevant Basic Conditions as set out in Schedule 4B to the TCPA 1990 are
considered to be met by the Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan and all the policies contained
therein. It is therefore respectfully suggested to the Examiner that the Ardleigh
Neighbourhood Plan complies with Paragraph 8(1) (a) of Schedule 4B of the Act.

o
o8 planning
Dagp 300




Agenda Iltem 10

CABINET
17 MARCH 2023
REPORT OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR CORPORATE FINANCE & GOVERNANCE

A.2 THE SHARED PROCUREMENT PARTNERSHIP

PART 1 - KEY INFORMATION

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

To update Cabinet on the successes of the joint working arrangements with Tendring District
Council and Essex County Council for the delivery of procurement functions and to seek
approval to explore a wider procurement partnership at a strategic level, to maximise existing
opportunities through closer partnership working other Councils.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Essex County Council & Tendring District Council - provision of procurement services

The partnership between Tendring District Council and Essex County Council began on 15t
October 2021. Since that point the team has worked on 53 procurements, of which 24 have
been awarded or awaiting governance approval to award. In addition to the above, the shared
procurement resource has provided advice and support to colleagues across the Council on
how to source a wide range of goods and services. The joint team has embedded a new
robust approach to procurement practice with improved documentation, using the proactis
esourcing tool to ensure visibility of procurement opportunities and robust adoption of
procurement process and evaluation principles. Procurement training has been and continues
to be rolled across the organisation and a new approach to category management has begun
to identify key areas of spend where enhanced value for money could be achieved.

Combined, this has helped the Council to improve its approach to how it spends public money
and set the foundations for further improvements.

Joint Shared Procurement Partnership:

Essex County Council (ECC) and Braintree District Council (BDC) have proposed to create a
shared procurement service, which will bring together the existing ECC Shared Procurement
team, which currently supports Tendring District Council with the Essex Procurement Hub
(EPH) in partnership for common benefit to all members. This partnership and new Shared
Procurement Service is expected to launch in April 2023 to:

e Undertake procurement activity on behalf of the member districts and boroughs and any
new partners who may join.

e Review corporate spend, trends and patterns and initiate value for money opportunities
across council services involving collaborative procurement, internally and externally.

Page 301



e |dentify collaborative procurement and contract management opportunities on behalf of
all member organisations and deliver these procurements.

e Develop shared documentation and procurement approaches for use by members

e Seek to identify opportunities to deliver revenue from the Shared Procurement Service.
In the first instance this will be used to offset the investment by ECC.

The future delivery model of the Shared Procurement Service still needs to be explored and
shaped but even at an early stage will deliver the following benefits to Tendring District
Council:

e Resilience - with a larger team across both organisations that is able to meet the
fluctuations in demand for the service;

e Expertise - with the EPH knowledge of district spend areas and the recognised
expertise of ECC’s procurement team enabling better constructed procurements and
greater value for money;

e Collaborative savings — through closer working and shared understanding of forward
plans, the partnership will be better able to identify shared procurement and contract
management opportunities removing duplication of resource time and increasing the
opportunity for economies of scale; and

e Reduction of duplication in the delivery of support services such as policy creation and
training, releasing time for staff to focus on value-add procurement activity.

Tendring District Council have already identified a number of specific activities that need to be
delivered by the Authority, these have been considered against the offer of a wider partnership
sharing resources, with that service being able to:

(a) Develop and promote the Procurement Strategy, with the anticipation of a common
procurement strategy;

(b) Review of the Procurement Procedure Rules;

(c) Ensure the Council’s practices are up to date with legislation, national guidance and
best practice;

(d) Commercial awareness in public law environment focusing on procurement
opportunities and contract management skills;

(e) Developing and delivering training;

() Seek compliance with the regulatory framework and raising matters of probity and
non-compliance with Senior Managers, Management Team and Internal Audit,
where necessary; and

(g) as part of the review of the Council’'s Procurement Strategy and Procedure Rules,
the shared service would seek to incorporate Social Value opportunities and contract
management principles.

It is anticipated the Shared Service will also create and embed a corporate Contract
Management framework setting out overriding principles, which are common across services,
providing guidance and processes to contract management resource within the individual
services to implement change and achieve improvements identified through reviews.

Page 302




With the ongoing vacancy of a senior post at Tendring for Corporate Procurement and
Contract Management, it is proposed that £45,000 is reinvested to contribute to the shared
procurement service for 2023/24, to develop and deliver the above activities. Key
Performance Indicators will be detailed within a future partnership agreement which will drafted
giving consideration to the above aims and objectives. The objectives will be regularly
reviewed and reported on to the Strategic Officer Group (see background). The Strategic
Officer Group will decide whether the trial has been a success, with individual decisions on
whether to continue to participate and if so, in which delivery model, taken by each member
authority.

It's important for the Council to give consideration and maximise opportunities for Social Value
through the procurement cycle adding value for the area and delivering against the Council’s
Corporate Plan. This can be achieved with earlier scoping through specification and
evaluation criteria. As with other Essex Councils, it is now considered best practice to adopt a
dedicated Social Value Policy for Procurement Purposes, to set out how the Council wishes to
achieve the social, economic and environmental strands through its commissioning.

It is considered that any Social Value Approach being drafted for adoption, should be scoped
and shaped in consultation with Members, services across the Council, other local authorities,
either as part of the proposed Shared Procurement Service for part of Essex or through the
Anchors organisations together with our stakeholders. A joint Essex Social Value Approach is
being explored and the results will be presented back to Cabinet later in 2023. In the interim,
TDC will rely on its existing Procurement Procedure Rules and link to the Council’s Corporate
Plan, Priorities and Projects.

RECOMMENDATION(S)

It is recommended that Cabinet:

(a) notes the progress of the existing partnership arrangement with Essex County
Council for the delivery of procurement functions under the Service Level
Agreement;

(b) agrees for Tendring District Council to form part of a wider partnership of
Councils to explore the Shared Procurement Service for parts of Essex;

(c) authorises the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Finance and Governance,
responsible for procurement to represent the Council at the Member Advisory
Group;

(d) requests the Chief Executive to appoint the appropriate Officer to the Strategic
Officer Group;

(e) authorises the contribution of £45,000 from existing vacancies to the shared
procurement project for the development of activities as set out in the report;

(f) delegates authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Corporate Finance and Governance to agree the Partnership
Agreement for the Shared Procurement Service;

(g) requests the Portfolio Holder to review the Shared Procurement Service progress
prior to any decision at the expiration of the existing Service Level Agreement
with Essex County Council;

(h)instructs officers to ensure the Council’s Contract Register and Procurement
Project Pipeline is kept up to date to ensure TDC matters can be included within
the Shared Service prioritisation; and

Page 303




(i) welcomes the work identified for a joint approach to Social Value for procurement
purposes, for a further report to be presented at a later Cabinet in 2023.

REASON(S) FOR THE RECOMMENDATION(S)

The Council has an ongoing vacancy at a senior level for Corporate Procurement and Contract
Management and reinvestment through a contribution going into the wider procurement
partnership will build further resilience and support to the organisation, in addition to the
existing and successful arrangement with Essex County Council.

The Shared Procurement Service is a partnership between several Councils in Essex and
brings a number of benefits as defined above. Through joining the shared service and closer
partnership approach, the Council will be able to ensure a high quality, resilient procurement
service to support its needs and have influence over the direction of the Shared Procurement
Service.

The Council is providing a client side contact to manage the existing partnership agreement
(SLA) with ECC.

Social value considerations have been a requirement since 2012 however, policies are
emerging on revised approaches for procurement strengthening the opportunities to be
achieved.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Alternative options considered are:

e Alternative Option 1 - The Council could simply extend the existing partnership
agreement (SLA) with Essex County Council beyond October 2023. This will continue
to provide a resilient procurement service. However, it is not considered as attractive as
the recommended option as it does not enable Tendring District Council to help inform
the future structure and direction of a wider shared service. The Council would also not
be able to benefit from any shared procurement income which may be generated.

e Alternative Option 2 — Beyond October 2023, the Council undertake procurement
activity on its own. In doing this the Council would have full control over procurement
resource and its use. Recruitment of procurement resource is difficult as has been
demonstrated through a recent process, with a competitive procurement resource
market. This option would also not provide the additional benefits of resilience, access
to wider expertise and collaborative savings highlighted above.

PART 2 — IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION

DELIVERING PRIORITIES

The Shared Procurement Service will support the delivery of the Strong Finances and
Governance workstream, in particular supporting a balanced budget through

Page 304




e An effective approach to procurement activity, delivering value for money
e An efficient resource model
e A robust approach to spend analysis and contract management

The way Anchor Organisations procure goods and services and work with their supply chain
can have far reaching benefits on local communities, from creating employment opportunities,
to raising aspirations and local skills, to improving the local environment. Procurement is
frequently the starting point for embedding Social Value, ensuring every pound spent
generates additional value. Anchor Organisations have signed up to the following:

e Progressive and Responsible Procurement - Develop policy and tendering processes to
assess, monitor and deliver social value.

e Meet the Buyers - Develop close working relationships with local providers and
suppliers in the community.

e Build the Voluntary Sector - Make explicit requirements to work with and resource the
voluntary sector in contracts.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT

The Anchors Organisations have set up a Social Value Learning Community to:

e Encompass a wide learning agenda that covers the different nuances of social value for
each of the sectors represented at the anchor network, but focused on deepening the
understanding of concepts and practices.

e Provide a collaborative and safe space to share sensitive and complex data. Provide
peer to peer learning, sharing lessons learned, progress, challenges and barriers about
embedding.

e Social Value - identify the differences and commonalities of Social Value practices,
both across organisations and through procurement specifically.

e Support on the definition of social value for Anchor institutions, establishing the
baseline for members and the network.

e Work collaboratively with Economic Development Officers towards the identification of
local projects to increase local spend and support local business and voluntary and
social enterprise sectors.

e Facilitate access to state-of-the-art expert knowledge and best practice with a view to
inform policy making, plans, toolkits and models in key areas of action.

The outcome of this work will be fed into the review of the proposed Social Value approach for
Tending District Council together with the Shared Procurement Service partners.

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS (including legislation & constitutional powers)

Is the NO If Yes, indicate which | O Significant effect on two or
recommendation by which criteria it is more wards

a Key Decision a Key Decision O Involves £100,000

(see the criteria expenditure/income

stated here) O Is otherwise significant for the

service budget

And when was the
proposed decision
published in the

Page 305




Notice of forthcoming
decisions for the
Council (must be 28
days at the latest prior
to the meeting date)

PART 5 CONSTITUTION - PROCUREMENT PROCEDURE RULES

The Council’'s Procurement Procedure Rules state the following:

Before undertaking any procurement, Departments should satisfy themselves that:
e The works, goods or services are required and a need can be demonstrated
e There are no reasonable alternatives e.g. sharing or utilising spare capacity/inventories
elsewhere within the Council
e Where relevant, they have considered the requirements of the Public Services
(Social Value) Act 2012 and have recorded/evidenced the outcomes against the
associated requirements:-
- how what is proposed to be procured might improve the economic, social
and
environmental well-being of the relevant area
- how, in conducting the process of procurement, it might act with a view to
securing that improvement

The National Procurement Policy Statement issued in 2021 sets out the strategic priorities for
public procurement and how contracting authorities considers the following national priority
outcomes alongside any additional local priorities in their procurement activities:

o creating new businesses, new jobs and new skKills;
o tackling climate change and reducing waste, and
o improving supplier diversity, innovation and resilience.

The Local Government Association developed a toolkit in 2022, to support councils to set
objectives in relation to their maturity levels in each of the key areas of the National
Procurement Strategy for Local Government in England, and to assess their progress against
those objectives.

O | The Monitoring Officer confirms they have been made aware of the above and any
additional comments from them are below:

The Monitoring Officer is the author of this report.

FINANCE AND OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

The Procurement Team has 4 FTE posts, which although vacant, the salaries are being used
to fund an alternative delivery solution which is demonstrated below. The budget for the
service consists of salaries and £22,670 for computer software.

At its meeting on 17" September 2021, Cabinet considered in Section 2 of its Financial
Performance Update 2021/22 a small number of in-year budget adjustments set out in
Appendix B to the Portfolio Holder’s report, one of which reflected a proposed service level
agreement being entered into with Essex County Council (‘ECC’) to enable the Council to ‘buy
in’ procurement services from them through a partnership approach.

Page 306




Discussions commenced with ECC in terms of a shared service / collaborative approach as a
way of providing a more comprehensive procurement service to our internal departments.
This approach would involve the Council purchasing a range of procurement services from
ECC on a proposed ‘hourly rate’ basis via a service level agreement. Appendix B of the
September Cabinet Report set out a proposed adjustment, which would see budgets
transferred from direct employee costs to ‘contract’ payments to ECC. This approach would
also support the accelerated delivery programme where the Council would have access to
specialist / expert advice along with additional procurement capacity e.g. supporting the
procurement of replacement cremators. This arrangement would be kept under wider review
as it may form part of a longer-term solution, where the Council could continue to have access
to such advice as part of the future delivery of projects and activities along with ‘usual’
operational requirements expected of a procurement function / service.

Paragraph 2.3 of the Council’'s Procurement Procedure Rules set out in Part 5 of the Council’s
Constitution requires alternative delivery options for whole or part of services to be achieved in
accordance with the Council’'s Procurement Strategy. The Strategy expressly refers to ‘Our
Partners in Procurement’ and that the Council will seek to work with a number of partners to
maximise any procurement opportunities and provide best practice. This includes other public
bodies and shared services. Because the in-house procurement service has 100% vacancies,
there were no employment issues to address and the Public Contract Regulations 2015 permit
public sector shared service and collaboration arrangements within certain criteria, which are
observed in any Service Level Agreement arrangement. The Council's Procurement
Procedure Rules are observed in any bids or tender exercises managed by ECC on behalf of
TDC.

Subsequently, Cabinet agreed in September 2021 that:
(2) That, in respect of the Council’s Financial Performance for 2021/22, Cabinet:

(c) agrees an exemption to the Council’'s procurement rules in order to enable a
Service Level Agreement to be entered into with Essex County Council to enable
the Council to ‘buy in’ various procurement services from them to support its day-to-
day operational activities and the delivery of one-off projects, as necessary; and

(d) authorises the Assistant Director (Finance and IT) and the Deputy Chief Executive
to agree the terms of the Service Level Agreement, in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder for Corporate Finance and Governance.

Following consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Finance and Governance, and
an Officer Decision published on 24 August 2022, a Partnership Agreement was completed in
August 2022; the services however commenced in October 2021 and will continue until
October 2023 for an annual payment of £60,000. The agreement can be renewed annually for
up to 5 years. The existing Partnership Agreement is attached to the Report as
Appendix A.

Both Councils have obligations and responsibilities. Schedule 1 to the Agreement sets out the
Key Procurement Activities, split into three areas:

e Category Planning
e Market Management

Page 307




e Sourcing

Procurement 2022 Deliverables have been identified within the Partnership Agreement.

The recommended proposal is to further contribute £45,000 from the Corporate Procurement
and Contract Manager vacancy to Essex County Council to the shared procurement service to

deliver the objectives, as set out in the report.

O

The Section 151 Officer confirms they have been made aware of the above and any
additional comments from them are below:

Has no additional comments to make to those contained in the report.

USE OF RESOURCES AND VALUE FOR MONEY

The following are submitted in respect of the
indicators:

indicated use of resources and value for money

A)  Financial sustainability: how the body
plans and manages its resources to ensure
it can continue to deliver its services;

The concept of a wider Shared Procurement
Service across Councils within Essex builds
upon existing Service Level Agreement to
ensure the Council can perform a procurement
function.

B) Governance: how the body ensures
that it makes informed decisions and
properly manages its risks, including; and

Currently, and until there is a review and
consideration of adopting any jointly agreed
strategy, rules and procures, all procurement
activity will continue to be in accordance with
Tendring District  Council's  Procurement
Procedure Rules, as contained with Part 5 of
the Constitution.

C) Improving economy, efficiency and
effectiveness: how the body uses
information about its costs and

performance to improve the way it manages
and delivers its services.

The Executive Summary of this report provides
how the Shared Procurement Service can
deliver the following benefits:

¢ Resilience - with a larger team across
both organisations that is able to meet
the fluctuations in demand for the
service;

e Expertise - with the Essex Procurement
Hub knowledge of district spend areas
and the recognised expertise of ECC’s
procurement team enabling better
constructed procurements and greater
value for money;

e Collaborative savings — through closer
working and shared understanding of
forward plans, the partnership will be
better able to identify shared
procurement and contract management
opportunities removing duplication of
resource time and increasing the
opportunity for economies of scale; and

Page 308




e Reduction of duplication.

MILESTONES AND DELIVERY

April 2023 — Official Launch - First Strategic Officer Group and confirm actions for first 6
months.

October 2023 — expiry of existing SLA with ECC for procurement services.

ASSOCIATED RISKS AND MITIGATION

There is a risk that with a wider Shared Procurement Service, Tendring District Council’s
procurement activity is reduced in prioritisation however, this is mitigated through further of a
development procurement project pipeline for Tendring and the existing service level
agreement with ECC for the first 6 months of 2023, during which time these risks can be
reviewed.

Should Tendring decide not to join the Shared Procurement Service, it would be unable to
help shape the future delivery and lose opportunities of closer working between Councils and
maximising collaborative spending.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be completed alongside the development of the
Partnership Agreement and any revised strategies, polices and procedures through the share
service.

SOCIAL VALUE CONSIDERATIONS

The Shared Procurement Service will be looking at it's approach to social value across the
member councils, building on the social value policy developed by Brentwood Borough
Council.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL'S AIM TO BE NET ZERO BY 2030

Procurement is an important tool in tackling climate change. As part of the development of the
procurement strategy and policies and procedures consideration will be given to how to
incorporate environmental considerations in to the procurement process.

Access to knowledge on climate change as it relates to procurement will be available from the
wider ECC team

OTHER RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS OR IMPLICATIONS

Consideration has been given to the implications of the proposed decision in respect of
the following and any significant issues are set out below.

Crime and Disorder There are no implications from the subject

Health Inequalities matter of this report, however each project and
new procurement opportunity will consider
these implications through the individual
decision making.

Page 309




| Area or Ward affected | None

PART 3 — SUPPORTING INFORMATION

BACKGROUND

The new Shared Procurement Service is looking to bring together two services through a
partnership approach:

The Essex Procurement Hub

The Essex Procurement Hub (EPH) was formed in 2006 following a review of procurement
needs across a number of Essex Authorities. The EPH is resourced and led by Braintree
District Council (BDC) providing its members with :

- Strategic and operational procurement support

- Advice and guidance on procurements

- Added value in the procurement process, including support with the actual
delivery of procurement activity such as the creation and running of tender activity.

The EPH also procures and manages a number of National framework agreements,
delivering rebates of circa £100,000 per year, which offset the costs of the procurement
function to the member organisations. BDC, Castle Point District Council and Epping Forest
District Council are all current members of the EPH but membership of the EPH is open to
other local authorities who wish to join. EPH members pay a fee directly to BDC to access
the procurement support through a Service Level Agreement (SLA). The fee is based on cost
recovery of the staff supporting that member authority.

The ECC &TDC Procurement Service:

In 2021, ECC started to provide procurement support to Tendring District Council, through a
Partnership/Service Level Agreement at an annual cost of £60,000.

The ECC Service is currently resourced by a procurement specialist and procurement
manager employed by ECC.

The New Shared Procurement Service:

The proposal is to create a shared procurement service which will bring together the existing
ECC Shared Procurement team with the Essex Procurement Hub (Braintree District Council,
Castle Point Borough Council and Epping Forest District Council) and the ECC Service
(Tendring District Council and Essex County Council) to work in partnership for common
benefit to all members. This will be a trial for three years and will

e Undertake procurement activity on behalf of the member districts and boroughs

¢ Identify collaborative procurement and contract management opportunities on behalf of
all member organisations and deliver these procurements.

e Develop shared documentation and procurement approaches for use by members

The Shared Service will be resourced through:

Page 310



e the existing EPH team employed by BDC; and

e a procurement specialist for 4 days a week and a procurement graduate for the
equivalent of 12 months over the three year trial period provided by ECC.

The Shared Service will operate as follows:

o oOfficers working within the EPH and the ECC Service will form the new shared
procurement team (the Team);

e BDC and ECC will work together to be responsible for the day to day work
management of the service delivery;

o oOfficers within the Team will remain employed by their respective authorities, and will
operate using their authority issued equipment.

The Shared Service will be operated using three groups. The terms of reference for these will
be set out in the Partnership Agreement:

e a Joint Officer Operational Group chaired by the Category Lead for ECC and the
Corporate Director for BDC to support the day to day operation of the Shared Service,
managing staff workloads, agreeing prioritisation of projects in the forward plan and
providing support to the operation of the service. This group will work with Epping
Forest and Castle Point Borough Council, Tendring District Council and other member
organisations as the Shared Service develops.

e A Strategic Officer Group with relevant senior management representation from TDC,
ECC, BDC, Epping Forest District Council and Castle Point Borough Council to:

= Set the strategic direction of the Shared Service;

= Agree the priorities of the Shared Service, for example which new frameworks
are needed across the partnership

»= Monitor performance of the partnership including delivery of the service in line
with the income targets detailed in paragraph 6 below

The intention is for the group to evolve over the trial to incorporate councils who wish
to join the Shared Service.

e A Member Advisory Group with representation from elected members from TDC, BDC,
ECC, Epping Forest District Council and Castle Point Borough Council to review the
performance of the Shared Service and promote the approach to shared working to
support growth. The intention is for this group to evolve to incorporate councils who
wish to join the partnership over the course of the trial

Neither the Strategic Officer Group nor the Member Advisory Board will hold decision making
authority and neither authority is required to delegate authority as part of this proposal. All
formal governance will fall to the respective authority to undertake in accordance with its own
Rules of Procedure.

Consideration will be given throughout the three year trial to the future structure of the Shared

Page 311




Service. This will be considered by the Strategic Officers Group. The deliverables for the
service, in line with the trial period deliverables will be detailed by the Strategic Officer Group
and reviewed quarterly when this group meets. This will evolve over the time of the trial, with
deliverable reviewed by the Strategic Officer Group

The Shared Service will deliver the following benefits to Tendring District Council:

e Resilience - with a larger team across both organisations that is able to meet the
fluctuations in demand for the service;

e Expertise - with the EPH knowledge of district spend areas and the recognised
expertise of ECC’s procurement team enabling better constructed procurements and
greater value for money;

e Collaborative savings — through closer working and shared understanding of forward
plans, the partnership will be better able to identify shared procurement and contract
management opportunities removing duplication of resource time and increasing the
opportunity for economies of scale;

e Reduction of duplication in the delivery of support services such as policy creation and
training, releasing time for staff to focus on value-add procurement activity.

The trial of the Shared Procurement Service will be assessed against the ability to deliver the
benefits as defined above and the delivery of the targeted income. Key Performance
Indicators will be detailed within the partnership agreement and regularly reviewed and
reported on to the Strategic Officer Group. The Strategic Officer Group will ultimately decide
whether the trial has been a success.

PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS

17t September 2021, Cabinet Minute. No. 42 ((2) (c) and (d).

24% August 2022, Officer Decision Essex County Council Service Level Agreement with
Tendring District Council.

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PUBLISHED REFERENCE MATERIAL

None

APPENDICES

Appendix A — Partnership Agreement (SLA) with Essex County Council.

REPORT CONTACT OFFICER(S)

Name Lisa Hastings

Job Title Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring
Officer

Email/Telephone lhastings @tendringdc.qov.uk
01255 686561

Page 312



mailto:lhastings@tendringdc.gov.uk

Tendring

District Council

Partnership Agreement
for the provision of procurement
services
for Tendring District Council
2021/23

Page 313




24 Jg
THIS AGREEMENT is made on DATE 8 [ 2022

BETWEEN:

(1) ESSEX COUNTY COUNCIL. of County Hall, Chelmsford, Essex CM1 1QH
(“ECC")

(2) TENDRING DISTRICT COUNCIL of Town Hall, Station Rd, Clacton-on-Sea
CO151SE ("TDC")

(“The Parties”)

1. Introduction

1.1 The Parties have agreed to enter into this Partnership Agreement (“this
Agreement”) working collaboratively to pool resources to deliver the day-to-
day Key Procurement Activities and wider specialist procurement advice and
support relating to policy development, category management, market
management and sourcing. Policy development may include advice and
guidance on contract management to be carried out by TDC where TDC
deems it relevant

1.2 Detail of the work being undertaken through this agreement is set out in
Schedule 1.

1.3 This Agreement governs the Parties collaboration and sets out the terms on
which the key procurement activities are to be provided to TDC by ECC.

2. Commencement and Duration

2.1 This Agreement commences on 15t October 2021 and shall continue for a
period of 2 years unless terminated earlier in accordance with clause 10.

2.2 This Agreement will be renewed annually for period of 5 years. If a Party does
not wish to renew for the next financial year then they must serve at least
three (3) months written notice to the other Party prior to expiry of the current
years agreement

3. Key Procurement Activities

3.1 The Services to be provided are set down in Schedule 1 {Specification) of this
Agreement.

4. Charges

4.1 It has been agreed that TDC wili pay a basic fee of £60,000 per annum to
ECC for the Services.

Page 314



4.2 This fee will fund resource employed by ECC to deliver the Key Procurement
Activities as set out in Schedule 1 and enable TDC access to increased
knowledge through the wider ECC in-house team.

4.3 During the term of this Agreement ECC may request additional contributions
from TDC for access to further resources required for specific procurement
functions and projects to be discussed and agreed in advance.

4.4 ECC will provide a quote to TDC for any additional project-based support on
their estimate of the resources required to provide the additional services
pursuant with Schedule 2 [Additional Project Costs]

4.5 Any review of the arrangements for the remainder term of the Agreement will
normally be undertaken and the outcome agreed by 4th January, prior to the
commencement of the next financial year.

4.6 In the event any variations are agreed which result in an increase to Charges,
ECC will invoice TDC after the variation has been made and Charge agreed.

4.7 Charges for the provision of the services are based on current estimated
sourcing volumes. Minor variations in demand for routine work will be
accommodated within the charges agreed, but where ECC can no longer
provide the base service as set out in Schedule 1 within the currently agreed
annual charge, then they should inform TDC as soon as possible which will
result in a review of the charge, with the possibility that a revised charge may
need to be discussed and agreed or alternative service provision in line with
clause 7. Requests for additional services will be separately negotiated and
an additional charge may be made.

4.8 In the event of any further charges in relation to projects being progressed on
behalf of TDC which include, but not limited to Legal support on projects,
these costs are to be paid for by TDC to ECC and will be agreed in advance
through other shared service arrangements.

5. Obligations and responsibilities

5.1 ECC are committed to providing a quality service which represents good
value for money.

(a) adhere to best professional standards in accordance with TDC's
Procurement Procedure Rules

(b) ensure that work is carried out by appropriately trained staff;

(¢} be prompt, courteous and helpful in our dealings;

(d) produce timely, relevant and clear information and advice;

{e) show consideration for difficulties you may experience;

(f) seek to deliver any changes required to the services provided under
this agreement;

Page 315



(9

(h)

5.2 TDC wilk:

(a)

(f)

(@)

treat the information that TDC provides in confidence and provide
TDC with its own data on request during the course of this
Agreement; and

comply with the reguirements of the UK General Data Protection
Regulations, Data Protection Act 2018 and the Computer Misuse Act
1990 and successive legislation and all other relevant laws in
relation to the management and use of data.

treat any information provided by ECC in accordance with this
Agreement will be pursuant to the provisions of the UK General
Data Protection Regulations, the Data Protection Act 2018 and the
Computer Misuse Act 1880 and all other relevant laws.

ensure they have acquired the necessary internal governance
approvals for the necessary sourcing and required budgets.
provide relevant and complete information to ECC's Procurement
Team to ensure timely issue of response to the market.

provide all documentation for computer input is completed
accurately and in accordance with advice provided

ensure a steady flow of information is maintained including
providing a monthly project pipeline avoiding unnecessary peaks
and troughs where it is intended that TDC will require ongoing
support from ECC

ensure all information is submitted in line with Corporate
Procedures, Policies, Strategies and Financial Regulations unless
otherwise agreed

pay the charges as they fall due under this Agreement

5.2 Failure to comply with the above will affect ECC’s ability to deliver an effective
service and may result in termination of this Agreement.

6. Review arrangements

6.1 This Agreement will be reviewed 6 monthly by both parties, with review in
advance of the commencement of each financial year

6.2 Any amendment to the arrangements as an outcome of such reviews or
variation of this agreement generally will be made pursuant to clause 7.1

6.3 Where the expectation is that ECC will provide services for more than one
financial year, subject to paragraph 1 above, a minimum of three months’
notice must be given in writing if either party wishes to vary the scope of this
Agreement to allow ECC sufficient time to allocate resources.

7. Variations to the agreement

7.1 This Agreement will be reviewed 6 monthly, with review in advance of the
commencement of each financial year

Page 316



7.2 This Agreement will only be varied if in writing and agreed between the
Parties.

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.4

9.1

Project Pipeline Management and Monitoring

To enable resource requirements to be determined and planned for in advance,
at the start of each financial year, TDC shouid provide to ECC's Procurement
Team an up to date and fully detailed project pipeline showing the envisaged
projects to be supported that financial year.

After TDC has provided the project pipeline to ECC as set out in clause

8.1, TDC will advise ECC'’s Procurement Team each quarter, as to whether
there are any amendments that have been identified which change the pipeline
for schemes that need to be taken into consideration for resourcing purposes.

The Parties will throughout this Agreement work collaboratively together to
ensure delivery of the public procurement function across Essex and keep each
other informed through regular communication, with the method and frequency
to be agreed on each project, adopting a ‘one team’ approach

Overall monitoring of this Agreement will be discussed at 3 monthly meetings.
Where improvements can be made on ways of working these will be discussed
in a constructive manner for the benefit of each Party, achieving value for
money and effectiveness of service for both Parties.

The authorised representatives for each Party are as follows:

Karen Townshend and the Corporate Procurement and Contracts Manager
(once appointed )} Tendring District Council

James Sinclair - Essex County Council

Resolution procedure and complaints

if either Party feels that the other Party has not met any of their responsibilities
set out in this Agreement, or a dispute or indifference arises between them,
then either Party shall first refer the matter to

Lisa Hastings — Deputy Chief Executive and Manitoring Officer — Tendring
District Council

l.aura Lee — Head of Procurement — Essex County Council

Page 317



9.2

9.3

10.

10.1

Both Parties shall meet and discuss the issues raised and both Parties agree to
share evidence, documentation or examples of the issues to assist their
respective Heads of Procurement in reaching a resolution.

In the event that following the meeting in clause 9.2, matters still remain
unresolved then the same process as set out in this clause 9 should also be
followed in alerting either Party to major changes in volumes of work and/or
projects impacting the work that ECC carries out on TDC'’s behalf. Further
escalation will be via the relevant Director of Procurement.

Termination of the Agreement

This Agreement will be reviewed annually, however, either Party can terminate
this Agreement or any individual service within this Agreement, by giving the
other party a notice period of six (6) months. This may be subject to
negotiation if there are no live projects underway or planned.

10.2 The notice should be in writing and can include notice by email, addressed to:

(i) Laura Lee or Melanie Evans on behalf of ECC;Laura lee{@essex.gov.uk or
melanie evans2@essex.qov.uk
(i) Lisa Hastings or Richard Barrett on behali of TDC

10.3 Upon notice of termination by either Party, ECC will produce a plan for

11.

11.1

withdrawal of service which will include the transfer of data. Any work that may
be required on the handover of services to new suppliers will be chargeable. A
full estimate of charges will be made for TDC approval before work
commences.

Either Party may terminate this partnership agreement with less than six
months notice if;

(i) One Party is in continuing or material breach of any terms of the agreement
and the breach is incapable of remedy;

(ii) One Party is in continuing or material breach of any terms of the agreement
and, the breach is capable of remedy, but the Party fails to remedy such breach
within fourteen {14) days service of a written notice from the other Party,
specifying the breach and requiring it to be remedied;

(iii) the breach is not, in the opinion of a Council, capable of remedy

Freedom of Information

The Parties acknowledge that both are subject to the requirements of the
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations
2004 and shall assist and co-operate with each other (at their own expense) to
enable the other party to comply with these information disclosure requirements.

Page 318



12. Data Protection and Confidentiality

12.1 ECC shall not without the written consent of TDC during this Agreement or at any
time thereafter use for its own purposes, or disclose to any person (except as
may be required by law) the any information identified by TDC to be confidential.

12.2 ECC shall not and shalf ensure that its employees do not divulge to any third
party any information which comes into its or their possession in the course of
providing the services.

. 12.3 The terms of clauses 12.1 and 12.2 shall prevail notwithstanding termination of

the contract.
" 13. Professional Indemnity Insurance

13.1 Any work undertaken by ECC shali be covered by its Professional Indemnity
Insurance policy up to the sum of £10 million.

14. Entire Agreement Protection and Confidentiality

14.1 The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement sets forth the entire agreement
between them with respect to the provision of the Services and supersedes and
replaces all prior communications, drafts, representations, warranties,
stipulations, undertakings and agreements of whatsoever nature, whether oral
or written, between the Parties.

15. Law and Jurisdiction

15.1 The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement sets forth the entire agreement
between them with respect to the provision of the Services and supersedes and
replaces

The signatories {o this agreement are signing to accept that the services above will

be provided in accordance with the terms and charges detailed for the financial years

2021/23.

Agreement Signatures

! > 7 v’?’qqﬂj

Melanie Evans

Director of Procurement

On behaif of Essex County Council
Date: 09 /[ 08 /2022

Page 319



The COMMON SEAL of

TENDRING DISTRICT COUNCIL

was hereunto affixed in the

presence of:

the Council

Schedule 1
Key Procurement Activities

1. Core Service

1.1 ECC is able to offer a comprehensive procurement service with capability across
Category Management, Market Shaping, Sourcing and Contract Management. The
initial focus will be to deliver sourcing for TDC. Sourcing is defined as the process of
vetting and selecting suppliers who best meet the organisations needs

1.2 Working with TDC and within the charges agreed above, ECC will:

« Deliver the projects detailed in the project pipeline as set out in clause 8 of
this Agreement

+ Engage with Assistant Directors, Heads of Service and colleagues across
TDC, developing the contracts register and procurement forward plan for
the TDC.

« Undertake analysis of spend against the contracts register and other
financial data to identify where procurement is necessary to manage
uncontracted spend and protect the authority from unauthorised/non-
compliant expenditure and risk. Spend will be benchmarked against
contracts held by ECC and other District Councils supported by ECC.

« ldentify and promote the strategic procurement requirements of TDC and
ensure that these meet the corporate aims and objectives laid down in the
various policy statements and strategies.

« Ensure compliance with all relevant statutory and legislative requirements

1.3 ECC will also undertake the following activities within the agreed charge:

Page 320



1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

Actively promote and implement the Council's Procurement Strategy in accordance
with TDC'’s Procurement Procedure Rules

Support the creation and Implementation of the Procurement Strategy as developed
with Tendring District Council

Development, production and review of procurement processes and procedures and
other key procurement activities.

Provide a central resource for the Council on procurement issues.

To manage the liaison with external stakeholders such as suppliers, procurement
framework organisations including Central Government.

Provision of ad-hoc procurement modelling and appraisals as required.

Maintain an up-to-date knowledge base for procurement issues relating particularly to
services and works and to disseminate this information to the appropriate people where
appropriate.

To undertake interpretation and implementation of technical procurement guidance,
advice and legislation.

Coordinate the use of Procurement Portals such as Construction line and ‘Market
Place’

Maintain the Councils registration to national e-procurement registers

Liaise with Council Services to promote and guide sound procurement practice.
Assist in the preparation and submission of quotations for services, materials and
works.

Meeting and negotiating with suppliers’ representatives.

Attend Essex Local Authority Consortium and other meetings as required.

Support the provision of a central resource for the Council on procurement issues.
Meeting and negotiating with supplier's representatives,

To provide a front line service on the telephone and face to face to customers within
the authority and external suppliers.

To provide timely and accurate management information on procurement trends,
usage and suppliers and the updating of relevant intranet/internet information.

ECC Specialist Procurement Advice and Support, as set out below will,
where possible, be incorporated into delivery of the day-to-day Key
Procurement Activities as provided in the project timeline on behalf of
TDC and within the annual charge:

Category Management - Category Management is the strategic ‘end to end’
process whereby supply / market capability is fully aligned to business goals
and customer requirements.

The Procurement Team will engage all stakeholders, to form a team (one
team approach) who will analyse, understand and plan the future output and
direction of this category.

The output of this work is intended to identify short / medium / long term
procurement business plans to deliver best quantitative and qualitative
outcomes for TDC.

The stages undertaken will be:
Form team and kick off

Page 321



1.9

1.11

1.12

Conduct spend analysis
Determine business requirements
Conduct market analysis

Develop market strategy
Implement and deliver strategy

Market Management - Where required, the Procurement Team will support
with market management and shaping activity including:

Market engagement

Market events

Sourcing Procurement will deliver the following services in accordance
Tendring District Council's Procurement Procedure Rules.

Provide sourcing documents and guidance for Request for Quotation and
Request for Proposal activities
Provide access to sourcing system to run electronic tenders over £50k
Project preparation including any pre-market engagement and testing
Prepare tender documents — specifications and all other applicable
drawings/documents are to be provided by TDC
TDC will provide their chosen Contract terms and conditions to be used prior
to the Tendering stage
Tendering stage of Supplier Selection Questionnaire (if being used)
Tendering stage of Invitation to Tender

o Ensuring compliant
Contract Award
Mobilisation support
ECC Procurement will make it clear to all bidders that the Contracting
Authority and end contract will be between TDC and the winning bidder.

Additional Services - In addition to the core service as provided above ECC
may offer additional procurement services which can be discussed with TDC.

Service responsibility matrix
The table below sets out the actions, timescales and responsibilities for each

party.

Page 322



- gjuswiainbal sEsUISNg 84)

‘aseyd yo oy pue

SHBLHSTI] al}

sawaINbo N

-BY} UM aul Ly peasbe BLILLLIDIEP. 0} dOUSHIOM BLf) WED) WO 8L} LUPM su; BUILLLISIOP PUB SSNOSIP Ssauisng
s gpeosslll o | uim abebue pue woddng ui peaibe se soEosowl] . o1 dOySHIOM PICH DNLLIBIBL]
" paknbsas
asaym ueld Awbaen
alj} 4o} sopys sleudoudde ‘ued AioBayen
au) jo Wawdopasp BY} U0 UOISNBU
ayy yim poddng Jo8 sepis syendoidde
"sisAleue B RIEINULIO Y
puads au} siBULD) "SOWIODING puE
o) pay sdoysyiom sBuipuy sisAjeue pusds
Uy sjedioied pue poddng 20ubE pue PSIRULIOY
_ ‘§500040 SIL) o1 sdoysHIoM PIoH
Jo ued se EQE.NE%E ‘ug|d Asolimen
pue AlEssaey aiaym ejep 81§} 10 SUODSS
‘aseyd yo 10 sisAjBUE By} U] 18IS8Y JUEABIDI BY) WO O}
OB PUB WES) LD ‘sisAjguUe puads au} ‘aseyd Yo yon| pue ejep puads syeudosdde sisAleuy
ayl yum ault u peaibe woddns 0} aiqe aq 0} BjEp WIEBY WI0 4 B4l Ypm auj| BU1 JO sisAjeue puedg
e SHEOSBULL e @cmam.mumtaoﬁam.wn&o& u poalbe se soeosallll o ¢ paanbal sy INo Allen 1InNpUoD

“Bunenu

Apanoe Jo yuow

- b UM gg8001d
uejd AloBaje0 ajoym
Byl J8A0D OF paslbe
.80 0} $9{E0sal |

‘558004 Ay} JO SIUBLSIe
JuBsRYIR 8L YBNoKY Yiom
0} 8omosad speudodde
| jo uoleDuSp B

BB ||9M 5B SO{RDSBL Bl
J0 uswaalbe pug wea)
jaeford ay) jo uswdopaep
) "oy w uoddng

‘Bugegiu

ABAROE JO YJUOLW | Ligiim

sgaoosd usid Alobalen

BlOUM BL] JBA0D O}
peslbe ag O] SOjE0EOWI] e

"AYAGOR BY) 40)
saEaseul) seudoldde
S SUILIBIED

pue wes) jnalod

dn jas pue dojaneg

HO IR

Buuued

pUB Wea] Wio.

AloBaien

plEosawi]

uondussag

sjeossl|

uonduoasa(

Anqisuodssy jiounog jougsig Bulpus]

Agqisuodsay jlouncs Aunocn xossy

| KioBajen

Page 323



‘uoissnosip Joj Abyens
Eyrew epusiod sy)

Jo Wed Se palapIsuoD ag
pINo3J jeY; seale Auapy

‘yoeoldde ABejelis
1oya2w paasbe oy
asardal 0] sapis ueld
AioBejeD ayj alenwucy
‘safiejs

snoaaid ayy Bulnp
padojaaap sisAjeuE

aseud yo -AioBajes ay} Buisn Azofa1e0
%3P pUE Wea) Wio4 ay} Joy ABsress 19viell 8y} "aseyd 10 Yo pue ayy Joj ABajess Jaxiew Abejens
ay} yim suy u pasiBe ajejniuio} o] doysyiom ay) LWEs) L0 B4Y] LM SUl ai} e2J0E pue arRLID) 1oXEN
SE S8|EISOtl | ypm abiefus pue uoddng Ui paaube se sejeasaul] . 0} doysxiom plop dojanaq

‘ajeudoldde ‘ued

AIBUYM SHSE) JUBISHIP B AloBaies sy} ut uoisnuUl

pue sapls sIsAjeue e J0} SBPIS ay} S1BINWIc)

ayy Jo sabeys jueaajal pue sIsAjeuE JayJew

ay) o} Indul apiacid paasbe sy 1no Auen

uaNe} ‘pasnbal sjuswss ay)

‘aseyd yo aq 0) spaau 1ey) sishjeus pue sisfjeue JHew no
HOI) pUE LBs) W04 19yJeL 0) yoeosdde ay) ‘aseyd 4o ¥on| pue Buikaleo 0y yoeosdde sisAjeuy
ay) yum auyj uj paaibe auiwialap 0 doysyiom au) Wes) Wio4 ay) ypm aulf saiBe pue ssnosip JeMIBN
Se saEdsaw) | yum sbebus pue poddng u poslbe se sojensallyy e 0} doysyiom pioH onpuod

‘N0 paLLEs

yoieasal pue yoeqpaay

"‘palinbai uodn paseqg ueld

sg sapys eleudosdde Aiofeies ay) ul uoisnou

ai} Jo JuswdoBasap 10} sapis gjeudoidde

ay} ul Indut apincid B} a1BINWLI0S

‘oseyd o ‘Aiobales ‘piemiog Buiob Alobajen

Mo pue wWes) wWio4 aljy Joj plemto) Buiob au} Joj s)uswalnbal

S{edsatlil] Co_wnmnumwm 2{edsotlll | :Omuamhommﬁ_
Apjiqisuodsay j1ouno?) jou3s1q Bupua} Ajigisuodsay ouno) AJuno) xass3 jysej

AiobBoyen

Page 324



"$is8G 85203 Ag

B5ED € Uo paasbe ag
0} sauanb Buajosal
|10} SOBOS |

0} anss! o} sisyddns

Aug jo soioads pug
uonsuLoiu punesoeg
puUE udiesnsds splanid

5188 B5ED Ag BseD B
uo paslbe ag o) sauenb
Bulajosas Jo] sa|E0SBL |

SISE( BSED AQ 9%E0 B
uo pasibe aq ym joafoud
UOBS 40} oLl

TR

5] uoido amAleS

395 B 8IBUM SBINANDE
jesodoiyg oy 3sanbayy
PUE LDRSIONTY J0§
jsanbay oy aauepmnb
PUE SJUSLWNDOP
BUDINGS SpIACld

SDJY B Sdldd

Bummog

“SHIBAD
1ew ayy Dupueial
suoissinasip Suuued
aly jo ued se paaibe

- 9q 0} sajEDseLU |

‘SILDAD
iuswabebus 1@l

18 juasasd pug pusyy
siReyEu 1o uolsledaad
BL) oM SB Sjuane. @Bl
ay} o sjunuaiiuedle sy
ur eedionted pue yoddng

SIUSAD 19IEW BL)
Suipsebal suossnosp
Guueid sy jo wed se

paaifie sq o) saEIsaLE ]

siusas wiswabehus
1B auy Woddneg
uoiELLGI peanbal
Jojuswido@aap syl pug
SuOISSas asey! sbueiue
puB piou 'paylusp; ale
SIUBAD BB RIBUM

SILUBAD 19BN

‘Bunemur:

Aaoe Jo yuow
L uijim paadlbe
804 D] SVIROSBLL ]

‘paEuBpl

asaum sjuguRINbY
wewsabiebue 19w
N0 Aued pue Joddng

“Buneniu
AARDE JO GUOW | UM

‘paiuam
alalm siusitannbal
wawebebus yew

jusuwisbebus
RN

wswebeuew

pawibe 2 o) sojEosaWI]

o Aued pue poddng

‘sossannd
JUSLUAINDI)

o ABejeag

1anie ey ur paaibe
$2.59B0S8W] |

‘painbas alaum
suonor ADSIRAS J9y e
10 uoissesbod a1y poddng

‘Abajens

1ie)y padoeasp el W
pRElepD SE $S8[Bssaul ]
PRMoio) 8g

0} sanialoe Buninos oy
DE|IE)8p SB S8|E05atll)
Hewse wewainoosd g
SEPNOUl AHAIDE SIBUAM

‘(paunuap! sBRINIOE
auy uo Bupuadep

YIS 94} 1o uonDes
Buininog aL on

yulp Aeww siuy) ABsieag
Idey |y Ul paliiiusp
88 sU0ioe ssalbold

Abwiensg
1B

ajeosauy

uondusssq

aensowWL

uondiuosa(

Ayngisuodsey pounog Jo1nsiq Buipus]

Atpgisuodsey [1Iounos AUNoD Xassy

sLus|du

Page 325



e 10} Yoeoldde ay)
Buidojeaap upm Loddng

"SIUSAD
juswabeliua jaxew

0] sanlAoR/SIIaWe "S]UBAR ‘Bunasw Aue jo Juswdojeasp
[ENPIAIPUI awabebua jayiew Ho-yoy o yed se peaifie ayj ypm doddng
10} sajensalul] Aug jo awdojpaap 80 0} SBIANOR/SIUSWSD ‘p@LepISU0D Bunse; pue
‘Bueniul atj} Uim poddng [ENPIAIPUI JO) SB|E0SatWl | e ag pinoo jey} sease juswesbebus
Ajanoe 30 yjuow “auuew A e u ‘Bunenpul 2y uo esuepmnb spiaoid 1oEW
L uiyym paaibe ag o) 81 188] 1@ewpuaiuaiebua ABAROE 1O Yluow ‘seuayos/sioaiold fue Bul
Bugsayuswsbebua J9MIELW SO} L wiyhim pastfie aq oyioads Joj paljiiuap u Ipnjou
1B wawalnbal sy} Suipsebal 01 Gunsejuswabebus si Bunss)usiwabebus uoljesedald
IO $5]eDSWI ] LofBaou ainsug 19MIBW [0] SO|EDSAWY . 19YIBLY BIBYAA 108loid
wasAs Buiomnos
Yl AG pajeoIunLILIoD
ag 0} seniea)|oo
awainsoid ayi ubnoa
PaINoJ aIe 3s8Y) pauiuap "SJORIUCD
aJe sauanb araUp) pesn o Jaua 0} 4
Buiag wajsAs Buoinos sy} ay] S8|geuS YANYM N(OST
apIsino ssalddns yim ino VIS B4 IO B JBAO SIAPUSE L0408
PSLIJED §1 UOHEOIUNWILIOD ay} 1noyBno.y} papiroid unJ o} weysAs Buoinos waysAg
VIN Ol JBL) aunsug aq 01 wa)sAs Bupinog e 0} $5O00E BPINCIY Buioinog
‘sass0004d asay)
woJ; Buisue salanb Aue
LI JUBISISSE DpInGId
‘pamoy| 0} st ssaooid
gjpudosdde alnsua o)
sjuawannbal siqeoldde
l|e uo papinoad
SIUBLINOOD D4y
pue d-y 8yl esiin
ajelsau | Comua_howwﬂ_ Qjedsaul | mo_«amuuwwm
Agisuodsay ouno) yoisiq Bunipual Aqisuodsay 1ouno) AJuno) Xassy jyse} AzobBajen

Page 326



ajep paalbie ay) Ag
USLINDOP BU) 8PIACH
- taw sq o)

ajep uoneaiqnd aiy
.-Blgeus o3 Ag painhal
B |iM SRIBWINDOP
UBYM 10} BLypRap

B} 2PN{OUL I Si |
sseooid juawainoosd
© au Joj ajqelawy

ay; Buse.be jo ued
se-padojpaap 8q M
ssea04d a4 jo abeis
SI] JO) SB{RosaLl |

JUSLSIN00] O] papicid
pug-gjep awjpeap
pevibe sy} Ag pamojioy
Buisg sseao:d auyy Joj
siuaWnaop usweansosd
-ajgeojdde jje dojpasg

C O UsjuslInaop

geey) Jo Juswdopasp

8yl 404 ajqisucdsal sIaumo
sasfe pue awsussiosioud
yoes Jo) paanbal aie ey
SIBWNDOR JuBtLa Mmoo
a1} salbe pue Ajusp! o)
sandes||os JusWaInoeld
UL YPMOSHOAA

U} pBau [ ajqelsu ey
1ot Jou si Ag peeidilioD
aq o} slusnoop 8y}

10} suHpRap Syl SIBUAA
18l ag

0} @jep uoljealgnd ay)
aieus 0) Ag padnba
B {[iM SILSWUNJOPR UDLM
Jog BuiipEDap 8yl apn|ow
i sy 1 ssaooud
ustlainaoid ay) 10}
siqelewy au) Busasbe
J0 Jed se padopasp a9
|liwn ss0004d 84 jo ebels
81y} 40} SBEEISAWI |

“AQ patedwos

8q o} paanba;

218 SLBWNIOD UIYM IOy
auypeap sy esube pue
seale Asy ayj jo yDES
10} E8[E0SHL} SBUIUSD
M SiqepLl
uswainood B dowas(
‘uaxe; Bueg

ainos pesinaosd

ayj uodn peseq
padojassp 8q o) pasu
[ 124 SRIBWINDOD

Aoy By Auapy

SJUBWIN200
iopua] jo
wewidojenag

sl g e

ui panss) ade siaded
aoueueant Bupiehs:
uoliEULIoMI 10}

“onbes]jon JUSWBIND0
Bupoddns sy yim
asiel pue Juausinood
0} uoye|el Ul Wes)
jeasiel ey Buipiebel
Jeded sy ut uoisaRUl

- 40} padnbai si ey
uolieuLol 8y} Agiuap)

fypqisuodsay p1vunog Jouysiq Bupipua )

Aujiqisuodsay jiounon AJunon xassy

{4apusy
- sisanbai ey} aansug BUIBUIS [ENRINDLE YoeD jIBUnes
‘SISeC BseD fie7) maam.ﬂ sjeudosdds JoMistcy Buldpus g Hmo@ 93
Aq @sed e uo poslbe auj jo uoissasboud 10 Aupeisuodsss sy [eacaddy
- B( 0} SBIBOSIW | pueuswdopasg gju SUE LIS SIUBLIBADD) SOUBLLIDADLY
. ‘[uise) 1yieW 10y
‘paiuept pasn 8Q 0} SIUSLWUNDOD
Buisas Jo->oi siuswnoop ajeldoidde 10 Juswdojarsp
Joued se paalfe ag Aue pue unsse) sl uym uoddng
ajeasau g uonduosag BlEoSBaUI uopduassQq

AioBsjes |

Page 327




‘SIUSWILLIND/STI00S
0] juaweaibe aulwsiap o)
sBuiasul sNsUasuUoD auy
DUBHE O] SIOBNBAS IV
"§8400S

jo uoneoynsnl {inj ypm
mmtzmmrc SNSUQSLIOD 9y}
0] Joud Xpjeus LoneneAa
pa1o|dLLIOD BPIADIY
'suonsanb paiuap

ay} Jo) paalaoas sasuodsal
{2 91008 pue 9)enjens

LDIJELLLION JUBAB|BE BL)
apiaoud pasn Bujaq si
UIJUONOTHISUOD) 2UBLYAA
‘PaMIDBI

sasuodsal jjg peojuMmog
‘SIOJBNEAD

e 1o0j pasjdwiod
$5200.1d js819)Ul

JO UDHBIBDID BINsSUY
‘sasuodsal

10} spelap puas pue
sjganbal UONESHLED

{abueys ‘uoiien|eAa o} Jold swioy (18 piodal pue aiieuepy (uonenjeas
o} joelgns) 10aload }saJalu| Jo uofjrigRap ‘(abueyo ‘SLaApE pue
au Joj ayqe)aWy sjeudoldde syaidwon o} joalgns) 10sio.d auy} Jo} aleudoldde ay) pue suonesyuep
Jawainsoid ‘ayeudosdde ajgejawl Juatamoao.d LWaIsAs swalnoolde m.c_ J,o¢_v
8y Jo juswdajansp aeym 1senbal jo sinoy ay) jo yewdopaap 3y} uo Ayunuoddo IpnioUl
a1 j0 1ed se psaibe g UILIM suoledIeD ay) jo ed se Jusamnosd abeig
SE Sajeosol | 0} S95U0dS3l POPIACIY poslle se sapossll | ayi ysignd uollo8|eg
e
10U S} SJUDLLNOOP ‘padojanap
juawainooud SILUSLUNOOD U0 joBROpS)
ajgeddde apIncId pue MBIAaY

ife Jo uoisinoad

ay] alaym pomaiaol
aq | Juswainooid
aly) jo uonedyqnd
B} Jo) sojeosawl]
“SjUaLundop oLy}

10 uoIsiAcId 8y Joy

-atuayasoalosd
s Bundoddns senbea)jod

‘pazube
sulpesp palepdn
UE puUE pamainal aq

"a|geddde

aleym sajeg|dwa) jo
uolsiactd syl Buipnou
spawnoop ejeudoldde
ay} 10 Juswidoaaap

B LD LU0 sl
Buppus | au} Yim YO

ajeosawl}

uopdliasaqg

ajeosaw]

uonduosaqg

Ajpqisuodsay j1ouno joisiq Bunpua)

Ajiqisuodsay {Iounon Ajuno) xassy

Alobajen

Page 328



Agenda Item 11

CABINET
17 MARCH 2023
REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR CORPORATE FINANCE AND GOVERNANCE
A.3 EINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT — IN-YEAR PERFORMANCE AGAINST

THE BUDGET AT THE END OF THE THIRD QUARTER 2022/23 AND LONG TERM
FINANCIAL FORECAST UPDATE

PART 1 — KEY INFORMATION

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
To provide an overview of the Council’s financial position against the budget, as at the end of
December 2022, and to update the long term forecast.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
e As setoutin the earlier reports to Cabinet / Full Council, this year has seen a number of
emerging issues both nationally and globally that have had a significant impact on the
Council’s financial position e.g. inflation, supply chain disruption, energy cost increases,
commodity price increases along with associated secondary impacts. This is in addition
to more local pressures on net costs such as the Crematorium remaining non-operational
for the first half of 2022/23.

e Within the various financial performance reports presented to Members earlier in the
year as part of the wider development of the budget / long term forecast, a number of
emerging items were addressed in 2022/23 and 2023/24 where necessary.

e This report presents the latest financial update for 2022/23 along with looking ahead as
part of developing the long term financial forecast. The report is therefore split over two
distinct sections as follows:

e The Council’s in-year financial position against the budget at the end of
December 2022

e Development of the long term financial forecast
In respect of the in-year financial position at the end of December 2022:

e The position to the end of December 2022, as set out in more detail within the
appendices, shows that overall General Fund Net Revenue expenditure is marginally
ahead of the budget by £0.010m. It is acknowledged that expenditure or income trends
may still develop / emerge over the last quarter of the year. Any significant issues arising
to date have been highlighted and comments provided as necessary.

e In respect of other areas of the budget such as the Housing Revenue Account, capital
programme, collection performance and treasury activity, apart from additional details
set out later on in this report, there are no other major issues that have been identified
to date.

Page 329



Any emerging issues will be monitored and updates provided as part of the financial
outturn report for the year that is planned to be presented to Cabinet in July 2023.

Although the budget was adjusted as part of earlier financial performance reports, a
number of necessary and additional changes have been identified which are set out in
Appendix H, with an associated recommendation also included within this report.

The net impact of the budget adjustments will be moved to or from the Forecast Risk
Fund. At the end of the third quarter, it has been possible to make a contribution to the
fund of £0.309m, which supports the requirement set out in the long term forecast of
identifying in-year savings each year, where possible.

This report also highlights further emerging issues such as financial risks associated with
being a member of the North Essex Parking Partnership (NEPP) and the development
of the Levelling Up Grant Fund Scheme, with recommendations included below.

The recommendations set out below also reflect the establishment of the Members Small
Grant Scheme associated with His Majesty the King's Coronation and changes to
external funding receivable from our Health Partners, with further details set out later on
in this report.

In respect of the updated long term financial forecast:

A summary of the most up to date position for 2023/24 was considered by Full Council
on 14 February 2023 as part of agreeing the detailed budget.

There have been no changes made to the forecast position mentioned above, but for
completeness, a summary is set out further on in this report along with some additional
comments to reflect new / emerging issues that have arisen since February 2023.

As set out in the report to Full Council on 14 February 2023, although it was possible to
reduce the deficit when compared with the position reported to Cabinet on 27 January
2023, the deficit remains significant against the context of the Council’'s overall net
budget. However, along with the forecast risk fund, the forecast / budget agreed by Full
Council on 14 February 2023 does provide flexibility in terms of developing the required
framework in which to identify the necessary savings to support an on-going financially
sustainable position over the next few years.

The identification of on-going savings remains as an important element of the long-term
financial plan looking ahead to 2024/25 and beyond.

As mentioned previously, it is important to continue to deliver against the longer-term
approach to the budget as it continues to provide a credible alternative to the more
traditional short-term approach, which would require significant additional savings to be
identified much earlier in the financial cycle.

Page 330




RECOMMENDATION(S)

It is recommended that Cabinet:

(a) Notes the Council’s in-year financial position at the end December 2022 along
with the updated financial forecast;

(b) the proposed in-year adjustments to the budget as set out in Appendix H be
agreed;

(c) accepts the £19.960m awarded to the Council following a successful bid to the
Government’s Levelling Up Grant Fund Scheme, and authorises the S151 Officer
to sign the associated MOU in consultation with the Corporate Director Place &
Economy and Portfolio Holder for Business and Economic Growth;

(d) subject to c) agrees the use of up to £0.250m from the existing Levelling Up Fund
Budget of £2.291m to support the development of the scheme for Clacton and
approves a delegation to the Corporate Director Place & Economy in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Business and Economic Growth to
agree any associated expenditure;

(e) requests officers to seek on-going assurances from the NEPP Lead Authority on
how they are managing the emerging financial risks of the partnership, with
updates to be provided to Management Team and Members accordingly along
with their inclusion within quarterly financial performance reports during
2023/24;

(f) notes the revised arrangements relating to the £0.750m of grant funding from our
Local Health Partners as set out within this report with the schemes now being
delivered as part of wider joint partnership arrangements rather than directly by
the Council;

(g)agrees to the acceptance of grant funding from our Local Health Partners of
£0.200m and that associated expenditure from this funding is delegated to the
Assistant Director Partnerships in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for
Partnerships;

(h) agrees to the establishment of aKing’s Coronation Member Small Grant Scheme
with £200 being made available to each Member and requests the S151 Officer
to undertake the necessary steps to implement the scheme including the
provision of the necessary information / guidance to enable Members to access
this funding as soon as possible; and

() asks that the Resources and Service Overview and Scrutiny Committee be
consulted on the latest financial position of the Council set out in this report.

REASON(S) FOR THE RECOMMENDATION(S)

To set out the latest financial position for the Council and to respond to emerging issues in
2022/23 along with providing an update to the long term forecast.

Page 331




ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

This is broadly covered in the main body of this report.

PART 2 — IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION

DELIVERING PRIORITIES

Effective budgetary control is an important tool in ensuring the financial stability of the authority
by drawing attention to issues of concern at an early stage so that appropriate action can be
taken. Financial stability and awareness plays a key role in delivering the Council’s corporate
and community aims and priorities.

The forecasting and budget setting process will have direct implications for the Council's ability
to deliver on its objectives and priorities. The current 10-year approach to the forecast seeks to
establish a sound and sustainable budget year on year through maximising income whilst
limiting reductions in services provided to residents, business and visitors. The approach set
out in this report continues to be set against this wider context.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT

In terms of the long term forecast, internal consultation is carried out via the Council’s approach
to developing the budget as set out within the Constitution. External consultation also forms
part of developing the budget, and is carried out early in the year as part of finalising the position
for reporting to Full Council in February.

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS (including legislation & constitutional powers)

Is the Yes If Yes, indicate which | O Significant effect on two or

recommendation by which criteria it is more wards

a Key Decision a Key Decision X Involves £100,000

(see the criteria expenditure/income

stated here) 0O Is otherwise significant for the

service budget

And when was the This item has been included within
proposed decision the Forward Plan for a period in
published in the excess of 28 days.

Notice of forthcoming
decisions for the
Council (must be 28
days at the latest
prior to the meeting
date)

The Local Government Act 2003 makes it a statutory duty that Local Authorities monitor income
and expenditure against budget and take appropriate action if variances emerge.

The arrangements for setting and agreeing a budget and for the setting and collection of council
tax are defined in the Local Government Finance Act 1992. The previous legislation defining
the arrangements for charging, collecting and pooling of Business Rates was contained within
the Local Government Finance Act 1988. These have both been amended as appropriate to
reflect the introduction of the Local Government Finance Act 2012.

Page 332



The Local Government Finance Act 2012 provided the legislative framework for the introduction
of the Rates Retention Scheme and the Localisation of Council Tax Support.

The Calculation of Council Tax Base Regulations 2012 set out arrangements for calculation of
the council tax base following implementation of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme. These
arrangements mean that there are lower tax bases for the district council, major preceptors and
town and parish councils.

The Localism Act 2012 introduced legislation providing the right of veto for residents on
excessive council tax increases.

Under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, the Chief Finance Officer (S151 Officer)
must report to Council as part of the budget process on the robustness of estimates and
adequacy of reserves. The proposed approach can deliver this requirement if actively managed
and will be an issue that remains ‘live’ over the course of the forecast period and will be revisited
in future reports to members as the budget develops.

Yes | The Monitoring Officer confirms they have been made aware of the above and any
additional comments from them are below:

Although there are no additional comments above those set out in this report, it is important to
highlight that further decisions may be necessary to take actions forward, such as those
associated with the items set out in Appendix H.

FINANCE AND OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

The financial implications are set out in the body of the report.

Yes | The Section 151 Officer confirms they have been made aware of the above and any
additional comments from them are below:

The Section 151 Officer is the author of this report.

USE OF RESOURCES AND VALUE FOR MONEY

The following are submitted in respect of the indicated use of resources and value for money
indicators:

A)  Financial sustainability: how the body | This is addressed in the body of the report.
plans and manages its resources to ensure it
can continue to deliver its services;

B) Governance: how the body ensures that
it makes informed decisions and properly
manages its risks, including; and

(03] Improving economy, efficiency and
effectiveness: how the body uses information
about its costs and performance to improve
the way it manages and delivers its services.

MILESTONES AND DELIVERY

This reports forms part of the Council’'s wider budget setting and monitoring processes. In
respect of 2022/23, a financial outturn report is planned to be presented to Cabinet in July. In
terms of the long term forecast, further updates will be presented to Members during 2023/24.

Page 333




ASSOCIATED RISKS AND MITIGATION

In respect of the position at the end of December 2022, a number of variances will be subject
to change as the year progresses, although at this stage it is expected that any adverse position
can be accommodated within the overall budget with direct management action, including the
proposed changes to the budget set out in Appendix H. The budget position will be monitored
and reviewed as part of both the future budget monitoring arrangements (including the financial
outturn position for 2022/23) and Financial Strategy processes.

There are significant risks associated with forecasting such as cost pressures, inflation and
changes to other assumptions that form part of the financial planning process. Wider economic
risks have also increased in 2022/23, which are likely to continue into 2023/24. These could
have an impact on income streams such as from Council Tax and Business Rates along with
the ‘cost’ of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme. The Council’s initial / short-term response
was set out in earlier reports as part of the development of the forecast and budget for 2023/24,
which will continue to be addressed as part of the future financial reports.

The approach of refocusing existing budgets and reserves also adds additional risks as it
reduces the ability of the Council to access such funding to underwrite further risks etc. going
forward.

The Forecast Risk Fund remains a key element of the long-term plan approach. However, it is
important to note that the Council still prudently maintains reserves to respond to significant /
specific risks in the forecast such as £1.758m (NDR Resilience Reserve) and £1.000m
(Benefits Reserve), which can be taken into account during the period of the forecast if
necessary. The Council also holds £4.000m in uncommitted reserves, which reflects a best
practice / risk based approach to support its core financial position.

As highlighted in earlier reports, money has been set aside to mitigate cost pressures
associated with the repair and maintenance of Council assets. When they arise, they are usually
significant and the approach taken aims to ‘protect’ the underlying revenue budget from such
items. £1.019m remains in an Asset Refurbishment Reserve for this purpose and the use of
this fund can be considered as part of and/or outside of the annual budget setting cycle via
separate decision making processes.

As highlighted within earlier reports, the Chief Executive continues to chair the regular Budget,
Performance and Delivery meeting of Senior Managers where any emerging issues are
highlighted / discussed.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct implications that significantly impact on the Council’s financial performance
/ forecast at this stage. However, the ability of the Council to appropriately address such issues
will be strongly linked to its ability to fund relevant schemes and projects and determination of
the breadth and standard of service delivery to enable a balanced budget to be agreed.

An impact assessment will be undertaken as part of any separate budget decisions such as
those that will be required to deliver savings.

SOCIAL VALUE CONSIDERATIONS

There are no direct implications that significantly impact on the financial forecast at this stage.

Page 334




However, such issue will be considered as part of separate elements of developing the long
term forecast.

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL'S AIM TO BE NET ZERO BY 2030

There are no direct implications that significantly impact on the financial forecast at this stage.

However, such issue will be considered as part of separate elements of developing the long
term forecast.

OTHER RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS OR IMPLICATIONS

Consideration has been given to the implications of the proposed decision in respect of
the following and any significant issues are set out below.

Crime and Disorder Please see comments above
Health Inequalities

Area or Ward affected

PART 3 — SUPPORTING INFORMATION

SECTION 1 - IN YEAR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE BUDGET AT THE
END OF THE THIRD QUARTER OF 2022/23

The Council’s financial position against the approved budget has been prepared for the period
ending 31 December 2022.

As highlighted earlier, within the various financial performance reports presented to Members
earlier in the year as part of the wider development of the budget / long term forecast, a number
of emerging items have already been addressed in 2022/23 along with 2023/24 where
necessary.

However, there have been some additional / emerging issues (both favourable and adverse)
with comments provided below where necessary, against the following key areas:

General Fund Revenue and Proposed Changes to the in-year budget
Collection Performance

HRA Revenue

Capital Programme — General Fund

Capital Programme - HRA

Treasury Activity

GENERAL FUND REVENUE

The position to the end of December 2022, as set out in more detail in the Executive Summary
attached, shows that there is a marginal net overspend of £0.010m.

As set out in the appendices, elements of this variance are due to the timing of expenditure and
income or where commitments / decisions have yet to be made. Appendix B provides the
detailed position by Directorate with Appendix H setting out a number of required budget
adjustments in response to revised / emerging issues since the last position for 2022/23 was
considered earlier in the year, with some key highlights as follows:

Page 335



e As has been the case in previous years, additional expenditure has been incurred within
the Planning and Building Control Services relating to agency staff along with the cost of
responding to planning appeals etc. A reduction in planning income is also now being
experienced. The adjustments set out within Appendix H seek to address these issues
by adjusting budgets elsewhere within the same service areas.

e Being a demand led service, Homelessness costs have continued to rise over and above
an adjustment of £0.450m that was made earlier in the year as part of the budget setting
reports. The Government continue to support this area of local authority spending but
the position will need to be closely monitored over the coming months given the financial
risk that this area of the budget presents.

e In terms of offsetting the issues highlighted above and other adverse items set out in
Appendix H there are a number of favourable income budgets adjustments which
include increased income from treasury activities due to higher interest rates, additional
Government grant funding along with income from charges made for street naming and
numbering.

Appendix H also includes the following budget adjustments to reflect a recent decision by Full
Council and an announcement from the Leader:

e £8k for the provision of smartphones to Members following the associated decision at
Full Council on 2 March 2023; and

e £9.6k to enable £200 to be provided to each Member to support local organisations who
are organising local events to celebrate His Majesty the King’s coronation in May 2023.
Subject to the associated recommendation included above, further information will be
made available to Members as soon as possible to enable them to access this funding.

OTHER EMERGING ISSUES

North Essex Parking Partnership —financial risks of being a member of this partnership have
started to emerge over the past year. This Council along with other partners are required to
meet their share of any annual deficit with no provision currently included within the budgets to
respond to such an eventuality.

The NEPP does not appear to be recovering from the impact of COVID 19, with the level of
income being less than pre-pandemic levels, which is in addition to the on-going impact of
inflation. Recent years have seen the partnership draw money down from its reserves to meet
any deficits that have accrued. Based on current estimates, the use of reserves in 2022/23 is
also likely and subject to how much is required to be used, there may only be very limited
reserves available to support the partnership’s financial position in 2023/24.

In terms of the estimate for 2023/24, a summary of potential wider concerns include:
e Over-optimistic forecasting of income;
e A dependency / expectation on nationally agreed increases in penalty charge fees set
by government;

e Impact of technology / cameras and camera cars to deliver income and reduced
expenditure.

Page 336




As part of its partnership role, the Council will seek assurances from the Lead Authority around
how the financial risks of the partnership will be managed in 2023/24 to avoid as far as
reasonably possible a deficit position continuing. This issue will be closely monitored in 2023/24
with regular updates provided as part of future financial performance reports, with a
recommendation included above to reflect this emerging issue.

Levelling Up Fund Grant Scheme — confirmation of the Council’s successful bid has recently
been confirmed and to accept the funds totalling £20m, the Council must sign a Memorandum
of Understanding (MOU) provided by Government.

Although the MOU places a number of responsibilities on the Council and an expectation that
the Council will deliver the scheme, there are no direct financial risks of signing it at this stage,
with the process reflecting the early administrative aspects of the project before a more detailed
report is presented to Cabinet. With this in mind and in terms of further developing the project
through to the actual delivery stage, a separate report will be presented to Cabinet as early as
practicable in 2023/24. Although the various financial risks will be set out in more detail in future
reports, it is worth highlighting a brief summary of potential financial risk associated with a
project of this scale as follows:

e The Council will be responsible for cost overruns and any adverse impact of inflation.
There is a risk that cost inflation on a scheme of this scale could create additional costs
for the Council, given the grant from government once approved will be fixed. The
delivery of the project will need to be undertaken within a strong project management
framework which would include the consideration of a number of risk management
factors such as value engineering, further opportunities to secure additional funding from
other relevant partners and having the right level and experience within the delivery
team.

e Capital schemes of this scale are complex, with unknowns, such as ground conditions,
and reliance on contractor third parties for delivery. Keeping to project timelines as well
as budget requires strong project management, focus and early mobilisation. The bid
includes provision for a professional team to support delivery and will also require the
dedication of the Economic Development Team to focus on overseeing delivery.

e The longer term risks associated with occupancy of the buildings once complete. The
financial model relies on sale and rental of housing units. Sales timing and values may
be dampened in Clacton depending on the economic climate at the point homes are
completed. The Council will need to consider these projects as a long-term on-going
priority within its wider financial planning framework.

The money made available by the Government will be paid to the Council in instalments that
are expected to reflect the actual expenditure up until the project delivery deadline of the end
of March 2025. The budgets will be adjusted to reflect the spending profile and the associated
receipt of grant funding as necessary, with updates provided to Cabinet throughout the project
delivery period. Although possibly subject to further discussion with the Government, it is
important to highlight that if the project is not completed by the deadline of 31 March 2025, then
any subsequent costs would need to be met by the Council. As previously mentioned, such
issues will need to be carefully considered within a robust project management framework, as
this risk could be significant if there is a substantial level of work still outstanding on 31 March
2025, as the use of Government funding will not be allowable after that date.

Page 337




Although a separate report will be presented to Cabinet later in 2023, to maintain momentum
behind the scheme, a number of project development activities need to commence as soon as
possible. Therefore it is proposed to use up to £0.250m of the £2.291m already made available
to support this project. An associated recommendation is therefore included above along with
a delegation to the relevant Director and Portfolio Holder. It is worth highlighting that in the
unlikely event that the project could not be taken forward, any expenditure from this initial
allocation of £0.250m would represent the Council’s financial exposure at this stage. Any further
financial commitments will be set out in the separate report that will be presented to Cabinet
later in 2023 as referred to earlier.

External Funding Receivable from our Health Partners — At its meeting on 25 March 2022,
Cabinet accepted grant funding totalling £1.650m from our Local Health Partners. £0.750m of
this related to the support of physical activity, with the remaining £0.900m relating to wider
health issues. In terms of the latter, projects and initiatives are underway in Jaywick Sands,
which reflect the subsequent decision of Cabinet at its 15 July 2022 meeting.

In terms of the £0.750m relating to physical activity, a spending plan was agreed by Active
Essex in consultation with the CCG, who have therefore become the main delivery partner
instead of the Council. Therefore based on the above approach, the money originally accepted
has not been paid directly to the Council but it has been applied to the same schemes and
projects within the Tendring District albeit by a different organisation.

As part of the on-going relationship with our Local Health Partners, the Council was offered a
further £0.200m of funding to support schemes and projects linked to inequalities. A
recommendation is included above to formally accept this funding along with a delegation to
the relevant Assistant Director and Portfolio Holder.

COLLECTION PERFORMANCE

A detailed analysis of the current position is shown in Appendix E.

There are no major issues to highlight at the present time with income broadly in-line with
expectations. In respect of business rates, income collected for the year is now ahead of the
budgeted collection fund performance for the year which supports the position going into
2023/24.

HRA REVENUE

An overall position is set out in the Executive Summary with further details included in Appendix
C. At the end of December 2022, the HRA is showing a net underspend of £0.471m, which
primarily reflects the timing of expenditure against property repairs and maintenance budgets.
There are no other major issues to raise at the present time.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME — GENERAL FUND

The overall position is set out in Appendix D.

As at the end of December 2022, the programme is broadly on target against the profiled
position. Detailed comments are provided within the appendix against a number of schemes.

Page 338




CAPITAL PROGRAMME —HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

The overall position is set out in Appendix D.
As at the end of December 2022 the programme is ahead of the profile by £0.149m.

This budget relates primarily to the on-going major repairs and improvements to the Council’s
own dwellings. A number of essential activities have been required as the year has progressed
such as essential boiler / heating replacement. An associated budget adjustment is set out
within Appendix H to respond to what is essentially a timing issue relating to when the
expenditure is incurred rather than an underlying concern at this stage. However, as set out in
earlier budget reports, the HRA repairs and maintenance budgets will need to be considered
on an on-going basis within the context of the HRA 30 Year Business Plan to respond to issues
such as the regulatory regime emerging from the Hackett review.

TREASURY ACTIVITY

A detailed analysis of the current position is shown in Appendix F.

As highlighted above, with the increase in interest rates during the year increased income from
treasury activities has been achieved, with a corresponding budget adjustment set out in
Appendix H.

It is also worth highlighting that the £6.000m that was lent to Thurrock Council has now been
fully repaid in-line with the original agreement.

SECTION 2 - UPDATED LONG TERM FORECAST

The detailed budget for 2023/24, which was based on the most up to date financial forecast,
was considered and agreed by Full Council on 14 February 2023. The report considered by Full
Council also included a summary of the forecast up until 2026/27.

Although the development of the forecast will continue in 2023/24, it is important to highlight
one significant issue that has emerged / developed since the 14 February 2023 which relates
to employee costs. As part of national negotiations, an initial pay offer has been made to the
relevant Unions, which if agreed would see additional on-going costs of over £0.400m being
added to the long term forecast. This is a significant increase and will form part of updating the
forecast over the coming weeks / months.

In terms of wider inflationary pressures, CPI remains high with a rate of just over 10% for
January 2023. However the Bank of England expects the rate of inflation to drop sharply over
2023/24 and 2024/25, which will hopefully provide some relief to the financial pressures within
the long term forecast.

Although the budget adjustment for employee costs has not yet been included in the forecast,
for completeness, a summary of the position presented to Full Council on 14 February 2023 is
set out in the following table:

Page 339




Year Net Budget Position* Forecast Risk Fund -
Estimated Surplus
Balance at the end of

the year
2024/25 £3.823m deficit £2.569m
2025/26 £0.132m deficit £2.687m
2026/27 £0.225m deficit £2.711m

*includes removal of the prior year use of reserves etc. to balance the budget and initial savings ‘targets’.

The figures set out within the table above will change as part of updating the forecast on a
regular basis during 2023/24,

The above is after taking into account a contribution to the Forecast Risk Fund of £2.576m that
was agreed as part of finalising the budget for 2023/24.

A framework against which to identify and secure the necessary on-going savings will need to
be considered during 2023/24. The level of savings required will also need to continue to act
as the ‘safety valve’ with the overall position being subject to further updates as part of reporting
the quarterly position going forward as any increases in net costs will likely require a
corresponding increase in the savings required.

As highlighted in earlier reports, given the financial issues that have arisen during the year, the
long term forecast will need to be considered against a very different financial background to
that originally expected during the earlier years of the forecast. A review of the long term
forecast, including the period that it covers will be considered as early as practicable in 2023/24.

As highlighted in earlier financial performance reports, a corporate investment plan approach
will continue to play an important role in supporting the response to the financial challenges
ahead. Given the scale of the on-going financial challenge faced by the Council, the corporate
investment plan approach remains under review and subject to consideration by Cabinet during
2023/24.

Delivering a favourable Outturn Position

The Forecast Risk Fund relies on in-year outturn contributions of £0.250m per annum to support
the overall balance on the reserve, which in turn underwrites the various risks to the forecast.

Including the figure of £0.309m set out in Appendix H, the contributions to the Forecast Risk
Fund total £0.351m in 2022/23 to date. This position remains subject to the outturn position for
the year. If further adjustments are required, then they will be reflected in the revised forecast
going into 2023/24 and beyond.

PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS

Finance Update Report — General Update 2022/23 and 2023/24 — Item A.2 Cabinet 7 October
2022.

Financial Performance Report 2022/23 and 2023/24 — General Update at the end of Q2 — Item
A.5 Cabinet 4 November 2022.

Updated General Fund Financial Forecast Including Proposed Budget Changes in 2022/23
along with Budget Proposals for 2023/24 — Items A.3 Cabinet 16 December 2022.

Page 340




Updated General Fund Financial Forecast Including Proposed Budget Changes in 2022/23
along with Budget Proposals for 2023/24 — Items A.4 Cabinet 27 January 2023.

Executive’s Proposals — General Fund Budget and Council Tax 2023/24 — Item A.1Full Council
14 February 2023.

Executive’s Proposals — Housing Revenue Account Budget 2023/24 — Item A.2 Full Council 14
February 2023.

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PUBLISHED REFERENCE MATERIAL

None

APPENDICES

RELATING TO SECTION 1 OF THE REPORT
Front Cover and Executive Summary

Appendix A — Summary by Portfolio / Committee

Appendix B — General Fund Budget Position by Department

Appendix C — Housing Revenue Account Budget Position

Appendix D — Capital Programme

Appendix E — Collection Performance — Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing Rent and
General Debts

Appendix F — Treasury Activity

Appendix G — Income from S106 Agreements

Appendix H — Proposed Adjustments to the In-Year Budget December 2022

REPORT CONTACT OFFICER(S)

Name Richard Barrett

Job Title Assistant Director (Finance and IT)

Email/Telephone rbarrett@tendringdc.gov.uk
(01255 686521

Page 341



mailto:rbarrett@tendringdc.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Tendrin

District Council

Appendices Included:

Executive Summary

Appendix A

Appendix B

Appendix C
Appendix D

Appendix E
Appendix F

Appendix G

Appendix H

A summary of the overall position.

A summary of the overall position by Portfolio/Committee split
by GF and HRA

An analysis by Department of all General Fund Revenue
budgets.

An analysis of Housing Revenue Account Revenue budgets.

The position to date for General Fund and HRA
capital projects.

Collection Performance
Treasury activity.

Income from S106 Agreements.

Proposed Adjustments to the Budget

Financial Performance Report In-Year
Performance as at end of:

December 2022

(The variance figures set out in these appendices that are presented in brackets represent either a net underspend to

date position or additional income received to date)

Page 343




Financial Performance Report - Executive Summary as
at the end of December 2022

The tables below show the summary position for the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account,
Capital, Collection Performance and Treasury Activity.

General Fund - Summary by Department Excluding Housing Revenue Account

Housing Revenue Account

Full Year Profiled Actual to Date Variange to
Budget Budget to Date Profile
£ £ £ £
Office of the Chief Executive (27,878,400) (19,357,882)| (19,215,112) 142,770
Operations and Delivery 15,173,440 7,573,152 7,529,553 (43,600)
Place and Economy 12,704,960 2,466,934 2,377,546 (89,388)
Total General Fund (0) (9,317,796) (9,308,014) 9,782

Full Year Profiled Actual to Date Variance to
Budget Budget to Date Profile
£ £ £ £
Total HRA 0 (6,789,004) (7,259,829) (470,825)
Capital
Full Year Profiled Actual to Date Variance to
Budget Budget to Date Profile
£ £ £ £
General Fund 16,986,290 2,438,187 2,407,130 (31,057)
Housing Revenue Account 10,389,400 4,874,827 5,023,520 148,692
Total Capital 27,375,690 7,313,014 7,430,649 117,635

Collection Performance

Collected to
Date
Against
Collectable
Amount

Council Tax

79.34%

Business Rates *

100.44%

Housing Rents

97.03%

General Debt

88.12%

£'000
Total External Borrowing 34,870
Total Investments 88,120

* The figure is performance against the budgeted Collection Fund amount rather than the debit collectable.

Page 344



Appendix A

Revenue Budget Position at the end of December 2022

General Fund Portfolio / Committee Summary

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full Budget to Actual to Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile
£ £ £ £

Leader 3,949,120 1,044,442 1,085,180 40,738
Corporate Finance and Governance 1,806,270 (13,034,055)| (12,911,883) 122,172
Environment and Public Space 9,683,600 5,278,952 5,258,738 (20,215)
Housing 5,467,770 3,648,240 4,179,021 530,781
Partnerships 1,835,040 122,965 138,047 15,082
Business and Economic Growth 4,220,810 411,824 305,723 (106,101)
Leisure and Tourism 6,909,490 1,389,967 1,289,755 (100,212)
Budgets Relating to Non Executive Functions 835,010 263,780 230,559 (33,221)

34,707,110 (873,884) (424,859) 449,025
Revenue Support for Capital Investment 5,186,570 0 0 0
Financing Items (7,996,490) (478,593) (917,225) (438,632)
Budget Before use of Reserves 31,897,190 (1,352,477)| (1,342,084) 10,393
Contribution to / (from) earmarked reserves (22,499,450) 0 0 0
Total Net Budget 9,397,740 (1,352,477)| (1,342,084) 10,393
Funding:
Business Rates Income (3,032,660) (3,345,648)| (3,345,650) 2)
Revenue Support Grant (444,210) (337,599) (338,208) (609)
Collection Fund Surplus 3,191,440 2,553,152 2,553,152 0
Income from Council Tax Payers (9,112,310) (6,835,224)| (6,835,224) 0
Total (0) (9,317,796)| (9,308,014) 9,782

Page 345




Appendix A

Revenue Budget Position at the end of December 2022

HRA Portfolio Summary

2022/23
2022/23 Current Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Full Year Budget to Actual to | Variance to
Budget date date Profile
£ £ £ £
Housing (1,604,170) (6,789,004) (7,259,829) (470,825)

(1,604,170)|  (6,789,004)| (7,259,829)|  (470,825)

Revenue Support for Capital Investment 613,630 0 0 0
Financing Items 1,186,090 0 0 0
Budget Before use of Reserves 195,550 (6,789,004)| (7,259,829) (470,825)
Contribution to / (from) earmarked reserves (195,550) 0 0 0
Total 0 (6,789,004) (7,259,829) (470,825)

Page 346



Appendix B

Corporate Budget Monitoring - General Fund Budget Position at the end of
December 2022

Department - Chief Executive,Finance,IT and Governance

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to Actual to | Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
Analysis by Type of Spend
Direct Expenditure
Employee Expenses 11,474,700 5,842,015 5,753,287 (88,727)
Premises Related Expenditure 472,200 367,193 348,911 (18,281)
Transport Related Expenditure 102,970 82,628 78,008 (4,621)
Supplies & Services 20,451,880 2,546,577 2,414,140 (132,437)
THird Party Payments 79,910 30,000 30,000 0
(@ansfer Payments 46,557,120 31,160,512 30,465,864 (694,648)
I(Egerest Payments 10,510 3,500 3,495 (5)
Tohal Direct Expenditure 79,149,290 40,032,425 39,093,706 (938,720)
Di;ct Income
Government Grants (64,171,260)| (47,938,792)| (46,468,784)| 1,470,009
Other Grants, Reimbursements and Contributions (2,236,050) (1,948,964) (1,887,471) 61,493
Sales, Fees and Charges (1,169,470) (821,604) (850,819) (29,215)
Rents Receivable (3,800) (2,665) 1,235 3,900
Interest Receivable (920,030) (709,963) (1,133,503) (423,540)
RSG, Business Rates and Council Tax (9,397,740) (7,965,319) (7,965,930) (611)
Total Direct Income (77,898,350)| (59,387,308) (58,305,272) 1,082,036
Net Direct Costs 1,250,940 | (19,354,882)| (19,211,566) 143,316
Net Indirect Costs (6,629,890) (3,000) (3,546) (546)
Net Contribution to/(from) Reserves (22,499,450) 0 0 0
Total for Chief Executive,Finance,IT and
(27,878,400)| (19,357,882)| (19,215,112) 142,770

Governance




Department - Chief Executive,Finance,IT and Governance

Appendix B

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to Actual to | Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
Analysis by Service/Function
Total for Chief Executive and Administration 46,680 211,713 175,406 (36,307)
Total for Finance and IT Management and
.. . 940 75,667 78,959 3,292
Administration
Y
T&al for Finance 222,710 964,341 922,401 (41,941)
D
w This primarily reflects additional income from
g new burdens grants and investment income
which are both included within Appendix H. They
Total for Finance - Other Corporate Costs (682,360)[ (18,389,947)| (18,556,630) (166,683)| are offset at the end of December by the
vacancy provison budget which will be ‘applied’
corporately as part of the upcoming end of year
processes.
Total for Finance - Financing Items (25,229,850) 220,370 205,277 (15,093)
Total for Finance - RSG, Business Rates and
) (9,397,740)|  (7,965,319)|  (7,965,930) (611)
Council Tax
This reflects the timing differences associated
. with Housing Benefit payments and the
Total for Revenues and Benefits 2,703,270 2,014,954 2,359,622 344,668 reimbursement by the Government via the
related subsidy system.
Total for IT, Emergency Planning and Business
359,510 1,335,932 1,299,878 (36,054)

Continuity




Appendix B

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to Actual to | Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
Total for Governance Management and
. : 940 82,455 81,862 (593)
Administration
Total for Legal 50,520 232,153 227,722 (4,431)
Total for Democratic Services 1,584,870 809,650 832,993 23,343
Total for Partnerships Management and
. : 1,000 65,940 67,901 1,961
Administration
T
J
Q
T{gal for HR and OD 387,290 455,772 405,010 (50,762)
[d%)
D
TgPaI for Community Partnerships 1,089,590 (509,683) (490,716) 18,967
Total for Communications 3,870 59,806 62,196 2,390
This reflects the current position against the
Careline Service. Adjustments will be made as
. part of the upcoming end of year processes to
Total for Customer and Commercial 980,360 978,312 1,078,936 100,624 |\ odditional net costs from the associated
reserve, along with a further adjustment that is
set out within Appendix H.
Total for Chief Executive,Finance,IT and
(27,878,400) (19,357,882) (19,215,112) 142,770

Governance




Appendix B

Corporate Budget Monitoring - General Fund Budget Position at the end of

December 2022

Department - Operations and Delivery

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to Actual to | Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
Analysis by Type of Spend
Direct Expenditure
Employee Expenses 7,164,180 5,169,563 5,098,478 (71,084)
mises Related Expenditure 2,255,760 1,564,136 1,716,227 152,091
@ansport Related Expenditure 610,380 447,483 456,277 8,794
%pplies & Services 4,433,100 2,040,819 2,250,478 209,659
grd Party Payments 6,213,280 4,148,821 4,064,508 (84,313)
Transfer Payments 247,600 185,700 531,018 345,318
Total Direct Expenditure 20,924,300 13,556,521 14,116,986 560,465
Direct Income
Government Grants (1,080,600) (802,070) (836,407) (34,337)
Other Grants, Reimbursements and Contributions (2,822,240) (1,817,924) (1,748,688) 69,236
Sales, Fees and Charges (3,139,290) (2,428,070) (3,083,599) (655,529)
Rents Receivable (208,580) (171,198) (169,595) 1,602
Direct Internal Income (1,157,480) (747,428) (747,423) 4
Total Direct Income (8,408,190) (5,966,689) (6,585,713) (619,024)
Net Direct Costs 12,516,110 7,589,832 7,531,273 (58,559)
Net Indirect Costs 2,657,330 (16,680) (1,721) 14,959
Total for Operations and Delivery 15,173,440 7,573,152 7,529,553 (43,600)




Appendix B

Department - Operations and Delivery

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to Actual to | Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
Analysis by Service/Function
Total for CD Operations and Delivery
. . (44,220) 180,930 210,882 29,952
Management and Administration
Total for Building and Public Realm Management
.. , 1,090 62,002 81,563 19,561
and Administration
Total for Building and Surveyors 172,960 1,093,499 1,119,759 26,260
U o I .
Q This primarily relates to additional street naming
«Q . . and numbering income that is being experienced
Taval for Engineering 2,963,620 652,431 489,080 (163,351)| i 5029/23 - an associated adjustment is
8 included within Appendix H.
H
Total for Public Realm 3,230,420 1,427,257 1,415,470 (11,787)
Total for Waste Management 5,409,820 3,215,443 3,203,627 (11,817)
Total for Assets 276,980 289,645 289,014 (631)
Total for Housing and Environment Management
. g 9 2,600 109,725 69,031 (40,694)
and Administration
This relates to the additional homelessness
Total for Housing 1,910,540 (32,035) 57,080 89,115 | demand being experienced. An associated
adjustment is set out within Appendix H.
Total for Environment Health Services 1,249,630 574,255 594,047 19,792
Total for Operations and Delivery 15,173,440 | 7,573,152 7,529,553 (43,600)




Corporate Budget Monitoring - General Fund Budget Position at the end of

December 2022

Department - Place and Economy

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to Actual to | Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £

Analysis by Type of Spend
Direct Expenditure

Employee Expenses 5,404,860 4,023,303 3,981,353 (41,950)

%mises Related Expenditure 1,062,340 908,469 960,923 52,454

@ansport Related Expenditure 44,930 33,779 37,261 3,482

%pplies & Services 7,651,300 2,175,882 2,040,698 (135,184)

ﬁrd Party Payments 45,870 22,500 32,424 9,924
Total Direct Expenditure 14,209,300 7,163,933 7,052,659 (111,274)
Direct Income

Government Grants (93,870) (133,870) (134,109) (239)

Other Grants, Reimbursements and Contributions (124,710) (97,940) (38,746) 59,194

Sales, Fees and Charges (5,206,330) (4,273,736) (4,291,944) (18,208)

Rents Receivable (235,710) (191,454) (210,314) (18,861)
Total Direct Income (5,660,620)|  (4,696,999)| (4,675,113) 21,886
Net Direct Costs 8,548,680 2,466,934 2,377,546 (89,388)
Net Indirect Costs 4,156,280 0 0 0
Total for Place and Economy 12,704,960 2,466,934 2,377,546 (89,388)

Appendix B




Department - Place and Economy

Appendix B

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to Actual to | Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
Analysis by Service/Function
Total for Place and Economy Management and
. : 613,440 119,409 66,848 (52,561)
Administration
Total for Planning Management and
. . 1,000 65,940 51,635 (14,305)
Administration
This relates to a number of issues covering
employee costs, planning appeal costs along
nghl for Development 1,420,210 529,700 792,024 262,324 | i Cduced income - associated a diustments
9 are set out within Appendix H.
w
T%Sal for Enforcement 563,240 12,578 5,776 (6,802)
Total for Building Control 236,000 15,888 (54,978) (70,865)
Total for Economic Growth and Leisure
.. . 1,000 65,940 70,292 4,352
Management and Administration
Total for Economic Growth 2,581,440 684,757 527,467 (157,290)
Total for Sport, Leisure, Tourism, Heritage and
4,051,080 668,551 694,873 26,322
Culture
Total for Local Plan and Place Shaping
1,020 64,628 74,322 9,695

Management and Administration




Appendix B

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to Actual to | Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £

Total for Strategic Planning 747,850 176,722 92,571 (84,151)
Total for Place 2,488,680 62,822 56,716 (6,107)
Total for Place and Economy 12,704,960 2,466,934 2,377,546 (89,388)

yGg obed




Appendix C

Corporate Budget Monitoring - Housing Revenue Account Budget Position at the

end of December 2022

Housing Revenue Account

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to |2022/23 Actual | Variance to
Year Budget date to date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £

Analysis by Type of Spend
Direct Expenditure
Employee Expenses 1,360,150 672,867 563,395 (109,473)
Premises Related Expenditure 3,949,120 2,354,100 2,131,947 (222,153)
Transport Related Expenditure 23,870 17,902 11,912 (5,991)
Sunglies & Services 581,120 286,838 215,704 (71,133)
TI@ Party Payments 1,030 773 0 (773)
TréBsfer Payments 17,000 12,750 24,086 11,336
Int@:%st Payments 1,275,910 609,898 590,119 (19,779)
To@ Direct Expenditure 7,208,200 3,955,128 3,537,162 (417,966)
Direct Income
Other Grants, Reimbursements and Contributions (8,440) (330) (10,631) (10,301)
Sales, Fees and Charges (559,850) (425,350) (468,377) (43,027)
Rents Receivable (13,725,880)| (10,318,452) (10,317,984) 468
Interest Receivable (69,130) 0 0 0
Total Direct Income (14,363,300)| (10,744,132) (10,796,991) (52,860)
Net Direct Costs (7,155,100) (6,789,004) (7,259,829) (470,825)
Net Indirect Costs 7,350,650 0 0 0
Net Contribution to/(from) Reserves (195,550) 0 0 0
Total for HRA 0| (6,789,004) (7,259,829) (470,825)




Appendix C

Housing Revenue Account

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to |2022/23 Actual | Variance to
Year Budget date to date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
Analysis by Service/Function
Total for Finance - Financing Items 1,799,720 0 0 0
Totgl for Housing (1,715,720)|  (6,705,004) (7,155,901) (450,897)
Q
«Q
D
w
o1
TdRAl for Customer and Commercial (84,000) (84,000) (103,928) (19,928)
Total for HRA 0| (6,789,004) (7,259,829) (470,825)




Appendix D

Corporate Budget Monitoring - General Fund Capital Programme
Position at the end of December 2022

Governance Portfolio

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to | Actual to |Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
Expenditure
Business and Economic Growth
Portfolio
SME Growth Fund Capital Grants 43,250 0 0 0
Starlings and Milton Road Redevelopment 1,762,700 650,000 654,967 4,967
gl,J Total for Business and Economic 1.805.950 650.000 654 967 4.967
%E Growth Portfolio B ’ ’ ’
¢p Corporate Finance and Governance
9! Portfolio
Information and Communications Technology 70,480 49,870 49,870 0 Service antmlpate fuI_I use of this capital budget to
Core Infrastructure support on-going rolling replacement of IT hardware.
Agresso e-procurement 84,000 0 0 0
Enhanced !Equment replacement - Printing 6,210 0 0 0
and Scanning
Office Rationalisation 130,000 720 718 (2)| Project completion expected for March 2023.
Project complete with final invoice to be processed in
Treadwheel Crane 29,390 29,390 36,359 6,969 | Q4 of 2022/23 financial year. Minor overspend to be
funded from existing budgets.
Carnarvon House Demolition 500,000 4,160 5,713 1,553
Total for Corpor Finance and
otal for Corporate a 820,080 84,140 92,660 8,520




Appendix D

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to | Actual to |Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
Environment and Public Space Portfolio
Environmental Health Database Migration 5,250 0 0 0
Laying Out Cemetery 141,240 3,950 3.950 0 Q\;\l/g\xng planning permission with tender process to
Bath House Meadow Security Measures 5,570 0 0 0 Orders to be raised for remaining works following tender
process.
Public Convenience Works 40,000 0 0 0 Orders to be raised for remaining works following tender
process.
g Works at Halstead Road Play Area, Kirby 29,810 0 0 0| Project complete. Awaiting final invoice.
q Cremators installed and operational with some final
o building works to be completed in 2023. A review of the
8 Weeley Crematorium Works 1,539,140 793,320 793,319 ()| project, including the final budgetary position will be
considered in consultation with the relevant Service as
part of finalising the outturn position for the year.
SlO§ Contributions to Parishes for Playground 383,100 62,000 62,000 0
Equipment
Changing Places Project 300,000 6,860 6,865 5| Tender process currently underway.
Purchase of Open Spaces Vehicle 34,760 0 0 0
Total for Environment and Publi
otal fo onment and Public Space 2,478,870 | 866,130 | 866,134 4
Portfolio
Housing Portfolio
Careline - Replacement Telephone System 14,240 0 0 0
Replacement Scan Stations 12,000 0 0 0
Housing in Jaywick 404,730 0 0 0




Appendix D

2022/23
2022/23 Profiled 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full | Budget to | Actual to |Variance to
Year Budget date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
an_ate Sector Renewal Grants/Financial 287,170 0 0 )
Assistance Loans
Continued under spend post pandemic due to failure of
Disabled Facilities Grants 9,487,170 | 572,677 572,680 4| contractor to deliver projects in a timely fashion so has
been replaced. Service hopes to achieve £3m spend
p.a. within next 2 years.
Financial Assistance Grants 166,370 166,370 166,368 (2)
Private Sector Leasing 75,660 0 0 0
Empty Homes funding 152,220 0 0 0
g? Total for Housing Portfolio 10,599,560 739,047 739,048 2
«Q
83 Leisure and Tourism Portfolio
b
w -
Rep!acement of beach hut supports - The 11,620 0 0 0
Walings
CLC - Replacement of All Weather Pitch 802,730 0 6,229 6,229 | Project Commenced - completion expected May 23
Clacton Skate Park Improvement Scheme 300,000 0 0 0 Contractor appointed with project due to commence
summer 23
CLC - Pool Cameras 36,510 32,500 32,500 0
Theatre - Replacement Dress Circle Seats 39,130 39,130 39,125 (5)
Seafronts - Beach Patrol Vehicles & 27,240 27,240 27,245 5
Equipment
New Beach Huts 64,600 0 0 0
Clacton/Holland CIiff Stabilisation 0 0 (50,779) (50,779)| Retention due to be paid in March 2023.
Total for Leisure and Tourism Portfolio 1,281,830 98,870 54,320 (44,550)




Appendix D

Total Approved General Fund Capital

16,986,290 | 2,438,187 | 2,407,130 (31,057)

09¢ abed



Appendix D

Corporate Budget Monitoring - Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme
Budget Position at the end of December 2022

2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23
Current Full |Profiled Budget| Actual to | Variance to
Year Budget to date date Profile Comments
£ £ £ £
This primarly reflects changes to the
work programme such as boiler /
Imprqvements, enhancement & adaptation of the Council's 2.955.430 1,967,842 2,146,279 178,436 heating replacement_and other essential
housing stock works. A corresponding budget
adjustment is set out in Appendix H to
Y reflect this.
jab}
(@]
SD\SpendeIIs House Project 450,640 6,750 6,753 3
§IT Upgrade & Replacement 20,000 0 0 0
" Disabled Adaptations 492,170 358,555 388,810 30,255
Cash Incentive Scheme 60,000 60,000 0 (60,000)
Jaywick Sands - Flexible Workspace Project 4,443,480 2,110,250 2,110,249 1)
HRA - New Build & Acquisitions - To Be Allocated 1,430,310 0 0 0
HRA - Acquisitions - Council Dwellings 494,380 328,440 328,441 1
HRA - Acquisitions - Non-Dwellings 42,990 42,990 42,987 3)
Total Housing Revenue Account Capital 10,389,400 4,874,827 5,023,520 148,692

Programme




New-Build and Acquisitions - Subject to 1-4-1 Pooling
Retained Receipts Reqgulations

Required Expenditure to meet MHCLG Target within:
1 Year 2 Years 3 Years 4 Years 5+ Years
£ £ £ £ £
30% Capital Receipts 0 0 59,234 207,930 92,834
70% TDC Funded 0 0 138,212 485,171 216,614
Cumulative Expenditure 0 0 197,446 693,101 309,448

29¢ abed

Appendix D



Appendix E

Collection Performance : Position at the end of
December 2022

The collection performance against Council tax, Business Rates, Housing Rents and General Debt
collection are set out below.

Council Tax

Business Rates

100%

100%

80% m2021/22 80%
60% u2022/23 60% = 2021/22
o 0% 2022/23
|
20% - 20% -
0% - 0% -
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Quarter1 Quarter2 Quarter3 Quarter4
2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23
Quarter 1 27.82% 27.33% Quarter 1 19.64% 32.61%
Quarter 2 53.45% 53.77% Quarter 2 48.69% 67.25%
Quarter 3 78.88% 79.34% Quarter 3 72.33% 100.44%
Quarter 4 92.81% Quarter 4 91.67%
Housing Rents General Debt
100% 100%
0% 4 m2021/22 80% m2021/22
m2022/23 m2022/23
60% - 60% -
40% - 40% -
20% - 20% -
0% - 0% - . . . ,
Quarter 1 Quarter2 Quarter3 Quarter 4 Quarterl1 Quarter2 Quarter3 Quarter4
2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23
Quarter 1 97.50% 97.76% Quarter 1 73.40% 76.39%
Quarter 2 97.25% 96.39% Quarter 2 87.38% 86.89%
Quarter 3 96.58% 97.03% Quarter 3 87.94% 88.12%
Quarter 4 97.20% Quarter 4 90.73%

Page 363




Appendix F

Treasury Activity : Position at the end of December 2022

Key Treasury Management Performance Data and Prudential Indicators are set out below.

TREASURY ACTIVITY

Investments

Opening . Borrowing
. Borrowing to . Balance to
Borrowing Balance 1 Repaid to Comments
: date Date
April date
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Long Term PWLB Borrowing - 148 0 8 140
GF
Long Term PWLB Borrowing - 37,551 0 2821 34.730
HRA
TOTAL BORROWING 37,699 0 2,829 34,870
Openin Investments
P g Investments to . Balance to
Investments Balance 1 Repaid to Comments
: date Date
April date
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Investments less than a year
Investments with UK
Government via Treasury
Bills/Investments with DMO, 57,000 541,200 529,500 68,700
and Local Authorities and other Overall investments have increased
public bodies over the reporting period due to the
- ] ] timing of the Council's cash flow such
Investments with UK financial as expenditure budgets behind profile
Institutions (including Money 20,655 49,448 50,683 19,420 (or income being received ahead of
Market Funds) expenditure.
Investments with non-UK 0 0 0 0 |In respect of investments with UK
Financial institutions financial institutions, at the end of the
Total Investments for less period, investments were held with 10
than a 77,655 590,648 580,183 88,120 counterparties, including 2 Money
year
Investments for longer than Market Funds.
9 0 0 0 0
ayear
TOTAL INVESTMENTS 77,655 590,648 580,183 88,120
. . Full Year |Profiled Budget Variance
Interest Paid / Received g Actual to Date Comments
Budget to Date to date
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
The weighted average rate of interest
. . on the Council's GF borrowing is
Interest Paid on Borrowing - GF 11 4 4 0 currently 7.09%. (on an accrued
basis).
The weighted average rate of interest
Interest Paid on Borrowing - on the Council's HRA borrowing is
HRA 1,306 610 290 (20) currently 3.55%. (on an accrued
basis)
_ The weighted average rate of interest
Interest Received on (700) (536) (959) (423) being received on the Council's

investments is currently 1.36%. (on
an accrued basis)

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

Highest
Approved amount
. : Comments
Indicator | reached in the
period
£'000 £'000
Authorised limit for external
. 76,333 . . - -
borrowing 37699 Borrowing has remained within approved limits.
Operational boundary for 67,723 '
external borrowing ' Dana 264
1 ULHL, LAY by o




Appendix G

Income from S106 Agreements

Information in respect of S106 income has been split across two areas below - Where money has been
formally allocated / being spent and where money remains unallocated / uncommitted.

Where related to capital schemes - see Appendix D for overall scheme progress.

ALLOCATED / BEING SPENT

Amount Committed /
Scheme Type Planned to be Spent in
2022/23
£'000
GF Revenue Schemes 144
GF Capital Schemes 253
HRA Capital Schemes 333
TOTAL 730
Permitted Use as per S106 Agreement Amount Held / 'Spend by' Date
tt:jlsl 1to 2 2to4 | 4years
Year Years Years +
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Regeneration Programme and Other Initiatives 0 0 0 2
Affordable Housing 0 0 0 1,248
Town Centre Improvements 0 22 22 0
Conservation 0 0 0 337
Habitat Protection 0 0 0 3
Open Space* 7 33 7 2,687
TOTAL 7 55 29 4,277

* For schemes with a 'spend by' date of less than one year, this money must be spent as follows:

£2,000 by November 2023

The remaining balance will be considered/allocated as part of the Outturn position 2022-23.

Page 365



99¢ abed

Appendix H

Proposed Adjustments to the In-Year Budget December 2022

Expenditure Income
Description Budget Budget Reason for Adjustment
£ £
GENERAL FUND REVENUE

The following items have no net impact on the overall budget
Planning Services - Employee Expenses (300,000)
Planning Services - Agency Staff 410,000

Use of vacancies and projects budget funded by 20% Planning Fee
Planning Services - Appeals Costs 120,000 income to support short term temporary staff costs, planning appeal

costs and reduction in income being experienced in 2022/23.
Planning Services - Income 180,000
Planning Projects Budget (345,110)
Building Control - Employee Expenses (110,000)

Use of vacancies to support short tem temporary staff costs.
Building Control - Agency Staff 110,000

. I . - This reflects further adjustments across a number of budgets within
Various General Budgets within Planning / Building Control (64,890) the Service to fully fund the net changes highlighted above.
Local Plan Costs 250,000 To 'reimburse’ the Local Plan Budget for planning related costs
i associated with the delivery of the Garden Communities Project

Garden Communities Budget (250,000)
Total General Fund Revenue with no net impact on the overall (180,000) 180,000

budget




/9¢ abed

Appendix H

Description

Expenditure

Budget
£

Income

Budget
£

Reason for Adjustment

The following items will be adjusted against the Forecast Risk F

und

Homelessness Costs

200,000

An additional £450k was included in the revised budget for the year
as set out in earlier budget reports. However, demand continues to
remain high with overall costs rising. It is expected that additional
funding will be required to meet these additional costs in 2022/23,
even after allowing for increased grant funding from the Government.

New Burdens and other External Grant Funding

(83,090)

Additional grant funding receivable from the Government where the
associated work / activities have been managed within existing
resources so no corresponding expenditure budget is required.

Investment Income from Treasury Activities

(450,000)

This reflects the impact from on-going increases in interest rates.
This is over and above the increased income already reflected in the
budget.

Fees and Charges Income - Street Naming and Numbering

(170,000)

Additional income has been generated over the course of 2022/23.
However, it is important to highlight that this is unlikely to continue in
2023/24, so it is being treated as a one-off position at the present
time.

Careline net budget

50,000

The financial risks associated with the revised business plan for the
Service was 'underwritten’ by a related reserve that totalled £221k.
However, it is expected that this reserve will need to be fully allocated
for the year along with an additional £50k to support the Service as it
continues to work towards a breakeven position in future years.
Additional funding has also been made available in 2023/24 to
support the financial risks associated with operating this service,
which will need to be closely monitored during the year.

Airshow - net costs

22,260

Some additional / final costs have emerged relating to the cost of the
2022 show. This is therefore over and above the £47k already
reflected in the budget as part of earlier reports.

Land Charges Income

50,000

A reduction in income is being experienced in 2022/23

Temporary Administration Resources - Waste & Recycling

35,380

To provide additional senior administrative support to enable the
progression of the Waste and Street Cleaning Contract Procurement,
which is being led by the Street Scene Manager.




89¢ abed

Appendix H

Description

Expenditure

Budget
£

Income

Budget
£

Reason for Adjustment

Employee Costs

(300,000)

To reflect the latest vacancy savings accrued to date.

Temporary Additional Customer Support Capacity

15,000

To provide additional capacity within the Contact Centre to support
the response to increased demand, especially at this time of the year
where there is increased contact following Council Tax and Business
Rates bills being sent out.

Fraud and Compliance - Legal Costs

35,000

Additional costs are being incurred to defend a long standing 'claim’
being made against the Council.

Emergency Planning - Data Sharing / System Costs

9,000

As part of an existing collaboration of Essex Local Authorities,
additional activities are planned to support the Council's
responsibilities to vulnerable households etc. in the event of an
emergency such as flooding.

His Majesty the King's Coronation - Members Small Grant Scheme

9,600

This reflects the Leader's announcement at Full Council on 2 March
2023. Work is now underway to establish this new small grant
scheme as soon as possible.

Member's IT - Provision of Smartphones

8,000

The reflects the decision of Full Council on 2 March 2023 where
Smartphones will be made available to all Members following the
local elections in May 2023. This adjustment puts in place the
necessary funding for 2023/24, with the longer term budget being
considered as part of developing the financial forecast during the
year.

Increased Net Costs of the Provision of Public Conveniences

85,000

Reduced Income from Recreation Grounds

25,000

Increased Net Costs of the Horticultural Service

100,000

Reduced income from Garden Waste

50,000

This relates to a number of budget adjustments to reflect emerging /
developing issues within the associated service areas. Although the

issues remain under review in consultation with the relevant Service,
it is felt prudent to make 'provision' for these emerging issues within

the budget.

Contribution to the Forecast Risk Fund

308,850

This reflects the total net change of the above items.




69¢ abed

Appendix H

Expenditure Income
Description Budget Budget Reason for Adjustment
£ £
HRA REVENUE
The following items will be adjusted against the HRA General Balance
None
HRA CAPITAL
Improvement, Enhancements to Housing Stock 200,000 As set out in Appendix D, this budget adjustment reflects the
Use of Major Repairs Reserve to fund the above (200,000) necessary changes to the programme of works efc.
Jaywick Sands Flexible Work Space Project 419,000
To recognise the additional funding made available by the SELEP
towards the cost of this project.
SELEP Funding (419,000)
Total HRA Capital 419,000 (419,000)




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 12

CABINET
17 MARCH 2023
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE FINANCE & GOVERNANCE PORTFOLIO HOLDER

A4 TIMETABLE OF MEETINGS: 2023/2024 MUNICIPAL YEAR

PART 1 — KEY INFORMATION

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

To enable Cabinet to give consideration to the timetable of meetings for the 2023/2024
Municipal Year.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report will enable Cabinet, as required by the Constitution, to submit for formal approval to
the Annual Meeting of the Council a timetable of meetings for the 2023/2024 Municipal Year.

RECOMMENDATIONS

(@) That the timetable of meetings for the Council and Committees, as set out in the
Appendix to this report, be agreed, in principle, and be submitted to the Annual
Meeting of the Council for formal approval; and

(b) that the proposed dates for All Members’ Briefings and Councillor Development
Sessions be noted.

REASON(S) FOR THE RECOMMENDATION(S)

Having considered the timetable of meetings proposed by the Corporate Finance &
Governance Portfolio Holder and in order to enable the timetable of meetings to be submitted
to the Annual Meeting of the Council for approval and adoption, in accordance with the
Council’'s Constitution.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

(1) Not to approve the timetable of meetings;
(2) To amend or substitute some or all of the proposed dates.

PART 2 — IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION

DELIVERING PRIORITIES

Agreeing the proposed changes will ensure that the Council demonstrates good governance
and operates efficiently in pursuit of its priorities.

The Council has adopted a Climate Change Action Plan and the encouragement of Members
to opt out of the default position of receiving printed copies of the summons of a meeting (with
agendas and reports) and reverting to solely receiving summons via electronic notifications
from May 2023 is consistent with the Council’s Policy of its operations becoming carbon
neutral by 2030.

Page 371



OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT

The Committee Services Manager, in preparing an initial timetable of meetings for the
Portfolio Holder to consider, consulted with senior officer colleagues within the Council.

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS (including legislation & constitutional powers)

Is the ¥ES/NO | If Yes, indicate which | O Significant effect on two or
recommendation by which criteria it is more wards

a Key Decision a Key Decision O Involves £100,000

(see the criteria expenditure/income

stated here) O Is otherwise significant for the

service budget

And when was the
proposed decision Not Applicable in this instance
published in the
Notice of forthcoming
decisions for the
Council (must be 28
days at the latest prior
to the meeting date)

X | The Monitoring Officer confirms they have been made aware of the above and any
additional comments from them are below:

Schedule 1 to the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 2000, as
amended, sets out functions which must not be the responsibility of the Executive and
therefore rests with Council or its committees. The power to agree a timetable of ordinary
meetings of the Full Council and its Committees rests with the Full Council at its Annual
Meeting. This is set down in the Council’s Constitution in Council Procedure Rule 1 (Annual
Meeting of the Council), specifically Rule 1.1(xii) (Timing and Business). This is confirmed in
Council Procedure Rule 3 (Ordinary Meetings) and in Council Procedure Rule 35 (Meetings of
Committees), specifically Rule 35.1 (Ordinary Meetings).

Schedule 3 (Responsibility for Executive Functions) in Part 3 (Scheme of Delegation) of the
Council’'s Constitution and specifically section 4.2.1 (Overall Responsibilities of the Leader and
the Portfolio Holders), sets out that the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Finance & Governance
has the overall strategic responsibility for the Council’s Democratic Services which, in turn,
undertakes corporate administration in relation to timetabling and servicing meetings of the
Council, Cabinet and Committees.

Article 7 (The Executive) of the Council’'s Constitution and, specifically, Article 7.08 (Cabinet
Procedure Rules) — section 1.1 (Cabinet Meetings), states that the Cabinet will meet at times
and at locations to be agreed by the Leader of the Council.

FINANCE AND OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

Risk

Providing clarity through a clearly defined timetable of prevents confusion and enhances the
Council’s overall governance arrangements thereby helping to ensure that the Authority
makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks.

Page 372




X | The Section 151 Officer confirms they have been made aware of the above and any
additional comments from them are below:

None

USE OF RESOURCES AND VALUE FOR MONEY

The following are submitted in respect of the indicated use of resources and value for money
indicators:

A)  Financial sustainability: how the body | N/A
plans and manages its resources to ensure
it can continue to deliver its services;

B) Governance: how the body ensures | N/A
that it makes informed decisions and
properly manages its risks, including; and

C) Improving economy, efficiency and | N/A
effectiveness: how the body uses
information about its costs and
performance to improve the way it manages
and delivers its services.

MILESTONES AND DELIVERY

Preparation of a timetable of meetings for the forthcoming municipal year by the Committee
Services Manager, including consultation with senior officer colleagues — late January to early
February 2023.

Submission of draft timetable of meetings to the Corporate Finance & Governance Portfolio
Holder for their review — February 2023.

Submission of Corporate Finance & Governance Portfolio Holder's recommendations to
formal Cabinet meeting — 17 March 2023.

Submission of Cabinet's recommendations to the Annual Meeting of the Council for approval
and adoption — 23 May 2023.

ASSOCIATED RISKS AND MITIGATION

Not approving and implementing an agreed timetable of meetings will negatively impact the
Council’'s governance arrangements.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

Under Article 3 (Citizens and the Council) in the Council’s Constitution, the public have a right
to attend meetings of the Council and its Committees and Sub-Committees except where
confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed and attend meetings of the Cabinet
when key decisions are being considered. The public also have a right to participate by
submitting written questions to Full Council meetings and contribute to investigations by the
Overview and Scrutiny Committees. The public can also participate at meetings of the
Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee, the Planning Committee and the Tendring
Colchester Garden Border Community Joint Committee in accordance with the relevant Public
Speaking Schemes. At meetings of the Council, its Committees or Cabinet, members of the
public must treat Councillors and Officers with respect and courtesy and must not wilfully harm
the property of the Council, Councillors or Officers.

Article 2 (Members of the Council) states, inter alia, that Councillors attending meetings will
represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s decision-making process,
i.e. become an advocate for their communities; effectively represent the interests of their ward

Page 373




and of individual residents; be involved in decision-making for the people of the District as a
whole; and contribute to the governance and effective management of the Council’s business
at meetings of the Council, Cabinet and other Committees and Sub-Committees, maintaining
the highest standards of conduct and ethics.

Article 5 (Chairing the Council and Committees) states, inter alia, that Chairmen will preside
over meetings so that its business can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of
Councillors and the interests of the community; and ensure that the meeting is a forum for
debate of matters of concern to the local community.

SOCIAL VALUE CONSIDERATIONS

None

IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S AIM TO BE NET ZERO BY 2030

The encouragement of Members to opt out of the default position of receiving printed copies of
the summons of a meeting (with agendas and reports) and reverting to solely receiving
summons via electronic notifications from May 2023 is consistent with the Council’s Policy of
its operations becoming carbon neutral by 2030.

OTHER RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS OR IMPLICATIONS

Consideration has been given to the implications of the proposed decision in respect of
the following and any significant issues are set out below.

Crime and Disorder None
Health Inequalities None
Area or Ward affected None directly.

PART 3 — SUPPORTING INFORMATION

BACKGROUND

In accordance with the Constitution a draft timetable of meetings has been prepared and
approved and is set out as an Appendix to this report.

The meetings of the Full Council, the Community Leadership Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, the Human Resources and Council Tax Committee, the Licensing and Registration
Committee and the Resources and Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee will normally
commence at 7.30 p.m.

Meetings of the Planning Committee, the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee and the
Tendring Colchester Border Garden Community Joint Committee will normally commence at
6.00 p.m.

Meetings of the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee, the Licensing & Registration
Committee and the Tendring Colchester Border Garden Community Joint Committee will be
arranged as and when required.

Meetings of the Standards Committee will normally commence at 10.00 a.m.

Meetings of the Audit Committee will normally commence at 10.30 a.m.

Cabinet meetings are fixed by the Leader of the Council in accordance with Article 7.08

Page 374




Cabinet Procedures Rule sub-section 1.1 of the Council’'s Constitution and therefore the
scheduling et cetera may change. The public meetings of the Cabinet listed will hormally
commence at 10.30 a.m.

The timetable does not show meetings of the Sub-Committees, which are arranged either at
meetings of the relevant Sub-Committee or from time to time when required.

Dates for All Members’ Briefings and Councillor Development Sessions have been included in
order to assist Members in keeping their diaries up-to-date. These will be held either in person
or online via Microsoft Teams.

Wednesday evenings have been avoided for meetings of Committees et cetera as the Princes
Theatre is used in term time for the Princes Theatre Youth Group and it is felt that to have a
publicly accessible meeting on the same night will raise significant safeguarding issues. In
addition, Monday evenings have been avoided to avoid clashing with meetings of the Arts &
Literature Society in the Princes Theatre for similar reasons.

Venues for Meetings of the Council, Cabinet and Committees Etc.

Meetings of the full Council will normally be held in the Princes Theatre in the Town Hall,
Clacton-on-Sea.

Meetings of the Cabinet and Committees will normally be held in the Committee Room in the
Town Hall.

Cabinet will be aware that, as part of the “Transforming Tendring” project, the Council Offices
at Weeley are closed with the site to be disposed of. The departments based at Weeley have
been moved to Clacton-on-Sea. This means that the Council Chamber at Weeley is no longer
available for Committee etc. meetings.

In preparation for this disposal a phased programme of office accommodation works has been
undertaken and now completed at the Town Hall, Clacton-on-Sea. Included within those works
was the provision of a new Committee Room within the Town Hall in Clacton which has been
operationally available and used since late December 2021.

PREVIOUS RELEVANT DECISIONS

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PUBLISHED REFERENCE MATERIAL

None

APPENDICES

Proposed Timetable of Council and Committee Meetings for the 2023/24 Municipal Year.

REPORT CONTACT OFFICER(S)

Name lan Ford

Job Title Committee Services Manager

Email/Telephone iford@tendringdc.gov.uk
(01255) 686 584

Page 375



mailto:iford@tendringdc.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



A.4 APPENDIX

TIMETABLE OF MEETINGS - 2023/2024 MUNICIPAL YEAR (& PART WAY BEYOND)

2023

Body Time Day Date Notes
ANNUAL COUNCIL (Already agreed) 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 23 May Note 1
ALL MEMBERS'’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 24 May
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 6 June
Resources and Services Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 13 June
Committee
COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT SESSION 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 21 June
Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 23 June
ALL MEMBERS’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 28 June
Audit Committee 10.30 a.m. | Thursday 29 June
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 4 July
Human Resources & Council Tax Committee 7.30 p.m. | Thursday 6 July
COUNCIL 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 11 July
Community Leadership Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 18 July
Committee
Standards Committee 10.00 a.m. | Wednesday | 19 July
Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 21 July
ALL MEMBERS’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 26 July
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 1 August
ALL MEMBERS' BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 23 August
COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT SESSION 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 30 August
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Thursday 31 August Note 2
Resources and Services Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 12 September
Committee
COUNCIL 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 26 September
ALL MEMBERS'’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 27 September
Audit Committee 10.30 a.m. | Thursday 28 September
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Thursday 28 September | Note 3
Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 6 October
Standards Committee 10.00 a.m. | Wednesday | 11 October
Human Resources & Council Tax Committee 7.30 p.m. | Thursday 12 October
Community Leadership Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 17 October
Committee
COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT SESSION 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 18 October
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 24 October
ALL MEMBERS'’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 25 October
Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 10 November
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 21 November
ALL MEMBERS'’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 22 November
COUNCIL 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 28 November
Resources and Services Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 12 December
Committee
ALL MEMBERS'’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 13 December
Audit Committee 10.30 a.m. | Thursday 14 December
Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 15 December
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 19 December

2024

Resources and Services Overview & Scrutiny 9.30 a.m. | Wednesday | 3 January Note 4
Committee (INFORMAL)
Resources and Services Overview & Scrutiny 10.30 a.m. | Wednesday | 10 January Note 5
Committee he 377




A.4 APPENDIX

Community Leadership Overview & Scrutiny 10.30 a.m. | Thursday 11 January Note 5
Committee

Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 16 January

ALL MEMBERS' BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 17 January
Community Leadership Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 23 January
Committee

COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT SESSION 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 24 January

Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 26 January Note 6
COUNCIL 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 30 January

Standards Committee 10.00 a.m. | Wednesday | 7 February

COUNCIL (Budget & Council Tax setting) 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 13 February | Note 7
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Thursday 15 February | Note 3
Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 16 February

Cabinet (PROVISIONAL) 10.30 a.m. | Wednesday | 21 February | Note 8
ALL MEMBERS'’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 21 February

Human Resources & Council Tax Committee 7.30 p.m. | Monday 26 February | Note 9
COUNCIL (PROVISIONAL) 7.30 p.m. | Thursday 29 February | Note 10
Resources and Services Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 5 March

Committee

Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 12 March
COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT SESSION 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 13 March

Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 15 March

COUNCIL 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 19 March

ALL MEMBERS'’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 20 March

Audit Committee 10.30 a.m. | Thursday 21 March

Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 16 April

ALL MEMBERS'’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 17 April

Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 19 April

Community Leadership Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 23 April

Committee

Standards Committee 10.00 a.m. | Wednesday | 24 April

Audit Committee 10.30 a.m. | Thursday 25 April

ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 30 April

2024/2025 MUNICIPAL YEAR
(Provisional dates for early cycles of meetings in 2024/2025 — for information only, subject to

change)
Body Time Day Date Notes

Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 14 May
COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT SESSION 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 15 May
Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 17 May
COUNCIL 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 21 May
ALL MEMBERS’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 22 May
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 11 June
Resources and Services Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 18 June
Committee

COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT SESSION 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 19 June
Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 21 June
ALL MEMBERS' BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 26 June
Audit Committee 10.30 a.m. | Thursday 27 June
Community Leadership Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 2 July
Committee

Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 9 July
Standards Committee 10.00 a.m. | Wednesday | 10 July
Human Resources & Council Tax Committee 7.30 p.m. | Thursday 11 July
COUNCIL page 37430 p.m. | Tuesday 16 July




A.4 APPENDIX

Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 19 July
ALL MEMBERS’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 24 July
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 6 August
ALL MEMBERS' BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 21 August
COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT SESSION 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 28 August
Resources and Services Overview & Scrutiny 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 3 September
Committee
Planning Committee 6.00 p.m. | Tuesday 10
September
COUNCIL 7.30 p.m. | Tuesday 17
September
Cabinet 10.30 a.m. | Friday 20
September
ALL MEMBERS’ BRIEFING 6.00 p.m. | Wednesday | 25
September
Audit Committee 10.30 a.m. | Thursday 26
September

Notes

1.

Annual Meeting of the Council later than usual due to the Tendring District Council Elections on 4
May 2023 (Council Procedure Rule 1.1).

Meeting scheduled to be held on the Thursday as the Monday of that week is a Bank Holiday.
Meeting scheduled to be held on the Thursday due to the Full Council meeting on the Tuesday.

Informal Meeting arranged to allow the Overview & Scrutiny Committee to conduct pre-scrutiny
on the Cabinet’s Financial Forecast and initial budget and special expenses proposals.

Extra Meeting arranged to allow the Overview & Scrutiny Committee to consider and then
formally comment on the Cabinet’'s Financial Forecast and initial budget and special expenses
proposals. Also, to allow the Committee to discuss those proposals with Portfolio Holders.
Portfolio Holders are requested to reserve this date in their diaries in the likelihood that the
meeting will take place.

At this meeting Cabinet will approve its final proposals in relation to the Council’'s Budget and
Meeting of the Council to approve the Cabinet's budget proposals and set the Council Tax for
Tendring District Council but excluding County, Fire and Police Council Tax calculations.

Provisional extra meeting of the Cabinet arranged in order to allow the Cabinet to meet and

consider the Council’'s objections/amendments to the Budget (which may arise following the

Meeting to formally confirm the County, Fire and Police precepts on the Council’s Collection Fund
and for each Council Tax band in the parished and unparished areas of the District.

6.
Council Tax precept for 2024/25 for submission to Full Council.
7.
8.
Council meeting referred to in note 7 above.)
9.
10.

Provisional extra meeting of the Council arranged in order to allow the Council to meet and
consider the Cabinet’s revised budget proposals or the Cabinet's disagreement with the Council’s
budget objections (which may arise following the meetings referred to in notes 7 and 8 above.)

Page 379




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	9 Cabinet Members' Items - Report of the Planning Portfolio Holder - A.1- Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan – Proposal for Public Consultation
	A1 Appendix 1 - Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan
	Foreword
	Introduction
	Neighbourhood Plan Area
	What is a Neighbourhood Plan and why do we need one?
	Planning policy context
	Section 1
	Section 2
	Local Plan Strategy for Ardleigh

	Background to the Parish
	Socio-economic profile
	Housing profile
	Landscape & Natural Environment
	History & Conservation
	Services, facilities & infrastructure

	Consultation & evidence base
	Vision
	Objectives
	Neighbourhood Plan Policies
	Policy GDP: General Approach to Development
	Policy CFP: Community Facilities
	Policy HP: Housing
	Policy EP: Natural, Built & Historic Environment
	Policy LGP: Local Green Spaces
	Policy TP: Transport & Parking

	Implementation, Monitoring and Review
	Appendix A: Proposals maps
	Appendix B: List of Neighbourhood Plan policies
	Appendix C: Consultation questionnaire “your chance to have your say”
	Appendix D: Consultation questionnaire “have your say”

	A1 Appendix 2 - Ardleigh reg 14 consultation statement final REDACTED
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 1 - National Highways
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 2 - Lichfields (onbehalf of Latimer)
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 3 - Natural England
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 4 - Colchester City Council
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 5 - Crockleford Heath and Elmstead Action Group
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 6 - Essex County Council
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 7 - Essex County Fire and Rescue Service
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 8 - local resident and landowner
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 9 - Tendring District Council
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 10 - Green space representation - agent space 4_Redacted
	A1 Appendix 2 - Attachment 11 - Parish Council's response to space 4 landowner
	A1 Appendix 3 - Ardleigh Basic Conditions Statement
	Table of Contents
	Introduction
	Basic Condition 1: Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood plan
	Basic Condition 2: The making of the neighbourhood development plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable development
	Basic Condition 3: The making of the neighbourhood development plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the authority (or any part of that area)
	Basic Condition 4: The making of the neighbourhood development plan does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations
	Basic Condition 5: Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the neighbourhood plan and prescribed matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for the neighbourhood plan. The prescribed condition is that the making of the neighbourhood plan does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017
	Conclusion



	10 Cabinet Members' Items - Report of the Corporate Finance and Governance Portfolio Holder - A.2 - The Shared Procurement Partnership
	A2 Appendix - Partnership Agreement for the provision of procurement services for Tendring District 2021-23

	11 Cabinet Members' Items - Report of the Corporate Finance and Governance Portfolio Holder - A.3 - Financial Performance Report - In Year Performance against the Budget at the end of Quarter 3 2022/23 and Long Term Financial Forecast Update
	A.3  financial performance report – in-year Performance AGAINST THE BUDGET AT the END OF THE THIRD QUARTER 2022/23 AND LONG TERM FINANCIAL FORECAST UPDATE
	A3 Appendices CBM December 2022 Q3

	12 Cabinet Members' Items - Report of the Corporate Finance and Governance Portfolio Holder - A.4 - Timetable of Meetings: 2023/2024 Municipal Year
	A4 Appendix - Timetable of Meetings Draft - 2023-2024 Municipal Year
	TIMETABLE OF MEETINGS – 2023/2024 MUNICIPAL YEAR (& PART WAY BEYOND)
	Notes






